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UNITED STATES EQUESTRIAN FEDERATION, INC.
HEARING COMMITTEE MEETING

FEDERATION FILE NO. 2015-04

_____________________________________________________

IN THE MATTER OF THE HEARING BETWEEN:

UNITED STATES EQUESTRIAN
FEDERATION, INC.                          PETITIONER

V.

ARCHIBALD COX, III, and
MEREDITH MATEO,                           RESPONDENTS

_____________________________________________________

TRANSCRIPT OF HEARING

BEFORE THE UNITED STATES EQUESTRIAN FEDERATION
HEARING COMMITTEE

JUNE 24, 2015
8:30 a.m.

United States Equestrian Federation, Inc.
4047 Iron Works Parkway
Lexington, Kentucky
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            M S .  W E R N E R :   G o o d  m o r n in g .   M y  n a m e  i s  1

J u d y  W e r n e r ,  a n d  I  l i v e  i n  W a t e r l o o ,  I l l i n o i s .   I  2

p a r t i c i p a t e  i n  t h e  A m e r i c a n  S a d d le b r e d  b r e e d .   I 'm  a  3

c o - c h a i r m a n  o f  t h e  H e a r in g  C o m m i t t e e  a n d  I  w i l l  b e  4

t h e  c h a i r  f o r  t o d a y ' s  h e a r i n g .   T h e  H e a r in g  C o m m i t t e e  5

i s  a  n a t i o n a l  a n d  v o l u n t e e r  c o m m i t t e e  o f  t h e  6

F e d e r a t i o n ,  w h i c h  p r e s e n t l y  h a s  2 0  m e m b e r s  w h o  c o m e  7

f r o m  a c r o s s  t h e  c o u n t r y  a n d  a r e  r e p r e s e n t a t i v e  o f  t h e  8

m a n y  b r e e d s  a n d  d i s c i p l i n e s  e m b r a c e d  b y  t h e  9

F e d e r a t i o n .   W e  a r e  a l l  i n v o lv e d  i n  a n d  a r e  f a m i l i a r  10

w i t h  t h e  s p o r t  a n d  i t s  r u l e s .   11

            I  a s s u r e  y o u  t h a t  t h e  c o m m i t t e e  m e m b e r s  12

h o ld  t h e  m a t t e r s  w h i c h  c o m e  b e f o r e  u s  a s  13

c o n f i d e n t i a l .   A n d  n o w  I  w i l l  a s k  t h e  o t h e r  m e m b e r s  14

o f  t h e  p a n e l  t o  i n t r o d u c e  t h e m s e lv e s  a n d  t e l l  t h e i r  15

p l a c e  o f  r e s id e n c e  a n d  t h e i r  b r e e d  o r  d i s c i p l i n e  16

a f f i l i a t i o n .17

            M S .  C R O N A N :   M a r y  A n n e  C r o n a n ,  L o u i s v i l l e ,  18

K e n t u c k y ,  A m e r i c a n  S a d d l e b r e d ,  S a d d le b r e d  e q u i t a t i o n  19

a n d  e q .20

            M S .  B L A C K S T O N E :   L i s a  B l a c k s t o n e ,  I  l i v e  21

i n  A t l a n t a ,  G e o r g i a ,  a n d  I  h a v e  A r a b i a n  h o r s e s .22

            M S  T E M P L E T O N :   G in a  M i l e s - T e m p le t o n ,  23

C a l i f o r n i a ,  t h r e e - d a y  e v e n t i n g .24

            M S .  W E R N E R :   T h a n k  y o u .   25
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            MR. DANFORD:  For the record, Mr. Tim 1

Roesink, who was to be on this panel, has had an 2

unfortunate incident in his family and will not be 3

able to attend today.  Obviously, will take no part 4

in this hearing or its deliberations.  5

            MS. WERNER:  Would the parties to this 6

matter please state their full names for the record.7

            MR. FOREMAN:  Good morning.  Alan Foreman, 8

I'm counsel for the Federation's Drugs and 9

Medications Program, I'm from Owings Mills, Maryland.10

            MR. LOMANGINO:  Tom Lomangino, Director of 11

the laboratory.  12

            DR. MAYLIN:  George Maylin, consultant to 13

the Drugs and Medications Program.14

            DR. SCHUMACHER:  Stephen Schumacher, 15

Director of the Federation's Drugs and Medications 16

Program.  17

            MR. ROMM:  My name is Michael Romm, and I 18

represent the Respondents, Mr. Archibald Cox, III, 19

and Ms. Mateo.20

            MR. COX:  Archibald Cox, III, Los Angeles, 21

California.22

            MS. MATEO:  Laura Mateo, owner, mother of 23

Meredith Mateo, owner of record.24

            MS. WERNER:  Thank you.  I want to 25

5

emphasize the importance of the parties presenting 1

all of their evidence and making all of their 2

arguments to the committee today.  The rulings to be 3

made by this panel will be final.  Rehearings are 4

only granted when a party can show that there are new 5

facts not discoverable by due diligence prior to the 6

hearing and this occurs rarely.  So please present 7

your evidence and the arguments to the fullest extent 8

and the sitting panel members will give careful 9

consideration to all the testimony in the case today.  10

            I will now introduce the others in 11

attendance at this hearing.  On the far left of the 12

room is our court reporter, Tammy Duvall.  On the 13

left of me is Daniel Danford, the committee's 14

counsel.  On Mr. Danford's left is Alison Zeitlin, a 15

law student, who is going to be observing the hearing 16

today, and on her left is Emily Pratt, the committee 17

secretary.  Together they act as staff for the 18

committee and assist the committee in its work.  As 19

counsel, Mr. Danford will assist in conducting the 20

hearing and making rulings for the panel as to the 21

admissibility of the evidence and the like.  He will 22

describe -- he will now describe for you the law that 23

governs this hearing and what procedures regarding 24

evidence and testimony we will be following today.  25

6

            MR. DANFORD:  All right, thank you.  And, 1

for the record, Julie Bernier, from the regulation 2

department will also be sitting in on the hearing.  3

            The United States Equestrian Federation is 4

a New York nonprofit corporation.  Its rules specify 5

that New York law governs the interpretation and 6

application of the rules in this hearing.  This is 7

not a courtroom proceeding, but is more in the nature 8

of an administrative hearing under New York law.  9

That gives the panel more latitude in how it runs the 10

hearing.  A common example is it may choose to allow 11

hearsay evidence.  But, if it did so, it would give 12

it less weight than firsthand testimony.  We're glad 13

to have a number of witnesses here to testify today.  14

            Under the Federation's rules, the party 15

bringing the charge or protest bears the burden of 16

proof and will put on their witnesses first.  All 17

witnesses will step into the chair in front of me, 18

will be sworn in by the court reporter and will 19

testify under oath.  There will be a full opportunity 20

for cross examination and redirect as needed.  At the 21

conclusion of each witness, the panel may have 22

questions and I may have questions as well.  I would 23

caution you not to read much into questions asked by 24

any panel member.  Questions can be asked for a 25

7

variety of reasons and don't necessarily show how 1

that given panel member is leaning.  2

            In that regard, the panel has reviewed the 3

documents in this case just prior to this hearing, 4

but they have not gotten together to deliberate this 5

matter and will not do so until the close of the 6

proof today.  If at any point there are objections to 7

procedure, or evidence, or questions of any kind, 8

please feel free to raise them and the panel will be 9

happy to deal with them.10

            At this point, if the court reporter will 11

swear in the panel.  12

            (The hearing panel was placed under oath.)13

            MR. DANFORD:  Thank you very much.  All 14

right.  Let's see, Mr. Romm, I know you have sent in 15

a letter of June 22, where you have raised objections 16

to certain portions of evidence by the Federation.  17

Some of these you have listed by bookmark 18

identifiers.  And I just wanted to go through really 19

quickly and make sure that the panel understands your 20

objection.  The first you listed was P9.1 -- 21

            MR. ROMM:  I'm sorry.  Before we do that, 22

may I invoke the rule of sequestration?  23

            MR. DANFORD:  You certainly can.  24

            MR. FOREMAN:  Sure.  25

8
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            MR. ROMM:  We ask that all nonparties be 1

sequestered at this time.  2

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay, no problem at all.  3

All right.  4

            MR. ROMM:  Do they have instruction on 5

what that means, that they can't discuss the matter 6

amongst themselves?  You know, usually that's given 7

before they walk out.  8

            MR. DANFORD:  I think they have been 9

sequestered many, many times.  10

            MR. FOREMAN:  We don't have a need to 11

discuss that.  12

            MR. ROMM:  Okay.  Before we address the 13

evidence we also have the other motion as well 14

regarding the panel.  15

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  If you want to take 16

it out of order, that's fine.  Do you want to address 17

the panel issue first?  18

            MR. ROMM:  Yeah, I think that -- that 19

would be -- in order of logic, I think that's the 20

first thing that should be addressed.  21

            MR. DANFORD:  That's fine.  Just so you 22

understand, the panel will hear the arguments of 23

counsel on any objections we have right now.  Then we 24

will go into executive session, so the order, I'm 25

9

fine with doing whatever order you like.  If you want 1

to address that issue, please go ahead, let us know 2

what your objection is.  3

            MR. ROMM:  Okay.  The first issue was 4

based on my June 23rd e-mail.  Under USEF General 5

Rule 611.9(D), the Respondents, it says, are entitled 6

to -- whether or not the same or specifically 7

provided elsewhere in the rules, that all hearings 8

conducted pursuant to GR 611.2(I) -- 2 -- I(2) above, 9

the parties shall be accorded, subsection D, a 10

hearing before a disinterested and impartial body of 11

factfinders, where the proponent of the charge will 12

substantiate the charge by a preponderance of the 13

evidence.  14

            I was retained last week by the 15

Respondents.  And it was last week that the 16

Respondents were provided with the remainder of 17

orders by Mr. Foreman, of the orders for the 11 18

prosecutions that have taken place on GABA hearings.  19

And we did an analysis of the members of the panel 20

that have participated in GABA hearings in the past.  21

And it was determined, for example, that this would 22

be Ms. Werner's fifth hearing on GABA, it would have 23

been Mr. Roesink's fourth, Ms. Cronan's sixth, Ms. 24

Blackstone's seventh, and also Ms. Miles, they've all 25

10

participated in multiple GABA hearings in the past.  1

            Now, I've been told and I understand the 2

good nature intention of having the same people on 3

the hearings over again, so that the basics don't 4

have to be explained over and over and they 5

understand the foundational, you know, information.  6

            MR. DANFORD:  Actually, for the record, 7

panels are not selected in that manner.  So panels 8

are not selected specifically because they have 9

experience in other cases of the same type.  Just -- 10

just you appear to have that misconception, I want to 11

let you know.  Typically, in a set of hearings there 12

may be any number of drug violations with different 13

drugs.  If the panel was set up in order to have 14

people that have specific information on each of 15

those drugs, imagine how impracticable that would be.  16

So panels are not selected with that in mind at all.  17

            MR. ROMM:  I understand that procedurally, 18

that's the official procedure.  19

            MR. DANFORD:  Yeah.  20

            MR. ROMM:  But it's been represented to me 21

that, you know, this is a -- you know, a good reason, 22

the basic understanding.  23

            MR. DANFORD:  Represented to you by who?  24

            MR. ROMM:  I -- I -- I would have to look 25

11

at my notes to get that.  1

            MR. DANFORD:  All right, that's fine.  I'm 2

sorry.  3

            MR. FOREMAN:  I'd like to get an answer to 4

that question.  I wouldn't let it slide, I would ask 5

that he provide that answer.  6

            MR. ROMM:  The Respondents have produced 7

more than 600 pages of documentary evidence.  There's 8

got to be over a thousand pages here.  And in the 9

opinion of the Respondents, it is impossible for 10

members of the panel to have heard hours, and hours, 11

and hours of testimony in prior hearings, and in 12

every single occasion have ruled in favor of the USEF 13

and against the Respondents, that they would be able 14

to discount or set aside in their minds that which 15

they have already heard, as if they were looking at 16

this with a fresh pair of eyes, like they've never 17

ever heard the evidence before.  18

            It is natural that you're going to try to 19

take it and look at as much of this information as 20

you possibly can.  But where there are gaps or where 21

you haven't gotten all the information in, you're 22

going to go back in your mind to that which you 23

already have in your data bank of information in your 24

head.  And in the case of people on the panel, the 25

12
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information is from multiple hearings in the past 1

where evidence was presented which is not part of 2

this hearing and shouldn't be considered.  And it's 3

our opinion that if this were a -- if this were in a 4

courtroom, it would certainly be considered biased.  5

You can't -- you can't have people who have been on 6

an administrative body, have done multiple hearings 7

with the same evidence, with the same witnesses, 8

having given the same testimony about the same 9

studies, to be able to put that aside, it just can't 10

be done.  11

            And since the Respondents are entitled to 12

a disinterested and impartial body of factfinders, we 13

believe that the Respondents are not getting that 14

which they're provided in GR 611.9(D).  This is not 15

meant, and the Respondents were particularly 16

concerned with this, this is not meant as a personal 17

insult to any member of the panel.  This is not 18

intended as a belief that -- that the panel would 19

intentionally try to, you know, look at something as 20

if it was in favor of the USEF, this is not about 21

that.  This is about the fact that information has 22

already been provided that cannot be discounted in 23

your minds, because you already know it.  And it's 24

hard to just say I don't know that stuff, I'm going 25

13

to put that all aside.  It's just natural that when 1

you have blanks in your information, you're going to 2

fill it with what you already know.  And -- and on 3

that basis we believe that the panel should be 4

stricken in favor of a disinterested and impartial 5

body.  6

            MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Foreman, any response?  7

            MR. FOREMAN:  Well, yeah, good morning, 8

several things.  One, counsel has not accurately 9

represented the participation of the present members 10

of the Hearing Committee in prior GABA cases.  He's 11

absolutely incorrect with respect to Ms. Blackstone, 12

he's absolutely incorrect with respect to Ms. Miles.  13

It was Respondents who put into the record in this 14

case six previous decisions of the Hearing Committee 15

involving GABA cases.  He put that in as evidence and 16

now he's arguing somehow there's prejudice because 17

these findings are in the record of prior cases.  So 18

if there's any prejudice that's been created against 19

the Respondents, so to speak, they created it by 20

putting the findings in.  21

            And I think it's interesting that the 22

Hearing Committee looks at the previous findings.  Of 23

the nine or ten prior GABA cases, all but two were 24

admitted violations, where the respondent came in and 25

14

said I was using Carolina Gold or I was using a 1

supplement.  The issue before the Hearing Committee 2

was not a determination of guilt or innocence, it was 3

mitigation of the appropriate penalty.  4

            MR. FOREMAN:  So are you saying that 5

everyone of those -- that all but two of them were 6

stipulated cases?7

            MR. FOREMAN:  They were stipulated cases.  8

And there was one where the respondents didn't show 9

up at all.  So the record was very clear, there was 10

no defense.  11

            In the case, the Jenkins case, which was 12

Mr. Romm's case, in which the science was 13

specifically attacked and became the foundation, 14

quite frankly, for the affirming decisions after the 15

Jenkins case, Ms. Jenkins argued that she was using a 16

wormer and it was the wormer that caused the GABA.  17

But in that case they did challenge the science.  But 18

in every other case, either the respondent did not 19

show up to contest or there was an admitted 20

administration of GABA, including the most recent 21

case, which is absolutely on point to this case as 22

you will find out, where we not only learned about 23

the systematic use of Carolina Gold, when and how it 24

was used, what was given, when it was given, to 25

15

achieve effective but lower levels of GABA in the 1

horse, but we had a control sample in that case.  The 2

science was not challenged.  3

            And so the alleged bias here is not over 4

whether or not the respondent has been guilty or 5

innocent, that's been established.  It's been about 6

what is the appropriate penalty based upon the 7

mitigating factors that have been presented by the 8

respondent.  And that's a big difference when you're 9

talking about prejudice or nonprejudice.  But more 10

importantly, the Respondent, who makes the motion and 11

who has the burden of carrying this motion, hasn't 12

given you one citation, one legal citation to support 13

his argument.  It's just an argument about the rule.  14

            I took the time yesterday to look at New 15

York law, because we are governed by New York law.  16

And so the legal question is in order to determine 17

bias, as determined by the New York courts, there 18

must be a factual demonstration to support the 19

allegation of bias and proof that the outcome flowed 20

from that bias.  Now, that's the standard.  Mr. Romm 21

argues first that because some of the members have 22

previously sat in Federation hearings, that that is, 23

quote, unquote, bias.  And, secondly, because one or 24

more of the panel members may sit on the D and M 25

16
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committee, that being on the D and M committee 1

creates bias.  And under New York law, both of those 2

grounds are specious, they're unsupported by any 3

required legal factual assurance.4

            In New York, a presumption of honesty and 5

integrity is accorded to administrative bodies.  And 6

absent a sufficient presentation of factual evidence 7

to rebut the presumption of honesty and integrity, a 8

claim that a presiding person is biased or has a 9

conflict of interest must be rejected.  And Mr. Romm 10

has not overcome either one of those presumptions.  11

The leading case in New York in this area is in the 12

matter of Warder vs. Board of Regents, a 1981 case in 13

which New York's highest court held that the mere 14

allegation of bias on the part of an administrative 15

body or member will not suffice.  As I said --16

            MR. ROMM:  Citation?  17

            MR. FOREMAN:  Excuse me?18

            MR. ROMM:  Citation?19

            MR. FOREMAN:  The citation is 53 New York 20

2nd 186, 440 New York NYS 2nd 875, 1981.  There must 21

be a factual demonstration to support the allegation 22

of bias and proof that the outcome flowed from it.  23

The principles that were enunciated in Warder were 24

actually applied in a case brought against this 25

17

association's former, American Horse Shows 1

Association.  The case was Murdock vs. American Horse 2

Shows Association, 287 AD2d, 364, 731 NYS 2d 616, 3

First Department 2001.  The petitioner in that case, 4

Ms. Murdock, claimed that her suspension should be 5

set aside because members of the Hearing Committee 6

were biased, because they may have been competitors 7

or active in the same breeds or disciplines as her.  8

The lower court in an Article 78 proceeding, which is 9

a proceeding where any appeal from a hearing 10

committee decision would go to a New York court, 11

denied her claim.  And on appeal the appellate -- the 12

New York Appellate Division affirmed, wholly holding 13

that even if bias had been established, which it had 14

not been, there was no proof that the decision was 15

affected by that bias.  The Article 78 court properly 16

found no evidence to suggest that bias or conflict of 17

interest, if any, affected the challenge outcome.  18

            Now, in this case Mr. Romm asserts, 19

without the benefit of any legal authority, that 20

several members of this panel are biased and should 21

be disqualified merely because they participated as 22

hearing members in prior cases of GABA 23

administration.  This assertion falls short of the 24

factual showing of actual bias required to rebut the 25

18

presumption of honesty and integrity.  Merely because 1

such a charge may have not been upheld in any 2

previous cases does not establish bias by a committee 3

member or that the results flowed from such bias, 4

because this assertion does not begin to overcome the 5

far more reasonable and plausible assumption that the 6

respondents in those cases were guilty of the 7

charges, if only based upon the general presumptions 8

of regularity according to the decisions of an 9

official body.  10

            MR. ROMM:  Permission to respond.11

            MR. FOREMAN:  On the basis of these 12

presumptions alone, it can only be concluded that the 13

charges in everyone of those cases in which there was 14

a finding of a violation were proven and that every 15

member of the panels that adjudicated them were 16

disinterested and impartial, no proof has been 17

offered to the contrary.  Mr. Romm has not specified 18

anything about GABA as a prohibited substance that 19

should justify it being treated any differently than 20

any other drug that regularly comes before the 21

Hearing Committee in which a member has been charged 22

of a violation.  And there are a myriad of 23

substances, some of which we see very frequently, 24

where members of the Hearing Committee hear those 25

19

cases time after time after time.  1

            Secondly, he asserts that because some 2

members of the panel sit on the D and M committee, 3

that there might be some interaction or social 4

interaction between those individuals and Dr. Maylin, 5

or myself, or Mr. Lomangino or whatever.  And there 6

is a -- I won't go through it, but the New York 7

courts have looked at that situation involving the 8

New York Dental Society and found that there was 9

absolutely no relationship between having an 10

encounter, a social encounter or otherwise, and bias 11

in a case.  12

            And I would certainly represent, and I 13

think the others would represent on the record, we 14

have no association whatsoever with any of the 15

members on the Hearing Committee or any discussions 16

with any members of the Hearing Committee at any time 17

regarding GABA or other cases.  Nor, moreover, is 18

there a showing that any committee member would 19

benefit by serving on the committee and finding a 20

violation in this case or meting out a suspension or 21

otherwise.  And, again, it is the responsibility of 22

the Respondent to make that showing.  23

            Finally, decided the day before yesterday 24

in the New York Federal -- in the Second Circuit 25

20
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Federal Court was the matter of Dutrow vs. The New 1

York State Racing and Wagering Board, in which the 2

allegation of bias was made against the former 3

chairman of the New York State Racing and Wagering 4

Board, John Sabini, who had received a letter from a 5

United States senator and also the chairman of Racing 6

Commissioners International that New York's 7

disciplinary proceedings against Mr. Richard Dutrow 8

were not severe enough and that they needed to 9

revisit the issue and mete out stronger penalties.  10

And in that case, one of the allegations by Mr. 11

Dutrow was that by involving himself back in the case 12

with Mr. Sabini, and based on the letters from RCIO, 13

was somehow biased from being able to continue to 14

participate in that case.  And it was rejected not 15

only by the New York state court, by the New York 16

federal courts.  17

            So I'm happy to produce additional cites, 18

but it's the Respondents' responsibility to show 19

bias.  He can't show bias, there is no bias.  It 20

would make it impossible, quite frankly, for the 21

Federation to hear drug cases if, given the 22

repetitive nature of our cases, we had to go through 23

that.  But I think that each member of the Hearing 24

Committee can certainly, for the record, indicate 25

21

that they have no personal interest in the outcome of 1

the case, have no relationship to any of the parties, 2

have had no past or present association with anyone 3

involved in this case, is not prejudiced, and can 4

view this case with an open mind, and is free of any 5

reasonable suspicion of bias.  And I think that's the 6

inquiry you do with each one and I think you move 7

forward.  8

            MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Romm.  9

            MR. ROMM:  I was hoping to avoid the 10

request I'm now being asked to make, which is to voir 11

dire the panel, but --12

            MR. FOREMAN:  Do what you've got to do.  13

            MR. ROMM: -- Mr. Foreman is right, I 14

should voir dire the panel.  And the issue is not 15

bias on an affirmative nature, it's -- it's -- it's 16

-- the question is by virtue of participation in 17

prior hearings have you had the opportunity to hear 18

and have been exposed to testimony and evidence 19

regarding the normal physiological levels of GABA in 20

a horse's system, threshold levels of GABA in a 21

horse's system, the science of Dr. Maylin's testing, 22

Dr. Maylin's studies.  The -- the question should be 23

about whether they have had access to and have been 24

provided all of that information in the past on one 25

22

or more occasions, which is --1

            MR. DANFORD:  Well, let's say the answer 2

to that is yes --3

            MR. ROMM:  Okay.4

            MR. DANFORD: -- for each one of these 5

panel members.  Let's say the answer to that, each 6

one of those questions, is yes, okay.  It seems to me 7

that pertinent questions here -- as I look at this 8

case, there are some differences between this case 9

and some previous cases in terms of the types of 10

evidence that the panel is going to hear today.  So, 11

for example, I'm not familiar with Mr. McKenzie or 12

Mr. -- I think Schug is the expert, so I would doubt 13

if any of these folks have heard from those experts 14

or seen information from those experts.  15

            Some of the things that those experts are 16

saying are, quite frankly, new.  The argument about 17

the change in the threshold is also very new.  And I 18

would assume that these folks have probably not seen 19

anything about that either since that's fairly 20

timely.  So the -- you know, the question that -- I 21

guess when you get right down to it, essentially what 22

you're saying is if you have sat on a panel and you 23

have heard anything about the science underlying any 24

drug, then you cannot sit on a future panel with 25

23

regard to that drug.  And that's a very, very broad 1

and I think unsupported statement which --2

            MR. ROMM:  That's an expansion of my 3

argument. 4

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  Well, let's narrow it 5

down then, tell me why that's expansive.  6

            MR. ROMM:  Because I'm talking about 7

multiple occasions of hearing an enormous amount of 8

evidence on the issues of studies, the science behind 9

the thresholds and the normal physiological levels.  10

We're not talking about, you know, ten minutes or two 11

documents, we're talking about hours and hours.  I 12

personally have been there for hours, and hours, and 13

hours of testimony that -- on the Jenkins hearing 14

alone.  Ms. Werner had -- had been on that hearing, 15

Cronan, we're talking an enormous amount of evidence.  16

            And this is not, by the way, the first -- 17

that was not the only hearing in which there was a 18

great deal of evidence and testimony about the, you 19

know, studies and the thresholds, there were others.  20

            MR. DANFORD:  Like which ones, I'm sorry?  21

            MR. FOREMAN:  Can I respond?  There's only 22

one case where we spent hours talking about the 23

science.  24

            MR. DANFORD:  That was Jenkins.  25

24
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            MR. FOREMAN:  That was Mr. Romm's case, 1

the Jenkins case, which he put in the record by the 2

way.  3

            MR. DANFORD:  Whoever put it in the 4

record, I'm not as concerned about that.  That case 5

is two years old almost to the day, like a month shy 6

of that, so two years ago.  So is your -- is your 7

argument that two years ago two of these panel 8

members sat on a hearing, and that they would so 9

remember every bit of expert information that was 10

shared in that case, that that would bias them now, 11

that they would call up that information 12

independently now to fill in any gaps, is that really 13

your argument?  14

            MR. ROMM:  No, no.  What I'm saying is 15

that having heard the testimony and the evidence on 16

Maylin's studies, from Maylin, and Schumacher, 17

Lomangino in the past, and not just in that hearing, 18

but there was -- if you read the orders, there's 19

reference to the studies in -- in -- in many of the 20

orders.  And -- and -- and, in fact -- in fact, 21

longstanding quotes in -- in the orders.  Here's by 22

way of example, I'm looking at Lubow.  23

            MR. DANFORD:  Lubow, okay, let me find 24

that.  25

25

            MR. ROMM:  Testing protocols on page 3, 1

the Hearing Committee noted as follows, and they go 2

through a long two-and-a-half-page summary of the -- 3

the testing, the D and M reports, the reports about 4

GABA.  5

            MR. DANFORD:  Right, that's a reference 6

back to the Jenkins, isn't it?  It appears, I'm 7

looking at this, it looks like what they -- as I see 8

from the Lubow ruling, the respondents in that case 9

challenged the scientific basis, but didn't identify 10

or propound any expert witnesses.  And so the panel 11

went back to the 2013 hearing, which I assume is the 12

Jenkins hearing, and then quotes stuff from that 13

opinion.  So I -- 14

            MR. ROMM:  Which -- which actually proves 15

my point.  My point being that when the committee was 16

without the information, what did they do, they went 17

back to evidence and testimony that was presented at 18

another hearing.  19

            MR. DANFORD:  No, they went back to prior 20

precedence, that's completely different.  They went 21

back and said what have we done in cases prior.  Why 22

is that different than any other administrative 23

hearing, when you have a legal ruling or you have a 24

finding, to go back and quote that finding?  I guess 25

26

there's a disconnect here, I'm not quite seeing how 1

that would make a panel biased because it quoted 2

language from an earlier ruling.  And if you can help 3

me out with that, I would appreciate it.  4

            MR. ROMM:  They didn't go back to -- as I 5

understand it, they didn't go back to the order, they 6

went back to the actual information and the studies 7

that were provided, and that was placed in the order.  8

            MR. DANFORD:  Well, I mean, I guess what 9

I'm looking at, and correct me if I'm wrong, I'm 10

looking at page 3, which you referenced, in the Lubow 11

ruling, and it says -- it talks about a 2013 hearing, 12

and then there's a long, long, long block quote from 13

that 2013 hearing.  14

            MR. FOREMAN:  If I may.  15

            MR. DANFORD:  That's what I see.  16

            MR. FOREMAN:  If I may.  The first 17

Federation GABA case was the Burton case.  In that 18

case, the Hearing Committee -- 19

            MR. ROMM:  Which was mine too.  20

            MR. FOREMAN: -- in that case established 21

-- there was scientific evidence presented, he 22

presented a full case, the science of GABA was 23

presented to the Hearing Committee.  The Hearing 24

Committee made a determination.  The second case was 25

27

the McMenamin case.  There were two violations in 1

that case, and they came before the Hearing Committee 2

and admitted that they were administering Carolina 3

Gold to their horses.  They came in and they fessed 4

up and they were there to appear in mitigation.  They 5

did not contest the science.  And the Hearing 6

Committee in that case affirmed scientific evidence 7

that was presented in the original Burton case.  8

            The third case was Jenkins, I believe.  9

There may have been one case before that.  And we had 10

a long attack on the science.  The Hearing Committee 11

rejected the arguments that were made by the 12

respondents in that case and affirmed its prior 13

decisions in Burton and McMenamin.  Every succeeding 14

case after that has been an affirmation of the prior 15

decisions that have been made by the Federation.  16

            Now, if Mr. Romm wants to come in today 17

and challenge that science, as anyone can do in any 18

case, that's fine if you want to challenge the 19

precedent, but until you do so, the precedent holds.  20

Interestingly, he now refers to Lubow.  And in Lubow, 21

after spending hours challenging the science, Mr. 22

Lubow got up and testified that he was giving GABA to 23

his horse every day for five years and would withdraw 24

it 24 hours, information that had not been provided 25

28
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to the Hearing Committee or anyone in advance until 1

he stood up before the Hearing Committee.  So it was 2

very easy for the Hearing Committee to reject any 3

challenges, there were no experts, and they 4

reaffirmed the science.  It's been reaffirmed in 5

every case.  6

            MR. ROMM:  And in response, it started 7

with the Burton case, as Mr. Foreman said.  Now, I 8

wasn't there at the original hearing for Ms. Burton, 9

I came after all the science was presented.  And, in 10

fact, in that case, that's what happened, all the 11

science was presented and was the foundation.  It was 12

-- it was presented unchallenged, nobody was there to 13

challenge it.  14

            And Mr. Foreman keeps going back to the 15

fact that in the first two cases there were 16

admissions of -- and then in the third case, there 17

were admissions of the use of the GABA.  In my 18

opinion, that's irrelevant, because I'm not 19

contesting that issue.  I'm not contesting the issue 20

of whether GABA was used, or wasn't used, or in the 21

system, I'm talking about the objections that I have 22

to the science behind everything.  23

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  Just -- just -- I 24

don't want to interrupt you, but to the extent you're 25

29

talking about the Burton case, you understand that 1

none of the current panel members actually sat on 2

that case; correct?  3

            MR. ROMM:  Right.  But Burton was referred 4

to in -- in multiple cases following, in which they 5

were.  And that's the information that was provided 6

to some of the members and repeated.  7

            MR. DANFORD:  All right.  So is the 8

argument then that if a panel member, proposed panel 9

member, has sat on a case that has looked back to 10

precedential decisions on previous cases, that that 11

makes them biased?  12

            MR. ROMM:  I'm not limiting it to just the 13

-- the orders, I'm -- I'm talking about in 14

combination with having sat and having heard Maylin 15

testify, Lomangino testify, Schumacher testify about 16

the foundations for the evidence.  When -- when we're 17

done with this hearing and I present the new 18

testimony from experts about new studies that have 19

come out and -- and experts that now question the 20

differences in the -- in the test results, and the 21

numbers, questioning the populations, and the actual 22

science behind it all, the foundational information 23

starts with everything they have already heard.  24

            And when they hear Mr. Maylin testify it's 25

30

going to -- it's going to be that which they have 1

already heard, it's going to be reinforced by 2

familiarity from the same words that came out of his 3

mouth when they were in the Jenkins hearing.  And --4

            MR. DANFORD:  But the fact that there are 5

prior decisions, that there's precedent that the 6

hearing panel obviously would know about with the 7

medication, if in fact your position is correct, and 8

that knowledge of prior precedent automatically means 9

that a panel member is biased, we would never sit a 10

panel.  There would be --11

            MR. ROMM:  It's not just that, it's the 12

fact that -- and this is -- this is the ingenious 13

question that was asked of me by my clients last 14

night over dinner.  They looked at this stuff, books, 15

and they said is the panel going to read all that?  16

There's got to be a thousand pages there.  Are they 17

going to get all that information?  Is the panel 18

going to be able to read two hours before this 19

hearing, and then before the deliberations end 20

tonight, which is when it ends making your decision, 21

typically that's how it's been, are you going to get 22

all this information in?  I don't think it's even 23

possible, I really don't.  24

            MR. DANFORD:  Well, certainly part of the 25

31

role of the hearing is for counsel to point the panel 1

to the specific portions that they need to 2

understand.  You will have a full and fair 3

opportunity, as will Mr. Foreman, to point this panel 4

to any portion of this record that you think is very 5

important.  6

            MR. ROMM:  Absolutely.  7

            MR. DANFORD:  The issue -- the other thing 8

we haven't really talked about is that the treatment 9

-- or not treatment, but the -- I guess the history 10

with this particular medication has come quite a ways 11

since the Burton case.  And one of the things that I 12

assume you will be introducing today are recent 13

studies, or more recent studies, that have come out 14

since a lot of these opinions have even been 15

rendered.  16

            MR. ROMM:  Yes.  17

            MR. DANFORD:  I'll certainly assure you 18

this panel will keep a very open mind for that new 19

evidence and the arguments that you are going to 20

raise today, to see whether they impact on whether 21

the Federation has proven its case.  I guess -- but I 22

think I understand now exactly what your argument is 23

with that, okay.  So let's go on to the next motion 24

then.  25

32
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            MR. ROMM:  By the way, we also had the 1

fact that Mr. Maylin, as the consultant for the USEF 2

Drugs and Medications Committee is the main witness 3

for the USEF hearing.  How do you -- how do you 4

listen to a witness who, in a separate room, you meet 5

with them on the board as a consultant, and then you 6

come into this hearing and you're expected to say 7

what you have to say is wrong, but in the other room 8

you're right.  It puts one in a position that's 9

impossible to resolve and that alone creates a 10

conflict.  11

            MR. DANFORD:  Well, what I would tell you 12

is that is, in fact, the case.  This -- you know, 13

these panel members, and literally every other panel 14

member that's ever sat on a drug case, has probably 15

heard Dr. Maylin testify as an expert at some point 16

or another.  They have accepted his testimony in many 17

cases and in some cases they've questioned some 18

things.  I expect this panel will do exactly the same 19

thing.  And if you have specific factual issues that 20

would show a bias on behalf of any panel member, we 21

certainly are very willing to hear about that.  22

            And what I will say for the record as well 23

is that it is not unusual at all in hearings of this 24

type or other types before this panel, that if a 25

33

panel member feels like they have an association with 1

some party or witness that they think would harm 2

their ability to be partial, they voluntarily recuse.  3

And that happens in cases fairly often, so --4

            MR. ROMM:  And we would ask that question 5

be asked of the panel members.  Is there any panel 6

member that feels that having heard anything in any 7

past hearing, having reviewed any evidence, having 8

heard people testify, that they feel -- not that 9

because they have ruled the same way in every hearing 10

that they're going to rule that way again, but 11

because they've heard information that is about the 12

issues here, that if -- at the end of the day, if 13

they have to make a decision, and they have new 14

information, and then they need some old information 15

and they need to fill in the gaps, that they believe 16

they're going to be able to fill in the gaps not with 17

that which they already have heard in prior hearings, 18

but independently of that information.  You know, are 19

they going to be able to discount anything they've 20

heard before and prevent that information from 21

bolstering or swaying their belief in -- in what's 22

come today.  Having heard --23

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  Let me -24

            MR. FOREMAN:  I don't think they --25

34

            MR. DANFORD:  Just for the record, the 1

ruling in each one of these cases has not been 2

exactly the same.  So just to the extent that 3

there's, you know, some implication these cases are 4

cookie cutter cases, each one has been very different 5

on its facts, and their rulings have reflected that 6

as well.  But I will ask the panel, other than Ms. 7

Miles, who gets a pass on this apparently.  8

            MS. CRONAN:  I'll be happy to comment.  We 9

come into these hearings not knowing until the paper 10

is placed in front of us who we're going to see, 11

unlike you-all who have a chance to know who the 12

panel members are.  And I've known Archie, I respect 13

Archie, I think a lot of him.  I don't think that 14

makes me prejudiced one way or another.  If it does, 15

it makes me prejudiced towards him, not against him.  16

We're all in situations in this different business 17

with lots of different opportunities to meet with 18

people and we form impressions.  Those are theirs.  19

            As far as what I remember from past 20

hearings, I don't take notes, I don't take anything 21

away with me.  Frankly, I don't even remember that I 22

was on these six.  And every case for me, I can't 23

speak for anybody else, is based, yes, on what I 24

read, but mainly what we hear or what we don't hear 25

35

from the hearing that is occurring in front of us.  I 1

understand what you're saying, but for me, I don't 2

harp back to, gee, I remember this, or even could do 3

that, that's not the way I have had experience with 4

the panel.  5

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  So panel members, do 6

any of you -- is there any reason that the fact that 7

you have sat on a previous panel involving this 8

particular medication, that that would mean that you 9

cannot be impartial and hear the evidence fresh in 10

this case? 11

            MS. WERNER:  No.  12

            MR. DANFORD:  All right.  And, Ms. Werner, 13

because you have spent time on the D and M Committee, 14

and it's been represented that Dr. Maylin has 15

interfaced with that committee as a consultant, does 16

that in any way tend to make you trust or believe Dr. 17

Maylin's testimony more than it would otherwise?  18

            MS. WERNER:  No.  And I really believe, 19

thinking back, Dr. Maylin's interfacing is more with 20

the veterinarian committee than it is the Hearing 21

Committee.  You know, he's not somebody who is active 22

talking and --23

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay, all right.  So are 24

there any connections between the panel and any 25
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witnesses on the -- really either side, that would 1

lead you to be a -- you know, not an impartial panel 2

member?3

            MS. WERNER:  No.  Like Mary Anne, I've 4

served on the board with Archie, and I think a couple 5

of committees, and have always admired, worked very 6

well with him, but no.7

            MS. BLACKSTONE:  I'm just going to add one 8

comment.  And that as horsemen, we all have the best 9

interest of our horses at heart on this panel.  And I 10

think if there's new evidence, new information that 11

we need to have about our drug testing, I think we 12

would all be very open to hearing it.  13

            MR. ROMM:  And once again, it was -- it 14

was a fact that we, as the Respondents, felt that 15

this was something that we had to -- that we were 16

compelled to make as a motion.  17

            MR. DANFORD:  Oh, no, right.  18

            MR. ROMM:  Preserving the record is the 19

purpose only.  20

            MR. DANFORD:  There's no prejudice to you 21

by actually making the motion.  That's very clear, 22

you have the right to do that.  23

            All right.  So we have that -- that motion 24

will be considered by the panel as it goes into 25

37

executive session.  And then we also have, it looks 1

like, some other objections to the evidence, Mr. 2

Romm; is that correct?  3

            MR. ROMM:  Yes.  4

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  So P9.1 is the first 5

one you have on your list, tell me what your 6

objection is to that document briefly.  7

            MR. ROMM:  Actually, I have to find -- 8

            MR. DANFORD:  Oh, yeah, it's the equine 9

sample identification document from the Atlanta 10

Winter Class III, with regard to this horse.  11

            MR. ROMM:  Is that a P?  12

            MR. DANFORD:  Yes, it's P9.1.  Actually, 13

maybe I can short-circuit this a little bit, are 14

these -- you've listed about -- 15

            MR. ROMM:  9.1 through 9.9.  16

            MR. DANFORD:  Through 6.  Are all of 17

these -- is your objection that these all come from 18

different horse shows, is that --19

            MR. ROMM:  No.  The first objection was 20

that the -- those are from the Blenheim, if I'm not 21

mistaken.  22

            MR. DANFORD:  Right, okay.  23

            MR. ROMM:  The Blenheim show.24

            MR. DANFORD:  The, I'm sorry?  25

38

            MR. FOREMAN:  Can we clarify what he's 1

objecting to?  2

            MR. DANFORD:  Yes.  All right.  Let's go 3

back and let's go specifically document by document 4

so we know.  P9.1 is the first one, it is an equine 5

sample identification document from the Atlanta 6

Winter Classic II.  So let me know what your 7

objection is to that document.  8

            MR. ROMM:  As to 9.1 through 9.6, all the 9

documentation from the Blenheim Summer Classic, if 10

you look at the packing list, which is shown in the 11

Respondents' -- 12

            MR. FOREMAN:  P9.1 is not Blenheim.  13

            MR. COX:  It's Atlanta Winter.  14

            MR. DANFORD:  It's Atlanta Winter, Atlanta 15

Winter Classic II.  16

            MR. ROMM:  Okay.  I apologize then.  17

            MR. DANFORD:  No problem.  18

            MR. ROMM:  I have -- this is the book 19

which changed after I made the objections.  20

            MR. DANFORD:  I got you.  21

            MR. COX:  The numbers are different now.  22

            MR. ROMM:  The numbers are all different.23

            MR. DANFORD:  Oh, I see, okay.24

            MR. ROMM:  The ones I referenced are not 25
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the same as they are now.  1

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay, all right.  Well, if 2

there's an easier way to do this -- 3

            MR. ROMM:  I can tell you as for the 4

Blenheim documentation, the packing list says that 5

nine urine samples were sent from the show to the 6

lab, that's it, no blood.  And, therefore, there's an 7

interruption in the chain of custody that can't be 8

reconciled, no matter what you do.  According to that 9

packing list there's no -- there's no blood.  And if 10

-- if -- if we're all going to agree -- if we can all 11

agree on one thing, it's that, you know, there's 12

three steps to -- to this case.  13

            You got to get the sample, know that it 14

came from that horse, you've got bring it to a lab, 15

that's step one.  Step two, the lab tests it.  And 16

then step three, once those test results are obtained 17

you've got to figure out whether that result is a 18

violation of some rule.  Well, in step one, did the 19

sample come from that particular horse.  The way 20

that's resolved is through the documents and the 21

chain of custody.  You can't do it any other way.  22

And, clearly, the chain of custody says no blood was 23

sent.  24

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  Mr. Foreman, do you 25
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have --1

            MR. FOREMAN:  Well, in fact, we'll produce 2

documents that, in fact, there were 13 bloods that 3

were delivered with the urine.  The packing list is 4

provided by the testing veterinarian as to what she 5

put into the package.  In this particular situation, 6

we didn't hide it, she only listed the urine, she 7

didn't list the bloods.  When the cooler arrives at 8

the laboratory, it's opened and it's inspected 9

against the packing list to see what is in there.  10

And the discrepancy that she had not listed the 11

bloods is actually listed on a laboratory document.  12

There was an A sample, a B sample in the cooler.  13

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay, just a second.  Has 14

that document been provided? 15

            MR. FOREMAN:  No, he just raised the issue 16

yesterday.  We have the document with us today and 17

we'll produce it.  It's not something that would 18

normally be in the analytical data packet, it's a 19

laboratory use only document.  We can certainly 20

provide it to him now if he wants it.  21

            MR. ROMM:  The packing list is -- is 22

something that if it's wrong, that the person that 23

opens the case is supposed to call up the person that 24

sent it and get, you know, confirmation as to why 25
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there's a difference, and they didn't do that.  1

            MR. DANFORD:  Well, maybe -- 2

            MR. ROMM:  And she can say I didn't write 3

it down.  4

            MR. DANFORD:  I have no idea whether they 5

did or didn't.6

            MR. ROMM:  She didn't.  7

            MR. DANFORD:  But here's the question -- 8

            MR. ROMM:  In the whole packet, that's the 9

one document that was missing in his packet that he 10

-- that he provided.  The one document that happened 11

to be missing was the packing list with this 12

information.  13

            MR. FOREMAN:  It was provided to him.  14

            MR. ROMM:  The one document.  15

            MR. FOREMAN:  That's not true.  16

            MR. DANFORD:  How did you find out about 17

it then, what -- you obviously saw a packing list at 18

some point, I'm a little confused.  19

            MR. FOREMAN:  It's in the data packet that 20

was provided to Mr. Cox.21

            MR. DANFORD:  All right.  What are you 22

saying, that he didn't provide the packing list to --  23

            MR. ROMM:  No, what I'm saying is that in 24

his information that he provided for the panel, 25
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right, he provides the documents with the exception 1

of the packing list.  2

            MR. FOREMAN:  That's not true.  3

            MR. ROMM:  It's not there.  4

            MR. FOREMAN:  We forwarded to the 5

Federation the same data packet that was forwarded to 6

the Respondents.  In fact, Ms. Pratt wrote me a note 7

saying we didn't see the document, could you send it 8

to us, and we sent it in a separate e-mail.9

            MR. DANFORD:  That's fine.  That's 10

something we can flush out in the hearing.  Is there 11

another objection?  Is there another basis of 12

objection to the Blenheim documents or is that the 13

basis of the objection?  14

            MR. ROMM:  That, and -- and the fact 15

that -- yeah, no, that's it for that.  16

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay, okay.  So that -- and 17

that would include -- how many documents does that 18

include, is that just anything having to do with the 19

Blenheim show?  20

            MR. ROMM:  Yes.  21

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay, all right.  22

            MR. FOREMAN:  So just so I understand, 23

their argument would be since the packing list says 24

nine urines, no blood, notwithstanding that we opened 25
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the cooler, inspected it, recorded what was in there, 1

got an A and B sample, tested the A, still have the 2

B, and they never contested the fact that the sample 3

was collected, that that somehow negates the fact 4

that we collected and tested blood?  Because that's 5

what they're arguing, based on the packing list.  6

            MR. ROMM:  No.  7

            MR. FOREMAN:  Well, if you want to exclude 8

the packing list, exclude the packing list, that's 9

fine.  10

            MR. ROMM:  Actually -- actually --11

            MR. FOREMAN:  Is that what you're actually 12

asking to do?  13

            MR. DANFORD:  I think that's the one thing 14

he doesn't want excluded.  15

            MR. ROMM:  Right.  And -- and the thing 16

that I'm raising is that the only way to establish 17

that the blood that was opened up -- when they opened 18

the case and they found this blood, right, how do you 19

know that blood came from that horse, how do you know 20

that.  There's only one way to know, you have to have 21

some document signed by somebody that says that that 22

blood was provided.  There's a procedure, the 23

procedure is that there's somebody that collects the 24

blood.  25
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            MR. DANFORD:  So, Mr. Foreman -- 1

            MR. FOREMAN:  That's in the record.  2

            MR. DANFORD: -- how do you respond to 3

that?  4

            MR. FOREMAN:  We have the original sample 5

identification card that was -- evidences the 6

collection of the sample.  It's in the record, it's 7

witnessed, it's placed into the cooler.  The document 8

that he's referring to as somehow negating all this 9

is a packing list that the testing veterinarian fills 10

out which she puts into the cooler.  11

            MR. DANFORD:  Does the evidence contain 12

the testing veterinarian's affidavit about the --13

            MR. FOREMAN:  Yes, the collection, we have 14

the affidavit.  15

            MR. DANFORD:  Does she talk about -- does 16

he or she talk about collection of blood samples?  17

            MR. FOREMAN:  She says that she collected 18

the sample, it was placed into the cooler, the cooler 19

was transferred to her.  20

            MR. DANFORD:  Did she talk about how many 21

samples or whether any of them were blood?  22

            MR. FOREMAN:  Only -- her affidavit is 23

only as to the collection of the sample in this case.  24

And it goes into the cooler with all the other 25
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samples that were collected at that show.  They were 1

sent in a cooler to the Federation's laboratory, 2

which inspects it to determine and identify each 3

sample that they received, A and B.  4

            MR. DANFORD:  Right.  5

            MR. FOREMAN:  They are logged in, there's 6

a notation that's made that the testing veterinarian 7

did not list the number of bloods.  There are 13 8

bloods in the cooler, A, 13 B.  They identify them by 9

sample number, they're given a laboratory accession 10

number.  And the B samples are put into the 11

laboratory's freezer in the event there is a request 12

for them.  13

            MR. DANFORD:  Right.  So the point, 14

though, is -- 15

            MR. FOREMAN:  And tied to a sample card.  16

            MR. DANFORD:  When the -- when the lab 17

receives the cooler that has been shipped, they 18

notice that there are blood samples in there.  They 19

are able to identify that a blood sample pertains to 20

Cartaire because there is actual documentation on it, 21

is that what you're saying?22

            MR. FOREMAN:  There is -- they don't know 23

it's Cartaire.  They know it's sample number A-12218.  24

            MR. DANFORD:  They know it by number, they 25
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know it by number.  1

            MR. FOREMAN:  And the reason they know is 2

because there's a tag that's affixed to the sample 3

card, it gets affixed to the sample, and that's how 4

you identify it.  And it goes in the bags, and they 5

have to inspect the samples to determine it hasn't 6

been tampered with.  7

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.8

            MR. FOREMAN:  So they have a blood sample 9

there and it has A-12218 sample tag affixed to it and 10

a B.  11

            MR. DANFORD:  All right.  So your response 12

is, essentially, is the packing list is, essentially, 13

a typographical error, it -- 14

            MR. FOREMAN:  It's a ministerial document, 15

having no consequence whatsoever.16

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  17

            MR. ROMM:  By the way, the affidavit you 18

refer to.  19

            MR. DANFORD:  Yes.  20

            MR. ROMM:  If that's the response, we put 21

that affidavit in question, because the affidavit 22

states I, the person, who -- 23

            MR. COX:  No, that was a different horse 24

show.  25
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            MR. ROMM:  Oh.  Okay, I apologize.  1

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay, that's fine.  So I 2

think we understand the issue as to that one.  Do you 3

have any other documentation you wish to challenge?  4

            MR. ROMM:  No, but I want to make sure 5

that the argument is clear on that, you know.  6

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  I think it is, but if 7

you need to restate it, go ahead.  8

            MR. ROMM:  The -- it's not whether or not 9

they could open up a container, look at a sample and 10

read a card.  They have to have evidence that from 11

the point of the extraction from the horse to the 12

point where it went into the sample case, somebody 13

has to say I drew it, I watched it, I carried it 14

over, I put it in there, and then it goes to the next 15

step.  They don't have that.  16

            MR. FOREMAN:  Not true.  I suggest he read 17

Dr. Sandler's affidavit in this case, in which she 18

drew the blood sample, collected it, where she put 19

it, where it was transferred to, when she shipped it, 20

how she shipped it to the Federation.  It's in Dr. 21

Sandler's affidavit.  22

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  23

            MR. FOREMAN:  Then there's an affidavit 24

from Mr. Lomangino about receipt of the samples from 25
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Dr. Sandler.  And Mr. Lomangino will testify with 1

respect to --2

            MR. DANFORD:  Point out just for the 3

record where in the file the Sandler, Lomangino 4

affidavits are.  I know there's several from Ms. 5

Sandler.  6

            MR. FOREMAN:  The sample card is P1.1.  7

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  8

            MR. ROMM:  I can't locate this document in 9

the new ordered list.  It's part of this packet here?  10

            MS. PRATT:  Here's an extra copy of the --   11

            MR. ROMM:  Part of that, there.  12

            MR. COX:  Can I see that?  13

            MR. ROMM:  The data packet for the GABA 14

for sample number A-12218, taken on August 14th, 15

2014, in the Blenheim Summer Classic II, that data 16

packet is located where in the new evidence book?  17

            MR. FOREMAN:  P5.  18

            MR. ROMM:  P5.  19

            MR. FOREMAN:  The affidavit of Dr. Sandler 20

with respect to the Blenheim show is P11.13.  21

            MR. ROMM:  Okay, I found it.  It's -- P5 22

is correct.  And it's the one, two -- it's the fourth 23

physical page, right here.  So if you're at P5, 24

physically they're front and back pages, so one, two, 25
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three, four, five, six, the seventh actual page is 1

the show packing list, which states on it the 2

information on the sheet must be complete and correct 3

or it will be faxed to you for corrections.  It 4

clearly says that.  That's the process, that's what 5

they're supposed to do, they didn't do that.  If -- 6

if this was so important they would have -- when they 7

opened that case and they saw there was something 8

else, they would have faxed it back and said why is 9

it missing.  10

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  I think we understand 11

the argument, so -- and the Lomangino affidavit?  12

            MR. FOREMAN:  Is P11.14.  13

            MR. DANFORD:  P11.14, okay, all right.  14

Okay, good.  All right.  Do you have other documents 15

you wish to challenge admissibility for, Mr. Romm?  16

            MR. ROMM:  Yes.  Wait one second.  17

            MR. DANFORD:  No problem.  18

            MR. ROMM:  And the affidavit was P11.14?  19

            MR. DANFORD:  Yes.  20

            MR. ROMM:  And which I point out does not 21

address the issue at all, the affidavit itself.  22

            Yes, the next documents that we contest 23

are the evidence of other tests, the two other tests 24

that were done months before and months after the 25
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Blenheim show.  The test results of the horse at 1

other shows at other times is beyond the scope of the 2

charging document that's here now and we requested 3

the backup data.  4

            MR. DANFORD:  I'm sorry, what do you mean 5

by beyond the scope?  6

            MR. ROMM:  The charging document is a 7

charge about what was -- what was in the horse's --8

            MR. DANFORD:  Right.  9

            MR. ROMM: -- system on that day.  10

            MR. DANFORD:  Yeah.  So, I mean, I'm 11

sorry, my question wasn't very articulate.  What I 12

mean was this, is it your belief that Mr. Foreman is 13

going to seek to hold the Respondents responsible for 14

those administrations as well?  15

            MR. ROMM:  No.  16

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  17

            MR. ROMM:  It's more of, well, they did it 18

before, so, therefore, you should believe they're 19

doing it again.  20

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  21

            MR. FOREMAN:  Absolutely not true.  22

            MR. DANFORD:  From my reading of this, 23

what I understand, and what I believe that Mr. 24

Foreman wants to do with that evidence, is you're 25
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going to claim that this horse is of a size and of a 1

variety, that it is inapplicable to the scientific -- 2

the body of horses that were studied in the 3

underlying studies by the Federation.  And so the 4

theory being that this horse may have had a higher 5

normal level of GABA in its system.  I believe what 6

Mr. Foreman is going to do is going to say, well, you 7

know, we've actually tested this horse.  And, in 8

fact, here is evidence of what his normal level is.  9

Am I saying that correctly?  10

            MR. FOREMAN:  That's absolutely correct.  11

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  So --12

            MR. ROMM:  And in response --13

            MR. DANFORD:  So how is that outside the 14

scope of this?15

            MR. ROMM:  And in response we said that's 16

fine, show us the data.  Give us the raw data so we 17

can decide for ourselves whether or not results of 18

these tests that you want to put in front of a 19

committee and say, see, on other occasions it was 20

this high, so, therefore, the -- the results are not 21

inconsistent with the levels that we claim it was at 22

the Blenheim.  We said, fine, show us the backup.  23

            Because we want to decide for ourselves.  24

We want to look for ourselves at the data to 25
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determine whether or not those tests are valid.  We 1

asked for that data multiple times, never have we 2

been provided with the raw data, the underlying data 3

for those tests, or, for that matter, for any of 4

Maylin's entire study.  We have asked for it again, 5

and again, and again, and he refuses.  6

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  Mr. Foreman, your 7

response to that.  8

            MR. FOREMAN:  It was provided with each 9

one of the sample identification cards for the two 10

other collections.  The screening data for those two 11

samples, they were screened as every sample that has 12

been going to the laboratory since mid to late June, 13

2012, has been screened for GABA.  The GABA levels 14

are recorded.  If they're normal, or negative, or 15

don't generate any interest, you move on, it's 16

treated as negative.  17

            If it creates a suspicious sample, as 18

occurred in this particular case with the Blenheim 19

show, then further testing is done on that sample.  20

There was no reason to do further testing on the 21

other two samples.  The GABA levels were recorded.  22

The screening data was provided to the Respondents.  23

There is no other data, it's what it is.  24

            MR. DANFORD:  So your statement today is 25
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that you have actually given him everything the 1

Federation has?  2

            MR. FOREMAN:  Absolutely.  It was given 3

prior to the deadline.  4

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  Your response, Mr. 5

Romm.  6

            MR. ROMM:  The Blenheim sample has the 7

entire quantitation report.  8

            MR. DANFORD:  Well, but Blenheim is 9

this -- 10

            MR. ROMM:  Right.  11

            MR. DANFORD: -- where there was actually 12

confirmatory testing.  13

            MR. FOREMAN:  Correct.  14

            MR. DANFORD:  As I understand Mr. Foreman, 15

what he's saying is that in these other two instances 16

there was not confirmatory testing, because the horse 17

passed the screening.18

            MR. FOREMAN:  It was a screening, a simple 19

screening.  20

            MR. ROMM:  So if there was no confirmatory 21

testing, how do we know the screening was right?  22

They want us to believe it was, why, why should we 23

believe that?  24

            MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Foreman.  25
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            MR. FOREMAN:  Because we would have to do 1

a confirmatory test of every sample we test.  There's 2

been somewhere between 30, 45 thousand.  You only 3

confirm those samples that are suspicious.  If 4

they're normal, and we're going to provide testimony, 5

we believe the record is very clear that Cartaire's 6

normal GABA level, as reflected in two separate 7

control samples, is far below even the median 8

average.  9

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  But his point is 10

slightly different.  His point is that because the 11

Federation in its normal course did a screening --12

            MR. FOREMAN:  Right.  13

            MR. DANFORD: -- and it came up with, you 14

know, whatever levels for Cartaire, that unless you 15

do confirmatory testing to confirm that, in fact, 16

those levels are accurate, how can you state that 17

those are accurate numbers that the panel can rely 18

upon.  19

            MR. FOREMAN:  First of all, this is not a 20

quantitative test, so the numbers speak for 21

themselves, and the experts can testify as to what 22

those numbers mean.  I don't think I have to make 23

that showing to the Hearing Committee, the numbers 24

are what they are.  In the previous case that was 25
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previously heard by the Hearing Committee, I don't 1

think any of the members on this panel, we did the 2

same thing, we were able to -- can I finish, please.  3

We had a positive test, which was actually lower than 4

Mr. Cox's.  And then the horse was tested the next 5

day as the horse went into the championship, and a -- 6

the horse was tested for GABA, and we got the horse's 7

normal level and it was not contested.  And even the 8

Hearing Committee in that case indicated that we've 9

gone a step further now with respect to GABA, because 10

we have control samples.  We have controls where we 11

can look back and see if the horse has been tested 12

and we can do a comparison.  13

            MR. DANFORD:  So what -- just remind me, 14

what happened in that case was the control sample, as 15

you call it, was that just a screening?  16

            MR. FOREMAN:  Yes, just a simple 17

screening, which is what's done.  18

            MR. DANFORD:  All right.  So I guess the 19

question then is that if you do a screening and you 20

get a number that pops up, how do you know that that 21

number is reliable, that's essentially --22

            MR. FOREMAN:  I'll let the experts testify 23

to that.  Either you agree with the technology, you 24

agree with the method that's being used, or you 25
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don't.  We will argue today that the method has been 1

validated, the method is used, the method has been 2

used by others, and it's been used by others who the 3

Respondent is relying on to make their case.  4

            MR. ROMM:  Mr. Danford, I have to strongly 5

object.  The insidiousness of this argument is 6

incredible.  Because if you take his argument we all 7

pack up and go home right now.  Because what my 8

entire case is about is the fact that their entire 9

science about what's normal and the normal 10

physiological levels in the horse is based on bad 11

science.  What they're saying is if we test the horse 12

and we get a result that's a violation, we're going 13

to do confirmatory testing to make sure it's right so 14

that you should believe us when we go to the hearing.  15

But when we get a result that's normal, we don't have 16

to confirm it at all, you should just believe us.  17

            And our entire argument is that what is 18

normal is not correct.  But they want you to believe 19

that what is normal, what they have tested, we should 20

just accept it as being a valid test with the 21

appropriate and proper numbers, because why?  That's 22

our whole argument.  So if we get -- if we get a 23

result that's not a violation, we don't have to 24

confirm it, it's valid and acceptable.  25
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            MR. DANFORD:  All right, I think we 1

understand the argument.  Okay.  So what's -- is 2

there -- so that goes to the documents for the two 3

other shows.  Do you have any other objections to 4

other evidence?  5

            MR. ROMM:  On those particular documents?  6

            MR. DANFORD:  No, no, no, any other -- so 7

I understand you're objecting to any documents that 8

have been attempted to be admitted into evidence with 9

regard to those other two shows.  10

            MR. ROMM:  Yes.  Plus -- plus we believe 11

that there have been other -- the horse has been 12

tested multiple times.  Upon information and belief 13

of my client there were other confirmatory tests.  We 14

don't have those documents either, but we don't -- we 15

don't remember specifically, but it was -- it was Mr. 16

Cox's belief that there may have been other tests.  17

And they're not there and --18

            MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Foreman.  19

            MR. FOREMAN:  Mr. Cox acquired the horse 20

sometime in 2014.  We have provided all the 21

information with respect to the testing of the horse 22

since January 1, 2014, forward.  This horse has not 23

been tested other than what we have provided to the 24

Hearing Committee.  25

58

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  1

            MR. FOREMAN:  He may have other horses 2

that have been tested, but Cartaire, we have provided 3

the information on Cartaire's testing since January 4

1, 2014, he was tested on three occasions.  5

            MR. ROMM:  And was never tested before 6

then, ever?  7

            MR. FOREMAN:  I can't tell you about 8

before that.  But he didn't have the horse then, and 9

I don't know that any GABA levels were recorded prior 10

to that time, because that's when we were -- had just 11

begun the testing, I don't -- 12

            MR. DANFORD:  That's kind of a fairly new 13

phenomenon, I guess.  14

            MR. FOREMAN:  Yes.15

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  In fact, was it early 16

2014 that the -- when was the -- this issue with 17

the -- 18

            MR. FOREMAN:  We began GABA testing 19

sometime in I think June, July of 2012; so it would 20

be 2013.  21

            MR. ROMM:  So what about all the -- the 22

two years before that, was he tested before then, we 23

don't know.  He might have been and they can't 24

represent that he wasn't, and we don't have that 25
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either.  1

            MR. DANFORD:  All right, I understand.  2

Okay.  So what's your next evidentiary objection?  3

            MR. ROMM:  The March 16th letter from Mr. 4

Foreman.  5

            MR. DANFORD:  Where is that in the record?  6

            MR. ROMM:  That's -- in your book?  7

            MR. DANFORD:  Yeah.  8

            MR. ROMM:  Where is it?  9

            MS. PRATT:  P3.  10

            MR. ROMM:  P3.  Thank you, appreciate the 11

help.  12

            MS. PRATT:  Uh-huh.  13

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  And state your 14

objection, please.  15

            MR. ROMM:  This should be removed from the 16

evidence.  There are statements here by Mr. Foreman 17

that -- in the second paragraph on the first page, 18

all of the cases where the Federation has prosecuted 19

there's reported levels in excess of 60 nanograms.  20

We have also learned that in all of the cases for 21

which confirmatory testing has been conducted using 22

liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry, the 23

confirmed levels have been, in most cases, ten times 24

the level reported in the laboratory.  All of our 25
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prosecutions involved that are or would be in excess 1

of 190 using liquid.  2

            That is a completely unsupported -- unless 3

we are provided with the base documentation to 4

support statements like that or unless Mr. Foreman's 5

going to get up and testify as to the supporting 6

science behind those statements, that is -- that's a 7

presentation of what is, allegedly, information and 8

documentation in the -- in the hands of the USEF that 9

doesn't exist.  Or, if it does exist, we have not 10

been provided it so we can look at it for ourselves.  11

And, therefore, it should -- it should be removed, it 12

shouldn't be considered.  13

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  All right.  Mr. 14

Foreman, any response?  15

            MR. FOREMAN:  Yeah.  The letter was in 16

response to a Motion to Dismiss that had been filed 17

by Mr. Cox, and I responded to assertions that he 18

made.  I stand by every statement in the letter.  I 19

would qualify, in the first case in which 20

confirmatory testing was sought -- and there was no 21

confirmatory testing sought in this case, in which 22

case it would have gone to the New York Equine Drug 23

Testing and Research Laboratory and it would have 24

been tested by LCMS.  In the case in which such 25
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testing was requested, the LCMS level was not ten 1

times, it was five times the level reported by the 2

Federation's laboratory using GCMS.  That was the 3

basis for the statement.  4

            I don't think it's even relevant to this 5

case, because there was no request whatsoever for 6

testing by LCMS, and we are dealing with the actual 7

testing that was done in this case.  But it was in 8

response to a Motion to Dismiss, and I don't think 9

under any obligation, since there was no request for 10

the information, nor is it relevant.  11

            MR. ROMM:  It's relevant because the 12

initial threshold levels relied upon by the USEF in 13

Dr. Maylin's study was 190.14

            MR. FOREMAN:  That's not true.  15

            MR. ROMM:  It's absolutely true.  16

            MR. FOREMAN:  You keep making this 17

statement, and in the Jenkins case you kept repeating 18

that statement.  If you read my letter, that you're 19

now trying to have stricken from the record, it makes 20

it very clear that the Federation's level at which it 21

considers a concentration of GABA to be normal in a 22

horse is 62 nanograms.  Dr. Maylin did his study, and 23

it was a study of the application of the method.  And 24

in his population study, he determined the normal 25
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physiologic concentration, considering the plus four 1

minus standard deviations, that one in 10,000 horses 2

would test at 190 nanograms.  3

            MR. ROMM:  Exactly.  4

            MR. FOREMAN:  To the extent that the 5

Federation D and M committee has chosen for a period 6

of time to prosecute cases in excess of 190 does not 7

change the fact it's been reflected in Hearing 8

Committee decisions that the normal physiologic 9

concentration of GABA in the horse, as considered by 10

USEF, is 62 nanograms, and it's stated in the letter 11

here.  12

            MR. DANFORD:  And this issue, of course, 13

will be the subject, I assume, of cross examination 14

with Dr. Maylin.  15

            MR. FOREMAN:  We're happy to do it.  16

            MR. ROMM:  But there's statements about 17

evidence that I don't get the opportunity to -- to 18

see the basis for.  You know, if he wants to present 19

other evidence, fine, take the letter out.  It's not 20

part of -- it's not part of -- it refers to evidence 21

that doesn't exist.  And it's -- and it's clearly a 22

statement of what would have -- would have happened.  23

If we did this, it would have resulted in this kind 24

of -- how do you accept that as --25
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       MR. DANFORD:  All right, I think we understand 1

that one.  So what's your next objection?  2

            MR. ROMM:  We did the summary report for 3

-- for Cartaire going back to 2012, we haven't -- we 4

said we haven't gotten those.  The method of 5

validation and measurement on certain reports for 6

GABA for Dr. Maylin's lab and for the USEF lab, we 7

have requested that information and it has not been 8

provided.  9

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  10

            MR. ROMM:  And -- and to the extent that 11

that needs explanation, there's -- there's method of 12

validation and there's measurements of uncertainty, 13

and those -- there are specific procedures for that.  14

And -- and that's supposed to be information that's 15

provided, and in order to determine whether the 16

results are valid, and we haven't been provided that 17

information.  18

            MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Foreman, any response?  19

            MR. FOREMAN:  The answer is, and we've 20

told them repeatedly, this is not a quantitative 21

test.  That's the simple answer, it's not a 22

quantitative test.  23

            MR. ROMM:  What does that mean?  24

            MR. COX:  How do you measure?  25
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            MR. FOREMAN:  Exactly what it means.  1

            MR. ROMM:  It's not a quantitative test, 2

but we're determining normal physiologic levels with 3

numbers on them?  And then threshold numbers on which 4

a violation is made with numbers on them, but those 5

numbers are things we should ignore?  6

            MR. DANFORD:  Go ahead.  7

            MR. FOREMAN:  If you read the test report 8

from the laboratory, it does not identify numbers.  9

It says concentration in excess of normal physiologic 10

concentration.  The Federation considers that to be 11

62 nanograms.  It's the Respondent who asked for the 12

numbers in his case.  We don't have to provide it.  A 13

quantitative number, if you look in the rule book, 14

look in the USEF rule book, are nonsteroidal 15

anti-inflammatory drugs.  That's a quantitative, 16

that's a threshold drug at which measurements of 17

uncertainty, method validation, A2LA accreditation 18

applies.  19

            This is a forbidden substance.  It is 20

not -- we do not test quantitatively.  The only thing 21

we look to see is if the blood sample shows a 22

concentration in excess of 62 nanograms, just as we 23

do with the other samples.  And if it does, we do 24

further testing to satisfy ourselves that the level 25
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reported in the sample is above the normal 1

physiologic concentration.  2

            It is not a quantitative number.  There is 3

no accreditation to GABA.  We have been doing it for 4

three years to root out an illicit use of the drug.  5

And we've had how many cases now that validates the 6

work we're doing, because the people come in and say 7

we did it, so -- but the bottom line is this is not a 8

quantitative situation.  They're asking for 9

information that only applies if a drug is 10

quantitated and is reported quantitatively.  We have 11

told them that for months, this is not something new.  12

            MR. ROMM:  I don't understand -- 13

            MR. FOREMAN:  I know you don't.  14

            MR. ROMM:  Excuse me.15

            MR. FOREMAN:  It's clear you don't.  16

            MR. ROMM:  I don't understand how you can 17

say this is -- when you say it's not a quantitative 18

test, what you're saying is this has nothing to do 19

with the numbers, that's what you're saying in plain 20

English.  And the reason they're saying it doesn't 21

have anything to do with numbers is because the 22

allegation of a violation is it's just above normal 23

physiological levels.  That's all they said, it's 24

above normal physiological level.  Well, what does 25

66

that mean.  Then in the next sentence, the next 1

sentence they say normal physiologic levels are this 2

number.  But because they didn't say it in the 3

charging document, they just referred to normal 4

physiologic levels as being above, and it's not about 5

the number.  Of course it's about the number, that's 6

what it's about.  If it wasn't above 62 or above 190 7

they wouldn't be charged.  8

            So the question is whether those numbers 9

are accurate.  It is about the numbers, it is a 10

quantitative issue.  And I don't know if you caught 11

it, but Mr. Foreman acknowledged that initially they 12

were prosecuted at 190.  And then it changed to above 13

62.  14

            MR. DANFORD:  We'll get to that in the 15

hearings.  16

            MR. ROMM:  It's all about the numbers.17

            MR. DANFORD:  We'll get to that part.  18

            MR. FOREMAN:  I just would remind the 19

Hearing Committee that in every case that involves a 20

drug that is not quantitated, Fluphenazine, 21

Acepromazine, Guanabenz, go down the list of any 22

drugs you see, the test report says presence of, a 23

metabolite of or the drug, there's no number 24

associated with it.  This is no different.  25
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            MR. ROMM:  May I question, does that mean 1

-- does that mean if there's any amount of GABA in 2

the system, any amount, 2 nanograms per milliliter, 3

then it's a violation, is that what he's saying?  4

            MR. FOREMAN:  You know the answer to that 5

is no, because it's an endogenous substance.  In 6

order to determine whether GABA has been introduced 7

into the horse, you need to know the horse's normal 8

physiologic concentration.9

            MR. ROMM:  You need to know the number.  10

So it's about the number.  11

            MR. FOREMAN:  We'll let the scientists 12

testify with regards to Mr. Romm.  I don't think he 13

understands the science, but we'll let the scientists 14

do it and he can spar with them.  15

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  Mr. Romm, what's your 16

next objection?17

            MR. ROMM:  We have asked for the raw data 18

for the USEF threshold test and Dr. Maylin's entire 19

study, we haven't been provided that.  20

            MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Foreman.  21

            MR. FOREMAN:  We don't have it.  It was 22

requested in Jenkins, it wasn't produced.  It's not 23

relevant, we see no reason to produce it.  For that 24

reason, I don't have it.  25
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            MR. ROMM:  May I say that --1

            MR. FOREMAN:  That's up to Dr. Maylin if 2

he wants to produce it, it's his to produce, it's his 3

work.  4

            MR. ROMM:  May I say that the raw data 5

that we are requesting, according to our expert in 6

his affidavit that we have provided --7

            MR. FOREMAN:  Which expert?  8

            MR. ROMM:  It was McKenzie, I believe.  In 9

order to maintain the A2LA accreditation, they are 10

required to maintain that raw data that I'm 11

requesting, they have to have it.  And in the Jenkins 12

case, there was testimony that the raw data was 13

transmitted from Maylin to, I think Soma at USEF.  14

It's in the Jenkins testimony transcript.  So not 15

only does the data exist, and is readily available at 16

the push of a button, and is required to be available 17

under their accreditation, and if you -- you could 18

argue the transcript and the evidence, but, you know, 19

based on that, it actually has been transmitted and 20

reviewed by USEF.  They haven't provided it.  They 21

have it, they just refuse to provide it.  22

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  Mr. Foreman, so your 23

statement -- your response to that is that the 24

Federation does not have it, that Dr. Maylin, as the 25
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consultant, has it.  1

            MR. FOREMAN:  That's correct.  2

            MR. DANFORD:  He has provided it to Dr.  3

Soma, who was, at that point, an expert witness or an 4

outside witness, I think, in a case, but he has not 5

provided it to you; is that what you're saying?  6

            MR. FOREMAN:  Right.  And, quite frankly, 7

we asked for months a disclosure by the Respondents 8

of their expert.  To the extent that Dr. Maylin would 9

release his data, he wanted to know who he was 10

releasing it to.  And they did not disclose their 11

experts and we did not get an expert disclosure until 12

the deadline that was extended by the Federation of I 13

believe the 19th of June.  So, no, Dr. Maylin, and 14

I'll let him testify, is not going to just release 15

his data to someone he doesn't know who it's going to 16

and how it's going to be used.  And I think any 17

expert would do the same thing.  18

            MR. ROMM:  I'm learning something new 19

here, I'm hearing this for the first time.  What he's 20

actually saying is Maylin does have -- two minutes 21

ago he said they don't have it.  22

            MR. FOREMAN:  No.  23

            MR. ROMM:  Now he's saying Maylin has it, 24

it's available.  He requested it and they weren't 25
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going to provide it because -- 1

            MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Romm, Mr. Romm, I think 2

it's been very clear what's actually been said.  3

Okay.  What's your next objection?  We do need to 4

actually get to the hearing today, so --5

            MR. COX:  Can I address this issue?  6

            MR. DANFORD:  You can, sure.  7

            MR. COX:  And I thank you for allowing me 8

to speak.  9

            MR. DANFORD:  No problem.  10

            MR. COX:  I take my responsibility to the 11

Federation very seriously and this hearing very 12

seriously.  I have done everything within my limited 13

availability.  And if there is a study, that data 14

that supports the study should be available to me.  15

If I have responded to requests by deadlines, it 16

seems to me that that data should be available.  As 17

Mr. Foreman just mentioned, we did respond within the 18

deadline.  The deadline was set, we did it.  19

            And that data is not available.  And on 20

many cases -- or many instances I have requested 21

information, and the standard response is that is not 22

pertinent to your case.  As a defendant, which I am, 23

don't I have the opportunity to decide what is better 24

for my defense?  In a not-for-profit organization, 25
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most data should be available.  And I have been 1

denied that.  And I just want to go on record -- 2

            MR. FOREMAN:  I'd like to respond to that.  3

            MR. DANFORD:  You may.  4

            MR. FOREMAN:  I take my responsibility on 5

behalf of the Federation very seriously also.  There 6

are no prehearing discovery requirements in the 7

rules, other than an exchange of documents and 8

information.  And you can't have it both ways.  Mr. 9

Cox takes the position my obligation is to give you 10

the information that I have that you've requested by 11

the deadline.  And that was the deadline set by the 12

Federation, which was the 19th of June.  I had -- I'm 13

under no obligation to have responded to a single 14

request that Mr. Cox made of me, but as I do in I 15

think just about every case, I try to cooperate with 16

respondents.  And to the extent that their requests 17

are reasonable, I try to provide them the information 18

and not sit back on a 5:00, at the last minute of the 19

deadline, dumping documents on the other side.  20

            So to the extent that Mr. Cox was making 21

requests on me -- and you can look at the record, you 22

can see when the requests started, what answers he 23

got.  He got the analytical data, he got the numbers.  24

He started around the 6th of June peppering for 25
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information, he got responses.  He got just about 1

everything he asked for well prior to the deadline.  2

And notwithstanding that the Federation extended the 3

deadline to the 19th of June, I lived by the original 4

deadline.  5

            So I wasn't trying to sandbag, I wasn't 6

trying to do anything.  I provided him the 7

information I had.  I provided him the information 8

that we believe is relevant.  And, quite frankly, the 9

raw data that he seeks isn't going to change this 10

case one iota.  It's age, it's sex, it's time of 11

administration, that's the, quote, unquote, raw data.  12

You know, Dr. Maylin's population was fit racehorses, 13

we acknowledged that.  There are other studies that 14

tested other breeds, that raw data is not available, 15

and so it is what it is.  16

            But I really take exception to some 17

suggestion here that as a member of USEF, that 18

counsel to the Federation was withholding information 19

that he sought that might help his defense.  Not a 20

single thing he was seeking there that he didn't get 21

was in the least bit exculpatory 22

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  So just for the 23

record, just so I am clear, that upon the request of 24

the Respondents, you produced to them a copy of Dr. 25
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Maylin's study -- 1

            MR. FOREMAN:  They had it.2

            MR. DANFORD: -- which had some or all --3

            MR. FOREMAN:  They already had it.  4

            MR. DANFORD:  He already had that.  Okay, 5

all right.  Okay.  So what has not been produced -- 6

so and that study, as I recall, has summary tables?  7

            MR. FOREMAN:  It has graphs, it has 8

histograms, he describes what he did.  What it 9

doesn't have is the specific underlying raw data, age 10

of horse, sex of horse, that's the raw data 11

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  What's your next 12

objection?  13

            MR. ROMM:  And the implication that Mr. 14

Cox held back his experts is not correct.  He didn't 15

hire the experts till late.  And when he hired them, 16

he disclosed them.  17

            MR. DANFORD:  That's fine, that's fine.  18

What's your next objection, Mr. Romm?  19

            MR. ROMM:  Okay.  And -- and --20

            MR. DANFORD:  I'm just trying -- I'm not 21

trying to cut anybody off, I'm just trying to move 22

this forward so we can actually get to a resolution 23

here.  24

            MR. ROMM:  Okay.  But the end result of 25
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that issue is that the evidence -- the documentation 1

that we're requesting is, in fact, in Mr. Maylin's 2

possession, it is available, he just wanted to know 3

who it was going to.  Now he knows who it's going to, 4

it should have been provided.  It should have been 5

provided.  It should have been provided in the last 6

five days.  They could have -- they could have sent 7

it.  When they found out who the expert was five days 8

ago they should have -- they should have provided it 9

then.  That's what he said, I want to know who it 10

was.  He found out five days ago, he should have sent 11

it right then.  12

            MR. FOREMAN:  I don't have to respond to 13

his request for information, that's what I'm trying 14

to make clear here.  No more than they responded to 15

anything I asked for.  16

            MR. DANFORD:  We understand both points.  17

Okay.  What's your next objection, Mr. Romm?  18

            MR. ROMM:  The request has been made on 19

multiple occasions for the Executive Committee and 20

the Equine Drug and Medication Committee minutes and 21

notes from 2012 to 2015, and they have not been 22

provided that.  There is reference in the 23

documentation that the -- that USEF had prosecuted at 24

190.  And then information had come and they made 25
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decisions to then prosecute at above 62.  And we 1

requested the minutes so we could find out how and 2

when those decisions were made and on what basis.  3

            Because part of our argument has to do 4

with the fact that the -- the -- the charge above 5

normal physiological levels is a moving target.  You 6

know, some people were charged at 190, some people 7

were charged at 62.  I bet you the people that were 8

charged at 62 aren't too happy, if they had found out 9

about it, or the people that were charged at 190.  Or 10

is it the other way around.  You know, because if 11

they had something lower than, you know, 190, they 12

would have said, hey, you charged them at 190, you 13

know, you charged me at 62.  If you had charged me at 14

190 I wouldn't have gotten charged.15

            MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Foreman, your response.  16

            MR. FOREMAN:  Every case that we have 17

charged has been at a level in excess of 62 18

nanograms.  The decisions that the D and M Committee 19

and the Federation make on which cases to prosecute 20

is a prosecutorial decision, having nothing to do 21

with what Mr. Romm is asserting.  22

            But he does make an interesting point 23

here, he talks about the, quote, unquote, target.  24

Which begs the question, since GABA normally occurs 25
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in a horse, why would you be giving GABA in the first 1

place?  Because people who are giving GABA are 2

looking for targets.  This is a naturally occurring 3

substance.  And what we're trying to find are horses 4

that have concentrations in excess of the normal.  5

And the only way it gets into a horse is if you give 6

it.  It's not about 190, it's not about 180, it's in 7

excess of 62.  Because, to us, that is an indication 8

that there may have been an administration.9

            MR. DANFORD:  All right.  I think we 10

understand that one.  11

            Mr. Romm, any other objections?  That 12

appears to cover your letter, but I don't want to cut 13

you off.  14

            MR. ROMM:  Let me look at the recent 15

subsequent production that just came.  We object to 16

the -- to the late filing of the evidence that came 17

after the deadline.  18

            MR. DANFORD:  Which is specifically what?  19

            MR. ROMM:  All of it, everything that came 20

after the deadline.  We're held to a standard, we had 21

to produce ours by a deadline, they produced theirs 22

after the deadline.  23

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  Mr. Foreman, any 24

response?  25
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            MR. FOREMAN:  Yeah, this is rebuttal.  And 1

the Federation has always allowed the Federation -- 2

particularly, since we got no responses whatsoever to 3

anything that we asked for, and the documents were 4

dumped on us at 5:00 on June the 19th, so that we 5

would not have an opportunity to respond.  In the 6

very short timeframe that the Federation gave between 7

the production of documents, which we did early by 8

the way, and this hearing, we provided our rebuttal.  9

            I would just point out to you that what we 10

have provided to the Respondents is information that 11

they either had or could have had.  One is the 12

testimony from Dr. Soma.  Mr. Romm was counsel in 13

that case.  It's not anything he hasn't seen before, 14

he probably has a copy of the transcript already.  He 15

also has on his CV in the list of publications where 16

Soma performed population studies.  17

            Secondly, since he only put certain 18

findings in the record with respect to prior 19

decisions of the Hearing Committee, we merely 20

supplemented the record with the other decisions that 21

he had not provided.  That's information readily 22

available to the Federation.  And since, obviously, 23

Mr. Romm has the ability to get all the other 24

findings, he may have had these and refused to give 25
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them, I don't know.  But all he's doing -- there is 1

no new evidence here that should either surprise him, 2

catch him off-guard or otherwise.  3

            MR. ROMM:  The contention is that we 4

provide information by a deadline.  That we choose to 5

provide it near the deadline as opposed to earlier 6

than the deadline that we're -- that we're violating 7

some rule or holding back information, the deadline 8

is the deadline for a purpose.  And I was retained 9

last week and I put together the entire 610-page 10

package in five days.  I think I worked pretty fast.11

            MR. COX:  The deadline was not set by me.  12

It was set by the Federation.  13

            MR. FOREMAN:  I find it interesting that 14

Mr. Cox sought a continuance of this case, which was 15

supposed to have been heard on May 21st, because he 16

was working with his, quote, unquote, legal team and 17

experts.  He repeated that statement more than one 18

time.  Now we find out today that he retained an 19

attorney a week ago.  And they, apparently, must have 20

-- I'd be interested to know when he retained his 21

experts, but I suspect that's been fairly recently.  22

So somehow the information isn't jiving with what's 23

in the record and what we're now hearing today.  24

            MR. ROMM:  That's exactly --25
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            MR. DANFORD:  So, Mr. Romm, so I 1

understand, I'm looking through the packet I believe 2

you're considering late evidence, and it has three 3

basic categories of documents.  So one was -- one is 4

the findings in the Farmer Hill and the Rivetts 5

cases.  Do you have -- you have objections 6

specifically to those coming in; correct?  7

            MR. ROMM:  To the extent that, just so we 8

can get past this, to the extent that they are late, 9

we ask that the standard that's applied to late 10

evidence be applied there, which is different than 11

evidence that's come before the deadline, which is 12

that the panel will give it whatever weight it deems 13

appropriate on the basis that it was late.  And -- 14

and so we ask that that standard be utilized. 15

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  And then we have a -- 16

I guess with regard to the Rivetts, or Rivetts, case, 17

there's a summary drug report and an affidavit from 18

Mr. Lomangino.  And you're specifically objecting to 19

those?  20

            MR. ROMM:  Again, we don't have the -- the 21

document.  The affidavit talks about blood samples, 22

and testing procedures, and screening levels and 23

numbers, and we don't have any of the backup for any 24

of that, just like all the rest.  So the same 25
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argument is made for that.  1

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  And then the third, 2

looks like from the Jenkins case, would be the 3

transcript with regard only to Dr. Soma, and his CV 4

and documents attached to his CV; you're objecting to 5

those as well?  6

            MR. ROMM:  Yes, I -- I --7

            MR. DANFORD:  Now, you were part of that 8

hearing, you were counsel in that hearing; correct?  9

            MR. ROMM:  Of course.  I didn't -- I 10

didn't put in the transcript of that hearing either.  11

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  So you have the 12

transcript, you're just objecting to this portion of 13

the transcript coming in?  14

            MR. ROMM:  Well, what he's doing, he's 15

doing exactly what I argued at the start of this 16

proceeding.  He's going back -- he's now presented 17

the evidence from the prior hearing and asking the 18

panel to accept that evidence as -- as what should be 19

accepted now.  He's going back to the same --20

            MR. DANFORD:  Well, actually, hold on.  As 21

I understand this, Mr. Foreman has now told us that 22

this is rebuttal evidence.  So my assumption is -- 23

and, Mr. Foreman, you can set me straight if I'm not 24

correct -- is that if you raise an issue with regard 25
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to what Dr. Soma has testified, Mr. Foreman is going 1

to call on the transcript to rebut that, is that --2

            MR. FOREMAN:  Well, I did it for two 3

reasons.  Mr. Romm opened the door by introducing the 4

findings and decision in the Jenkins case; otherwise, 5

I probably would not have been able to introduce that 6

evidence.  But if he's going to put in the findings 7

and decision, then we're entitled to put into the 8

record the record of each one of those cases.  He did 9

it, I didn't.  I'm merely responding to the fact that 10

he put the Jenkins decision in.  And the Jenkins 11

decision does refer to the testimony of Dr. Soma with 12

respect to the population study done by Dr. Maylin 13

and Mr. Lomangino.  14

            MR. ROMM:  But doesn't refer to the 15

numbers.  The very arguments --16

            MR. FOREMAN:  I'll let the --17

            MR. ROMM: -- made by Mr. Foreman earlier, 18

it's not a numbers game.  19

            MR. DANFORD:  All right, that's fine.  20

Okay, I think we understand that too.  Anything 21

further from either side?  22

            MR. FOREMAN:  I do.  I won't be as long.  23

            MR. ROMM:  Okay.  Nothing further from the 24

Respondents.25
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            MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Foreman.  1

            MR. FOREMAN:  First, I object to the 2

affidavit of Debbie Cecil, which was received 3

yesterday.   Clearly, late evidence.  There's no 4

reason why this could not have been produced by the 5

deadline, December 19th.  In any other circumstance 6

the Hearing Committee would consider this to be late 7

evidence, we object to it.  8

            MR. DANFORD:  Let's see, where --9

            MR. FOREMAN:  It was attached to Mr. 10

Romm's letter asking that the Hearing Committee be 11

disqualified, it came in yesterday.  I saw it, I was 12

on my way here when I saw it.  And it's not 13

notarized, by the way.  There is a specific 14

requirement of the notary in California.  And this 15

affidavit, or whatever it is, is not notarized, so we 16

object on any number of levels.  17

            MR. ROMM:  There's a federal statute which 18

allows for declaration verified to be made provided 19

it utilizes the language that's in the bottom of the 20

declaration.  The bottom of the declaration contains 21

that statement which is I swear under the --22

            MR. DANFORD:  Penalty of perjury.  23

            MR. ROMM: -- penalty of perjury laws of 24

the United States, et cetera.  There's a statute that 25
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provides that that in the contention of a court 1

hearing, administrative hearing, that will be 2

considered the same as an affidavit.  And I actually 3

have a statute somewhere around here if you need it, 4

that's a federal statute.  5

            MR. FOREMAN:  Well, he can do that, but we 6

object, because it's late evidence.  7

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  Any other objection, 8

Mr. Foreman?  9

            MR. FOREMAN:  Second, I would like to 10

request of counsel to advise me as to the basis upon 11

which he is offering Kevin Schug, PhD, as an expert.  12

An expert in what in relation to this case?  13

            MR. DANFORD:  So you're just asking for 14

the expert testimony areas, is that --15

            MR. FOREMAN:  I want to know in what 16

manner he is offering Dr. Schug as an expert.  17

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  18

            MR. ROMM:  I think that you can read.  19

            MR. FOREMAN:  No, not based on -- you are 20

offering him as an expert.  If you were to qualify 21

him, what are you qualifying him as an expert in?  22

I've read his CV.  I'd like to know how his 23

credentials are relevant to the case.  24

            MR. DANFORD:  Right.  I think this is 25
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actually an issue we can take up during the proof of 1

the case.  2

            MR. FOREMAN:  Well, we can, but if the 3

Hearing Committee is going to admit his affidavit, I 4

want portions of it stricken.  So we can do it in the 5

body of the case -- you know, we had a case not too 6

long ago where I was called down because I didn't do 7

it during the objections, because the other side 8

thought that everything had been moved into the 9

record, so I'm merely -- I'm following the lead of 10

what's happened in previous cases.  11

            I'll certainly wait until the portion of 12

the case where it's Mr. Romm's case to raise these 13

issues, but I don't want the Hearing Committee 14

reading in advance an affidavit that -- portions of 15

which may be stricken or may be stricken in its 16

entirety.  17

            MR. ROMM:  That's something that can't -- 18

that can't be avoided.  I mean, they read the letter 19

from March 26th that I'm objecting to, March 16th, 20

they've read everything.  You know, everything that 21

we've objected to, they've seen already.  22

            MR. FOREMAN:  But if you take it out, they 23

have to -- you know, they have to exclude it, just 24

like any jury would do, any judge would do.  25
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            MR. ROMM:  Which is exactly what I asked 1

for in dealing with all my documents.  Well, when we 2

get to it, we'll make a decision.  3

            MR. FOREMAN:  Well, I just need guidance 4

as to when -- when, Mr. Danford, you want me to raise 5

the issue.  I can do it now or I can do it later in 6

the case.  7

            MR. DANFORD:  I think that we can -- we 8

can do it either way.  9

            MR. ROMM:  In the interest of moving 10

things along, I'd like to get this -- I mean, you 11

know, let's get to executive session and get this 12

case started.  I'd like to get this moved along.  13

            MR. FOREMAN:  Well, you've had two hours 14

with your objections.  I have some objections.  Am I 15

going to get the opportunity to raise them now or in 16

the body of the case?  I don't care --17

            MR. ROMM:  Yes, absolutely.  At the time I 18

produce that evidence, if you want to object to it, 19

that's fine, I have no problem with that.  You're 20

concerned about it, I have no problem with you making 21

those objections when they happen.  22

            MR. DANFORD:  Yeah, that seems to me -- 23

why don't we -- why don't we wait until --24

            MR. FOREMAN:  That's fine, I just have to 25
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have time to do it.  1

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  Any further 2

objections, Mr. Foreman?  Mr. Romm?  3

            MR. DANFORD:  No.  All right, very good.  4

            Okay.  Let the record reflect the hearing 5

panel will go into executive session to consider the 6

motions on both sides.  The parties will be asked to 7

leave the room.  8

            (A short recess was taken, whereupon the 9

hearing continued.) 10

            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  Let the record 11

reflect the hearing panel has come out of executive 12

session where it considered motions by both parties 13

with regard to evidentiary issues.  The first 14

motion -- and I'll do these in somewhat summary form, 15

given the late hour and I understand we have some 16

travel issues from the parties later this afternoon.  17

And we will address these in more full and final form 18

in the written ruling.  The first motion is to 19

exclude three of the members of the sitting panel.  20

That motion will be denied.  Just simply, this panel 21

did not appear to be any basis that would call for 22

their recusal under the circumstances claimed.  23

            With regard to the motion to exclude 24

documents dealing with the chain of custody in this 25
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particular show at issue, the panel will deny that 1

motion as well.  Although the panel certainly will 2

allow for there to be a motion to dismiss made or 3

questions raised in the hearing based on the 4

perceived lack in the chain of custody.  The panel 5

has gone and reviewed the affidavit of Ms. 6

Sandler-Burtness, I guess her name is, and she 7

specifically does testify to tubes of blood that were 8

drawn from the horse and that they were attached to 9

the sample identification card that pertains to 10

Cartaire.  So there certainly may be an issue in this 11

case as to why those blood samples were not noted on 12

the packing slip, and that is certainly a topic that 13

can be brought up at this hearing, but it does not 14

call for exclusion of all of the documents requested.  15

            As for the tests, screening tests that 16

were done on this horse from two prior shows, the 17

panel is going to actually push that issue down the 18

road just a bit, that before the Federation is 19

allowed to potentially enter such into evidence, 20

there will need to be testimony from, I assume, Dr. 21

Maylin, but perhaps he and/or other witnesses from 22

the Federation, as to the scientific reliability of 23

the screening test.  So assuming -- based on that 24

testimony, the panel will then get together in a 25
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brief executive session and decide whether that 1

reliability is sufficient to allow the use of that 2

material or not.  So we will take that up at that 3

time.  4

            The March 16th, 2014, letter was the 5

motion to dismiss response.  As counsel I'm sure are 6

aware, factual statements that are made by counsel 7

are factual statements made by counsel, and they are 8

not considered by the panel to be actual evidence in 9

the case.  So if Mr. Foreman wishes to introduce the 10

challenge of actual statements into evidence, he 11

would certainly have to do that with a competent 12

witness or witnesses.  13

            Let's see, the -- there are some 14

challenges not to existing documents, but, in fact, 15

documents that have not been produced.  And I'll lump 16

the three of them together and simply say that the 17

Respondent will have an opportunity at the close of 18

the proof today to raise a motion to dismiss based 19

upon the perceived failure or the claimed failure of 20

production of those documents.  So you will have that 21

opportunity at that time to make a motion to dismiss, 22

which the panel will likely take under advisement and 23

address in its ruling.  24

            The last, I think, objection on the 25
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Respondents' side was to late evidence.  And the -- 1

there were three parts to that.  The first being the 2

Farmer Hill and the Rivetts case.  The panel is -- 3

has decided that they will keep out of the record the 4

paper copies of those rulings.  But, of course, the 5

panel, obviously, has the ability to take 6

administrative notice of any of its prior decisions.  7

So, you know, they can certainly look at the rulings, 8

but the paper copies themselves of those two will be 9

taken out of the record based upon it being submitted 10

late.  11

            The other materials, the Maylin summary 12

drug report and the Lomangino affidavit with regard 13

to the Rivetts case will also be excluded.  14

            MR. ROMM:  I'm sorry, which one was that?  15

            MR. DANFORD:  Number 2 on your list, the 16

Maylin summary drug report and the Lomangino 17

affidavit in the Rivetts case.  18

            And number 3 refers to the Soma CV and 19

transcript.  And the panel is of the opinion that if 20

the Respondent raises an issue with regard to Dr. 21

Soma's testimony, or his testing, or any issues like 22

that, then the Federation would have the ability to 23

rebut any of that testimony with -- by introducing 24

Dr. Soma's transcript, CV, studies and so on.  But, 25
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otherwise, would not have that ability to do so.  1

            All right.  In terms of the Federation's 2

motion with regard to the Cecil affidavit, which is 3

admittedly late, the panel has decided that they will 4

admit that.  Of course, it is an unsigned affidavit 5

and un-notarized in the sense that the panel expects 6

and will give it just the weight that that type 7

document deserves.  8

            And then we are allowing you to bring up 9

challenges to Dr. Schug's testimony prior to the 10

attempted admission of his affidavit.  11

            MR. FOREMAN:  Can I just inquire, the -- 12

            MR. DANFORD:  Yes.  Did I forget 13

something?  14

            MR. FOREMAN:  The Maylin, Lomangino 15

reports that have been excluded, they were excluded 16

because they were, quote, unquote, late evidence?  17

            MR. DANFORD:  Yes.  18

            MR. FOREMAN:  So how does the Hearing 19

Committee justify excluding when the Federation files 20

late evidence, but doesn't exclude when the 21

Respondents introduce late evidence?  22

            MR. DANFORD:  The panel looks at each 23

piece of evidence individually, and looked at the 24

relevance of that evidence to the case, and felt like 25
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there was a distinction between the two.  1

            MR. FOREMAN:  Thank you.  2

            MR. DANFORD:  All right.  That is the 3

rulings by the hearing panel.  At this point, Mr. 4

Foreman, do we have a stipulation of any sort in this 5

case?  6

            MR. FOREMAN:  No, haven't had any 7

discussions.  8

            MR. DANFORD:  The panel does allow for 9

brief opening statements.  I think we have actually 10

already heard most of the opening statements in the 11

course of the last few hours, but, nevertheless, you 12

do get to do brief opening statements.  Mr. Foreman, 13

do you --14

            MR. FOREMAN:  I'll reserve mine, as long 15

as I'm permitted to give a closing statement.  16

            MR. DANFORD:  You certainly will be 17

permitted to give a closing statement.  18

            Mr. Romm, do you wish to give an opening 19

statement?  20

            MR. ROMM:  Yes.  I will make it short.  21

            MR. DANFORD:  This is your opportunity.  22

            MR. ROMM:  Bear with me one second.  I'm 23

going to try to figure out a way to make this the 24

shortest opening statement I've ever given.  25
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            MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  Mr. Romm, apparently 1

the court reporter's having a little trouble 2

understanding you, so if you could make sure that you 3

keep your voice up, please.  4

            MR. ROMM:  Okay.  How can I not have what 5

I just brought.  I apologize.  Here it is.  6

            The charge in this case is that Cartaire 7

had in its system GABA, a forbidden substance, in 8

excess of normal physiological levels.  Which if it 9

has GABA in its system in excess of normal 10

physiological levels it is deemed to be an 11

administration of GABA; in other words, an 12

introduction of GABA from the outside world, not GABA 13

that is naturally occurring in the horse, which would 14

be an endogenous GABA, the naturally occurring GABA.  15

And, therefore, it has violated the USEF's rules.  16

            In order to make -- call the positive and 17

make the determination that there's been a violation 18

there has to be set some determination as to what is 19

considered a normal physiological level, how much 20

GABA should be in a horse normally that wouldn't be a 21

violation.  For two years we have been hearing about 22

what is a normal physiological level, and at what 23

level can you test that, where you look at it and say 24

there's a 99.9 percent chance that if they're at that 25
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level or higher, exogenous or outside GABA has been 1

introduced into that horse.  2

            The original foundation work upon which 3

the USEF relied was a study done by Dr. Maylin which 4

determined that the normal physiological level, based 5

on the way they did their study, was 190.  I'm sorry, 6

the threshold level was 190, the level at which if 7

you got higher than that there was clearly an 8

exogenous introduction or administration of the drug.  9

Since that time we have had other studies done.  In 10

fact, there have been -- there's the study at UC 11

Davis, there is the Maylin study, there's the USEF 12

study, and, lastly, there is the RMTC study.  And 13

they had different results for what was considered 14

the endogenous, the normal physiological level and 15

what should be the threshold level at which above 16

that it's surely a violation.  17

            And our experts have looked at the 18

difference in the results and have given their 19

opinions that the explanations provided to you as to 20

why those numbers are different don't hold water.  21

And we're going to explain to you why they don't hold 22

water.  That's one argument.  The second argument 23

that we're making is that the prosecution has 24

prosecuted at 190 for some people, and at 62 for 25
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another, and there's been no explanation as to why it 1

should be different, why different people are being 2

prosecuted at different levels.  3

            Third is we're going to -- there's been a 4

-- there's been a study done as to how the normal 5

physiological level of GABA in a horse can be made 6

higher without an exogenous introduction or 7

administration by the trainer or somebody else, in 8

other words maybe it's from the food they ate.  There 9

was a study done about tall fescue, and how if a 10

horse is allowed to graze on tall fescue it increases 11

the normal level of GABA in the system.  You're also 12

going to hear that this horse, after the show, was 13

allowed to, and -- and this is all documented, was 14

allowed to graze in the pastures at Mr. Cox's 15

facility, which was seeded with tall fescue at that 16

time.  And when he was allowed to graze there, and it 17

was right before the Blenheim, the test results were 18

higher.  19

            And interestingly enough, the later test 20

that I objected to, where they said that the level 21

was X as the normal physiological level, the horse 22

was not allowed to graze in that field, did not have 23

the opportunity to eat tall fescue.  And guess what 24

happened, the level -- the normal physiological level 25
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was lower.  Which if you look at the study, and then 1

you have now the evidence that this horse actually 2

had been exposed to it, had eaten tall fescue, it is 3

entirely possible that the reason why it tested at 4

178 or 188, and those numbers were below the 190, was 5

because it didn't have the opportunity to graze there 6

and eat the tall fescue.  It may not have been an 7

exogenous introduction intramuscularly or any other 8

way of GABA in violation of the rules, it may have 9

been the tall fescue.  10

            Lastly, the last argument is that this 11

entire three-year history of the prosecution and 12

subsequent penalization of these 11 people for 13

violating the drug rules concerning GABA have 14

resulted in penalties that we're going to show far 15

exceed the penalties that should have been imposed 16

for this particular drug.  And it was all based on 17

the original testimony of Dr. Maylin, which was 18

completely and utterly undocumented.  The first 19

hearing he came out and he said this horse was 20

injected and it started shaking and -- and it -- it 21

dropped.  It was -- it was like, oh, no, this is a 22

very bad drug, we gotta -- we gotta protect our group 23

against this drug, we've got to make it illegal right 24

away.  And all of a sudden it was getting penalties 25
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that were greater than other drugs that are of a 1

higher class and a higher penalty.  You know, 2

there's, you know, class III drugs and class II 3

drugs, and there's penalty C, and B, and A.  4

            And the kind of drug this is compared to 5

by Dr. Maylin and -- and Lomangino, they -- they 6

compare it -- actually, in the orders they actually 7

say this is like Phenylbutazone and -- and it's like 8

Acepromazine.  And you look at the -- the levels of 9

penalties for those drugs, it's two months and $2,000 10

fine, or 60 days, 30 to 60 days.  11

            You can look at the -- the -- the 12

penalties for the last five years in the USEF.  You 13

can look at the National Benevolent Horseman's 14

Protective Association, you can look at the 15

California, you know, Racing Association, we provided 16

you with all of their penalty systems.  And in every 17

single one of them, those drugs get this 30 to 60 18

day, or two months at most, and $2,000.  This -- this 19

drug, for reasons unknown to us, it doesn't have the 20

pharmacological response that those other drugs have, 21

it's less, you know, those other drugs have a greater 22

effect on the horse, yet the penalty is two to three 23

times worse.  Why?  Because Dr. Maylin said at one 24

hearing one time in the very beginning this was what 25
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happened to the horse.  1

            This was supposed to be a documented 2

statement.  In fact, there's a -- one of the 3

documents says that it was a documented statement.  4

In that study he didn't take a video, he didn't take 5

a picture, he didn't have any equipment, he didn't 6

have somebody standing by with some notes to make 7

some documented -- there was no proof supporting his 8

statement.  And, by the way, no other study, no other 9

person has ever seen a horse drop from GABA like 10

that, like he testified happened.  Those kinds of 11

results have never been observed by anybody, ever.  12

He said it, there's no proof to it, and everybody 13

just jumped on the bandwagon and decided this is a 14

terrible drug, let's prosecute it terribly like that.  15

            The penalties are way off line with what 16

they should be.  And that's our third argument, those 17

are the three arguments.  18

            MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Foreman.  19

            MR. FOREMAN:  I have to get Tom.20

            MR. DANFORD:  Who's your first witness?21

            MR. FOREMAN:  Tom Lomangino.22

THOMAS LOMANGINO, JR.  23

The witness herein, having been first duly placed 24

under oath, was examined and testified as follows: 25
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DIRECT EXAMINATION1

BY MR. FOREMAN:2

Would you state your name for the record, please.  3 Q

Thomas F. Lomangino, Jr. 4 A

And, Mr. Lomangino, by whom are you employed? 5 Q

USEF. 6 A

In what capacity? 7 Q

Director of the laboratory. 8 A

And let me just ask you your background in equine 9 Q

drug testing.  10

I started in 1979, graduate, college graduate, 11 A

went into employment by the Maryland Racing 12

Commission for the Maryland Racing Commission 13

Laboratory Equine Drug Testing Lab.  Prior to that 14

Thomas F. Lomangino, Sr., was the director of that 15

laboratory.  So my history went back into the 16

sixties, as young as I could be an assistant.  And 17

then my father's history went back to 1939, as one 18

of the pioneers of equine drug testing. 19

So you have been drug testing on your own since 20 Q

the 1960s, in one way, shape or form? 21

Correct. 22 A

All right.  And I assume you've been at the bench 23 Q

during that time?24

Excuse me?25 A
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When you say you've been at the bench, you've 1 Q

actually been doing the testing? 2

Oh, absolutely. 3 A

All right.  How many samples would you estimate 4 Q

you've tested in your career?5

        MR. ROMM:  We'll concede that he's an 6

expert.  7

        MR. FOREMAN:  I offer him as an 8

expert in equine toxicology.  9

        MR. ROMM:  We concede that.  10

        MR. DANFORD:  All right, very good, 11

thank you.  12

You have been involved in method development? 13 Q

Yes. 14 A

You have been involved in method validation? 15 Q

Yes. 16 A

All right.  You are a former president of the 17 Q

Association of Racing Commission -- Racing 18

Chemists, are you not? 19

Both national and international, yes. 20 A

You've participated in ICRAV conferences where 21 Q

chemists from around the world get together? 22

Yes. 23 A

And you presented at ICRAV? 24 Q

Never presented. 25 A
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Okay.  And what instruments are you proficient in 1 Q

testing for? 2

Mass spectrometry, gas chromatography, high 3 A

performance liquid chromatography, ancillary 4

equipment that would go along, potentiometric 5

testing. 6

Is the USEF lab an accredited laboratory? 7 Q

It is. 8 A

All right.  In fact, you were brought in to get 9 Q

that laboratory accredited, were you not? 10

Correct. 11 A

And to whom are you credited? 12 Q

17025, and it's under A2LA, which is American 13 A

Association For Laboratory Accreditation.  And, in 14

actuality, I introduced Racing Commissioners 15

International to the A2LA when I was the 16

consultant to BRCI from '92 to 2000.  17

And is the USEF laboratory an FEI laboratory? 18 Q

It is. 19 A

And what does that mean? 20 Q

We perform testing for the Federation Equestre 21 A

Internationale, we are one of four reference 22

laboratories as adjunct to the central lab. 23

And have you tested -- you've been the principal 24 Q

chemist for testing at major competitions, both 25
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nationally and internationally? 1

Yes. 2 A

All right.  What are some of those competitions? 3 Q

I really don't get into the names. 4 A

World Equestrian Games? 5 Q

Yeah, World Equestrian Games.  All the ones we 6 A

have, there's hundreds. 7

And in your career you've tested triple crown 8 Q

races, the Preakness, Belmont? 9

Yeah, for 27 years. 10 A

All right.  How many samples does the USEF 11 Q

laboratory test on an annual basis? 12

Average around 18,000 a year. 13 A

All right.  Would you describe typically what 14 Q

happens when a sample comes to the laboratory from 15

a show?  What is the protocol when you receive -- 16

I assume you receive a cooler from the show? 17

Correct. 18 A

That's been sent to you by the testing 19 Q

veterinarian? 20

Correct. 21 A

All right.  What happens when that cooler arrives 22 Q

at the laboratory? 23

The cooler will arrive, it has to be sealed by the 24 A

shipper.  It gets to us, we make certain that all 25
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the seals are in place.  We have several different 1

levels of sealing; so the cooler itself, the box 2

is sealed.  Inside the box is a cooler.  The 3

cooler is strapped, the cooler is sealed with tape 4

seals.  Then inside the cooler every sample is in 5

a bag that's sealed on its own.  And there are 6

just several layers of seals.  7

All right.  And there's also paperwork that you 8 Q

receive that comes with the cooler? 9

It's supposed to come with a letter of 10 A

transmittal, which is the contents of the cooler, 11

what's inside the cooler as judged by the person 12

that packed it. 13

And is that what's called a packing list? 14 Q

Yes. 15 A

All right.  And then what steps do you take when 16 Q

the cooler is opened to verify what is the 17

contents of the cooler against the packing list? 18

The first thing that happens is we have to 19 A

separate samples between the A and the B portion.  20

So we will get normally two portions of both urine 21

and blood.  Our portion is the A portion.  There's 22

an A and a B ticket.  The A is to be tested by the 23

USEF laboratory.  The B is a referee portion that 24

is maintained for the person responsible.  If -- 25
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we document everything that came out of the 1

cooler.  We log it in, it's barcoded, scanned into 2

the computer for the set week, because we're 3

having, over a year, probably 140 different 4

veterinarians sending in coolers from so many 5

different shows.  And we have to make sure each 6

sample, we know which vet it came from, from which 7

show, so it's pretty extensive. 8

And do you or your personnel record any 9 Q

discrepancies between what is either on the 10

packing list or in the cooler and what you would 11

see when you inspect the samples? 12

Yes. 13 A

And they're recorded on some document? 14 Q

We have a cooler inspection sheet, CID, which is 15 A

cooler and discrepancy sheet, that is recorded on 16

by the technician opening the cooler and 17

documenting the presence of all this, separating 18

all the samples out, taking it to the next step.  19

Because the B portions have to be maintained, and 20

we maintain them in a minus 80 degree Celsius 21

freezer, so you can't do that with the blood until 22

you centrifuge it, get a separation of the red 23

blood cells and the plasma, and then that can then 24

be frozen into a deep freeze.  Or, otherwise, you 25
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hemolyze the sample and make it worthless. 1

When you receive the samples from the show, do you 2 Q

know the name of the trainer? 3

No. 4 A

The name of the horse? 5 Q

We don't get that portion of the ticket.  We get 6 A

the little stub that has a five digit number on it 7

with a letter and the date. 8

And that's affixed to the sample? 9 Q

Yes. 10 A

And you will inspect the samples to determine that 11 Q

they're secure, in fact, have not been tampered 12

with?  13

Yes. 14 A

All right.  Do the samples, do they get logged 15 Q

into a log, so that they're assigned a number for 16

testing purposes? 17

Yes.  We call that an accession number. 18 A

An accession number.  All right.  At any time 19 Q

during the testing process or thereafter, unless 20

you're here for a hearing, do you ever know the 21

identity of the owner, the trainer of the horse of 22

samples that are being tested in the laboratory? 23

Only after we get done doing what we're doing, 24 A

we've done, and it winds up in a hearing such as 25
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this.  I'm not interested who the person is.  But, 1

no, we don't know. 2

Now, when you conduct tests, I assume you conduct 3 Q

what are called screening tests and then you 4

conduct confirmatory testing; is that correct? 5

Sure. 6 A

Can you explain the screening process, and why a 7 Q

drug is screened only, and why a substance would 8

be confirmed? 9

If you will, we get upwards of 450 samples per 10 A

week, and we have to screen them for a lot of 11

different compounds.  To specifically test for 12

every compound is impossible.  Essentially what we 13

do is a screening test to tell us which samples of 14

the 450 need further review.  And if they pass the 15

screen, they're passed on to the next test, okay.  16

If they're suspicious for something, then they're 17

held out and they're going to be retested to 18

confirm. 19

Okay.  Under the Federation's regulatory scheme 20 Q

there are, essentially, two types of substances; 21

those for which there is a published, established 22

threshold, and those that are considered 23

forbidden; would that be -- 24

That's true, but there's a further delineation, 25 A
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which is part of being an FEI lab, and that is you 1

have what's known in the US as a threshold.  And 2

internationally only threshold drugs are either 3

natural to the horse or put in the animal through 4

feed substance, okay.  Those are the only 5

internationally threshold level drugs.  In the US, 6

I guess they call it the user friendly US, where 7

you're allowed nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory 8

drugs in certain levels, those are regional 9

thresholds.  So we have all these different levels 10

we have to test against. 11

And with respect to the -- let's take for example 12 Q

the nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs.  That's 13

an example of a drug for which there is a maximum 14

permitted threshold that is contained in the 15

rules? 16

Correct. 17 A

And when you test for those substances, you report 18 Q

a number, do you not, if you find that it's in 19

excess of the normal -- in excess of the permitted 20

concentration? 21

Yes. 22 A

And you are required to publish -- or you're 23 Q

required to disclose those numbers, are you not? 24

We have to give the number.  25 A
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Right.  And with respect to all other drugs, are 1 Q

you required to quantitate and report those 2

numbers? 3

No.  If it's a prohibited substance, there is no 4 A

permissive level.  If it is a controlled 5

substance, there are permissive levels that are 6

allowed, so we can only call above that. 7

You're, obviously, familiar with GABA, I don't 8 Q

have to get into all that.  You have been testing 9

for GABA for three years, have you not? 10

Correct. 11 A

All right.  And what has been the testing protocol 12 Q

for GABA? 13

Since the beginning?  14 A

Since the beginning.  And if it changed, describe 15 Q

what changes were made to the testing.  16

Well, it was total -- there was nothing, okay.  We 17 A

were told there was an abuse of a substance called 18

GABA and we -- it was pervasive at the shows.  We 19

had to find a way to try and control it or detect 20

it and confirm it.  And you're talking about a 21

naturally occurring substance.  So the first thing 22

we had to do was establish a normal level, what we 23

considered to be a normal level.  And then you 24

would get into risk analysis, what have you.  25
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   But this being a naturally occurring 1

substance, it has to be determined by the 2

International Federation of Horse Racing 3

Authorities.  It's not an appointing authority, 4

but they are the people that would come out with a 5

threshold number after they go through the risk 6

statistics to determine what is a fair number to 7

call.  This being a fresh substance and a 8

naturally occurring substance we had to go in very 9

tenuously to try and determine where we could look 10

for this drug.  11

All right.  And so in that regard, and I'll come 12 Q

back to my question to you, were you engaged in 13

the work that was done to establish, for USEF's  14

purposes, what was deemed to be a normal 15

concentration, physiologic concentration of GABA 16

in the horse? 17

Yes, we -- we had to do that.  I was asked what 18 A

are you going to do, in the beginning.  I said the 19

first thing we have to do is establish what's 20

normal. 21

All right.  So what did -- what did you do in 22 Q

terms of that work?  Were you involved in -- 23

   MR. FOREMAN:  I don't know how in detail, 24

Mr. Danford, you want me to go into this 25
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testimony, given that there's prior record.  I can 1

go through it again or I can refer to it.  2

   MR. DANFORD:  I think you probably ought 3

to walk through that line.  I think there's going 4

to be questions about that protocol, I assume.5

   MR. FOREMAN:  All right.  6

Mr. Lomangino, what was the population study that 7 Q

you performed? 8

Well, the first thing we did, first we had to have 9 A

a method that would find the substance we were 10

interested in.  So once we determined we had a 11

method that could detect and confirm the presence 12

of the substance, then we had to see what the 13

normal level was.  A friend of mine's a 14

veterinarian, he was doing work for a big drug 15

company.  They had given him inoculations that 16

they were going to put out at the retired horse 17

farm and he said what can I do.  I said get me a 18

tube of blood from all different horses.  And he 19

said let me clear it with the farm.  20

   He went to the farm, he said do you have 21

any problem with me doing it.  They said, no, just 22

don't use the name of the farm.  So he gave us 85 23

samples from different ages, sexes.  And mostly 24

Thoroughbreds, but there were some different 25
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breeds in there.  1

And these were horses just standing in pasture? 2 Q

Yeah, pretty much, that's what I understood. 3 A

So you did a population study of the samples from 4 Q

the 85 horses at this retirement facility? 5

Correct. 6 A

All right.  You indicated that before you could do 7 Q

anything you needed to develop a method; what 8

method was developed? 9

We were given by the technical consultant 10 A

Phenomenex amino acid screen that -- it was 11

available commercially, and it was an easy way to 12

get started and then turn to the analysis. 13

And why Phenomenex, is that something peculiar to 14 Q

testing for amino acids and the like? 15

I think he just put in a data search for amino 16 A

acid -- free amino acid screening and detection, 17

and it came up with that.  And he said here's a 18

readily available kit, you can do it. 19

And so the method you used is the Phenomenex kits? 20 Q

That's what we started with. 21 A

Well, describe what happened since with the 22 Q

method.  23

Well, it's more or less for amateurs who are 24 A

making wine, and beer, and anything else, apple 25

111

cider, and you're going to look for naturally 1

occurring amino acids.  What they give you to work 2

with was not totally amenable to what we were 3

doing or how we were doing it.  So they would send 4

out high pep tips that didn't fit into the cup 5

that they sent to put the sample in, so we had to 6

alter that.  When we first started, we started 7

just as a duplication, because we wanted both labs 8

to do the same thing. 9

When you say both labs, which labs are you talking 10 Q

about? 11

New York, the technical consultant.  We just 12 A

wanted to compare data, more or less, to validate 13

each other.  We went forward and did some 14

analyses, came up with some numbers. 15

All right.  And so what was the results of your 16 Q

population study? 17

We determined a mean and a standard deviation.  We 18 A

added four standard deviations to the mean and 19

said this would be a good starting point, just to 20

evaluate what was coming in, to see if we could 21

pick out an outlier.  And not even an outlier, 22

somebody that was suspicious of using 23

the compound.  24

Was there anything questionable about the method 25 Q
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you used? 1

In what way?  2 A

Well, I mean, the method that you were using to 3 Q

determine the -- I guess it was the concentration 4

of each of the horses; that's a generally accepted 5

method that you were using, is it not? 6

It was.  And we were fitting it, we were applying 7 A

it to what our discipline was, essentially.  8

All right.  Of the 85 horses that were sampled, 9 Q

what was the standard or what was the average of 10

the 85? 11

Can I get -- I've got graphs in here. 12 A

Sure.  13 Q

   MR. ROMM:  Is he going to read from notes 14

or does he have an independent recollection?  15

Do you have an independent recollection? 16 Q

I just want to give you a visual aid of what I was 17 A

talking about. 18

Okay.  19 Q

This was what came out. 20 A

Describe what you have in your hand.  21 Q

What I have is the analysis of the 85 horses. 22 A

Okay.  And of those 85 horses, was there a 23 Q

determination made as to what the average 24

concentration among the 85 was? 25
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Yes. 1 A

And what was that number? 2 Q

Well, it was in the middle, so I don't know, 22.3. 3 A

So that the average concentration of GABA in the 4 Q

horses that were studied in your population study 5

was 22 point -- 6

3. 7 A

22.3, all right.  And what was the standard 8 Q

deviation? 9

38. 10 A

All right.  And then when you -- 11 Q

No, 15.7, sorry. 12 A

So the standard deviation was 15.7.  And when you 13 Q

do the plus or minus four standard deviations, is 14

that the Wilk-Shapiro test, where they test of one 15

in 10,000? 16

No, this was the Lomangino test. 17 A

All right.  So what was the number based on your 18 Q

standard deviation? 19

Well, our number would have been -- four standard 20 A

deviations above the mean would have been 85 21

nanograms per mL would be a good starting point.  22

And, again, we were just trying to determine if we 23

could see the difference. 24

Okay.  So what happened next? 25 Q

114

Then we started testing samples.  And the person 1 A

that was doing the test said what do I do?  I said 2

just keep testing samples, and one day you're 3

either going to see a moon shot or you're going to 4

see nothing.  And the first week we did it there 5

were three moon shots, so to speak. 6

And what do you consider to be a moon shot? 7 Q

In the thousands. 8 A

And with respect to the others, how many samples 9 Q

were you looking at at the time; are we talking 10

thousands, hundreds, ten? 11

Probably 400, give or take. 12 A

And other than those that were the moon shot, were 13 Q

the others within, quote, unquote, normal range? 14

Yes. 15 A

Okay.  Did there come a time when the Federation 16 Q

established or that you recommended a number of 62 17

nanograms as the normal physiologic concentration? 18

I never recommended anything, I just said what we 19 A

had. 20

All right.  And what was that based on? 21 Q

This graph. 22 A

The graph of the work that you were doing? 23 Q

Uh-huh. 24 A

And when was that work being done? 25 Q
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When?  1 A

(Counsel nods head).  2 Q

This was between February of 2012, and I think 3 A

June.  Because the substance and the practice was 4

first determined to be prohibited.  And when that 5

happened, I instructed the laboratory to take all 6

of the samples and freeze them until we had a 7

method that could find them, and we would go back 8

and screen the samples subsequent once we had the 9

method.  So we didn't start analyzing samples 10

until I'd say June, July. 11

Of 2012? 12 Q

'12. 13 A

All right.  And there was parallel work being done 14 Q

by the technical consultant to the program in New 15

York at the time you were doing your population 16

study; is that correct? 17

We didn't share information; he was just doing his 18 A

thing, I was doing mine. 19

All right.  And you became aware of the work that 20 Q

he did? 21

When he published it or submitted it to ICRAV. 22 A

All right.  Was there anything in the population 23 Q

study he did that caused any pause, you any pause 24

or the lab, with respect to the work that you had 25
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done? 1

No.  2 A

Other than he was using a different -- 3 Q

He was using LCMS.  What happened originally is he 4 A

was using LCMS and he was telling me to use LCMS.  5

I don't have the liberty of determining what 6

instrument I can take out of my normal daily grind 7

and put it to one different task, okay, we are 8

consumed.  And probably May through October the 9

laboratory is totally consumed with samples coming 10

in.  To the extent that we found a saturation 11

point, that once we hit that saturation point the 12

laboratory can no longer screen samples.  13

   We get samples on Tuesday, if they ship 14

them on Monday.  I need to be able to complete 15

screening by the following Tuesday, because I got 16

more samples coming in.  So all I'm trying to do 17

is not become inundated with untested samples; 18

otherwise, you push back the next week and you're 19

not able to complete that one and it's a log jam.  20

At the beginning of June of 2012, was every blood 21 Q

sample that was coming to the laboratory being 22

tested for GABA? 23

Not yet, okay.  24 A

Well, to save time here, describe what happened 25 Q
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with respect to GABA testing in the lab from June, 1

'12, going forward.  2

Well, when we found the first one, we called it in 3 A

and said this is in excess of normal physiologic 4

levels as determined by this laboratory.  And then 5

the investigation should take place and people 6

should be brought in to say why do you think your 7

horse is high. 8

And what was the level at that time that you 9 Q

considered to be the normal physiologic 10

concentration? 11

We came to an understanding that we were going to 12 A

use what numbers the technical consultant came up 13

with, because we were below that.  And I wanted to 14

give, after my history in the horse racing 15

industry, the benefit to the horseman, let 16

everyone know that we are now testing for this 17

substance, to be very careful about what you're 18

doing with it and educate yourselves, okay.  To 19

know that people were abusing a substance, with my 20

history, that doesn't mean you're going to stop a 21

person that used it and didn't get caught, okay, 22

so there seems to be an education process.  You 23

have to catch the person that actually used it for 24

them to stop.  And that's, I think, what happened.  25
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All right.  But, again, I'll ask the question, if 1 Q

the normal physiologic concentration that the 2

Federation used were -- at least in its summary 3

reports and otherwise, was 62 nanograms, where did 4

that number come from?  5

   MR. ROMM:  Objection.  6

It was 190 --7 A

   MR. DANFORD:  Hold on.  8

   MR. ROMM:  He's leading the expert.9

   MR. DANFORD:  I'm sorry?10

   MR. ROMM:  He's leading the expert, he's 11

giving him the answer.12

   MR. FOREMAN:  I'm merely asking him where 13

the number came from.  It's in the report in this 14

case.  15

   MR. COX:  He said it was 190.  16

   MR. DANFORD:  Yeah.  Given the timing in 17

these kind of situations, we obviously allow 18

leading, really, on both sides, so -- 19

Go ahead, finish your answer.  20 Q

It was 190. 21 A

Okay.  Meaning that positive tests were only 22 Q

called in excess of the 190; is that correct? 23

Correct, in the beginning. 24 A

All right.  And so what you're saying is in the 25 Q
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beginning, the normal physiologic concentration of 1

the horse was 190 and not 62? 2

No. 3 A

Well, that's the question I'm asking you.  4 Q

It was not the normal physiologic concentration. 5 A

I didn't ask you what level cases were being 6 Q

prosecuted, I was asking what was considered by 7

the Federation to be the normal physiologic 8

concentration of GABA in the horse.  They're two 9

different things.  10

By our numbers it was 62. 11 A

That's what I'm asking.  And how was that number 12 Q

arrived at? 13

Through this graphic. 14 A

Okay.  And is that the -- was that the mean, was 15 Q

that the one in 10,000 standard deviation, I'm 16

trying -- 17

The mean, plus four standard deviations from the 18 A

mean. 19

Okay.  And you had testified earlier that the 20 Q

number was 85.  I asked you if it was 62.  21

You're right. 22 A

Is the number 62? 23 Q

No, it would have been -- 85 nanograms would have 24 A

been four times the standard deviations above the 25
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mean. 1

Okay.  So take us forward with respect to the GABA 2 Q

testing.  3

We -- 4 A

Is there a time when you -- did you have to adjust 5 Q

the method at all? 6

Well, what happened was we had started our 7 A

research using reported use of 10 cc.s IM, okay.  8

We learned after we had called several positives 9

that, in fact, they were using it and it was still 10

rampant, it seemed to be worse, and they were now 11

down to one and a half cc.s IM.  So we had to see 12

if we could detect an administration at one and a 13

half cc.s.  So all this is discovery as it goes 14

along, okay. 15

Is there a time when -- well, strike that.  16 Q

   So prior to this time the Federation, you 17

were -- at what level were you reporting levels in 18

excess of 62 or 85, whatever the number is? 19

Say the question again, please.  20 A

At what number, at what level, at what 21 Q

concentration were you reporting to the Federation 22

excess levels of gamma-aminobutyric acid? 23

Above 190. 24 A

And when did that -- and that changed? 25 Q
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It did subsequently change.  We were told 1 A

originally to call above 190.  And it changed in 2

2013, we were told to call anything above a 3

hundred.  4

Okay.  And approximately when in 2013, 2014 did 5 Q

that happen? 6

I can't remember. 7 A

Since you were informed to do that, how many 8 Q

samples have you reported positive for levels in 9

excess of the normal physiologic concentration 10

that were above 100? 11

I think only two.  12 A

Is this case one of the two that you've reported? 13 Q

Yes. 14 A

All right.  How many samples has the laboratory 15 Q

tested since that change took place, 16

approximately? 17

20,000. 18 A

And at what point -- or did there come a time when 19 Q

the Federation laboratory was testing all blood 20

samples for the presence of GABA? 21

Yes.  After we found the first several, we tested 22 A

everything.  We were doing -- we do a lot for the 23

USEF and then we do outside contracts as well.  So 24

we were testing AQHA and all these other different 25
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organizations. 1

Give me a timeframe as to when you started testing 2 Q

all blood samples coming from US equestrian shows 3

for the presence of GABA.  4

Probably 2013. 5 A

And since that time, approximately how many 6 Q

samples have been tested for GABA?  Can you 7

approximate or is that -- are we talking tens of 8

thousands? 9

Yeah. 10 A

Okay.  What is the testing methodology that is 11 Q

used to test for GABA in each of the samples that 12

comes to the laboratory?  How do you test for 13

GABA? 14

We do a solid phase extraction using the 15 A

Phenomenex tip.  But that's all we're using from 16

that kit any longer, because it is solid phase, 17

it's a cata and exchange medium that's in the tip.  18

That's how we're proceeding. 19

Is that a generally accepted analytical method? 20 Q

Well, it was in the beginning, as far as I'm 21 A

concerned it still is. 22

Are you aware of any challenges that have been 23 Q

made to that method? 24

No.  As a matter of fact, I think the research 25 A
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that was done by UC Davis used the same method.  1

Someone else did some work that also used the 2

Phenomenex kit.  The HFL, which is now LGC, used 3

the same method, but not the Phenomenex material.  4

And when you test each of the samples for the 5 Q

presence of GABA, is that information recorded? 6

Yes. 7 A

All right.  Is there a report, is it just part of 8 Q

the -- what is the report?  Instead of me trying 9

to describe it, what is the report that's 10

generated? 11

Well, when we run it on the GC, you can get a GC 12 A

basic report that comes out of the data system. 13

And that's reading the GABA level in the sample; 14 Q

correct? 15

Yeah, but we're also looking for a number of 16 A

different compounds now. 17

And how reliable is that information, what is its 18 Q

reliability? 19

I think it's fairly reliable as a screen.  We're 20 A

trying to take 18,000 samples and get it down to 21

20, if we can, because we don't want to test all 22

of them; or just all the suspects, if you will. 23

Now, you're not -- your instructions were not to 24 Q

report anything below a hundred; correct? 25
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Correct. 1 A

So if a sample -- if in a routine screening blood 2 Q

sample, you got a number that was below a hundred, 3

you would not then do any further confirmation 4

testing; is that correct? 5

Correct. 6 A

All right.  So you would have the level that was 7 Q

recorded by GCMS, but you wouldn't do any -- I 8

mean, there's no reason to do confirmation 9

testing, because anything below a hundred you 10

would not deem to be suspicious? 11

It was screened out. 12 A

All right.  And do you only run confirmatory 13 Q

testing for samples that are screened suspicious? 14

Yes. 15 A

If you had to do confirmatory testing of every 16 Q

sample that came in, for example for GABA, let 17

alone anything else, would you be able to do that, 18

is it feasible?  19

Not with the number of personnel and equipment I 20 A

have, no. 21

All right.  Is there any reason to think that the 22 Q

information generated for each sample which tests 23

the GABA level is unreliable?  Any reason to think 24

it's unreliable?  25
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   MR. ROMM:  Objection; calls for 1

speculation.2

   MR FOREMAN:  Well, he does the work.  3

Do you have any sense that the information's 4 Q

unreliable? 5

No. 6 A

Let me -- has the work that you've done -- you've 7 Q

been doing it what, for three years? 8

Yes. 9 A

Has it ever been challenged scientifically? 10 Q

Yes. 11 A

All right.  Who's challenged it? 12 Q

Several of the owners of the samples. 13 A

Meaning in cases like this? 14 Q

Yes. 15 A

Exactly.  But, otherwise, the method hasn't been 16 Q

attacked so that you've had to change the method, 17

not use it otherwise? 18

No, not that I know of. 19 A

In fact, it's the same method that Dr. Knych used 20 Q

in California, is it not? 21

I believe so. 22 A

Let me take you now to the first sample at issue 23 Q

here, which is A-12218, which is the sample 24

collected from Cartaire at the Blenheim show on 25
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August the 14th, 2014.  The laboratory received a 1

cooler, did it not, that contained that sample? 2

I'm sure it did.  That's in a different packet. 3 A

Do you want to -- you can get the packet if you 4 Q

want.  Okay.  With respect to blood sample 5

A-12218, you provided the analytical data packet 6

to the Federation, we provided it to the 7

Respondents, have we not? 8

Yes. 9 A

And in the cooler was a packing list from Dr. 10 Q

Sandler; correct? 11

Different folder.  12 A

Why don't you bring the whole thing over, because 13 Q

you never know what I'm going to ask.  14

Okay.  15 A

Let me ask you this while you're looking for that, 16 Q

Mr. Lomangino.  Am I correct that the samples were 17

received on August 19th, 2014?  That's according 18

to your test report.  19

Yes. 20 A

And I assume, as is routinely done, the cooler was 21 Q

opened to determine its contents? 22

Yes.23 A

All right.  And there was a packing list from Dr. 24 Q

Sandler which indicated receipt of urine, but she 25
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did not indicate that there were any blood samples 1

in the cooler? 2

That's correct. 3 A

All right.  Now, was there an inspection done by 4 Q

the laboratory against that packing list? 5

Yes. 6 A

All right.  What document does the laboratory use 7 Q

to determine what's in the contents and to see if 8

there's any discrepancy between what the packing 9

list says and what you received? 10

When I took this job, I first found the problem 11 A

that Ohio had in determining how to bill the shows 12

for the testing was that the veterinarian could 13

remember putting so many samples in the cooler, 14

but when they got to the lab there was a different 15

number.  So what we did is we started sending them 16

the set week inventory list that came into the 17

laboratory and matched that up with the show 18

packing list from the veterinarian, okay.  19

Is that the document called cooler inventory list 20 Q

or is that a different document?  I'm not sure 21

what document you're looking at.  22

Yes, that's correct.23 A

All right.24 Q

   MR. ROMM:  Was that in the packet?25
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   MR. FOREMAN:  I'm going to get -- I'm 1

going to get -- no, it just says laboratory use 2

only, it's not in the packet.  This is in response 3

to the document that you provided yesterday, the 4

argument you've made with respect to the contents 5

of the cooler and the packing list.  You indicated 6

that there is a break in the chain of custody, and 7

I've been invited by the Hearing Committee to 8

produce testimony that would establish the chain 9

of custody.  10

   You can certainly argue, you can move to 11

dismiss at the end, but I think I'm permitted to 12

have testimony that indicates that the packing 13

list was in error, and that the cooler did contain 14

the blood samples in this case.  And I'm going to 15

provide documentation to buttress that.  I'm going 16

to do it from two witnesses.  17

   MR. ROMM:  Go ahead.  18

Okay.  So let me ask you first, there is a sheet 19 Q

called the cooler inventory list.  20

   MR. FOREMAN:  I only have one copy, but we 21

can get copies made.  I'm happy to show it to Mr. 22

Romm.  23

All right.  Is that the document you created? 24 Q

These are created when the barcodes are scanned 25 A
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into the computer.  So what we first do is we put 1

the show, the show number, show abbreviation, 2

we'll identify the complete name of the show or 3

the event, the organization we're testing for, 4

dates the competition was held, blah, blah, blah, 5

the day they came in, blood received, urine 6

received.  And, more importantly, the UPS air bill 7

number, because that's what Ohio uses to bill 8

whomever is -- 9

All right.  So the UPS air bill number corresponds 10 Q

to the air bill you provided with your affidavit 11

that is in the packet? 12

Correct. 13 A

All right.  So we know we're talking about the 14 Q

same cooler, all right.  And on your inventory 15

list -- if I could have that back, please.  On the 16

inventory list, it lists each of the tag numbers, 17

whether there is an A urine, a B urine, an A 18

blood, a B blood; correct?  19

Right. 20 A

All right.  So in this case the sample at issue is 21 Q

A-12218.  And there's an X under urine A, an X 22

under urine B, an X under A blood and an X under 23

AB.  That would indicate that you received urine 24

and blood samples A and B for sample A-12218 from 25
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the Blenheim show? 1

Correct. 2 A

All right.  And there's also a summary, is there 3 Q

not, on this sheet that says number of bloods 4

received, number of urines received? 5

Correct. 6 A

So notwithstanding that the packing list that was 7 Q

provided by Dr. Sandler indicated there were 9 8

urines, there were 13 bloods in the package also? 9

Correct.10 A

   MR. FOREMAN:  I'd offer this as 11

proponent's exhibit, whatever the next number is.12

   MR. ROMM:  I request the opportunity to 13

voir dire before that document's introduced.14

   MR. DANFORD:  To voir dire who?  15

   MR. ROMM:  I'm going to show why that 16

document is irrelevant.  17

   MR. FOREMAN:  Is that an objection or not?  18

   MR. DANFORD:  I'm not sure.  What are you 19

proposing to do, Mr. Romm?  20

   MR. ROMM:  I'm going to show why that 21

document doesn't solve the problem with the chain 22

of evidence.23

   MR. DANFORD:  Oh, I see, okay.24

   MR. FOREMAN:  That's fine.25
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   MR. DANFORD:  You'll have an opportunity 1

on cross examination to do that.  So if you want 2

-- Mr. Foreman, if you want to just hold off on -- 3

   MR. FOREMAN:  Okay, that's fine.  4

   MR. DANFORD: -- putting that into 5

evidence.  Actually, to keep it easy, we 6

understand you're proffering that into evidence.7

   MR. FOREMAN:  Yes.8

   MR. DANFORD:  And that will be subject to 9

Mr. Romm's objection. 10

Now, there's also a form, is there not, called 11 Q

cooler information and discrepancy? 12

Yes. 13 A

All right.  Could you describe what that document 14 Q

is? 15

This is what the technician opening the cooler 16 A

has.  They first tell us whether it came via UPS 17

or Fed Ex, the air bill number, their comments as 18

to the shipping cooler receipt.  On there it says 19

vet did not put number of A and B bloods on the 20

packing slip.  So this -- 21

This merely further confirms that in the cooler 22 Q

that was received there were 13 A and B bloods, 23

and that the testing veterinarian did not put on 24

the packing list that there were 13 bloods? 25
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Correct.1 A

   MR. FOREMAN:  I'll also hold that for 2

formal introduction.  3

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay. 4

All right.  5 Q

   MR. ROMM:  Same objection as to the 6

testimony that comes from that evidence.  7

Sample A-12218 was tested for GABA, and I would 8 Q

assume any other number of prohibited substances? 9

Correct. 10 A

All right.  And what was -- and the screening, was 11 Q

the screening done by GCMS, as you've testified? 12

For GABA, yes. 13 A

For GABA.  All right.  And what was the -- was the 14 Q

screening suspicious for GABA? 15

It was. 16 A

All right.  And then you performed a confirmatory 17 Q

test of that sample? 18

Correct. 19 A

All right.  And what -- what was the method, the 20 Q

analytical method, that was used to confirm the 21

presence of GABA? 22

Well, they went back to the sample, reallocated 23 A

the sample, did the extraction, and ran it both by 24

GCMS and LCMS methods. 25
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All right.  As a result of that test you 1 Q

determined that there was an excess level of GABA 2

in sample A-12218? 3

Well, I determined it was in excess of normal 4 A

physiological levels. 5

I'm sorry.  And you so reported on your test 6 Q

report? 7

I did. 8 A

All right.  And the test report dated September 9 Q

16th, 2014, is your report? 10

Correct. 11 A

You don't disclose any levels, any numbers, you 12 Q

just reported it as in excess of normal 13

physiological concentrations? 14

I'm not allowed to.  15 A

And why is that? 16 Q

Under accreditation, if you're doing a 17 A

quantitative test, you have to be able to state 18

your imprecision, your uncertainty, list the 19

number, the degree of certainty that you have to 20

that number.  We're not accredited to do this, so 21

the best I can do is put in it's in excess of 22

normal physiologic limits. 23

And that's because there is no accreditation for 24 Q

GABA by A2LA?  25
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There is no level.  It is a threshold substance.  1 A

But in this year and time there's not enough money 2

out there for the scientists to come up with an 3

acceptable number on the international level.  4

There's a lot of different normal naturally 5

occurring substances that are under review right 6

now.  7

You don't have any reason -- are you satisfied 8 Q

with the results that were reported in the 9

analytical data? 10

That I reported, yes. 11 A

And do you believe that information is reliable? 12 Q

I do. 13 A

All right.  The analytical data is in the record, 14 Q

that is the analytical data from the laboratory? 15

Correct.  I don't believe the LCMS MS data is in 16 A

there.  But we had used GCMS up to this point.  We 17

are getting ready for the accreditation of this 18

substance as an international threshold, and we 19

want to save that for that point, because what 20

we're trying to do is build our control charts. 21

Now, you were subsequently asked to see if you had 22 Q

the screening data for blood sample number 23

A-09167; is that correct? 24

Different folder.  I know there's two affidavits 25 A
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in here.  It's A-09167?  1

Yes, the Atlanta Winter Classic.  2 Q

Yes. 3 A

I guess you wouldn't have any reason to know 4 Q

what -- would you know which show that came from? 5

We knew what show it came from.  After we were 6 A

given the number, we went back in, because when we 7

bring them in, we access a number, a laboratory 8

number, so it becomes a B or a T.  And it's a B or 9

T because blood -- they come in as blood only are 10

B samples -- or T samples, and blood that comes in 11

with blood with urine are B samples.  If it's not 12

confusing already. 13

With respect to A-09167, you had not reported to 14 Q

the Federation at the time the presence of any 15

forbidden substances? 16

Correct. 17 A

It was negative, so you didn't even have to 18 Q

generate a report? 19

Right. 20 A

But, nonetheless, you did keep records, did you 21 Q

not, of the GABA levels for the horse assigned to 22

A-09167? 23

Yes. 24 A

And what were the GABA levels?  I assume that was 25 Q
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done by GCMS screening? 1

Correct. 2 A

All right.  And what were the GABA levels of the 3 Q

horse on January 23rd, 2014? 4

41.5 nanograms per mL. 5 A

And based on the work that you did, that would be 6 Q

within normal levels for a horse, would it not?7

Correct. 8 A

And you provided that screening data along with 9 Q

your affidavit, which is in the record; is that 10

correct? 11

Yes.  After the fact we were asked to go back and 12 A

find out what the number was, and we did. 13

Okay.  You were also subsequently asked to see if 14 Q

you had any information regarding blood sample 15

B-06753? 16

Correct. 17 A

The show card for Ranch Classic; do you have that 18 Q

folder? 19

Yes. 20 A

All right.  And was the blood sample screened and 21 Q

analyzed for prohibited substances? 22

Yes. 23 A

All right.  Was the horse screened for its GABA 24 Q

levels? 25
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Yes. 1 A

All right.  And what were the -- what was the -- 2 Q

was that done by GCMS? 3

Yes. 4 A

All right.  And what was the GABA level of the 5 Q

horse assigned B-06753 on 5-16-15? 6

34 nanograms per mL. 7 A

All right.  That would be consistent with the GABA 8 Q

level of the horse on January 23rd, 2014? 9

It's back down in the normal range. 10 A

All right.  And you would consider that to be a 11 Q

normal GABA level? 12

(Witness nods head). 13 A

All right.  And so with respect to the sample at 14 Q

issue in this case, A-12218, on August 14th, 2014, 15

the GABA level of that horse was in excess of 16

normal concentration? 17

(Witness nods head). 18 A

And, in fact, was it in excess of a hundred?  19 Q

A-12218.  20

As sample B-90 it was screened at 176. 21 A

All right.  And that would be in excess of the 22 Q

horse's normal physiologic concentration?  176 is 23

in excess of the normal physiologic -- 24

Of our normal, yeah. 25 A
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Thank you.  You're now aware that all three 1 Q

samples came from the same horse? 2

I was told that, yeah. 3 A

You've had a chance to look at the study that was 4 Q

done by Dr. Knych? 5

I have. 6 A

All right.  And without any reference to 7 Q

pharmacology or anything else she did a population 8

study herself, did she not? 9

I believe so. 10 A

Those -- when she was doing her paper.  And do you 11 Q

recall how many horses she surveyed? 12

I really don't. 13 A

In excess of a hundred? 14 Q

Okay.  15 A

All right.  Different breeds?  16 Q

   MR. ROMM:  Who's testifying? 17

As I recall they were different breeds.18 A

All right.19 Q

   MR. DANFORD:  Hold on, hold on.  The 20

question before, is your answer -- do you actually 21

know how many horses were in the study?22

   THE WITNESS:  No.23

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  24

Do you know what the average concentration of GABA 25 Q
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was in the horses that she studied? 1

No, I don't. 2 A

Okay.  Have you seen the RMTC study? 3 Q

No. 4 A

   MR. FOREMAN:  No further questions.  5

   MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Romm, cross examination?6

CROSS EXAMINATION7

BY MR. ROMM:8

Mr. Lomangino, are you familiar with Tom Tobin? 9 Q

Drug source, yeah. 10 A

Is Mr. Tobin accepted in the scientific community 11 Q

as one of the experts in drug testing?  12

   MR. FOREMAN:  Objection.  13

To your knowledge?  14 Q

   MR. DANFORD:  What's the objection?  15

   MR. FOREMAN:  Tom Tobin doesn't do drug 16

testing.  17

I consider him an expert in veterinary 18 A

pharmacology.  I don't -- have never considered 19

him an expert in equine drug testing. 20

Okay, pharmacology, good.  The procedure for this 21 Q

whole process, would you agree that there's three 22

steps?  I'll show you.  Sampling, where you pull 23

the sample from the horse.  Step two, somebody has 24

to test the sample.  That's your job, right --25
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Right. 1 A

-- in the lab.  And then you give the numbers to 2 Q

USEF and they decide whether they violated a rule, 3

is that -- would you agree with that process? 4

I don't have any discussions with any stewards.  I 5 A

did as a racetrack equine drug testing chemist. 6

Okay.  Well, that would be for racehorses.  But 7 Q

within USEF, you give the numbers to USEF? 8

I report to the Ohio Drugs and Medications Office, 9 A

so -- 10

Okay.  11 Q

-- a letter goes to Dr. Schumacher. 12 A

And Dr. Schumacher is -- accepts that for the 13 Q

USEF? 14

That's who I report to. 15 A

Okay.  Now, the sampling, pulling the sample from 16 Q

the horse, that's not your job, you don't do that; 17

right? 18

Right. 19 A

All right.  You would agree that you're involved 20 Q

with step two, you test the sample at your lab? 21

Right. 22 A

Okay.  Do you have any personal knowledge, 23 Q

personal knowledge, whether the blood that you 24

received in the container came from Cartaire? 25
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No. 1 A

Do you personally know that? 2 Q

No. 3 A

Okay.  How does the -- let me rephrase that.  4 Q

   On what do you rely -- on what do you have 5

to rely to know what horse the sample came from? 6

I don't.  7 A

You don't rely on that, okay.  8 Q

I report what I get.  9 A

Okay.  So can I see the three documents that you 10 Q

were showing before, the packing slip, the -- that 11

report of the different -- the difference in 12

the -- 13

Are you going to make me go back in there and find 14 A

it?  15

Please.  16 Q

(Witness hands document to counsel).  17 A

Okay.  The show packing list, right underneath the 18 Q

show packing list, what does that say? 19

The information on this sheet must be complete and 20 A

correct or will be faxed to you for corrections. 21

Do you ever fax back to the doctor that pulls a 22 Q

sample for corrections? 23

We do. 24 A

When do you do that? 25 Q
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If it's -- sometimes we do it, sometimes we don't, 1 A

because we go by that sheet.  2

   MR. FOREMAN:  What's that sheet?3

What do you mean you go by this sheet? 4 Q

Well, these -- 5 A

   MR. DANFORD:  Hold on.  Identify the sheet 6

for the record, if you would, to answer his 7

question. 8

Cooler inventory sheet. 9 A

Cooler inventory sheet.10 Q

   MR. FOREMAN:  Thank you.  11

Yeah, that's what we collect.  So normally when 12 A

you ship something, you ship it with a bill of 13

lading, okay, what's inside the cooler.  And then 14

when it goes to the point of delivery, they match 15

up what's supposed to be sent with what actually 16

came. 17

Okay.  Does -- can I see that?  Does the fact that 18 Q

when you open the box and it has blood samples in 19

it, does that tell you which horse the blood 20

samples came from? 21

(Witness shakes head). 22 A

Does that tell you anything about the 23 Q

transmittal -- the -- the transportation of the 24

blood from the body of the horse to the container? 25
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No. 1 A

So when you open the box and you report on this 2 Q

piece of paper, this cooler inventory list 3

document, that you found something different in 4

the box than what is listed on the packing sheet, 5

that doesn't tell you whether or not the blood 6

came from Cartaire? 7

The horse's name, no.  8 A

And it doesn't tell you anything about the 9 Q

transportation of the blood from the body of the 10

animal to the box? 11

No. 12 A

Okay.  So without the person who pulled the sample 13 Q

telling you that they pulled it and put it into 14

the box, how do you know that the bloods that you 15

reported on the cooler inventory came from that 16

animal? 17

It had the same number on it as the urine. 18 A

Had the same number on it? 19 Q

Right. 20 A

Does that mean -- do you know that because it had 21 Q

the same number, that it came from the same 22

animal? 23

Yeah. 24 A

How do you know that? 25 Q
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Because it's one sample ticket that has four 1 A

different sample tabs that go onto it.  So the A 2

and B would be from the same horse, same sample, 3

one's an A portion, one's a B portion.  And the 4

other one is a urine.  And all numbers are the 5

same, so they all came from the same horse. 6

Well, the numbers were the same; right? 7 Q

Correct. 8 A

But to know what horse it came from, this process, 9 Q

right, this first step relies on the person who 10

pulled the blood and the urine --11

Right. 12 A

-- having to sign something saying --13 Q

Right. 14 A

-- that those liquids that I pulled from the 15 Q

animal, I gave this number? 16

Right.  That's not on the portion of the ticket I 17 A

get. 18

That's right, it's not on the portion of the 19 Q

ticket you get, so you don't know.  You don't 20

know that -- just because the numbers are the 21

same, you don't know that it came from that 22

animal.  The only way you would know that is if 23

you had the affidavit of the person that pulled 24

it; right? 25
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No.  I don't care whose horse it is. 1 A

I know you don't care, but we do.  So my question 2 Q

to you is do you know which horse it came from, 3

and can you tell from the fact that you reported a 4

discrepancy, can you tell that it actually came 5

from that animal or do you need the actual 6

affidavit from the person who pulled it? 7

I don't need to know which animal it came from. 8 A

I'm not asking whether you care.  9 Q

Well, I don't understand. 10 A

In order to determine if it came from that horse 11 Q

does it have to have the same number -- 12

   MR. FOREMAN:  Objection.  He's asked and 13

answered it three times.14

   MR. DANFORD:  Wait a minute, hold on.  15

-- to guarantee you that it also came from that 16 Q

horse, without having the affidavit from the 17

actual person who pulled it? 18

Yes.19 A

   MR. FOREMAN:  Objection.  He's asked the 20

question three times.  21

   MR. ROMM:  He just now answered.22

   MR. FOREMAN:  He said he doesn't get the 23

horse's name.24

   MR. DANFORD:  You can answer one more 25
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time, and then you may move on.  Just answer the 1

question. 2

Without the affidavit from the expert -- 3 Q

The affidavit didn't come till months after we 4 A

tested the sample. 5

Right.  The document where they sign and -- and 6 Q

that they attach that number, without that you 7

don't know in fact that the number ticket in fact 8

reflects that it came from that horse, because 9

it's the same number? 10

That's all I know. 11 A

They could have split the tickets up and they 12 Q

could have taken the blood from a different horse, 13

you don't know? 14

I'm not sure you understand the significance.  If 15 A

I find Phenylbutazone in the urine and it looks 16

really big, I want to go into the blood and see if 17

if it exceeded the allowable level.  So wouldn't I 18

want to go into the sample taken from the same 19

animal?  20

I know you would, that wasn't my question.  My 21 Q

question was without that information do you know 22

that it came from that animal? 23

I'm confident it came from the same animal, it's 24 A

the same number on the urine ticket. 25
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How?  Because it has the same number? 1 Q

Right.  2 A

And how do you know that that number means it came 3 Q

from that animal without something signed by the 4

person who pulled it?  5

   MR. DANFORD:  All right.  Mr. Romm, I 6

think you have asked this.  I think he's answered 7

it the best he can a number of times.8

   MR. ROMM:  I don't think he did answer it, 9

he was about to.10

   MR. FOREMAN:  I think he did answer.11

   MR. DANFORD:  He's tried to answer it two 12

or three times.  But I think that's -- you've got 13

what you're going to get.  So I think you've made 14

your point, you can move on.  15

You said you started testing for GABA in February, 16 Q

2012, and you had a mean of 22 point something on 17

your chart? 18

February, 2012, it was determined to be a 19 A

prohibited substance and prohibited practice.  We 20

didn't start testing for it in February.  21

You mentioned 22 point -- you looked at the chart 22 Q

with the dots on it and you said the mean was 23

22.5, 22 point something? 24

Sure. 25 A
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What was that number?1 Q

You've gotten all my paperwork into a mess.  22.3. 2 A

22.3.  Is that the average, the average of what's 3 Q

normally occurring in a normal physiological 4

level? 5

It's not the average, it's the mean. 6 A

The mean.  Is that what you refer to as the normal 7 Q

physiological level? 8

That's the mean. 9 A

Okay.  When you refer to the normal physiological 10 Q

level, you were asked questions about the normal 11

physiological number, is that the number? 12

No. 13 A

When you were asked about the normal physiological 14 Q

level, what number were you referring to? 15

We added four times the standard deviation to the 16 A

mean and came up with that level. 17

That level, that's the normal physiological level 18 Q

or the threshold level? 19

There is no threshold. 20 A

There is no threshold? 21 Q

If there were, it would have to be determined by 22 A

the IFHA to be a threshold substance for it to be 23

a threshold. 24

The -- when you take -- by the way, the 25 Q
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deviations, what were those numbers?  The 20.5 and 1

the other one was what? 2

20.5. 3 A

15 something you said? 4 Q

15.7.  5 A

And you said that came to 85? 6 Q

I've got average plus four standard deviations 7 A

equals 85 nanograms per mL. 8

Okay.  You said between February and June of 2012, 9 Q

you were using the 85 nanograms per milliliter? 10

We didn't have the method until June. 11 A

Till June? 12 Q

Yeah. 13 A

Okay.  And in June, what happened then? 14 Q

That's when we went back into the freezers and got 15 A

the samples that we had saved since February and 16

started testing them.  17

Okay.  Now, you said in June you started using the 18 Q

190.  You said that you decided to, if I recall 19

your testimony correctly, you said that you 20

decided to rely on the technical consultant from 21

the New York lab, and their numbers and -- and 22

reporting 190.  23

Correct.  Not reporting 190, above 190. 24 A

Above 190.  And what does it mean to be above 190? 25 Q
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You're in excess of 190, that's what it means. 1 A

And if you're in excess of 190, what is the 2 Q

significance of that? 3

I would write a letter. 4 A

Saying what? 5 Q

It was in excess of normal physiologic level. 6 A

The 85 that you came up with, that was what your 7 Q

lab determined to be the normal physiological 8

level? 9

The 85 would be four times the standard deviation 10 A

from the mean, which would be in excess of that, 11

we would consider it significant.  Between me and 12

the USEF laboratory, and our veterinary consultant 13

doing this work, also, his numbers were higher, 14

okay.  We determined the action level would be 15

greater than 190.  16

What does the action level mean? 17 Q

That's the number I would write a letter.  18 A

Okay.  Why was there a difference between what 19 Q

your lab resulted as the normal physiological 20

level, the actual level, and -- and Dr. Maylin's? 21

Why was there a difference?  22 A

Yeah.  23 Q

Different instrument, different internal standard.  24 A

We had a problem, because when we first started 25
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doing the testing, as I said, I bought the LC kit.  1

But when I looked at the data, and I looked at the 2

peaks that we were getting from the instrument, 3

and considering the number of theoretical plates 4

in a chromatography column for LC versus GC, the 5

GC is much better at separating substances, the 6

theoretical plates are much higher.  So I took the 7

samples that were extracted with the LC kit sent 8

to me -- or suggested by New York, and we ran them 9

on the LC.  And I looked at the size of the peaks 10

and how wide they were, and I said this would look 11

much better on the GC.  So take these samples and 12

run them on the GC, and they did.  And that's why 13

we stuck with the GC, because I could separate 14

baseline to baseline any analyte that came out and 15

I could get a quantity. 16

If you test the same sample using GC and LC, 17 Q

you're telling me that because you use a different 18

testing method, that the same sample's going to 19

have a different nanograms per milliliter of GABA 20

in it? 21

That's not -- that's strange to you?  Yes. 22 A

The amount of nanograms per milliliter changed? 23 Q

Changed, no.  It was determined in two different 24 A

places to be two different numbers.  Now, is there 25
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a harmonization of the two laboratories, no. 1

When you say a harmonization, what do you mean by 2 Q

that? 3

Do you submit samples to each other and find out 4 A

what your numbers look like to him?  5

Did you both stop and say, hey, our numbers are 6 Q

different, let's find out why? 7

No, I didn't stop.  I couldn't stop. 8 A

Okay.  So do you -- can you say for sure, with any 9 Q

scientific degree of certainty, why the numbers 10

are different?  Your guess is that it was because 11

you used two different methods; right? 12

No.  Two different analysts, two different 13 A

methods, two different everything, okay. 14

Could it have something to do with the fact that 15 Q

they were using a different population of horses, 16

different kinds of horses, could that have been 17

the problem? 18

I don't think so. 19 A

How do you know? 20 Q

How do I know, because it has nothing to do with 21 A

my analysis with population of horses he used 22

compared to what population of horses I used. 23

So the kind of horse is not going to affect the 24 Q

normal level of -- of a particular compound in 25
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a -- 1

Is that what you heard me say?  I didn't say that. 2 A

The -- the population of horses was different; 3 Q

right? 4

His population was different than my population. 5 A

Okay.  And that difference could not have affected 6 Q

the difference in the values? 7

The analysis of mine compared to his analysis on a 8 A

different day in a different state, no.  No, what 9

you're looking at -- what you're talking about is 10

a normal level as determined in New York run by 11

LCMS compared to a normal level done in Kentucky 12

by the USEF.  And I accepted his numbers as the 13

higher call number, to give the horseman the 14

benefit of the higher number, because ours fit 15

within his, underneath.  I think it was very fair, 16

but it had nothing to do with the data.  17

Okay.  Does the -- let me ask a different 18 Q

question.  Maylin's study got an action level 19

which you had called -- described as a normal 20

physiological level of 190.  You got --21

   MR. FOREMAN:  Objection.  22

-- 85.  23 Q

You've got them crossed up.24 A

   MR. FOREMAN:  Objection; 25
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mischaracterizing. 1

If I made a mistake I'll ask it again.  2 Q

   MR. FOREMAN:  Ask it again.  3

You got a normal physiologic level at 85; right? 4 Q

That would be -- 5 A

The mean plus four times the standard deviation? 6 Q

That would be the ceiling.7 A

The ceiling?8 Q

Because you're adding four times the standard 9 A

deviation from the mean to your mean, coming up 10

with a risk assessment of calling -- what you're 11

looking at in the statistics is not wanting to 12

call the wrong person positive when they weren't, 13

okay. 14

Is that sometimes referred to as the threshold 15 Q

level? 16

No. 17 A

Maybe not in -- 18 Q

There's a lot of different terms, okay. 19 A

Right.  20 Q

Threshold is only determined by the International 21 A

Federation of Horse Racing Authorities, period.  22

Or in the US by the jurisdictional authority.  23

They determine the threshold.  They tell the 24

laboratory this is the threshold, you only call 25
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above that threshold.  We were developing a new 1

test for a drug that became apparent to be abused 2

at shows, so we're inventing the new wheel.  3

So the 85 is not a threshold level, you don't call 4 Q

it a threshold level.  The 190 is not a threshold 5

level.  And when USEF got down to 62, that's not a 6

threshold level either; right? 7

I think we have determined that there is no 8 A

threshold. 9

Okay.  10 Q

What we were talking -- I'll wait for your 11 A

question. 12

I'm going to show you -- you testified about blood 13 Q

sample A-17819.14

   MR. FOREMAN:  Let me see what you're 15

showing him.  That was excluded by the Hearing 16

Committee, you asked that it be excluded.  17

   MR. ROMM:  This one was?  18

   MR. FOREMAN:  Am I correct, Mr. Danford, 19

that the Hearing Committee --20

   MR. DANFORD:  What document are we talking 21

about?  22

   MR. FOREMAN: -- did not accept the 23

affidavit --24

   MR. ROMM:  There's several summary 25
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reports.  There's several summary reports in the 1

evidence pack.2

   MR. DANFORD:  Is this the one that was -- 3

   MR. FOREMAN:  It's from the Rivetts case, 4

I think the Hearing Committee excluded that.5

   MR. DANFORD:  That was excluded.  You may 6

move on.  Excluded at your request.7

   MR. ROMM:  I'm sorry?  8

   MR. DANFORD:  Excluded at your request, 9

just so the record's clear.  10

Have you seen the summary reports from Dr. Maylin 11 Q

on the tests that he's done for the various --12

   MR. FOREMAN:  Can I make it easier for you 13

and I'll pull it out?  14

-- prosecutions?  15 Q

   MR. ROMM:  Sure, go ahead.  The one I 16

happen to have in my hand is one that got 17

excluded.  18

   MR. DANFORD:  That's the risk of 19

objections.  20

   MR. ROMM:  I'm looking for any other 21

summary report in the file.22

   MR. FOREMAN:  It's in the record as -- 23

   MR. ROMM:  I apologize for the delay, but, 24

as I said, the numbers were changed.25
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   MR. FOREMAN:  P11.17.1

   MR. ROMM:  I'm sorry?2

   MR. FOREMAN:  I believe it's P, as in 3

Paul, 11.17.4

   MR. DANFORD:  That's the one in this case.5

   MS. PRATT:  Yes.6

   MR. ROMM:  Oh, the one in this case.  7

I'm showing you the summary report from blood 8 Q

sample A-12218.  Can you look at the last line on 9

the second page?  What does that say, can you read 10

it? 11

Plasma sample A-12218 contained GABA at an 12 A

estimated concentration of 188.6 nanograms per 13

milliliter.  This exceeds the threshold value of 14

62 nanograms per mL plasma.  15

What threshold value are they talking about if -- 16 Q

It's not my document, ask the person that wrote 17 A

it. 18

Okay.  Do you know whether the reference number 19 Q

that Dr. Maylin is referring to, that 62, as a 20

threshold level, is that the mean plus four 21

standard deviations that you refer to? 22

You're going to have ask the man who wrote the 23 A

letter. 24

Well, it's based on the USEF -- 25 Q
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I believe it's 62.3, to start with. 1 A

So you are familiar with it.  It's the USEF study; 2 Q

right? 3

USEF study?  We don't do studies, we do work. 4 A

I'm sorry, the -- the 85 unknown retired horses 5 Q

that were examined.  6

Okay, the control. 7 A

Control, right.  That resulted in a mean of 26 8 Q

nanograms per milliliter, plus or minus 9, and 9

then it resulted in 62 nanograms per milliliter.  10

That's what Maylin is referring to as the, quote, 11

unquote, threshold.  But you don't refer to it as 12

that; right? 13

I don't. 14 A

Okay.  But that number that he refers to as a 15 Q

threshold, that is the same number, mean plus four 16

standards, that you got an 85 for and that Maylin 17

got a 190 for; right? 18

I don't -- I think you're confusing different sets 19 A

of data, okay.  So 62 point whatever it is that 20

Maylin wrote the letter on, ask him about that 21

number.  The number I have that we just went over, 22

the ceiling would be 85, yes. 23

The ceiling, which Maylin referred to as a 24 Q

threshold, but you don't agree with that; right? 25
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I don't agree it's a threshold. 1 A

Right.  But that's what Maylin was referring to, 2 Q

that ceiling? 3

If you say so. 4 A

Okay.  You don't know? 5 Q

I don't agree with that.  I'm not going to make 6 A

that statement. 7

Okay.  What about the 190, that you decided to 8 Q

make an action?  9

The 190 was the action level decided by the group 10 A

that we would call above, okay. 11

When?  12 Q

Just getting started. 13 A

And which, apparently, looking at this, is what 14 Q

Maylin refers to as a threshold level? 15

Again, this is a very significant word in the 16 A

international community.  I'm the FEI lab.17

   MR. DANFORD:  Hold it just a second, Mr. 18

Romm.  We are after 1:00, it's going on 1:30, we 19

haven't had lunch yet.20

   MR. ROMM:  Okay.21

   MR. DANFORD:  We have a lot of witnesses 22

to come.  We really need to kind of move.  You're 23

kind of spinning your wheels through this 24

information.  25
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   MR. ROMM:  Okay.1

   MR. DANFORD:  If we can kind of move 2

forward, I'd appreciate it.  I'm not trying to 3

stop you from asking, it just seems that we've 4

gone over, and over, and over this topic for quite 5

some time now.  6

You said that there was no stability testing done? 7 Q

When did I say that?  8 A

Earlier.  9 Q

Stability testing, I don't remember answering that 10 A

question.  11

Was there any stability testing done? 12 Q

No. 13 A

No.  Okay.  You said the internal standard that 14 Q

was -- that you used was -- did you document the 15

internal standard they used? 16

Yes, sir. 17 A

It was? 18 Q

The LC kit came with D3 Methionine. 19 A

Right.  20 Q

The GC kit came with Norvaline. 21 A

And -- and did it eventually change? 22 Q

Yes. 23 A

To what? 24 Q

We're now using GABA D3 kit.  25 A

161

Why? 1 Q

Repeatability. 2 A

What does that mean? 3 Q

That means as you run these analytes on an 4 A

instrument, you're talking about an instrument at 5

10 to the minus 5 pressure, you're going to get 6

results that are going to differ from injection to 7

injection, okay.  So in order for them to be more 8

consistent, you want to get a good pairing of 9

internal standard to your analyte of interest.  10

Not only that, when you're looking at a mass 11

fragmentation pattern you want to select the 12

correct ions or fragments to use or transition in 13

a tandem mass spectrometer so that you can get 14

consistent results. 15

So, basically, the standard is something you 16 Q

compare the analyte test to, to make sure that you 17

have the right compound? 18

The standard is what you use to compare, I'm 19 A

sorry?  20

Use an internal standard to make sure that the 21 Q

compound that you're examining and you've gotten a 22

result for is what you think it is? 23

No, we're pretty sure what we think it is.  What 24 A

we're talking about is when you use an internal 25
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standard for quantitative purposes, you want an 1

analyte that will have the same extraction 2

characteristics, the same repeatability that's 3

going to be used from injection to injection to 4

maintain a consistent line. 5

And -- and you changed it to GABA D3 because it 6 Q

was a better standard? 7

More appropriate for the analysis, yes. 8 A

Okay.  9 Q

And that could be the difference in Maylin's data 10 A

compared to my data. 11

Could be? 12 Q

Yeah. 13 A

Okay.  You said that you were -- that your lab was 14 Q

not accredited to give a quantitative number and 15

that's why you couldn't -- 16

On GABA. 17 A

On GABA? 18 Q

(Witness nods head). 19 A

Okay.  You said in 2013, you were told to call 20 Q

above a hundred? 21

To start issuing reports at samples above a 22 A

hundred, yes. 23

Right.  Who told you that? 24 Q

Dr. Schumacher. 25 A
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Do you know, did he -- did he say to you on what 1 Q

basis or why he had now instructed you to start 2

calling above a hundred? 3

Yes. 4 A

What was his explanation? 5 Q

Because the reports from the competitors was that 6 A

the substance was being heavily used and abused at 7

shows.  And they were not using 10 cc.s, they were 8

using one and a half cc.s.  So we're talking about 9

a much lower administered amount to the same 10

animal and we didn't know if we could still find 11

it at that number. 12

How did the number 100 become the amount that they 13 Q

decided to use? 14

When we started doing the analysis of the 15 A

administration trials, we realized that our 16

numbers were much smaller than they were 17

originally.  So we're not going to find the 1,700 18

nanograms per mL any more, it's probably down in 19

the 1 to 3 hundred range. 20

So initially you were pulling action on above 190.  21 Q

Then you got told to call action above 100.  22

Eventually did you get told to call action above 23

62? 24

No. 25 A
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No? 1 Q

As long as it's gone it's greater than a hundred. 2 A

It's greater than a hundred.  So if it was under a 3 Q

hundred it didn't get called at all? 4

Correct. 5 A

Last question -- last two questions.  You said 6 Q

that when you had a test result that called for 7

action above what Maylin calls a threshold, what 8

you call the action, the standard plus four 9

deviations, the ultimate level where above that is 10

suspicious, that you do a confirmatory test?  11

Yes. 12 A

Why? 13 Q

The screen is just a screen.  So we're just 14 A

picking out of all the samples we get -- we're not 15

going to quantitate all of the samples that we 16

get.  We are going to find suspicious samples and 17

do a more intensive scrutiny of those several 18

samples. 19

It's a confirmatory test to make sure that the 20 Q

screen was correct; it's to confirm, right? 21

Okay. 22 A

Is that -- is that not what it is? 23 Q

It confirms your suspicion, yes. 24 A

Okay.  If you can -- can you rely on the screen 25 Q
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without doing the confirmatory test? 1

No.  A screen is a screen.  A screen is just 2 A

taking the 450 samples and turning it into a few.  3

Here's the million dollar question, okay? 4 Q

Do I get the million dollars?  5 A

Yeah.  Why is it that you can't rely on a screen 6 Q

test when it's suspicious and you have to do a 7

confirmatory test, but when it's -- you just said 8

that.  You just said you do a confirmatory test 9

because you can't rely on the screen.  10

I didn't say I can't rely on the screen.  I said I 11 A

don't rely on the screen. 12

You don't? 13 Q

Right. 14 A

Okay.  Why is it that you don't do a confirmatory 15 Q

test when it's below?  Why -- why can we rely on 16

the screen without a confirmatory test when it's 17

below a certain number, but not when it's above? 18

When you're performing screening you are batch 19 A

analyzing a large number of samples, okay.  You 20

want to be able to do a more intensive scrutiny on 21

your suspects than you do on a general screen.  A 22

general screen you're looking for suspicion.  You 23

saw the data packet.  Did we just do an analysis 24

of the suspect, did we just do it once?  No.  We 25
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ran several QCs, we ran the sample in triplicate, 1

we ran a calibration curve, if you will. 2

You're talking about the Blenheim? 3 Q

The data packet that you have. 4 A

Yeah, yeah, the Blenheim Summer Classic.  5 Q

I'm not talking about Blenheim Summer Classic, I'm 6 A

talking about the sample -- 7

The sample that came from that test? 8 Q

Yeah, the one that's on that sample ticket number, 9 A

which is how I knew it was that. 10

Yeah.  But for the tests before, for the winter 11 Q

test and the other one that came after, there was 12

no confirmatory testing.  And you were asked can 13

we rely on those screens without the confirmatory 14

test.  15

If I took a 19 and ran it 20 more times, what 16 A

would be the premise?  To confirm that it's 17

actually a lot lower than I'm really interested 18

in?  19

   MR. ROMM:  Okay.  Thank you.  Thank you, 20

I've got no further questions.  21

   MR. FOREMAN:  Just one very quickly.22

RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION23

BY MR. FOREMAN:24

Mr. Lomangino, you were involved in developing 25 Q
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this sample identification card for USEF, were you 1

not? 2

That's correct. 3 A

All right.  And, in fact, you developed sample 4 Q

identification cards in the racing industry, did 5

you not? 6

That's correct. 7 A

And there are different portions of a card that 8 Q

assign to a sample? 9

Correct. 10 A

So if a testing veterinarian at a particular show 11 Q

gets a sample card, it gets assigned to a horse; 12

correct? 13

Yes. 14 A

One portion of the card contains information about 15 Q

the show, the class, the date, the time of 16

collection, information about owner and trainer.  17

And also has the name of the person who collected 18

the sample, person who witnessed the sample, time 19

of collection, and any other notes; is that 20

correct? 21

Correct. 22 A

You don't get that portion of the card? 23 Q

I do not. 24 A

All right.  That portion of the card gets sent by 25 Q
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the testing veterinarian to the Drugs and 1

Medications Program? 2

Correct. 3 A

Now, there are other portions that are attached to 4 Q

the card that get severed from the card; is that 5

correct? 6

That's correct. 7 A

And one would be an A and B for the urine sample, 8 Q

and one would be the A and B for the blood sample? 9

Correct. 10 A

All right.  So in your affidavit, where you have 11 Q

the bottom portions of the tickets that are -- and 12

we have the original here and the original packet.  13

So where it has urine sample B and -- urine sample 14

B, in this -- the portions of the card that 15

accompany the urine sample, one is attached to the 16

A and one is attached to the B; correct? 17

If there is a B sample. 18 A

Right.  And if there is an A sample, the A tags 19 Q

get affixed to the blood sample and the urine 20

sample? 21

That's correct. 22 A

All right.  And so in this particular case, the 23 Q

sample tags that are at the bottom, they come from 24

the laboratory, do they not? 25
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Correct. 1 A

This is what you get and this is what accompanies 2 Q

the sample? 3

That is what comes affixed to the sample by the 4 A

testing veterinarian or the technician. 5

All right.  When she or he severs from the 6 Q

original sample card that tag, it gets affixed to 7

the sample.  It goes to the lab, and then you 8

retrieve it from the cooler, from the actual 9

sample itself? 10

Correct. 11 A

You have the B sample, do you not, the blood 12 Q

sample, is it still retained by the laboratory? 13

That's correct. 14 A

Do you have that sample here or is it at the 15 Q

laboratory? 16

I do not have it here. 17 A

All right.  Do you have a picture of it or 18 Q

anything like that? 19

I did not. 20 A

Okay.  The accession number that is assigned to, 21 Q

in this case A-12218, is that the B-90 and the 22

U-90 numbers that are written on the tag? 23

Those are the accession numbers. 24 A

Is there any way this tag could be assigned to a 25 Q
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different sample by the testing veterinarian when 1

she severs it from the card? 2

The question again. 3 A

When the testing veterinarian severs the tag from 4 Q

the card that accompanies the sample, is there any 5

way it could be affixed to a different sample? 6

Hopefully not. 7 A

All right.  And -- but there's information on the 8 Q

card that would indicate that it was collected and 9

sealed, and then there's a witness who signs the 10

card? 11

Correct. 12 A

All right.  And that would evidence that -- of 13 Q

course, you don't see the affidavit at that point.  14

But in theory and in practice, the sample card is 15

supposed to be detached from the main card and 16

affixed to the sample? 17

That's correct.  The actual cards are on the 18 A

bottom and the top.  And there's another section 19

which is, more or less, a receipt that goes to the 20

person that got tested.  So all these same numbers 21

are attached to the same card when they go to the 22

testing veterinarian.  They are ripped off, 23

depending on whether they have a urine and/or 24

blood, and the accession number, B-90, U-90, tells 25
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us that it's this sample, and there's a urine 1

portion and blood portion.  Then there's another 2

one that says it's the B ticket, okay.3

   And the reason I designed this ticket for 4

the USEF in the nineties is because they used to 5

issue one ticket for the A portion and a separate 6

ticket for the B portion.  And the laboratory had 7

an instance where a positive sample was discarded 8

because it had a totally unique number on it. 9

So from your perspective, what you know is that 10 Q

the blood sample A and B tags were severed from 11

A-12218.  One was affixed to the A blood sample 12

and one was affixed to the B blood sample.  And in 13

your laboratory, when you received the cooler, in 14

the contents was an A-12218 A blood sample and an 15

A-12218 B sample? 16

And that would be obvious on the cooler report.  17 A

It shows the Xs, whether there's an A portion, a B 18

portion.  And we have to keep custody of -- 19

And everything tracks through your cooler reports 20 Q

and all your reports with the accession number, 21

tracked to that particular sample? 22

Correct.23 A

   MR. FOREMAN:  No further questions.24

25
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RE-CROSS EXAMINATION1

BY MR. ROMM:2

If there's no B sample done, what do they do with 3 Q

the little ticket? 4

They leave it on the ticket. 5 A

All right.  Is the -- if they do a urine and a 6 Q

blood, are they attached to each other, the 7

tickets themselves? 8

The A urine is attached to the larger cup, which 9 A

is the A cup.  There's a smaller B cup, where the 10

B ticket is attached to the B cup, for the urine 11

sample portion.  There is an A blood sample that's 12

taken, and there's two tubes that go with the A 13

ticket, because it says on the bag two tubes, 14

that's with -- with all caps, attached to an A 15

sample ticket.  Or the B bag says it's a, in all 16

caps, over the blood tube, with a B ticket 17

attached. 18

Okay.  So if they -- if they draw urine and they 19 Q

-- and they tear the urine ticket off and they 20

attach it, right, then God forbid somebody has a 21

heart attack, right, and they don't pull the blood 22

for the B because they're taking care of him.  And 23

then after they take care of that person they run 24

back and they decide to take the blood, right, but 25
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they take the blood from a different horse, how 1

are you going to know that? 2

Oh, I wouldn't. 3 A

You wouldn't.  There's nothing in the ticket that 4 Q

tells you where the blood came from.  Just because 5

it's the same number doesn't tell you it's the 6

same horse; right?  7

   MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Romm, if you have 8

questions for -- 9

   MR. ROMM:  That's a question.10

   MR. DANFORD:  It sounded more like 11

argument.  12

Isn't that true?  Now that I've given you my 13 Q

example.  14

This is quite a hypothetical. 15 A

Quite a hypothetical, I'm just asking.  16 Q

I wouldn't -- when it came to me, if it had this 17 A

ticket on it, I would think that's the sample, 18

okay.  Because that's why they hire a 19

veterinarian, and they're in charge of the 20

technicians that take the urine portion, and 21

that's -- 22

   MR. ROMM:  That's the assumption that you 23

make, okay.  24

   MR. DANFORD:  All right.  Any further 25
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questions, Mr. Romm, Mr. Foreman?  All right.  1

Questions from the panel?2

   MS. WERNER:  Just very quickly.  When the 3

samples come in, all the samples come in and they 4

are screened, how many drugs are they screened for 5

at that time?  Every drug that we're testing for?6

   THE WITNESS:  We have probably eight 7

different types of screens take place.  So we're 8

looking for nonsteroidal drugs, which is one test.  9

We're looking for Phenothiazine type tranquilizer, 10

separate test, plasma, urine -- 11

   MS. WERNER:  And every sample goes through 12

that?  13

   THE WITNESS:  Correct.14

   MS. WERNER:  Is this the norm at drug 15

testing labs?  16

   THE WITNESS:  It's the norm at mine.17

   MS. WERNER:  It's the norm at yours.  I 18

guess my -- FEI has accepted this, FEI says this 19

is fine?  20

   THE WITNESS:  Oh, yeah.21

   MS. WERNER:  Yeah.  Okay, thank you.  22

   MR. DANFORD:  So the screening test, the 23

standard screening test, what instrument does that 24

use, what -- 25
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   THE WITNESS:  GABA?1

   MR. DANFORD:  Yes.2

   THE WITNESS:  Currently we're using the 3

GC.  So gas chromatography-mass spectrometry will 4

do the GABA test, okay, and that's all.5

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  So in this particular 6

case with Cartaire, what was used -- so GCMS was 7

used for the screening portion?  8

   THE WITNESS:  Yes.9

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  And then what was -- 10

   THE WITNESS:  And for confirmatory.11

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay, all right.  12

   MR. ROMM:  Could you have used something 13

else?  14

   THE WITNESS:  Pardon me?15

   MR. ROMM:  Could you have used something 16

else?17

   THE WITNESS:  We did.  We did.  I told you 18

we're trying to get ready for the international 19

community to come up with a threshold for this 20

naturally occurring substance so that we can 21

become accredited to it.  Like we are accredited 22

for eight different nonsteroidal drugs, okay, 23

because the rule book allows the use of eight 24

different nonsteroidal drugs, so we're accredited 25

176

www.ratemyhorsepro.com

Rate
MyH

orse
PRO.co

m



Page 177 to 180 of 420

www.sworntestimonyky.com | 859.533.8961

Sworn Testimony, PLLC  |  Lexington & Louisville

for all those.  But they have to determine that 1

GABA is a threshold substance and issue the 2

threshold before I can test for it.3

   MR. DANFORD:  So what do you do 4

differently, I'm not looking for a super technical 5

answer, between the screening -- in this case, 6

take this particular case.  You do GCMS screening, 7

and then you do GCMS confirmatory test, what's 8

different between these two, if anything?9

   THE WITNESS:  Not that much.  But normally 10

what's different are the number of controls that 11

you run along with it.  In that if you take 450 12

samples, you're going to be analyzing this batch 13

of 450 samples over three or four days.14

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.15

   THE WITNESS:  Okay.  It takes 20 minutes 16

to 25 minutes for the GC temperature program to 17

take place, then oven recalibration to the 18

starting point.  And then your injection, it's 19

going to go around, and you have a lot of stuff 20

going on at the same time.  So what happens is we 21

do the screen, we come up with suspects, we then 22

go in for confirmation.  This one has shown to be 23

above what we think is a normal level, so we will 24

go in and try and confirm that.  We will put 25
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different calibrators in to say, yes, it's really 1

run.  2

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  So -- and I guess the 3

question would be the screening test by itself, 4

you were asked questions about the reliability of 5

the results that you would get from that.  So you, 6

obviously, use the screening test on a majority of 7

samples.  And if it comes at a level that is below 8

where you would call a positive for GABA, you rely 9

upon the screening test. 10

   THE WITNESS:  Right.11

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  You don't do anything 12

to confirm it, you rely upon that test.13

   THE WITNESS:  The only thing we do -- 14

according to our accreditation scheme, we have to 15

address false negatives and false positives.16

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.17

   THE WITNESS:  So the accreditation scheme 18

tells us you're going to run X number of samples.  19

Over the year how are you going to address false 20

positives?  Well, false positives are real easy.21

   MR. DANFORD:  Right.22

   THE WITNESS:  Because you send them to 23

confirmation, they either confirm or don't, okay.24

   MR. DANFORD:  Right.  So is the reason 25
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that you do confirmation, I mean, that's an 1

accreditation issue, but is the reason as well 2

that you do that to be protective of the trainer 3

that might be charged?4

   THE WITNESS:  Oh, certainly, you want to 5

make certain.  Because here you're testing 450 6

samples, and now it's come down to one or two.  7

You're going to go back to that original cup and 8

you're not going to test it with the other 448, 9

you're going to test it just by itself and you're 10

going to do multiple.11

   MR. DANFORD:  If the world were different 12

and you didn't have a confirmatory apparatus or 13

potential, would you feel comfortable -- would you 14

feel that the results from the GCMS screening are 15

reliable enough that you could call a positive?16

   THE WITNESS:  I have never felt that way, 17

okay.  And when I have worked in New York for 18

Cornell University, there were investigators that 19

wanted me to call off the screen for positive, 20

human positives, and I said no.21

   MR. DANFORD:  Why not?22

   THE WITNESS:  It's going to go through 23

confirmation. 24

   MR. DANFORD:  Why would you not do that?  25
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Is it for that purpose of being protective of the 1

trainer or is it -- 2

   THE WITNESS:  Absolutely.3

   MR. DANFORD:  What I'm trying to tease 4

out is -- I understand that instinct, is there -- 5

what I'm trying to tease out is, is there a 6

reliability problem with the screen?  7

   THE WITNESS:  No, not particularly.8

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  So if a screening 9

test comes up with a certain level, are you 10

comfortable that that is a reliable level for 11

purposes other than calling a positive against a 12

trainer?13

   THE WITNESS:  What we're getting to is 14

trying to determine an exact number.  And when you 15

do the screen, you're looking for a gross 16

classification, this is above the normal, okay.  17

But when you go in for confirmation, you're going 18

to try and zero in on the absolute number, and 19

that's what you want to do. 20

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  In your experience in 21

the times that you've done this on GABA, has the 22

confirmed number been higher or lower than the 23

screening number, if you recall?24

   THE WITNESS:  Both.25
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   MR. DANFORD:  It's been both, okay, all 1

right.  Do you experience much of a range between 2

the two or difference between the two?3

   THE WITNESS:  Not significant.4

   MR. DANFORD:  Not a significant difference 5

between the two, okay.  6

   MR. ROMM:  How much?  7

   MR. DANFORD:  So --8

   MR. ROMM:  I'm sorry.9

   MR. DANFORD:  That's fine.10

   MR. ROMM:  How much of a difference?11

   THE WITNESS:  Depending on the sample, 12

depending on the day.13

   MR. ROMM:  With GABA, particularly with 14

GABA. 15

   THE WITNESS:  Usually it's not going to be 16

the difference between a positive or a negative.  17

So we can screen something at 175, and the 18

confirmation will come in as a closer level of 19

160.  20

   MR. DANFORD:  So we're being -- 21

potentially in this hearing, the panel may be 22

asked to find that the -- you know, some evidence 23

of a normal physiological level of GABA in this 24

horse is proved by two screenings that happened 25
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sometime in 2013, 2014, somewhere in that 1

timeframe -- or, I'm sorry, 2014, pardon me.  Is 2

that a valid piece of evidence for the committee 3

to consider, and, if so, why?4

   THE WITNESS:  I think the fact that it 5

tested three times below 50 is significant 6

compared to the time it was tested and came up 7

well over 150.  8

   MR. FOREMAN:  You mean two times.9

   MR. ROMM:  Two times.10

   MR. DANFORD:  Yeah, two times.11

   MR. FOREMAN:  There are three total, but 12

one is the one in this case.13

   MR. DANFORD:  That's right.  There are two 14

that have been mentioned today.  There's the 15

Atlanta one and I forget the other show, but 16

there's two that were below 50.  So why would you 17

not require if the -- if the purpose is to say 18

that is evidence of the normal physiological level 19

in a horse, why would you not require confirmatory 20

testing to establish that?21

   THE WITNESS:  Of the lower number?22

   MR. DANFORD:  Uh-huh, of a number that's 23

below 50. 24

   THE WITNESS:  You could require it, but we 25
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wouldn't have the ability to do that.  I mean, 1

essentially, we have gotten down to the point 2

where I can tell you that I can test X number of 3

samples in a one-week period, in that every time 4

you run a sample it's going to be 20 to 30 minutes 5

for the instrumental run.  I would be so 6

backlogged if I were confirming negative samples.7

   MS. WERNER:  So it's time, basically.  8

It's not that we can't, it's not that we don't 9

have the instruments to do it, it's just that it's 10

time?11

   THE WITNESS:  GABA was thought up by 12

somebody else. 13

   MS. WERNER:  Yes.14

   THE WITNESS:  Okay.  And we were given 15

this on top of our other duties.16

   MS. WERNER:  Right.  17

   THE WITNESS:  And told find a way to 18

control this. 19

   MS. WERNER:  Yeah.20

   THE WITNESS:  That's the problem.  21

   MR. DANFORD:  So in your view, screening 22

results under GCMS are reliable results?23

   THE WITNESS:  I agree.24

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  You just would not 25
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use them to charge a party without confirmatory 1

testing; is that your testimony?2

   THE WITNESS:  When you're doing the 3

instrumentation, what you're interested in is 4

reproducibility of accuracy and precision, okay.  5

What you are doing on GCMS -- because what we're 6

talking about is a destructive source, ion source.  7

So it hits the wall and it explodes, and that's 8

what happens inside the analyzer.  When you do 9

LCMS, it's a lot different ionization technique, 10

it's much softer, it's in liquid, it's not being 11

heated to volatilization point to get into a GC as 12

gas phase.  You're talking about a much gentler 13

application of the analyte.14

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  You were asked some 15

questions about the cooler inventory list and the 16

cooler info discrepancy, I think was the name of 17

it, forms, two different forms.  Are those 18

actually -- I think the way you described those, 19

are those actually billing forms for you-all?20

   THE WITNESS:  No.  But in the beginning, 21

when I first took this job in 2006, we were 22

getting repeated phone calls from Ohio, can you 23

tell me -- two months ago you got this show, how 24

many coolers did it come in.  25
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   MR. DANFORD:  Right. 1

   THE WITNESS:  One or two.2

   MR. DANFORD:  I guess what I'm trying to 3

get at is are these documents normally considered 4

part of the analytical packet or are they sort of 5

documents off on the side?  6

   THE WITNESS:  It would be for control of 7

custody.8

   MR. DANFORD:  For control.9

   THE WITNESS:  Because the veterinarian is 10

the controller of custody until they ship that 11

cooler to the laboratory, and then it transfers 12

custody to us.  We use the air bill as the 13

transference of custody.14

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  Any further questions 15

for this witness from the panel?16

   MS. BLACKSTONE:  Along this line of 17

questioning, chain of custody, how often, given 18

the thousands that you'll do a year, how often 19

does the packing slip deviate from that cooler 20

inventory list?  21

   THE WITNESS:  140 different veterinarians, 22

you're going to find a lot of differences, okay.  23

And a lot of them hand it off to a technician and 24

say finish packing up the cooler.  So I can't 25
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really say it's the veterinarian that made the 1

mistake.  There are issues.2

   MS. BLACKSTONE:  And if I remember your 3

testimony correctly, you said sometimes you get 4

back in touch with them, sometimes you don't.  5

What makes you decide one way or another?6

   THE WITNESS:  Some vets we can't get ahold 7

of.  8

   MS. BLACKSTONE:  Okay.  And one other 9

question, just so I get all these numbers right.  10

We've talked about what might be a normal 11

concentration in a horse, maybe a low of 18, 22, 12

all the way up to an actionable level of 190.  And 13

earlier on in your testimony you said something 14

like back in 2012 a moon shot was in the 15

thousands. 16

   THE WITNESS:  (Witness nods head).17

   MS. BLACKSTONE:  That sounds like a lot.  18

Is that because trainers were giving it more, in 19

bigger doses?  20

   THE WITNESS:  They knew we weren't 21

testing, okay.  I don't know if I'm allowed to do 22

this, but we have kept track of the number of 23

samples we were testing.  And for the person that 24

was doing the test -- so it's very labor intensive 25
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to do the extraction, to get it down to a point 1

where you have something to inject on the mass 2

spectrometer.  He was worried what am I going to 3

do, how am I going to know when I found something, 4

okay.  And what I said was a sarcastic statement, 5

if you're along this line on the bottom, that's 6

normal, okay, that's well below normal -- no, well 7

below action level, okay.8

   MS. BLACKSTONE:  Uh-huh.9

   THE WITNESS:  These are the moon shots, 10

okay, because they --11

   MR. FOREMAN:  Tom, I'm sorry, on the 12

transcript she has no idea what you're referring 13

to or what you're talking about.  So we're going 14

to have to, for purposes of the record, tell the 15

court reporter what you're pointing to.16

   THE WITNESS:  I can give you a copy.17

   MR. ROMM:  I object.  I mean, we're off -- 18

   MR. DANFORD:  I don't know that -- I mean, 19

is it necessary to go through the document to 20

understand the answer to your question?  21

   MS. BLACKSTONE:  No.22

   MR. DANFORD:  Let me ask you, I thought we 23

heard testimony initially that when your testing 24

and Dr. Maylin's testing, that yours came out at 25
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62.3 nanograms after you applied the standard 1

deviation analysis.  His came out at 190 after 2

applying standard deviations.  I'm a little 3

confused about where the 85 came from.  Because I 4

thought the 62.3 was the mean plus four standard 5

deviations -- or times four standard deviations.  6

Did I hear something wrong in your testimony?7

   THE WITNESS:  I don't think so.  You know 8

all these numbers. 9

   MR. DANFORD:  Is 85 -- I don't know that 10

I've heard that number in any prior --11

   MR. ROMM:  That's the first time we've 12

heard it.13

   MR. FOREMAN:  The first time I've heard 14

it.15

   MR. ROMM:  And they're all representative 16

of a mean plus four times the standard deviation.17

   MR. DANFORD:  Yeah.  So if you could clear 18

that up, because I'm not sure what the 85, where 19

that comes from.  20

   THE WITNESS:  Okay.  This is something the 21

person that was keeping this chart put on here and 22

I'm using it as a crutch at this point.  So what 23

you're talking about as an average is 22.3 24

nanograms per mL.  The standard deviation was 25
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determined, and I'm not -- I don't want to add in 1

whether it's normally distributed or not, okay.  2

When you start adding standard deviations to the 3

average, you're coming -- the first standard 4

deviation is 38.  The second standard deviation is 5

53.6.  The third standard deviation is 69.3.  And 6

the fourth standard deviation gets you up to 85.  7

   MR. ROMM:  Give me those numbers again, 8

please.  38.9

   THE WITNESS:  38, 53.6, 69.3, 85.0.10

   MR. ROMM: 85 point?11

   THE WITNESS:  Zero.12

   MR. ROMM:  So the standard deviation is 13

19?  14

   THE WITNESS:  15.7.15

   MR. ROMM:  15.7.  So, basically, if you 16

take the mean plus four times the standard 17

deviation, it's going to be 22.3 plus four times 18

15.5?19

   THE WITNESS:  Correct.  15.7.20

   MR. ROMM:  That's right, 15.7, I 21

apologize.  And that gets you to the 85?22

   THE WITNESS:  Correct.23

   MR. ROMM:  And this is what you first came 24

with, later it got down to 62?  That's what -- 25
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that's what Mr. Danford is trying to figure out.1

   THE WITNESS:  I agree.  I think that was 2

Dr. Maylin's number. 3

   MS. CRONAN:  There was a letter with Dr. 4

Maylin -- 5

   THE WITNESS:  A letter of pharmacology?  6

   MS. CRONAN:  Yes.7

   MR. DANFORD:  I guess we've always seen 8

the 62.3, essentially, nanogram level as kind of 9

being a mean plus four standard deviations.10

   MS. CRONAN:  It's page 134.  11

   MR. FOREMAN:  I have one last question if 12

I could.13

   MR. DANFORD:  Sure. 14

RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION15

BY MR. FOREMAN:16

Tom, you're familiar with TC02 testing? 17 Q

Yes. 18 A

All right.  And most of the rules in racing 19 Q

provide that if you are found to have had a high 20

level of TC02, you can establish that your horse 21

has a normally high level, put a horse in 22

quarantine? 23

We offered that. 24 A

So you could put a horse in quarantine, have a 25 Q
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sample collected to determine what its normal 1

concentration is? 2

Correct. 3 A

Arguably, you could do the same thing with GABA.  4 Q

You could quarantine the horse, take a sample and 5

see whether it's -- what its normal concentration 6

is, could you not? 7

Yes. 8 A

And in order to do that would you do a screen 9 Q

test? 10

We'll actually set it up as a confirmatory test, 11 A

because you want to be a little more accurate. 12

So you would do a screening and a confirmation? 13 Q

(Witness nods head).14 A

   MR. FOREMAN:  No further questions.15

   MR. COX:  Can I ask a question for 16

clarity?  17

   MR. DANFORD:  Certainly.18

   MR. COX:  When you were discussing the 19

chart and it said you had moon shots, was that in 20

your testing, was that in the sample of horses 21

that you tested outside of -- they weren't from 22

horse shows.  23

   THE WITNESS:  They were.24

   MR. COX:  They were from horse shows.25
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   THE WITNESS:  Yes.  These were people that 1

didn't know we were even testing for it, because 2

there was no test.  3

   MR. COX:  Okay.  No, I misunderstood you.4

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  Any further questions 5

for this witness?  Sir, you may step down.  6

   MR. FOREMAN:  I'm going to offer now into 7

evidence the two documents that were referred to, 8

the cooler inventory list and the cooler 9

information discrepancy.  10

   MR. ROMM:  Can we wait until --11

   MR. DANFORD:  Any objection?  12

   MR. ROMM:  Yes.13

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  What's your 14

objection, Mr. Romm?  15

   MR. ROMM:  The witness testified that the 16

purpose of the cooler inventory and the deviation 17

document was for the purposes of determining chain 18

of custody once the samples came to him within his 19

lab chain of custody, that's what they're for.  He 20

clearly testified that the fact that those 21

documents are created in his lab by him, that 22

there was no communication between his lab and the 23

veterinarian that pulled it.24

   MR. DANFORD:  Right.  But the question is 25
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why should they not be admitted into evidence.1

   MR. ROMM:  Because they do not -- they do 2

not -- they are not relevant to the question of 3

the chain of custody before it came to the lab.  4

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.5

   MR. ROMM:  They clearly -- the testimony 6

was that they have no bearing on what happened 7

before, that it's only what happened there.  What 8

he's saying is these documents show -- we 9

acknowledge that there's a difference -- 10

   MR. DANFORD:  All right, Mr. Romm, I think 11

I understand your argument.  The panel will 12

overrule that, they will be admitted into 13

evidence.14

   MR. FOREMAN:  Thank you.15

   MR. DANFORD:  They clearly are relevant to 16

the issue of, you know, where these blood samples 17

came from or what horse they were attached to, I 18

think that's fairly obvious, so we will admit 19

those into evidence.  20

   Okay.  At this point the panel will take a 21

break.  You all need to have lunch, as do we.  We 22

don't want anybody falling down in this hearing 23

today.  So we can be as fast as you want.  So I 24

know there's a cafeteria onsite.  Apparently, 25
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there's a pizza place somewhere on the show 1

grounds, I have no idea where.  So just counsel, 2

tell me how long.3

   MR. ROMM:  A half hour at most.4

   MR. FOREMAN:  Well, I want probably a 5

little more than that.  But I would suggest that 6

Mr. Romm change his flight, because there is no 7

way he's going to make his flight based upon the 8

fact I've got at least two more witnesses, he has 9

his case, and I have a rebuttal witness.10

   MR. DANFORD:  So 45 minutes for lunch?  11

   MR. FOREMAN:  That's fine. 12

   (A lunch recess was taken, whereupon the 13

hearing continued.)14

   MR. FOREMAN:  Before I lodge my 15

objections, I would like to inquire as to -- in 16

what capacity Dr. Schug is being offered as an 17

expert.  18

   MR. ROMM:  It's stated in the first 19

paragraph.  R126 is the number, I believe.  20

Actually, paragraph 3.  I have been accepted as an 21

expert in administrative and legal proceedings in 22

the field of laboratory testing and methods in 23

related matters.  And his opinions are about the 24

studies and the difference -- like in paragraph 8, 25
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Maylin and the USEF population studies provided 1

substantially different test results; however, the 2

only explanations offered were they were, A, 3

different test populations, which was Dr. Maylin's 4

explanation, or, B, different internal standards.5

   MR. DANFORD:  All right, hold on, hold on.  6

What are you offering him --7

   MR. FOREMAN:  My question is, is he being 8

offered as an expert in toxicology, pharmacology, 9

equine toxicology, equine pharmacology, 10

anesthesia?  I mean, what is he being offered as 11

an expert in?  Chemistry?  12

   MR. ROMM:  In the laboratory testing and 13

testing methods that were employed in the four 14

studies he examined.  He examined the -- you know, 15

the documentation that was provided to him 16

regarding four studies.  And he examined the 17

analytical packet from Cartaire, from the screen, 18

Maylin's article on determination of GABA in horse 19

-- GABA in horse plasma, the RMTC GABA summary, 20

the model rules, the UC Davis study, the --21

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  But I think we're -- 22

I'm talking about getting to the question of -- 23

   MR. ROMM:  All right.  So and having -- 24

having examined all that he has opinions about the 25
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differences --1

   MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Romm, I understand.  2

   MR. FOREMAN:  What I get from reading his 3

CV is that he's a chemist who specializes in mass 4

spectrometry and who is a college professor.  And 5

he's got 50 pages of, supposedly, papers that he 6

has helped to offer.  Absolutely no indication 7

whatsoever that he has any expertise or any 8

involvement at all in equine toxicology.  He's 9

certainly not a pharmacologist, so he has no 10

credentials to give any opinions with respect to 11

equine pharmacology.  And, in fact, there is 12

nothing in his CV which indicates he has any 13

experience whatsoever doing population studies.  14

   So it is our position that he is not 15

qualified to render the opinions in this case that 16

he has rendered based upon the materials that he 17

readily admits he's merely read.  His background 18

is in oil and gas it appears.  19

   MR. ROMM:  No, his background is more 20

extensive than that.21

   MR. FOREMAN:  All right.  Well, point me 22

to one paper, one study, anything he's done with 23

regards to horses.  24

   MR. ROMM:  Oh, with respect to horses?  25
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   MR. FOREMAN:  Yes.1

   MR. ROMM:  No, not with respect to horses.  2

But with respect to the testing methods, and the 3

study results, the validation methods and the -- 4

how that would affect the reliability studies, the 5

-- what was I -- the stability testing, he has an 6

expertise in how those can be affected and what, 7

you know, factors affect them and how.  And he was 8

able to read everything that was there and give an 9

opinion as to the methods of validation details 10

and that must have been -- that were 11

necessarily -- you know, would have affected the 12

results, and that required more to validate these 13

various study differences.  14

   He is able to explain why is it -- you 15

know, what could be the causes of the differences 16

in the studies from -- and it doesn't need to 17

be -- it doesn't need to be just -- you don't have 18

to have experience in horses specifically to 19

understand the -- you know, what could affect the 20

differences in the studies when you're talking 21

about the laboratory testing that resulted in 22

those studies.  23

   These are horses, but it's not specific to 24

horses.  This is -- this is laboratory testing of 25
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chemicals and compounds.  And he's got extensive 1

experience in that area.  It happens to be in 2

humans, but he has extensive experience in that 3

area.  And if I can go to --4

   MR. FOREMAN:  He has no -- if I could, he 5

has no demonstrated expertise or even experience 6

whatsoever in equine toxicology.  And I think that 7

any expert would tell you that if you haven't done 8

any testing in the equine realm, you're not 9

qualified to talk about it.  It's one of the 10

reasons why the Olympic games uses an FEI 11

laboratory to do equine testing, because the human 12

laboratories are not qualified and capable to deal 13

with it.  In fact, the United States Anti-Doping 14

Agency is not qualified to deal with equine drug 15

testing as they're finding out.  16

   Also, and finally, there is not one shred 17

of evidence or indication in his CV that he has 18

ever done a population study, even knows how to do 19

one, and that he's even qualified to comment about 20

how to properly do one.  He's being offered -- 21

remember, he's being offered as an expert.  22

Experts have to be qualified to render opinions 23

based upon their experience, their knowledge and 24

their expertise.  25
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   There's no demonstration in 50 some pages 1

of this gentleman's CV and the research he's done 2

that he's ever done anything with a horse.  3

   MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Romm, any response to 4

that point?  5

   MR. ROMM:  I have to go back to his -- to 6

his CV and point it out, but the CV reveals his 7

knowledge as to the testing.  And his opinions are 8

about how the validations -- let me go to that.  9

He talks about the method of validations for the 10

-- in the lab testing itself.  That's his opinion, 11

that's what they're about, and he's got experience 12

in that area.  And it doesn't matter whether 13

you're testing a compound that came from a horse 14

or human.  15

   MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Foreman.16

   MR. FOREMAN:  I absolutely object to that.17

   MR. DANFORD:  Let's -- maybe this will 18

speed this up a bit.  Mr. Foreman, which 19

paragraphs in Dr. Schug's affidavit do you believe 20

that he is using an improper expertise or an 21

expertise he doesn't have?22

   MR. FOREMAN:  In number 3, I have no way 23

of knowing what expertise he has in administrative 24

and legal proceedings in the field of lab testing 25
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and methods.  1

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.2

   MR. FOREMAN:  Okay, I'm not able to 3

question him on that.  Obviously number 4, he says 4

all he did was review documents in this case.  5

Number 5 is clearly objectionable.  Number 6 is 6

his characterization of the Maylin, quote, 7

unquote, population study.  He doesn't render an 8

opinion, but it's his interpretation of the Maylin 9

study.  Same thing with number 7, it's his 10

characterization of the USEF study.  11

   MR. ROMM:  Do you want to address these 12

one at a time or --13

   MR. DANFORD:  No, I want to --14

   MR. FOREMAN:  Number 8 is his 15

characterization, which is not accurate, of the 16

Maylin and USEF differences, and he's not 17

qualified to render the opinion that he does.  He 18

says, for example, both explanations are flawed 19

when considering the case in question.  Either, A, 20

a test population that is consistent with the 21

horse in the case in question must be tested for a 22

valid comparison, or a full method validation of 23

the Maylin, USEF test must be produced; he's not 24

qualified to render that opinion.  25
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   Okay.  Number 8 -- I'm sorry, number 9, he 1

says he requested certain information.  Number 10 2

is wrong, I disagree with it.  He's not qualified 3

to render that opinion and it's based on a false 4

premise.  Same thing with number 11.  Number 12, 5

his information is incorrect and an improper 6

premise.  Number 13 is incorrect.  Number 14, he's 7

rendering an opinion about something he knows 8

absolutely nothing about.  In fairness, 9

competitors governed by USEF, the factors 10

responsible for these populations must be 11

determined before such results may be used as a 12

basis for prosecution; he's in absolutely no 13

position to make that statement.  14

   Number 15 is totally beyond his expertise.  15

Without notice to competitors which it governs, 16

the USEF threshold now appears to be a moving 17

target.  He's not qualified to make that, render 18

that opinion.  Number 16, he's not familiar with 19

equine drug testing, clearly.  Number 17, his 20

premise is incorrect.  Number 18, he's giving an 21

opinion with respect to pharmacology, he has no 22

expertise with respect to pharmacology.  Number 19 23

not only is irrelevant, but he's not qualified to 24

render an opinion as he's given in number 19.  25
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   And number 20, he's not qualified.  And 1

number 21, he's not qualified.  And number -- 2

number 22, he reserves the right to expand upon 3

his opinions, which he did not do.  His affidavit 4

is not notarized, but he's not here and so we have 5

no ability -- if the Hearing Committee were even 6

to accept this affidavit, we have no ability to 7

cross-examine this expert.  8

   This Hearing Committee previously has 9

disqualified experts who were not qualified to 10

render opinions in areas that were outside their 11

realm.  It also refused to allow experts who did 12

not have expertise in the equine setting.  For 13

example, we've had experts in dogs, and we 14

disqualified their testimony because they had no 15

experience in equines.  Just because he is a 16

chemist doesn't give him the right to review 17

information regarding equine drug testing, and 18

equine pharmacology, and render opinions.19

   MR. DANFORD:  So, Mr. Romm, when he says 20

in paragraph 3 that he's been accepted as an 21

expert in the field of lab testing and methods and 22

related matters, have any of those administrative 23

or legal proceedings been in an equine context?  24

   MR. ROMM:  I'm unsure.  I didn't go into 25
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with him in detail all of the different times that 1

he has been qualified as an expert.  I did go over 2

with him his knowledge and experience, not just in 3

chemistry and biochemistry, but, yes, in 4

pharmacology, he's a professor of pharmacology.5

   MR. FOREMAN:  He is not.6

   MR. ROMM:  He is.  At the -- from 2012 to 7

the present, he was an adjunct professor in the 8

department of pharmacology and neuroscience.9

   MR. FOREMAN:  In the department, but 10

that's not his expertise.  He has no --11

   MR. ROMM:  Expertise is knowing -- the 12

definition of an expert is somebody who knows more 13

than the average person about that topic.  This is 14

the legal standard anyway.  You have to have 15

experience and knowledge in that area that is 16

greater than -- than the average person, 17

sufficiently enough that you can provide 18

information that will, you know, clarify, expand 19

upon or explain that which you're giving the 20

opinion about.  And as a professor in advanced 21

analytical chemistry, in biochemistry, in 22

pharmacology, neuroscience, he has --23

   MR. DANFORD:  Wait, are you -- is there 24

anything on here that says that he is actually a 25
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professor, has taught courses in pharmacology?  Or 1

toxicology?  2

   MR. FOREMAN:  Or even has a degree in 3

pharmacology.  4

   MR. ROMM:  I know -- I know because I 5

spoke to him.  But he -- these references to the 6

department of pharmacology and neuroscience, they 7

were references to his professorship and teaching 8

in those courses and those areas.  He teaches in 9

pharmacology, he teaches at a college in 10

pharmacology.11

   MR. DANFORD:  Right.  You understand 12

that -- 13

   MR. ROMM:  You don't have to be a 14

pharmacologist to teach it.  And teaching it is 15

enough to be an expert in the area.16

   MR. DANFORD:  Not necessarily, that's not 17

necessarily the case.  This is one of the reasons 18

why, particularly when experts are being 19

proffered, it's good to have them present.  20

Because if he were here, we could, obviously, ask 21

him specifically what his -- without that, though, 22

we're stuck having to look at his resume' and 23

determine from his resume' whether he has 24

applicable expertise for this case.  25
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   So I guess my question to you, another way 1

of looking at this is, is there anything on this 2

CV that goes to his expertise in say pharmacology?  3

   MR. ROMM:  Yes.  And, by the way, the 4

reason he's not here is because he had stated that 5

the only way he could expand upon his opinions 6

that he had given would have been to have been 7

provided the raw data that he had requested, which 8

is the reason we requested it again.  And without 9

that he couldn't expand upon it, so there was no 10

reason for him to come.  He couldn't make any more 11

opinion than -- 12

   MR. FOREMAN:  There's absolutely no 13

relationship between the raw data that he claims 14

he seeks and his ability to give these opinions, 15

that's nonsense.16

   MR. ROMM:  That's your opinion as an 17

expert in that area?  18

   MR. FOREMAN:  That's my opinion, that's my 19

opinion.  Can I just inquire, is Dr. Schug's CV in 20

the book here?  21

   MR. DANFORD:  Yes.22

   MR. FOREMAN:  I can't find it, because I 23

can't pull it up on my computer.24

   MR. DANFORD:  It's R21.26.25
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   MR. FOREMAN:  That's where I was, but the 1

tag came off.  His affidavit is there, is his CV 2

there?  3

   MR. ROMM:  His --4

   MR. FOREMAN:  The CV's not there.  5

   MR. ROMM:  Clearly chemistry and, you 6

know, mass spec- -- you know, one of the reasons 7

we had gone to him is he is an expert in mass 8

spectrometry.9

   MR. DANFORD:  Right.  But his opinions 10

really have very little to do with mass 11

spectrometry and nothing to do with chemistry.  12

They have a lot to do with control studies in an 13

equine context.  And that's the issue raised, does 14

he have expertise to do that.  15

   MR. ROMM:  Well -- 16

   MR. DANFORD:  My question is show me on 17

here where he demonstrates that he's got that kind 18

of expertise.  19

   MR. ROMM:  Okay.  Well, let me first say 20

that his expertise in mass spectrometry is not 21

just limited to the test itself.  It's also about 22

all of the things that would affect that testing 23

and testing method.  And in paragraph, is it 5 24

of -- 25
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   MR. DANFORD:  Are you looking at his 1

affidavit?  2

   MR. ROMM:  In paragraph 8, he's basically 3

giving explanation as to when there's difference 4

in testing results, as to what could affect that.  5

And he's talking about the fact that there's -- 6

you know, either -- the only things that could 7

result in those differences are either there's 8

some flaw in the actual testing, which is why they 9

need validation studies -- 10

   MR. DANFORD:  Let me --11

   MR. ROMM: -- in order to determine that, 12

or there's a problem with the population.  And he 13

knows that from knowledge and experience in that 14

area.15

   MR. DANFORD:  Let me give you a specific.  16

Paragraph 5 of his affidavit, he says based on his 17

training, education and experience that the 18

premise based upon the population studies, i.e., 19

USEF, is open to question.  There's reason to 20

doubt that it perfectly reflects a competitive 21

population targeted by the USEF.  Where on this 22

resume' do you see anything that gives him 23

expertise to comment on an equine population 24

study?  I'm not saying he doesn't have it, I'm 25
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just asking you for --1

   MR. ROMM:  I know that he's done -- he's 2

been involved in population studies in humans.  I 3

just -- I can't --4

   MR. DANFORD:  Where is that on his resume' 5

even?  6

   MR. ROMM:  I just know from having spoken 7

to him.  I'm hoping to find it.  Because this is 8

so important, I would ask to be given three 9

minutes to --10

   MR. DANFORD:  No problem.11

   MR. ROMM:  I would like to excuse myself 12

for three minutes, call him and ask him flat out.13

   MR. FOREMAN:  I would object to that.  14

   MR. ROMM:  So he could point out to me 15

where on here.  I'm not going to introduce 16

anything he says.  I'm just going to ask him to 17

point out to me where that experience is, so I can 18

point it out to you.  So I can shorten the 19

process, instead of me looking through 50 pages of 20

his experience.21

   MR. FOREMAN:  You offered it, he's you're 22

expert.23

   MR. ROMM:  I offered it because he was one 24

of the most experienced people in mass 25
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spectrometry and how the studies would be affected 1

by it that we could find.2

   MR. FOREMAN:  Here's what Dr. Schug could 3

testify to as an expert, and that is that he 4

reviewed the analytical data in this case, and 5

either the GCMS work that was done by the 6

laboratory was flawed or incorrect.  Or if it was 7

LCMS, that he could testify as to the analytical 8

and the analysis of the samples was flawed 9

because.  Other than that, he has no expertise 10

whatsoever that qualifies him to render a single 11

opinion in this affidavit.  Nor would he be 12

qualified to answer if he was sitting there, 13

because you would ask what experience he has in 14

equines, and the answer to everyone of those 15

questions would be none.16

   MR. ROMM:  I don't believe you need to be 17

an expert in equine chemistry in order to be able 18

to answer the question of what would affect the 19

different results in testing methods and for him 20

to be able to -- 21

   MR. FOREMAN:  That's not what he opined on 22

though.23

   MR. ROMM:  He opined on that.24

   MR. FOREMAN:  He did not.25
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   MR. ROMM:  In paragraph 8, for example, I 1

go back to that because it's right there.  And 9 2

as well.3

   MR. FOREMAN:  He's opining about the 4

population.5

   MR. ROMM:  These are -- no, it's about 6

method validation for GABA.  And validation in 7

itself is -- is what portion of the testing was or 8

wasn't done to ensure that their data is valid 9

that's coming out of the lab.  And there's -- 10

there was no validation done out of the USEF, or 11

Maylin's or -- 12

   MR. DANFORD:  Let me cut this short.  So 13

we -- you are -- are you offering him as an expert 14

in toxicology?  15

   MR. ROMM:  Yes, as one of the -- as one of 16

those things, yes.17

   MR. DANFORD:  Are you offering him as an 18

expert in pharmacology?  19

   MR. ROMM:  Yes.20

   MR. DANFORD:  You're offering him as an 21

expert in population studies in the equine 22

context?  23

   MR. ROMM:  I can't say that at this time.  24

I don't believe he's got equine experience, but I 25
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can say that that doesn't mean that population 1

studies in and of itself don't produce data that 2

transposes both the disciplines for human and -- 3

and -- you know, I don't know that.  4

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  5

   MR. ROMM:  Now, he -- the way he explained 6

it to me was that it doesn't matter whether the 7

compounds and the chemicals came from a horse or a 8

human.  There are certain procedures and processes 9

which can be used to validate the data that comes 10

out of a lab, and these are the things you need to 11

do to make it valid.  12

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  Mr. Foreman, do you 13

have an objection to his testimony to the extent 14

he is testifying about methods to validate data 15

from GCMS testing?  16

   MR. FOREMAN:  I mean, I guess he could 17

testify as to from his perspective what is 18

required.  Is that applicable in the equine 19

context, I don't know.  I don't think so.  Let me 20

just --21

   MR. DANFORD:  Do you object to him 22

testifying in that or to him having expertise in 23

that area?  24

   MR. FOREMAN:  Oh, I think he has expertise 25
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in mass spectrometry, he's an expert.  I would 1

acknowledge he is an expert in mass spectrometry 2

and he's a researcher.  His PhD is in chemistry.  3

His bachelor of science is in chemistry.  The 4

Hearing Committee has uniformly -- let me just -- 5

clearly, with respect to population studies he has 6

no expertise.  With respect to pharmacology, he 7

has no expertise.  And this Hearing Committee, for 8

example, has uniformly rejected pharmacologic 9

testimony from Dr. Steven Barker, who is an equine 10

toxicologist.  And any time Dr. Barker has offered 11

an opinion with respect to pharmacology, 12

notwithstanding all the years that he's been in a 13

laboratory doing drug testing and interfacing in 14

the industry, the Hearing Committee has uniformly 15

rejected any pharmacologic testimony because he is 16

not qualified in that area.17

   MR. DANFORD:  Which paragraphs in here do 18

you consider to be giving pharmacological or 19

toxicological opinions?  20

   MR. FOREMAN:  Well, let's do it this way.  21

Number 6 is merely his characterization of the 22

Maylin study.  It doesn't mean anything other 23

than -- 24

   MR. ROMM:  Can I read that?  25
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   MR. FOREMAN:  Did he write this or did you 1

write it?  2

   MR. ROMM:  I didn't write it, he wrote it.  3

I didn't write my experts' affidavits.4

   MR. FOREMAN:  Well, there's similarities 5

between his -- in many respects, between his 6

affidavit and Dr. McKenzie, who we'll get to next.  7

Did they do theirs independently of each other?  8

   MR. ROMM:  Yes, they did.9

   MR. DANFORD:  They did do them 10

independently?  11

   MR. ROMM:  Yes, but there was an 12

intervening --13

   MR. DANFORD:  Apparently, so, I think they 14

followed the same format.15

   MR. ROMM:  There was an intervening person 16

assisting me.17

   MR. FOREMAN:  Is that somebody in your 18

office?  19

   MR. ROMM:  Somebody that I'm associated 20

with.21

   MR. FOREMAN:  And who was that?  22

   MR. ROMM:  It's an attorney, another 23

attorney.24

   MR. FOREMAN:  And who is that?  25
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   MR. ROMM:  Bonnie Davis.  1

   MR. DANFORD:  All right.  I think we have 2

enough information, at this point we can make a 3

decision on this one.  So we'll go into executive 4

session --5

   MR. FOREMAN:  Do you want to deal with 6

that one first?  I've also got McKenzie.7

   MR. DANFORD:  Oh, I'm sorry, I didn't 8

realize you were objecting to him.9

   MR. FOREMAN:  Well, part of the problem I 10

have with McKenzie is he's not here, I can't 11

cross-examine him in -- 12

   MR. ROMM:  What problem do you have with 13

him?14

   MR. FOREMAN:  With respect to his 15

expertise.  It appears from his resume' that he 16

has not done any equine drug testing since, I 17

believe, 2002.  I don't know enough about the 18

company that he formed, I believe in 2002, and 19

that he now works with.  So it appears from his 20

resume' he has no expertise in pharmacology.  And 21

he has no expertise, nor has he ever participated 22

in a population study.  23

   And I think he has limited expertise with 24

respect to toxicology, because I don't know the 25
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extent to which he has actually conducted drug 1

testing and what drug testing he has conducted 2

since 2002, other than we know that at least at 3

some point he was -- or his laboratory, his 4

laboratory was accredited to do testing for TC02, 5

which is an endogenous substance.6

   MR. ROMM:  He directed the establishment 7

of the equine drug testing unit, selected and 8

trained staff, obtained ISO 1702 accreditation by 9

the Standard Council in Canada for Equine 10

Forensics in 2005.  This is the exact same 11

experience that Dr. Maylin had.12

   MR. FOREMAN:  He and Dr. Maylin, I would 13

submit their expertise is quite different.14

   MR. ROMM:  Michigan Department of 15

Agriculture, Laboratory Division, Equine Drug 16

Testing Laboratory, Michigan Office of the Racing 17

Commissioner.18

   MR. FOREMAN:  And I don't have the 19

opportunity to ask him specifically if I were to 20

voir dire him.  21

   MR. ROMM:  Analyze samples submitted by 22

the staff on equine drug testing laboratory, 23

Michigan office, raising drugs or associated 24

compounds, to identify drugs, drug metabolites, 25
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introduce suitable analytical procedures and 1

information for the detection, and identification, 2

routine testing systems.  Appeared in court at 3

official hearings and other proceedings as 4

required in -- within that context.  Analyze 5

samples submitted by other units of the MDA labs, 6

law enforcement, the presence of drugs, toxins, 7

adulterants.  Quality assurance control office of 8

the Michigan Office of Racing Commissioner, he's 9

clearly qualified.  10

   MR. FOREMAN:  And, number one, I'm 11

deprived of the opportunity to voir dire him, to 12

find out exactly what his expertise is.  To the 13

extent he would be admitted as an expert, I think 14

the Hearing Committee is entitled to know just 15

what the extent of his expertise is.  Number two, 16

his degree is in biochemistry.  Not analytical 17

chemistry, it's in biochemistry.  And no expertise 18

with respect to pharmacology.  19

   And there is nothing in his resume' to 20

indicate that he's ever participated in a 21

population study.  Nor is there any indication as 22

to how he would be qualified to render any opinion 23

with respect to either equine pharmacology or with 24

respect to a population study.  And he appears to 25
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have reviewed the same information as was provided 1

to Dr. Schug.  2

   MR. DANFORD:  Well, he also appears to 3

have almost exactly the same opinions as Dr. 4

Schug.5

   MR. FOREMAN:  Exactly, I was going to get 6

to that.7

   MR. ROMM:  No, no.8

   MR. DANFORD:  Are there differences 9

between the two?  10

   MR. ROMM:  There are differences, clearly.  11

Schug testifies about things that McKenzie could 12

not and would not testify about.13

   MR. DANFORD:  Such as?  14

   MR. ROMM:  Schug testifies about the 15

actual validations studies, like in paragraph 8, 9 16

of Schug's.  10.17

   MR. FOREMAN:  All right.  Number 6, he 18

talks about population study, no qualifications.  19

Number 7, he renders -- at least he makes a 20

statement that's not accurate, let alone that he 21

is merely reflecting on his interpretation of the 22

Maylin study.  In particular, Maylin suggested 23

that the USEF establish a threshold for GABA at 24

190 nanograms.  That's not in any study that Dr. 25
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Maylin did.  1

   MR. ROMM:  That is absolutely.2

   MR. FOREMAN:  Dr. Maylin suggested a -- 3

Dr. Maylin, based on his method, suggested -- 4

   MR. ROMM:  This is the study.5

   MR. FOREMAN:  That's right.6

   MR. ROMM:  It says right there, GABA 7

threshold, plasma concentration, 190 has been 8

established based on the mean of four standard 9

deviations.10

   MR. FOREMAN:  In his -- 11

   MR. ROMM:  That's exactly what he 12

reviewed.13

   MR. FOREMAN:  You're mischaracterizing his 14

study, Mr. Romm.  Based on the method that he -- 15

and the population study he did, he recommended, 16

based on his work, a level of 190.  17

   MR. ROMM:  That's what he says.18

   MR. FOREMAN:  This affidavit says Maylin 19

suggested that USEF establish a threshold for GABA 20

at 190.  That is a false statement, it is not 21

true, and you can't find that anywhere.22

   MR. ROMM:  Here Maylin recommends 23

something and here Maylin suggests something, it's 24

a different English word for the same thing.25
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   MR. FOREMAN:  He did not -- Maylin did not 1

recommend 190 nanogram threshold for USEF.2

   MR. ROMM:  I think the panel can 3

differentiate between the two English 4

constructions of both sentences to understand and 5

give whatever weight they want to those 6

differences.  Here he made a recommendation, here 7

the expert talks about a suggestion that he made, 8

I think they can figure that out.9

   MR. FOREMAN:  Number 10, he's rendering an 10

opinion of which he has absolutely no 11

qualification to render.  12

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  We're still talking 13

about Schug?  14

   MR. FOREMAN:  No, I'm on McKenzie.15

   MR. ROMM:  McKenzie, 10, absolutely he 16

does.  He has experience in the state racing -- 17

   MR. FOREMAN:  Can I finish?  Can I finish?  18

You'll have a chance to respond.19

   MR. ROMM:  All right.20

   MR. FOREMAN:  He has absolutely no 21

expertise, nor is he qualified, nor should he be 22

rendering an opinion as to what is fair to 23

competitors governed by USEF.  He has no 24

involvement, has never had any involvement with 25
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USEF.  He has no qualification to opine about 1

population studies and differences, none.  He has 2

no qualification to render whatever statement he's 3

making in number 11.  4

   Number 12 needs certainly further 5

explanation.  I'm not sure what he's saying there 6

and I'm not so sure he's qualified to say that.  7

He mischaracterizes -- in number 14, he 8

mischaracterizes the RMTC study, which was a 9

population study to determine a threshold level 10

for GABA.  He's talking about pharmacology.  He's 11

doing comparisons between the studies in number 12

15, he's not qualified to do it.  Talking again 13

about population studies, where is his expertise.  14

He has no standing to make the statement that he 15

made in number 16.  16

   He's certainly not qualified to give the 17

opinion rendered in number 17.  He's not qualified 18

to give the opinion rendered in number 18.  He's 19

talking about penalties?  Where does he have any 20

expertise to be giving advice or opinions with 21

respect to penalties.  He's not qualified to 22

render an opinion with respect to number 19.  And 23

he clearly is not qualified to render an opinion 24

in number 20, where he's talking about penalties 25
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and what's the appropriate penalty.  That's for 1

the Hearing Committee, that's not even for me.  2

   And, again, he has absolutely no 3

experience in his record that he's ever tested any 4

competition for USEF, that he's been involved in 5

the performance horse industry, that he 6

understands the concerns of the performance horse 7

industry.  Anything he says is irrelevant. 8

   MR. ROMM:  His experience is in the race 9

horse industry.  10

   MR. FOREMAN:  And I'll let the Hearing 11

Committee draw the conclusions about the 12

similarities between the two affidavits.13

   MR. DANFORD:  All right, sounds good.  Let 14

the record reflect the panel will go into 15

executive session now to consider the two motions 16

to exclude Mr. Schug and Mr. McKenzie.  17

   MR. ROMM:  I thought I was going to at 18

least be given the opportunity, which I wasn't 19

given in McKenzie, to at least point out the 20

experience that justified those.21

   MR. DANFORD:  You certainly may, quickly.  22

   MR. ROMM:  Well, under the professional 23

experience, he directed the establishment of 24

accreditation standards for equine forensics at a 25
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laboratory as the laboratory manager for racing.1

   MR. DANFORD:  You said that already.  Was 2

there anything else?  3

   MR. ROMM:  And that was -- and that was 4

about -- and he said he didn't have experience in 5

paragraph 17, for the -- for the standards and 6

accreditation there.  He has been involved in 7

equine drug testing for the racing for the 8

Michigan Racing Commissioner, which involved the 9

prosecution and -- and penalties for, you know, 10

drug violations, various drug violations in 11

Michigan, which he testified to.  12

   MR. FOREMAN:  And what were the dates of 13

that?  I'll help you, it's on page 1.  2002 was 14

the last time he did any drug testing involving 15

racing.  16

   MR. ROMM:  Right.  But he's been doing it 17

since '65.  So -- so when you retire do you lose 18

all your knowledge?  19

   MR. FOREMAN:  Well, it doesn't -- I'd ask 20

you to take a look at this and tell me whether he 21

did anything other than reviewing literature and 22

overseeing the laboratory since 2002.  Since 2002.23

   MR. ROMM:  Pharmacodynamics -- so because 24

it hasn't been done in -- in eight or nine years, 25

222

that means he doesn't have the experience and 1

knowledge?  He shows his experience in 2

pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics.  This 3

happens to be cattle, but, you know, he has, you 4

know, experience in xenobiotics and -- 5

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay, I think we've got 6

enough.  All right, we'll go into executive 7

session now.  8

   (A short recess was taken, whereupon the 9

hearing continued.)10

   MR. DANFORD:  Let the record reflect the 11

Hearing Committee has come out of executive 12

session, where it considered the motions of the 13

proponent to exclude the testimony and -- or 14

affidavits I should say of Schug and McKenzie.  15

   With regard to McKenzie, as the panel 16

mentioned in the discussion, it's very difficult 17

to have to deal with trying to figure out whether 18

an expert is qualified or not when that expert is 19

not here and not available for cross examination 20

or questioning.  And there are, potentially, some 21

questions about whether Mr. McKenzie has the 22

appropriate expertise to weigh in on all of the 23

matters on his affidavit.  24

   The Hearing Committee often, in 25
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circumstances like this, does bend over backwards 1

in favor of the respondent, to make sure that the 2

respondent has a full opportunity to defend him or 3

herself in the hearing.  And so in this 4

circumstance the hearing panel is going to deny 5

the motion with regard to McKenzie.  6

   That does not indicate that the Hearing 7

Committee has -- is in agreement that he is an 8

expert for all purposes.  And that certainly does 9

not stop the Federation from -- through cross 10

examination or its own testimony pointing out 11

issues with Mr. McKenzie's affidavit.  12

   With regard to Mr. Schug, his resume' -- 13

of course, we have the same issue with him not 14

being here, but his resume' really is, apparently, 15

devoid of anything having to do with equine 16

context.  And, particularly, as a number of the 17

items in his affidavit go to the equine context, 18

such as population studies and things along those 19

lines, the panel is not convinced that he has the 20

expertise to render those type opinions.  21

   The panel does believe that his resume' 22

shows that he has, you know, at least some 23

experience in validation-type issues.  And so the 24

panel is going to allow in -- allow the affidavit 25
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into evidence; however, it is going to exclude the 1

sections of his affidavit that the panel is not 2

able to determine are based in his expertise.  So 3

the -- for Mr. Schug's affidavit, the paragraphs 4

that will be allowed into evidence are 8, 9, 10, 5

12 and 13.  And I think 1 and 2 probably as well, 6

just the general introductory ones.  Let me see 7

here.  1, 2 and 3 are also allowable.  So other 8

than that, the -- his opinions are excluded.  9

   The panel also notes that those same 10

opinions appear to be made by Mr. McKenzie, so 11

there will be an opportunity to have that 12

testimony in this case.  13

   All right, that is the ruling.  Mr. 14

Foreman, you may call your next witness.15

   MR. ROMM:  I'm sorry, I want to get the 16

numbers.  8, 9, 10?17

   MR. DANFORD:  I'm sorry, 8, 9, 10, 12 and 18

13, and then 1, 2, 3, those are all in.  19

   MR. ROMM:  Are in?  20

   MR. DANFORD:  Uh-huh, yeah.  21

   MR. ROMM:  On McKenzie.  22

   MR. DANFORD:  As with Mr. McKenzie's, 23

obviously that does not mean that the panel has 24

made any comment about his expertise, or level of 25
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expertise, or the voracity of any of his opinions.  1

   MR. ROMM:  8, 9, 10, 12 and 13 on Schug 2

are allowed.3

   MR. DANFORD:  All right.  You may call 4

your next witness, Mr. Foreman.  5

   MR. FOREMAN:  All right.  Dr. Maylin.6

DR. GEORGE MAYLIN.7

The witness herein, having been first duly placed 8

under oath, was examined and testified as follows: 9

DIRECT EXAMINATION10

BY MR. FOREMAN:11

State your name for the record, please.  12 Q

George Maylin.13 A

And, Dr. Maylin, where do you reside? 14 Q

Ithaca, New York. 15 A

And by whom are you currently employed? 16 Q

Morrisville State College. 17 A

And in what capacity? 18 Q

I'm Director of the New York Drug Testing and 19 A

Research Program. 20

How long have you been Director of the New York 21 Q

Drug Testing and Research Program?  22

   MR. DANFORD:  Just let me ask you, for 23

purposes of time do we -- are you willing to 24

stipulate to his expertise?  25

226

   MR. FOREMAN:  Dr. Maylin is being offered 1

as an expert in equine toxicology and equine 2

pharmacology.3

   MR. ROMM:  I have no objection.4

   MR. DANFORD:  All right.  I'm just trying 5

to short-circuit the testimony if we can.  6

All right.  Dr. Maylin, let's start with equine 7 Q

toxicology.  How many blood and urine samples have 8

you tested in your career? 9

Hundreds of thousands. 10 A

And you have performed administration studies? 11 Q

Yes. 12 A

On the administration of drugs to horses? 13 Q

Yes. 14 A

All right.  How many administration studies have 15 Q

you performed in your career? 16

Over 5,000. 17 A

All right.  Have you developed methods for 18 Q

analysis and identification --19

Yes. 20 A

-- of substances in horses? 21 Q

Yes. 22 A

How many methods have you developed in your 23 Q

career?  Approximately.  24

Several dozen. 25 A
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And they are in use in the equine industry today? 1 Q

Yes. 2 A

All right.  And you have been involved in method 3 Q

validation? 4

I have. 5 A

You've researched and done a lot of work in the 6 Q

area of gamma-aminobutyric acid, GABA, have you 7

not? 8

Correct. 9 A

You're one of the pioneers who's done work in this 10 Q

area? 11

I was one of the first to explore it, yes. 12 A

All right.  Describe to the Hearing Committee the 13 Q

history of the work you've done on GABA up until 14

the present time.  15

GABA became known to us sometime in 2008, 2009.  16 A

It was a drug that we heard about, it was being a 17

drug, if you will, it's an amino acid.  It 18

presented some peculiar attributes as far as 19

testing.  And in 2010 and '11, we aggressively 20

started to develop a method that we could use in 21

the forensic context to determine GABA in equine 22

blood and urine. 23

And what exactly did you do, how did you develop 24 Q

that method? 25
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First we searched the literature very well.  We 1 A

discovered that the method of choice would be 2

using a product called EZ-faast made by Phenomenex 3

Corporation.  It had been used in a variety of 4

testing situations, and so we adapted that method 5

to testing GABA in equine plasma. 6

All right.  And you -- you actually, you did a 7 Q

paper, did you not, that was presented at the 8

ICRAV conference in Philadelphia --9

Yes, I did. 10 A

-- in 2012? 11 Q

Yes, it was presented in 2012. 12 A

And was that presentation and that publication 13 Q

with respect to the method you had developed for 14

identifying GABA? 15

Yes. 16 A

And in your paper you addressed not only the 17 Q

method, but you also addressed how to identify 18

what is this naturally occurring substance in the 19

horse; is that correct? 20

Correct. 21 A

It's an endogenous substance, meaning it's 22 Q

naturally occurring? 23

Correct. 24 A

All right.  And in order to apply your method in 25 Q
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the real world, did you not have to make a 1

determination as to what the normal concentration 2

of GABA is in the horse? 3

Yes.  What you're describing or suggesting, we did 4 A

a population survey. 5

Had you been involved in population surveys before 6 Q

you did this one? 7

Yes. 8 A

All right.  What was the population that you 9 Q

studied and how did you go about making 10

determinations with respect to the population that 11

you surveyed? 12

I studied two populations of horses.  A small 13 A

group were my research horses on my research farm.  14

They were older horses, Standardbreds, 15

Thoroughbreds.  And I also studied a hundred 16

Thoroughbred racehorses that were racing in New 17

York. 18

All right.  And what was the nature of that study, 19 Q

what did you do? 20

We had developed the EZ-faast kit, as I described, 21 A

we tested the hundred horses.  And we also tested 22

the small group of research horses.  And we 23

established a population survey.  And we 24

established a threshold value that included the 25
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mean and four standard deviations. 1

Now, in the work that you did, what equipment did 2 Q

you use, what was the technology? 3

We used the EZ-faast kit developed for liquid 4 A

chromatography-mass spectrometry. 5

And based on the work you did, what was the mean 6 Q

of the horses that you surveyed, what was the 7

standard deviation, and what was the deviation 8

plus or minus -- or plus or minus four? 9

Without referring -- 10 A

To the extent you can recall without having it in 11 Q

front of you.  12

We established a threshold value of 190. 13 A

And what does that number mean? 14 Q

That is the mean plus four standard deviations.  15 A

And one would expect that it would take one in 16

10,000 chances to be over that number, for a horse 17

to be over that number.  18

So that there is a possibility that one in 10,000 19 Q

horses could possibly test at 190 nanograms? 20

Correct. 21 A

All right.  And that obviously -- if a horse 22 Q

tested at 190 nanograms, would that, based on the 23

application of the deviation that you used, 24

indicate that there is one horse in 10,000 whose 25
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naturally occurring GABA level is 190? 1

That is correct. 2 A

The same time -- well, strike that.  3 Q

   You presented to the ICRAV conference the 4

results of your work, did you not? 5

Yes, I did. 6 A

And your work was a determination of the method to 7 Q

identify gamma-aminobutyric acid in horses? 8

Yes, it was an application of the EZ-faast kit. 9 A

Using LCMS? 10 Q

Using LCMS. 11 A

All right.  And in your paper, did you not, based 12 Q

on the work you did, recommend a level of 190 13

nanograms? 14

Based on that work, yes. 15 A

And that's to any equine body that would be 16 Q

considering adopting work -- testing for GABA 17

using LCMS? 18

Yes. 19 A

At the time you were doing your work were you in 20 Q

consultation with the Federation regarding a 21

different population of horses that could be 22

studied? 23

I was aware that Mr. Lomangino had selected a 24 A

population of horses here from Kentucky.  And he 25
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was going to apply the EZ-faast kit using gas 1

chromatography-mass spectrometry. 2

So he had a different population of horses than 3 Q

you did? 4

Markedly different. 5 A

And what was the difference between horse 6 Q

populations? 7

I had fit Thoroughbred racehorses, which would 8 A

give the highest concentration of GABA; whereas 9

the show horses that he had used, or show quality, 10

they have a much lower value.  11

So you both used the Phenomenex kits? 12 Q

Correct. 13 A

And that is a generally accepted method for 14 Q

identifying amino acid, is it not? 15

Widely used. 16 A

Okay.  So the difference between your study and 17 Q

the work that Mr. Lomangino did was, one, you had 18

a different horse population? 19

Yes. 20 A

And, also, that he was using a different 21 Q

methodology, i.e., he was using gas 22

chromatography-mass spectrometry and you were 23

using liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry?  24

His detection method was different than mine. 25 A
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All right.  And would you expect there to be a 1 Q

difference because of that? 2

There can be a difference, and there's reasons for 3 A

that. 4

Okay.  With respect to USEF -- strike that, just 5 Q

one second.  6

   The paper that you issued, the ICRAV 7

paper, was it reviewed by any experts? 8

It was reviewed by three -- four experts that I'm 9 A

aware of.  10

And who were those four experts? 11 Q

Dr. Corne Subo, Dr. Larry Soma, Dr. Tom Tobin and 12 A

Dr. Ray Boston. 13

All right.  And as a result of their review of 14 Q

your paper were there any changes made to the 15

paper? 16

No. 17 A

Now, there came a time, did there not, you had 18 Q

done your work, Mr. Lomangino had done his 19

population study, that there was a decision made 20

that allowed the United States Equestrian 21

Federation to start regulating GABA? 22

Correct. 23 A

All right.  Were you involved in those 24 Q

discussions? 25
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Yes. 1 A

All right.  Do you remember what the concentration 2 Q

-- naturally occurring concentration based on the 3

work that USEF did, what that level was? 4

They had a much smaller population of horses, but 5 A

the number -- the mean was 26, approximately, 6

standard deviation of about 9.  And adding those 7

two together, four standard deviations, it got up 8

to 162.  9

Up to 62 or 162? 10 Q

62. 11 A

I'm sorry, I misunderstood you.  12 Q

I might have misspoke. 13 A

All right.  And so presented with a population 14 Q

study where the mean was 26, is that -- the mean 15

is? 16

The average. 17 A

The average of all the horses that were studied, 18 Q

their GABA level was 26? 19

Correct. 20 A

And so if, in fact, based on your analysis the 21 Q

mean plus or minus four standard deviations was 22

62, does that mean for purposes of gas 23

chromatography-mass spectrometry one horse in 24

10,000 could test at 62? 25
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Yes. 1 A

Okay.  Now -- so you had done your study of liquid 2 Q

chromatography-mass spectrometry and Mr. Lomangino 3

had done his with GCMS, gas chromatography-mass 4

spectrometry.  After you reconciled the two 5

numbers, what was the recommendation to USEF as 6

far as trying to control the use of this drug? 7

It's my recollection that initially the 190 was 8 A

used, the highest number, to alert competitors 9

that there's a test for the drug.  And it was 10

detecting abuse of the drug.  And as the testing 11

went forward it was -- they wanted a lower number, 12

because the test was being beaten because of 13

smaller doses, and for that reason the USEF GCMS 14

method was adopted. 15

Okay.  And do you recall at some point that the 16 Q

reporting level from the laboratory was lowered 17

from 190 to 100? 18

I'm aware of that, yes. 19 A

All right.  Do you have any recollection of when 20 Q

that occurred?  You don't do the testing for USEF.  21

I was not involved in that decision, per se, but a 22 A

couple years ago. 23

Do you recall how many cases have been referred to 24 Q

you to review since the number was lowered to a 25
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hundred? 1

I don't have recollection of that. 2 A

Okay.  In the course of your work as a technical 3 Q

consultant for the Federation in connection with 4

the prosecution of drug cases, do you prepare a 5

summary drug report? 6

Yes, I do. 7 A

You prepared a summary drug report in this case, 8 Q

did you not?  I'm going to show you, it's Exhibit 9

P11.17.  10

Yes. 11 A

Is that the summary drug report you prepared for 12 Q

the Hearing Committee in this case? 13

Yes. 14 A

And that report contains the pharmacology of GABA 15 Q

and it contains the information that the Hearing 16

Committee would need to know with respect to GABA; 17

is that right? 18

Yes, it's a summary condensation. 19 A

And you've done that in every GABA case that has 20 Q

been prosecuted by the Federation? 21

Correct. 22 A

You've testified in, I think, all but one of the 23 Q

GABA cases that have been presented to the 24

Federation, to the best of your recollection? 25
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To my recollection. 1 A

One of the cases that's been referred to numerous 2 Q

times in this case is the Jenkins case, where you 3

were extensively examined, were you not? 4

Yes. 5 A

Have you read your testimony in that case? 6 Q

Yes, I did. 7 A

Would you change anything you said? 8 Q

No. 9 A

Since the -- since the publication of your paper 10 Q

in ICRAV, there was a subsequent study done by Dr. 11

Knych at the University of California.  Have you 12

read that study? 13

Yes, I have. 14 A

All right.  And in that study Dr. Knych did a 15 Q

population study, did she not, an extensive 16

population study of horses? 17

As part of her study, yes. 18 A

And when you did your study the population was, 19 Q

quote, unquote, fit racehorses? 20

Correct. 21 A

What were the horses in her study? 22 Q

It would be, for lack of a better word, a 23 A

collection of pleasure horses, which included 24

Thoroughbreds, Standardbreds, Quarter Horses. 25
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Warmbloods? 1 Q

Yes, Warmbloods would be included. 2 A

All right.  And she used the same method that you 3 Q

developed, did she not, to determine the 4

concentrations of GABA in each of the horses that 5

she studied? 6

Yes, she used the Phenomenex kit using LCMS. 7 A

So at least for purposes of method validation, the 8 Q

fact that Dr. Knych's study, which is being relied 9

upon by Respondents, has any value whatsoever, she 10

used the same method you did?11

Yes.12 A

   MR. ROMM:  I'm sorry, did you say method 13

or method of validation? 14

   MR. FOREMAN:  She used the same method.  15

She used the same method, and does that validate 16 Q

the work that you did in your population study? 17

Yes. 18 A

All right.  And does it validate the work that was 19 Q

done by Mr. Lomangino in his population study, 20

notwithstanding he was doing GCMS? 21

The same extraction kit was used. 22 A

Okay.  Now, is there a difference between the 23 Q

administration of GABA intramuscularly, 24

intravenously and orally? 25
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Yes. 1 A

All right.  And what is that difference? 2 Q

Oral administration of GABA is not effective, it's 3 A

a very low absorption rate.  The gut does not like 4

to absorb GABA.  It's a nonessential amino acid 5

and the gut will absorb what the body needs, which 6

is not very much.  Administration of GABA IV is 7

very rapid and it's subject to causing toxic 8

reactions to the horse.  Intramuscular is a much 9

more mild way of introducing the drug into the 10

animal body and it's effective in causing 11

sedation.  12

And, in fact, Dr. Knych in her study, I think came 13 Q

to the same conclusion you did with respect to 14

oral administration of GABA? 15

That is correct. 16 A

All right.  Why is GABA a banned substance both to 17 Q

USEF and to the FEI? 18

It is a chemical that can cause sedation, 19 A

tranquilization, if you will, sedation is a better 20

word, and it has toxic properties depending on the 21

route of administration.  22

Now, if you were -- since, obviously, the 23 Q

testimony in this case and every case has been 24

that substances containing GABA are used to, 25
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quote, unquote, calm horses, how is that done? 1

There's a number of ways.  The most obvious way is 2 A

visual observation of the horses by trained horse 3

people.  The classical way of monitoring 4

physiological responses would be monitoring blood 5

pressure, for example, cardiac output, heart rate.  6

There's some other cruder methods of measuring how 7

far the nose is off the ground depending on the 8

dose.  But the most effective way is observing the 9

horse visually by a trained horse person.  10

All right.  And, obviously, Dr. Knych in her paper 11 Q

was looking for certain things, which she didn't 12

find.  But does that mean that the drug or the 13

administration of that substance didn't have a 14

calming effect, which is what a competitor is 15

looking for in a USEF competition?  16

   MR. ROMM:  Objection; calls for 17

speculation.  18

   MR. DANFORD:  I'm sorry, repeat your 19

question.  20

The question is -- I'll ask it again.  Dr. Knych 21 Q

in her paper was measuring certain -- certain 22

pharmacologic reactions, was she not? 23

Correct. 24 A

But there are other reactions that are important 25 Q
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that she did not measure; correct?  I mean, there 1

are a number of things she could have been looking 2

for, she was just measuring a certain way.  3

There are a number of biological assessments that 4 A

could have been used, were not used.  What she did 5

use was the ones that are readily done, measuring 6

blood pressure, for example.  7

All right.  And you could have a horse that's down 8 Q

on the ground, who's been sedated, whose blood 9

pressure might be perfectly normal? 10

There's a classical paper with Diazepam, where you 11 A

could measure no physiological measurements, yet 12

the horse was laying at their feet.  That's 13

probably the most classic example of what you're 14

suggesting. 15

So if you were to follow Dr. Knych's line of 16 Q

thinking, that there is no pharmacological effect, 17

based on what she did, why are people using it?  18

Why are competitors using it, why is it used?  19

   MR. ROMM:  Objection; calls for 20

speculation again.  21

Why -- why is GABA used? 22 Q

GABA is used to calm horses.  It can be used to 23 A

calm horses.  If it's used orally, it probably 24

doesn't calm a horse.  But if it's injected, it 25

242

certainly can calm horses.  And that's incoming 1

information from many, many exhibitors and breed 2

organizations. 3

Have you personally observed it yourself? 4 Q

I've observed it myself. 5 A

You've done administration studies with horses 6 Q

with GABA, have you not? 7

Yes, I have. 8 A

All right.  And you referred to the toxic effects; 9 Q

what are the potential toxic effects of GABA? 10

The most obvious one is colic.  And following 11 A

colic, the horses become very agitated, they sweat 12

profusely, and they're just depressed.  Once again 13

that's a function of the dose administered and how 14

it's administered.  15

Was the adoption of the ban on GABA by the United 16 Q

States Equestrian Federation based on both its 17

calming effects and its toxic effects? 18

Yes. 19 A

It was as much an animal welfare issue, was it 20 Q

not, as it was a performance-enhancing substance? 21

That is correct. 22 A

Okay.  You're one of those people that pioneered 23 Q

the work on Cobalt that is currently under study 24

in the equine industry, have you not? 25
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Correct. 1 A

Cobalt is an endogenous substance like GABA is? 2 Q

Correct. 3 A

All right.  And there's been a lot of work done on 4 Q

what the naturally occurring physiologic 5

concentration of Cobalt in the horse is? 6

Correct. 7 A

Not terribly dissimilar to what we have been doing 8 Q

with GABA? 9

The concept is the same.10 A

And --11 Q

   MR. ROMM:  Objection to the line of 12

questioning as to how this is relevant, another 13

drug, and how they did that.14

   MR. FOREMAN:  Just two questions.  15

The research that's been done with respect to the 16 Q

pharmacologic effect of the administration of 17

Cobalt has, essentially, not established that 18

there is necessarily a pharmacologic effect? 19

The pharmacological effect of Cobalt has not been 20 A

demonstrated as it was perceived. 21

All right.  But with respects to its toxicity, is 22 Q

there a danger in using Cobalt because of its 23

ability to affect the health of the horse? 24

Cobalt can have toxic effects, depending on the 25 A
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dose administered.  1

Okay.  Now, there is a paper in this case 2 Q

regarding tall fescue grass.  And the theory 3

that's being offered is that this horse in this 4

case was eating tall fescue grass, and that would 5

explain, potentially, the high level of GABA in 6

the horse on August the 14th -- in August, 2014, 7

at the Blenheim show.  You've read that paper? 8

Yes. 9 A

That paper was authored before you even did your 10 Q

study with respect to GABA; is that correct? 11

That was one of the papers that I read, 12 A

researched, tried to determine where the 13

endogenous level of Cobalt came from. 14

You mean GABA? 15 Q

Yeah, GABA. 16 A

I confused you there.  All right.  And does that 17 Q

paper have any application to this particular 18

case? 19

It presents some support in that tall fescue grass 20 A

can add to the burden of GABA in an animal.  But 21

tall fescue grass contains a number of alkaloids, 22

of which GABA can be considered one.  Tall fescue 23

grass is well known for causing fescue foot.  It 24

has ergot alkaloids, and they're at a much higher 25
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level, of course, than GABA.  But an animal 1

grazing on tall fescue and getting a large burden 2

of GABA would, obviously, have a much larger 3

burden of ergot alkaloids.  And you would expect 4

either strong abortion in mares or you would have 5

foot problems.  Ergot alkaloids cause vasal 6

constriction and, basically, the hoof falls off.  7

I don't think that was recorded in this case.  8

   The other thing, the levels of GABA in 9

fescue is small.  The horse will eat about 3 10

percent of his body weight a day.  That's total 11

food consumption.  Tall fescue grass by Kagan, I 12

think is the author you're referring to, the dry 13

weight matter of Cobalt in her studies was 300 to 14

400 grams per kilogram.  That's dry weight matter.  15

Usually, tall fescue grass will contain about 90 16

percent water, certainly the fescue the horses 17

will eat.  That would mean that horses -- the 18

horse would ingest a maximum of 650 milligrams of 19

Cobalt -- Cobalt -- GABA.  And in this paper that 20

-- 1,650 milligrams, and it didn't raise the GABA 21

level.  Once again, to do with absorption and also 22

the relative amounts fed.  23

   So, yes, tall fescue can add to the 24

burden, but I don't think, in my professional 25
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opinion, that it would be the cause of this high 1

level in this horse. 2

All right.  So -- and that was my question to you.  3 Q

Is it your opinion, to scientific certainty, that 4

ingestion of tall fescue grass would not cause the 5

horse's elevated level in this case? 6

My opinion would be it's not -- not a sure answer 7 A

that that was the cause.  8

You've reviewed the analytical data in this case? 9 Q

Yes. 10 A

You've reviewed the file? 11 Q

Yes. 12 A

Do you agree with the result that was reported by 13 Q

the laboratory? 14

Yes. 15 A

Was the method used by the laboratory a generally 16 Q

accepted analytical method? 17

Yes. 18 A

And the reported level, according to your report, 19 Q

of GABA in this, with respect to August the 14th, 20

2014, was how much? 21

188.6 nanograms per milliliter. 22 A

Based on the work that you've done, can you offer 23 Q

any explanation as to why the level of GABA in 24

Cartaire on August the 14th, 2014, was in excess 25
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of the normal physiologic concentration unless 1

there had been an administration of GABA to the 2

horse? 3

It's my opinion that an excess of GABA was 4 A

administered to the horse.  I'm not aware of any 5

data in the surveys that have been done, my work, 6

Knych's work, RMTC studies, that would be that 7

high.  8

All right.  And, by the way, I didn't ask you, but 9 Q

the RMTC did a separate study, did it not, 10

population study? 11

Correct. 12 A

All right.  And that is in the record, I won't ask 13 Q

you to go through it, but the work that was done 14

by the RMTC of 325 horses essentially validates 15

the work that you did, did it not? 16

They used the same EZ-faast Phenomenex kit.  They 17 A

used LCMS, and their value, between a hundred and 18

110 nanograms per mL.  And once again, that was a 19

broad spectrum of horses that were used.  20

So we've got -- you did over a hundred horses, 21 Q

Lomangino did 85 horses, Dr. Knych did a hundred 22

-- in excess of almost 200 horses I believe, and 23

the RMTC did 325 horses.  When you look at the 24

numbers, is there any real difference in the 25
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studies regarding the normal concentration of GABA 1

in the horse? 2

The numbers can be reconciled to be very similar 3 A

based on the horse population and the analytical 4

method that was used to determine GABA in the 5

final step. 6

The concentration of GABA that was recorded in 7 Q

this case would be in excess of the normal 8

concentration established by any of the studies 9

that have been done regarding GABA, would it not?  10

184? 11

I recommended 190, okay. 12 A

Okay.  13 Q

So slightly under, but certainly in the ballpark 14 A

of being over.  15

In the -- in this case there were -- based on an 16 Q

analysis of the previous competitions at which 17

this horse competed, there were two instances 18

where this horse was drug tested for GABA.  The 19

first was January 23rd, 2014, and the second was 20

May the 6th, 2015.  21

   MR. ROMM:  Objection.  The same basis as 22

before, they didn't provide us with underlying.23

   MR. DANFORD:  I'm sorry, what was your 24

question again?  Pardon me.  25
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Are you aware that this horse was tested on two 1 Q

other occasions, other than on August the 14th, 2

2014?  3

That fact has been reported to me. 4 A

Okay.  And did you -- were you furnished with the 5 Q

GCMS screening data for each of those tests? 6

No, I was not. 7 A

All right.  So you have not seen them? 8 Q

No. 9 A

You're not aware of the numbers for those two 10 Q

instances? 11

I'm aware of the numbers, but I did not review. 12 A

Okay.  Are you aware that the laboratory, the USEF 13 Q

laboratory, does analyze each blood sample that 14

comes to the laboratory for the presence of GABA? 15

Yes, I am. 16 A

All right.  You're aware that's a screening test? 17 Q

Yes. 18 A

Is there any reason to think that that test is 19 Q

unreliable?  20

   MR. ROMM:  Objection; calls for 21

information outside the scope of --22

   MR. FOREMAN:  He's an expert in equine 23

toxicology.24

   MR. ROMM:  It's outside the scope of his 25
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knowledge as to what -- what --1

   MR. DANFORD:  It's overruled.  You can 2

testify.  3

I'm aware that GCMS was used to screen. 4 A

In the sample that was collected on January 23rd, 5 Q

2014, the record GABA level of the horse, 6

according to the GCMS screening, was 41.5.  7

   MR. ROMM:  Objection.8

   MR. DANFORD:  What's your objection?  9

   MR. ROMM:  He's providing him -- he's 10

testified that all he knows about it is that it 11

was reported to him the number.  He has not 12

examined the underlying data or anything about it.  13

So if he tells him the number, then asks him a 14

question about it, how is he going to be able to 15

give any testimony as to anything about that 16

number except the fact it was reported?  17

   MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Foreman.  I mean, the 18

numbers are already in the record.19

   MR. FOREMAN:  It's in the record.20

   MR. DANFORD:  But, I mean, where are 21

you -- 22

All right.  Dr. Maylin, I want to show you the 23 Q

screening data for blood sample A-09167.  It was 24

collected from Cartaire on January 23, 2014.  Can 25
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you tell me what the concentration of GABA in the 1

horse was according to the GCMS screen? 2

   MR. ROMM:  Same objection.  3

The summary data is 41.52 nanograms per mL. 4 A

All right.  Would that indicate to you a normal 5 Q

level of GABA in the horse? 6

Yes. 7 A

Okay.  The horse was again tested on May 6, 2015.  8 Q

I want to show you the screening data from the 9

USEF laboratory for that sample.  What's the 10

concentration of GABA according to that data?11

   MR. ROMM:  Same objection.  12

   MR. DANFORD:  You can answer.  13

34.06 nanograms per mL, approximately. 14 A

Would that indicate to you a normal GABA level? 15 Q

I would expect that to be a normal GABA level. 16 A

All right.  So would it be fair to say that the 17 Q

normal GABA level of Cartaire is not 188.6, which 18

is the level that was reported in the sample 19

collected on August the 14th, 2014? 20

I would not expect that high number to be a normal 21 A

level.  22

Just a few more questions.  Dr. Maylin, is there 23 Q

any medical reason why GABA should be administered 24

to a horse? 25
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I'm not aware of any reason.  1 A

Is there any reason nonmedically that GABA should 2 Q

be administered to a horse? 3

I'm not aware of any reason.  4 A

Do you know a Kevin Schug? 5 Q

No. 6 A

Have you ever heard of him? 7 Q

No. 8 A

Has he ever done any work in the equine world that 9 Q

you know of? 10

I'm not aware of his -- 11 A

   MR. ROMM:  Objection.  It's not 12

appropriate for an expert to testify as to the 13

qualification of --14

   MR. FOREMAN:  I didn't ask him about 15

qualifications, I just asked him if he knew him.  16

   MR. DANFORD:  He asked if he knew him. 17

Do you know a Robert McKenzie? 18 Q

Yes. 19 A

And how do you know Mr. McKenzie? 20 Q

I've known him over 20 years. 21 A

All right.  What do you know about him? 22 Q

He's a PhD chemist.  He worked for many years for 23 A

the Michigan Department of Agriculture, and his 24

job was an administrator of their equine drug 25
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testing program.  1

Do you know anything about his experience in 2 Q

actual drug testing? 3

Other than his administrative responsibilities, 4 A

I'm not aware. 5

You've worked with most of the recognized experts 6 Q

in the racing industry, the equine industry with 7

regards to equine toxicology and equine 8

pharmacology? 9

Correct. 10 A

All right.  And they span the world, do they not? 11 Q

Yes. 12 A

Has Dr. McKenzie -- 13 Q

   MR. ROMM:  Objection.  14

-- ever participated in those?  Have you ever 15 Q

interacted with him on a national or international 16

basis as an expert? 17

We've attended the same conferences, yes. 18 A

Does he participate in any of the committees that 19 Q

establish guidelines, methods and otherwise? 20

No. 21 A

How about Kevin Schug? 22 Q

I'm not aware of him.  23 A

Okay.  Well, let me read you from Mr. McKenzie's 24 Q

affidavit.  Have you seen it in this case? 25
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Yes. 1 A

All right.  Do you agree with the conclusions that 2 Q

he's reached? 3

No, no. 4 A

All right.  Do you believe he's qualified to 5 Q

render the opinions that he's given in his 6

affidavit?  7

   MR. ROMM:  Objection as before.8

   MR. DANFORD:  Let me --9

   MR. ROMM:  That's determined already, 10

there's been a ruling on that.11

   MR. FOREMAN:  I can certainly ask Dr. 12

Maylin.  Since this affidavit has been admitted 13

now, I am able to now deal with this affidavit.14

   MR. DANFORD:  Why would he not be able to 15

ask questions about the affidavit, the part that's 16

been admitted?  17

   MR. ROMM:  He's not asking about that, 18

he's asking about his qualifications.19

   MR. DANFORD:  Why can't he ask about that?  20

I mean, is there a prohibition against asking one 21

expert about another expert's qualifications, when 22

that expert knows about him?  23

   MR. ROMM:  No, I was going to the next 24

step of -- of whether those would qualify him to 25
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give the opinions that he gave, that is something 1

that should be determined by the panel.  2

   MR. DANFORD:  I would agree with you, it 3

certainly is the panel's decision as to whether an 4

expert's qualified or not, but it doesn't mean the 5

witness can't testify about that.  6

Dr. Maylin, could you tell anything from Dr. 7 Q

McKenzie's background that he was involved in any 8

population studies? 9

His curriculum vitae does not indicate he's had 10 A

any experience in population studies.  And he's 11

not, to the best of my knowledge, ever worked with 12

GABA.  13

Has he -- does he have any expertise in equine 14 Q

pharmacology, to the best of your knowledge? 15

I'm not aware of any of his publications 16 A

indicating that. 17

All right.  Rather than me reading to you from the 18 Q

affidavit, if I could give you a copy of Dr. 19

McKenzie's affidavit and we just go paragraph by 20

paragraph and you can tell me whether you agree or 21

disagree with it.  22

   MR. FOREMAN:  Emily, just give me the 23

reference to the McKenzie affidavit, please.24

   MR. DANFORD:  It's R21, 271.  25
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   MR. FOREMAN:  Thank you.1

   MR. DANFORD:  No, sorry, R21.27.2

   MR. FOREMAN:  Thank you.  3

We'll start with paragraph 6.  4 Q

   MR. FOREMAN:  And for the Hearing 5

Committee, I'm on the McKenzie affidavit, number 6

6.  7

Do you agree with that statement? 8 Q

I disagree.  9 A

And why do you disagree? 10 Q

The USEF did use a population targeted by the 11 A

USEF.  12

Okay.  With respect to number 7, most of number 7 13 Q

is just his interpretation of your paper.  Did you 14

suggest that USEF establish 190 nanogram level? 15

At the time of that study, yes. 16 A

Okay.  And in your study you indicated that you 17 Q

were recommending a threshold.  That's for anyone 18

who was conducting testing at that time? 19

Yes.  You don't set a threshold, per se, based 20 A

necessarily on just hard cold scientific fact.  21

It's -- setting thresholds is a function of the 22

regulatory body.  So these numbers are part of, 23

maybe a large part, of establishing a regulatory 24

threshold, but it's not all inclusive. 25
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Now, with respect to number 8, that is just his, 1 Q

Dr. McKenzie's, interpretation of the work done by 2

Mr. Lomangino; correct? 3

I would agree with that. 4 A

Okay.  And number 9, you've given the explanation 5 Q

that he claims he doesn't have; is that correct? 6

Yes, I've testified to answer that. 7 A

Okay.  Do you agree with number 10, and is he 8 Q

qualified to give that opinion? 9

I disagree with that. 10 A

And the reason? 11 Q

The population differences I've explained, I've 12 A

discussed.  I could reiterate, but it's on the 13

record.  14

Number 11, do you agree with that statement, 15 Q

particularly the last sentence? 16

I don't have firsthand knowledge of this, but it's 17 A

my understanding that the reason USEF is now 18

moving towards a lower threshold is because of 19

competitors' input to lower it.  20

But isn't it a fact that the Federation prohibits 21 Q

the presence of GABA in excess of the normal 22

physiologic concentration? 23

That is true. 24 A

So if there's a moving target, it's only because 25 Q
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USEF has determined at what level it's going to 1

take action against someone using it? 2

This concept is very similar to blood alcohol 3 A

determinations.  The numbers, as you know, have 4

been reduced from .08 to .06.  If you're a school 5

bus driver it's 00.  And this is an evolution of 6

going forward, of matching regulatory thresholds 7

to available science.  8

And isn't -- doesn't this highlight the problem 9 Q

with numbers and giving numbers to people, is 10

they're always trying to titer what they're doing 11

to meet those numbers? 12

That's turning out to be the case; not just with 13 A

equine drug testing, but with virtually any 14

biological number, if you will, human drug 15

testing, animal drug testing.  16

Number 12, do you agree with that statement?  17 Q

   And let me ask you before you answer that, 18

USEF does not have a published threshold for GABA, 19

do they? 20

That is correct. 21 A

So nonsteroidals have published thresholds, there 22 Q

are certain drugs for which there's a published 23

threshold? 24

Yes. 25 A
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All right.  When -- just so that we're all on the 1 Q

same page here when we're talking about 2

thresholds, we're not talking about published 3

thresholds? 4

That is correct. 5 A

All right.  Now, with respect to number 12? 6 Q

I disagree with his assumption, assertion that 7 A

thresholds are based on well-established 8

population studies.  Statistics used in generating 9

are well-defined.  So the thresholds are not 10

changed on a whim, without publication and 11

demonstration of the validity of a new standard.  12

You may know about milkshake testing in horses, 13

TC02 testing.  It's gone from 39, to 37, to 36, 14

and to 35 millimoles per liter across the world, 15

it's a moving target. 16

Number 13 refers to the Knych study.  What is your 17 Q

comment with respect to number 13? 18

Well, as I testified to, there was another 19 A

population of horses, it was LCMS method, and very 20

little outward physiological effect that might be 21

expected to change a horse's performance.  The 22

physiological measurements that were made, many of 23

them I would not expect to see a change.  24

The last sentence, when GABA was administered 25 Q
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orally it showed no absorbable physiologic action 1

that would affect performance? 2

That I would agree with.  They also point out that 3 A

when the dose administers -- like less than 10 4

percent of the dose actually was viable, so -- and 5

I think I touched on that in my earlier testimony.  6

All right.  Number 14 refers to the RMTC study.  7 Q

The RMTC study was not a pharmacologic or a 8

pharmacokinetic study, was it? 9

It was strictly a population survey, 10 A

concentrations in a wide variety of horses in 11

various parts of the country. 12

All right.  Would you agree with number 15, which 13 Q

compares the various studies?14

   MR. ROMM:  I place an objection.  I 15

thought there was only a certain number of 16

paragraphs that were even accepted.17

   MR. FOREMAN:  You entered the entire 18

McKenzie affidavit.  19

   MR. ROMM:  Oh, oh, oh.  20

   MR. DANFORD:  That's the other one. 21

   MR. ROMM:  My apologies.22

Yes, I don't agree with it. 23 A

Number 16? 24 Q

He's suggesting that the fitness of a high level 25 A
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hunter jumper and dressage horse are comparable to 1

a Thoroughbred race horse, I don't agree to it. 2

Is he even qualified to give that opinion? 3 Q

He's qualified to have an opinion, but I don't 4 A

agree with it. 5

Number 17, is he qualified to give this opinion 6 Q

and do you agree with it? 7

I believe he's suggesting that the data that we 8 A

had generated, okay, by Lomangino was not made 9

available to them.  It's not uncommon that this 10

kind of data is not made available, so this is 11

part of the process, okay.  12

Is there any -- 13 Q

17025 is not required, what he's suggesting.  14 A

Do you know of any A2LA accreditation to GABA? 15 Q

No. 16 A

Number 18, do you agree with the statement, is he 17 Q

qualified to give it? 18

I disagree with it.  19 A

Is he qualified to even give that opinion, in your 20 Q

opinion? 21

I don't believe he is qualified.  I don't think 22 A

he's ever been involved in a population study and 23

I don't believe he has worked with GABA. 24

Number 19, is he qualified to give that opinion 25 Q
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and do you agree with this opinion? 1

I don't think he's qualified to make the 2 A

assessment, and I don't think it's possible to get 3

a well-defined observable population of fit horses 4

that he would suggest.  5

Number 20, that's well beyond his scope.  It's 6 Q

actually beyond your scope, is it not? 7

Yeah, that's beyond my expertise, if you will.  8 A

There were several paragraphs of the Schug 9 Q

affidavit that the Hearing Committee has allowed.  10

I'm going to show you the Schug opinion.  You've 11

seen it, have you not? 12

I read it.  13 A

With respect to the -- with respect to the Schug 14 Q

opinion, the Hearing Committee allowed number 8.  15

Do you think he's qualified, based upon what you 16

have observed in his CV and his resume', is he 17

qualified to give the opinion he gave and do you 18

agree with it? 19

Well, I disagree with part of it, okay.  20 A

And what part do you disagree with? 21 Q

He's suggesting that the test population 22 A

consistent with the horse in this case in question 23

must be tested for valid comparison.  That was the 24

case, Lomangino's study was such a horse.  Full 25
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method validation results per test must be 1

produced and compared in order to verify.  You 2

don't need full method validation, using the word 3

to its scientific completeness, to do the work 4

that was done in the USEF study.  In science, you 5

conduct experiments fit for purpose.  6

   You don't analyze the DNA of somebody if 7

you want to see how high they can jump up a pole, 8

okay.  You measure how high they can jump.  9

Validation is a very complex issue, depending on 10

what you want to accomplish.  Do you want 11

reproducibility, do you want, many, many factors.  12

Fit for purpose, which is a classic definition if 13

the valid is good enough, if the method is good 14

enough, will it do what you want to accomplish, 15

will the method determine a normal population from 16

one that has been administered, in this case, 17

GABA.  18

Number 10, there are only two more on this 19 Q

affidavit, number 10, do you agree with the 20

opinion that he's given? 21

Without having the definition of method 22 A

validation, it has no meaning.  I'm not sure what 23

he would suggest is fit for purpose.  24

Do you need method validation to resolve the 25 Q
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differences between your numbers and Mr. 1

Lomangino's numbers? 2

Method validation would not resolve the 3 A

difference.  4

Finally, number 12, do you know of any laboratory 5 Q

in the world that's accredited by A2LA for GABA?  6

I mean, there is no international threshold, is 7

there? 8

I'm not aware of any laboratory that has GABA on 9 A

their A2LA scope, for example.  And if it was, it 10

would be a threshold substance, which does not 11

really exist by A2LA standards at this point in 12

time. 13

But number 12, do you agree with the statement or 14 Q

disagree? 15

I disagree.  16 A

Finally, Dr. Maylin, you testified in one of the 17 Q

earliest cases when asked to compare the presence 18

of an excess level of GABA in a horse to another 19

class of drugs to help guide the Hearing Committee 20

in determining the seriousness of the use of GABA, 21

and you compared it to Fluphenazine.  Would you 22

explain to the Hearing Committee why you made that 23

comparison? 24

I had used Fluphenazine because of the comparison 25 A
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of the two drugs, and the fact that they were 1

being used, abused, because there was not an 2

available test for them.  And that both have very 3

toxic effects, even when used in accordance with 4

the so-called usual dose administered.  That's why 5

I used Fluphenazine for, number one, the illicit 6

use of the drug, and number two, the potential 7

impact on the health and welfare of the horse. 8

Okay.  Those two substances are not comparable 9 Q

from the standpoint of tranquilization, long 10

acting versus short acting, because they're 11

totally different in that respect, are they not? 12

They're different, okay, I didn't infer that they 13 A

weren't.14

   MR. FOREMAN:  No further questions, Dr. 15

Maylin.16

   MR. DANFORD:  All right.  Let's take a 17

brief five-minute break, then we'll come back for 18

cross examination.19

20

   (A short recess was taken, whereupon the 21

hearing continued.) 22

   MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Romm.23

   MR. ROMM:  Thank you.24

25
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CROSS EXAMINATION 1

BY MR. ROMM:  2

Dr. Maylin, are you currently licensed in any 3 Q

state as a veterinarian? 4

No. 5 A

Have you ever been licensed as a veterinarian? 6 Q

Yes. 7 A

When, where? 8 Q

Ontario, Canada, in the mid-sixties.  And I was 9 A

operating under a license from Cornell University 10

from '70 through 2010.  I did not my personal self 11

hold a license, I didn't need one.  I operated as 12

a professor, a veterinarian at Cornell; so I was 13

able to treat horses at Cornell.  14

Under their license?  Under their license? 15 Q

Yeah. 16 A

Okay.  In 2012, you were retained by the USEF to 17 Q

create a test to detect the presence of GABA in 18

horses? 19

What date?  20 A

In 2012.  21 Q

I missed your question. 22 A

In 2012, you would agree that you were retained by 23 Q

the USEF to create a test to detect the presence 24

of gamma-aminobutyric acid in a horse? 25
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And prior to that as well.  As I said, we were 1 A

working on developing a test.  2

And you would agree that your retention included 3 Q

the determination of threshold levels of 4

endogenous GABA in horses? 5

Yes. 6 A

And you would agree that endogenous means that 7 Q

it's already in a sample or, in this case, already 8

in the horse, it's what naturally occurs in the 9

horse? 10

Yes. 11 A

All right.  And you would agree that exogenous 12 Q

means something that's administered into the horse 13

from outside? 14

Yes. 15 A

And you would agree that your study didn't involve 16 Q

the oral administration for levels of GABA 17

exogenously? 18

The published work did not demonstrate that. 19 A

All right.  And you will agree that you performed 20 Q

your threshold study on Thoroughbred horses in the 21

area of races, where the horses may or may not 22

have been administered other drugs.  GABA, Lasix, 23

anything, you didn't determine that? 24

We determined that other drugs were not present in 25 A
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those samples that were tested.  As far as GABA 1

administration, GABA could have been administered 2

a week before, I wouldn't know that. 3

Okay.  And you'll agree your administration study 4 Q

mainly consisted of administering 10 cc.s of 5

Carolina Gold, which contained GABA, but also 6

contained other ingredients, intramuscularly, or 7

in the muscle? 8

We administered several doses in the muscle to 9 A

show that IM injections of GABA would increase 10

levels above the background level in each horse. 11

And you'll agree that you did not conduct 12 Q

stability testing on the blood samples for GABA? 13

No, I did not conduct stability tests. 14 A

Okay.  And you would agree that you did not 15 Q

conduct an observation study where you actually 16

documented by written hand or video the reactions 17

to the administration of Carolina Gold? 18

We did not video.  A licensed veterinarian at the 19 A

time, who was working on a short-term project with 20

me, we observed those reactions.  And, as I said, 21

there was sedation.  I'm not so sure that the 22

video camera would have detected this 23

tranquilization or the quietness observed in many 24

of the horses.  25
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What about the other part, the written hand, was 1 Q

there written notes taken of the observations that 2

you had or have? 3

No, we didn't. 4 A

Okay.  And you said that video maybe wouldn't have 5 Q

-- maybe wouldn't have showed the tranquilization.  6

But would you agree that if a horse was shaking, 7

and collapsed, and all these other things that you 8

had testified to, that the video would have showed 9

that? 10

It would have showed that.  But that wasn't the 11 A

objective, to test the toxicity of the drug.  The 12

study was to -- would this drug have a quieting 13

effect.  Certainly, the IV administration is not 14

the way to go with GABA, that's cruel and inhumane 15

treatment. 16

Okay, we'll get to that.  You'll agree that no 17 Q

part of your study measured the performance 18

effects of horses administered with Carolina Gold 19

versus not being administered with Carolina? 20

No, did not -- that was not the purpose of our 21 A

study. 22

All right.  And you would agree that in your study 23 Q

you determined that the level to which one would 24

be considered to have been administered Carolina 25
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Gold from an outside source, exogenous, would be 1

190 nanograms per milliliter, which came from a 2

base number, a mean plus four standard deviations? 3

Correct. 4 A

And the base number was? 5 Q

26.  I'd have to look at my notes. 6 A

Go ahead.  If I might help you, would 95 nanograms 7 Q

per milliliter -- 8

Yes, yes.  9 A

Plus four standard? 10 Q

Yes. 11 A

Okay.  Earlier we were told that you were advised 12 Q

of the request for raw data, but you didn't want 13

to turn it over until you knew who it was going to 14

be turned over to; is that correct? 15

What raw data are you talking about?  16 A

The raw data that supported your studies.  You 17 Q

have it, but you didn't turn it over.  18

Yes. 19 A

Okay, thank you.  You would agree that the only 20 Q

people who witnessed 2 cc.s of Carolina Gold going 21

into the vein of the horse in your study, where it 22

allegedly fell to the ground, would be you and Dr. 23

Hill; would that be right? 24

Correct. 25 A
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And there was no recording, per se? 1 Q

Correct. 2 A

Other than you two personally have seen that? 3 Q

Correct. 4 A

And you would agree that none of the other 5 Q

studies, the California study, which was an 6

administration study with 16 horses, or -- or even 7

the threshold studies, USEF and the RMTC, the 8

reaction that you're talking about of dropping to 9

the ground and shaking, all that stuff, that was 10

never observed, at least recorded and reported, by 11

anybody but you, to your knowledge? 12

To my knowledge. 13 A

Okay.  And you would agree that when you 14 Q

established the threshold, you recommended to the 15

USEF 190 nanograms per milliliter is what you had 16

stated was your recommendation? 17

I recommended that as a threshold. 18 A

And, in fact, there have been at least -- at the 19 Q

beginning there were summary reports where you 20

said the test results for this particular 21

competitor, the blood was in excess of the 22

threshold of 190, in the beginning? 23

Right, yeah. 24 A

So initially you had called for action or called a 25 Q
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positive at 190?1

   MR. FOREMAN:  Objection.  2

That was your --3 Q

   MR. FOREMAN:  Dr. Maylin doesn't do the 4

drug tests, he doesn't call positives.5

   MR. ROMM:  I apologize, I'll rephrase 6

that.  7

You recommended the threshold level for which 8 Q

positives had been called.  And you had given 9

those summary reports at 190? 10

Yes, as an expert for USEF I did make that 11 A

recommendation.  12

And you would agree that the USEF conducted a 13 Q

threshold study for the endogenous level of GABA, 14

and their study was for 85 horses, all retired? 15

Yes. 16 A

And your population was the fit horses, the 17 Q

hundred racehorses, and pre-detention 12 -- 12 18

retired? 19

Yes. 20 A

And the USEF threshold level was 26 plus four 21 Q

standard deviations of 90, equaling 62 nanograms 22

per milliliter? 23

Correct. 24 A

And you would agree that at no time did you with 25 Q
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your study results and USEF with theirs run the 1

same samples of blood to determine why your 2

threshold level would be substantially higher than 3

that of the USEF; in other words, method 4

validation or measuring of uncertainties there, 5

you didn't do that? 6

They were not contemporaneous studies.  7 A

That didn't answer my question.  Did you or did 8 Q

you not stop everything and test the same samples? 9

I told you, they were not contemporaneous studies. 10 A

And what do you mean by that? 11 Q

They're not done at the same time. 12 A

I understand what you're saying.  When you were 13 Q

asked about the difference in thresholds, you said 14

that one of the reasons for the difference in the 15

thresholds was a difference in the populations, 16

that you had fit racehorses and that, typically, 17

that resulted in higher levels of GABA than the 18

retired pleasure horses, retired horses; is 19

that -- 20

Correct. 21 A

-- is that correct?  All right.  Is that the only 22 Q

reason for which there could be a difference? 23

No. 24 A

Okay.  Could the -- let me rephrase that.  Are you 25 Q
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aware that Lomangino's lab had initially 1

determined the threshold level of something other 2

than 62? 3

No. 4 A

Are you aware that in 2013, the USEF lab was told 5 Q

to start reporting action on tests that were in 6

excess of a hundred? 7

I'm aware of that. 8 A

Are you aware of the reason for that? 9 Q

Not really.  10 A

Are you aware of a time when they started testing 11 Q

above 62, calling for action above 62? 12

I'm aware of that decision, but I don't have 13 A

direct recollection of that.  14

But you did, in fact, actually start issuing 15 Q

summary reports that said this is in violation of 16

a threshold above 62? 17

Yeah.  Yes, that answer is yes.  18 A

So it would be truthful to say that at some point 19 Q

the members of the USEF, if they had found GABA in 20

the blood of their horse in excess of 190, they 21

would have action taken against them.  In some 22

cases if it was above a hundred, they would have 23

action taken against them.  And then in some cases 24

if it was above 62, they would have action taken 25
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against them, over time? 1

I'm not aware of any cases where samples below a 2 A

hundred, between 62 and a hundred, were action 3

levels.  4

But above a hundred? 5 Q

I don't have recollection of exact numbers, but I 6 A

would say it's fair to say there came a time when 7

numbers above a hundred were considered to be 8

action levels.  9

Okay.  Now, these changes in action levels, do 10 Q

they reflect changes in the endogenous level?  I'm 11

not talking about threshold, I'm talking about the 12

normal physiological level of GABA in the horses.  13

As these numbers change, did the normal 14

physiological levels of the horse change? 15

Not to my knowledge.  16 A

Okay.  So the normal physiological levels of the 17 Q

horses stayed the same, but over time they 18

prosecuted different amounts? 19

That is true.  20 A

I think I recall, did you testify that you were 21 Q

aware that the decision to prosecute initially at 22

190 was fair, because it was the higher level for 23

the -- for the competitors at USEF?  Did you 24

testify to that either here or in the past? 25
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How about an hour ago.  1 A

Okay.  So the person who had a level of 128 and 2 Q

gets prosecuted because it's over 62, or over 100, 3

whichever, they think -- in your opinion, they 4

think it would be fair that somebody else only got 5

prosecuted if it was above 190.  So if they were 6

at that time they wouldn't have got prosecuted, 7

but that's okay, they can get prosecuted now, even 8

though their horse hasn't changed? 9

Would you like my opinion on that?  10 A

Yeah.  11 Q

My opinion is that testing is not to see if a 12 A

competitor come -- how close can he come to a 13

threshold.  It's whether or not he's violating the 14

spirit of the Federation and using an illegal 15

drug.  So that's -- that's the bottom line here.  16

Whether or not it's 120, 180 or 190, that's not 17

the issue.  The issue is fairness of competition, 18

safety of the horse. 19

Okay.  So in this case the test result was, you 20 Q

said, 188? 21

I believe that's true. 22 A

Okay.  Is 188, in your opinion, a violation of a 23 Q

threshold level that you recommended based on your 24

study? 25
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No. 1 A

Did your study take into consideration the 2 Q

introduction of exogenous GABA from an outside 3

source, like, for example, we discussed tall 4

fescue? 5

In a population study one uses a large number of 6 A

animals.  And inclusive in that large number of 7

animals would be the fact that animals are getting 8

different kinds of alfalfa, different kinds of 9

fescue, if it's in season, so to speak.  So -- but 10

specifically analyzing or specifically being 11

concerned with the amount of fescue, the answer's 12

no.  13

Now, you are aware that an affidavit has been 14 Q

introduced that the horse, Cartaire, for which 15

we're having this hearing, was allowed to graze on 16

tall fescue prior to its test at the Blenheim 17

Summer Classic, you're aware of that? 18

Yes. 19 A

And you stated that having been allowed to graze 20 Q

on tall fescue would have, in fact, increased the 21

burden.  I assume you mean by that, that it could 22

have caused some increase in the -- in the -- in 23

the level of GABA in Cartaire? 24

In a hypothetical situation, the answer's yes. 25 A
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You say in a hypothetical, is it hypothetical that 1 Q

he grazed on tall fescue? 2

It's hypothetical how much tall fescue he grazed 3 A

on. 4

You don't know, do you? 5 Q

I don't know, nor do you. 6 A

That's right.  Is it -- is it possible he grazed 7 Q

on enough to cause some change in the level? 8

To me the answer's, yes, in a hypothetical.  9 A

And you used the word hypothetical, I want to be 10 Q

clear.  What you mean is that you don't know how 11

much, so, therefore, you can't tell us 12

quantitatively whether -- whether or how much it 13

affected it, but you also can't say it didn't? 14

That's true. 15 A

That's true? 16 Q

Nor can anyone else.  17 A

Okay.  You used an internal standard of D3 18 Q

Methionine? 19

Yes. 20 A

And eventually they -- are you aware, in fact, 21 Q

that eventually they changed the internal standard 22

to GABA? 23

Who's they?  24 A

The Phenomenex, in their kit.  25 Q
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For GCMS perhaps, not LCMS.  Our studies that 1 A

we're talking about in our work were all D3 2

Methionine.  3

Do you recall being asked about the screening test 4 Q

done on Cartaire in two other competitions?  Not 5

the Blenheim, but two others.  You were asked 6

about those, questions about that; right? 7

Correct. 8 A

   MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Romm, we need to pick up 9

the pace a bit.  10

Are you aware that Lomangino and USEF's lab had 11 Q

available to them liquid chromatography? 12

Yes. 13 A

And they could have used that?  They could have 14 Q

used that? 15

There's a possibility. 16 A

Okay.  The only study that actually documented the 17 Q

observations was the California study with the 18

halter monitor, the heart rate, and the blood 19

pressure and all that; right? 20

That's all I'm aware of. 21 A

Your study, in fact, claimed that GABA entered the 22 Q

blood brain barrier with relatively high doses of 23

exogenous GABA? 24

That's reported in the literature. 25 A
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Did your study --1 Q

No. 2 A

-- actually determine that? 3 Q

No. 4 A

But that was a claim made in your study, wasn't 5 Q

it, based on the literature? 6

Yes. 7 A

Okay.  You're aware that the California study 8 Q

showed no behavioral changes, including signs of 9

sedation noted following oral administration at 10

any time, quote, unquote? 11

The observations that they -- the answer's yes. 12 A

All right.  There appears to be a great deal of 13 Q

variability in the GABA plasma concentration 14

between horses; was there? 15

Yes. 16 A

Okay.  Obvious disparities in the concentration 17 Q

between the samples collected on different 18

occasions from the same animal is beyond analysis 19

variability; that was made in their report, right? 20

That was their verbal report. 21 A

And their report which suggested that GABA did not 22 Q

get to the blood brain barrier? 23

The study that they employed, they can't tell.  24 A

That was their finding; right?  Was that not their 25 Q
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claim? 1

That's their claim.  What they claimed was it did 2 A

not reach the cerebral spinal fluid, which is not 3

the brain. 4

Okay.  5 Q

Taking a sample from your tailbone and your spinal 6 A

cord is not taking a sample from the frontal 7

cortex of your brain, which is where GABA 8

accumulates to exert its action. 9

Your study claimed that the effects were 10 Q

comparable to Fluphenazine you said? 11

I didn't say that, no.  I testified just recently 12 A

that that wasn't the case. 13

I'm sorry.  You had claimed in -- in one of the -- 14 Q

had testified to that in one of the hearings? 15

Can I testify -- or not testify.  Can I tell you 16 A

what I -- 17

Yeah, go ahead.  18 Q

Okay.  In response to a question to compare GABA 19 A

to another drug, I used the example of 20

Fluphenazine.  Not because of its pharmacological 21

properties, but because it was -- like 22

Fluphenazine, GABA was a new kid on the block.  It 23

was used to avoid detection, that's why it was 24

being used.  And like Fluphenazine, it has very 25
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toxic properties if not used properly.  I did not 1

infer that they had similar pharmacological 2

properties, i.e., the length of pharmacology, 3

pharmacological action, not at all.  4

Okay.  The toxic properties that you're referring 5 Q

to, those were observed by you? 6

Yes.  In Fluphenazine?  7 A

No, no, in GABA.  8 Q

Yes. 9 A

Toxic properties in GABA? 10 Q

Horses turn around, shiver, shake, that's a 11 A

reaction, that's a toxic reaction. 12

That's the reaction you're talking about? 13 Q

Yeah. 14 A

That one time? 15 Q

It's been well-documented anecdotally by many, 16 A

many exhibitors of this organization.  I'm sure 17

Dr. Schumacher, if he should testify, will allude 18

to that.  19

Was there reference to GABA being similar to 20 Q

Acepromazine by you in any of your -- 21

Not that I'm aware of, I don't recollect. 22 A

Okay.  Would you state that the pharmacological 23 Q

effect of GABA is equivalent to or greater than 24

the pharmacological effect of Acepromazine or 25
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Fluphenazine? 1

Dose dependent; you tell me the dose and I'll give 2 A

you an answer.  3

Equivalent to that which would be used for the 4 Q

calming effect.  5

Fluphenazine when it was invoked had -- it was 6 A

called the 21-day tranquilizer, it affected 7

tranquilization for 21 days.  8

With GABA, 15 minutes; Fluphenazine, 2 hours? 9 Q

I'm talking about Fluphenazine, you wanted me to 10 A

compare.  11

Okay.12 Q

So Fluphehazine, tranquilization of 21 days would 13 A

be very comparable to a GABA tranquilization say 8 14

to 10 hours, okay.  15

Eight to 10 hours, that wasn't reported.  It was 2  16 Q

to 3 -- 3 to 4 hours, if I recall correctly.  17

Are you talking about maximum concentration, are 18 A

you talking about dose response, there's not a 19

straight answer.  I'm not trying to give you 20

double-talk.  You have to determine the dose, you 21

have to determine the route of administration, and 22

then you can start to compare apples to apples.  23

Right now we're comparing apples to pears.  24

Would you agree that originally the RMTC study -- 25 Q
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in 2013, the RMTC was originally going to classify 1

it as a class I violation.  But eventually, after 2

they did the study, they classified it as a class 3

III, category B penalty; are you aware of that? 4

I'm aware, but I was not involved in that 5 A

decision.  6

Okay.  Is there -- is it your opinion that GABA 7 Q

would be a class III? 8

I don't make, set penalties, okay.  9 A

Okay.  Mr. Lomangino's lab, is it -- is it -- is 10 Q

it accredited to give quantitative reporting on 11

GABA? 12

No. 13 A

   MR. ROMM:  Okay.  I'm just checking to see 14

if I have anything else, then I'll be done.  15

   MR. DANFORD:  Do you have any redirect, 16

Mr. Foreman?  17

   MR. FOREMAN:  Very brief, and I mean very.18

   MR. ROMM:  I'm good, thank you.19

RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION20

BY MR. FOREMAN:21

Dr. Maylin, is Fluphenazine approved for use in 22 Q

horses? 23

No. 24 A

All right.  And is it -- but is it used by 25 Q
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veterinarians for certain purposes? 1

Yes. 2 A

While the Federation does not deem it to be a drug 3 Q

that can be used for therapeutic purposes, there 4

are uses for Fluphenazine in certain situations, 5

are there not? 6

Yes; primary foal separation anxiety and long-term 7 A

stall lay-up. 8

With respect to Acepromazine, Acepromazine is one 9 Q

of the most recognized tranquilizers used in a 10

horse, is it not? 11

Correct. 12 A

And it can be used for a therapeutic purpose? 13 Q

Correct. 14 A

Is there any legitimate purpose whatsoever for 15 Q

GABA being introduced into a horse?  16

   MR. ROMM:  Objection as to the term 17

legitimate.18

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  You can answer that 19

question.  20

   THE WITNESS:  Can I answer?  21

   MR. DANFORD:  Yeah.  22

I know of no legitimate reason.  23 A

You were asked about the hypothetical about the 24 Q

horse grazing in the pasture and eating fescue 25
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grass.  And I think your answer was, 1

hypothetically, a horse's GABA level could 2

increase based on ingesting grass.  But you were 3

asked, were you not, in your direct testimony 4

whether you believed that was the case in this 5

particular situation given the high level.  Is 6

that your answer or is the answer different? 7

I do not believe it was the cause of the finding 8 A

on the reading. 9

Am I correct that the establishment of the USEF -- 10 Q

of the naturally -- normal physiologic 11

concentration of GABA in a horse was a population 12

study, not an administration study? 13

Correct. 14 A

All right.  Am I correct that the Lomangino study 15 Q

was not an administration study, it was a 16

population study? 17

Correct. 18 A

Am I correct that the RMTC study was a population 19 Q

study and not an administration study? 20

That is correct. 21 A

All right.  And the Knych paper was both a 22 Q

population study and then an administration to 23

determine effect? 24

Correct. 25 A

287

All right.  Did Dr. Knych give toxic doses of GABA 1 Q

to the horse? 2

No. 3 A

All right.  In any of the work that you've seen, 4 Q

other than the work where you've observed the 5

toxic effects, were toxic doses of GABA being 6

given to the horse? 7

Yes. 8 A

All right.  In what instances?  Toxic doses.  9 Q

Oh, to simplify, the dose of 10 cc.s of Carolina 10 A

Gold, if given IV too quickly would cause an 11

adverse reaction.  20 cc.s would definitely cause 12

a problem.  So it's dose dependent. 13

I think you testified on direct examination that 14 Q

the change from 190 to a hundred was based upon 15

reports that were coming from competitors about 16

the differing use of GABA in horses from when you 17

did your original work; is that correct? 18

Correct. 19 A

I think you gave a different answer on cross 20 Q

examination, I just wanted to clarify that.  Did 21

you do any administrative -- administration study 22

when you learned that lower doses of GABA were 23

being given to horses? 24

I provided samples to the USEF to, if you will, 25 A
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verify that small doses could be detected by the 1

laboratory. 2

Was that, in part, the reason why the recommended 3 Q

action level was reduced from 190 to a hundred? 4

It's my understanding -- 5 A

   MR. ROMM:  He's already testified he 6

didn't know. 7

   MR. FOREMAN:  Well, I'm asking if he did 8

know.  I'm not sure he understood your question.9

   MR. DANFORD:  You can answer the question. 10

It's my understanding that that was probably a 11 A

part of reducing it. 12

My last question to you is that your 13 Q

recommendation, based on your paper, was a normal 14

GABA concentration threshold of 190 nanograms?  15

Correct. 16 A

All right.  And that 190 nanograms was based on 17 Q

one in 10,000 horses at the upper limit testing at 18

190? 19

Correct. 20 A

In this case we've got two control samples, in 21 Q

which the horse tested at levels around 40, 44.  22

Based on your knowledge then of the fact that the 23

horse's normal GABA level was in the forties, 24

would that change your opinion about the 25
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allocation of the 190 nanogram?  1

   MR. ROMM:  Objection; that assumes facts 2

not in evidence.  3

   MR. FOREMAN:  I'll ask it hypothetically.4

If you know a horse's normal GABA concentration is 5 Q

in the forties, would you recommend there no 6

action be taken at 190? 7

I would recommend action be taken. 8 A

All right.  When you did your study, that was 9 Q

based upon the fact that you would not know and 10

have no information regarding a horse's normal 11

concentration? 12

That is correct. 13 A

And so it would be possible that a horse could, a 14 Q

horse, one in 10,000, could have a normal GABA 15

level of 190? 16

From a statistical point of view, which this is 17 A

all about, the answer is yes. 18

And you were protecting against that possibility? 19 Q

Yes. 20 A

All right.  Now, in this case, we've got two 21 Q

control samples that are both in the forties.  22

Would that indicate to you that the horse's normal 23

GABA level is in the forties? 24

That changes the whole perspective.25 A
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   MR. FOREMAN:  No further questions.1

   MR. ROMM:  I've got some questions.2

RE-CROSS EXAMINATION3

BY MR. ROMM:4

You said that you were unaware of the toxic 5 Q

dosaging of the horses.  Your study attempted to 6

administer 2 cc.s IV, and then you stopped because 7

you had that shaking, the horse falling down 8

effect; right?  9

Correct. 10 A

Okay.  Didn't the California study introduce 10 11 Q

cc.s IV into those horses on multiple 12

administrations and never reported toxic results 13

like you are testifying about; is that not true? 14

What you are saying is partly true.  What you 15 A

don't say is how they injected GABA into the vein.  16

Was it a quick injection or was it in a jug.  17

That's not described in the California paper.  If 18

you inject any drug rapidly, you get a markedly 19

different effect than if it's a slow injection 20

into the vein.  So depending on how they injected 21

the drug, and they don't define that, I'm not 22

surprised that they were able to avoid the toxic 23

effect.  24

But you cannot point to any -- aside from the one 25 Q
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observation that you personally make, you cannot 1

point to one study where it was recorded about 2

toxic dosaging of GABA.  I understand you've 3

testified about the reporting of the members of 4

the USEF, which is a verbal, you know, outside 5

this hearing commentary that we can't prove one 6

way or another, but can you point to any recorded, 7

documented toxic dosaging where that was the 8

result, where there was -- 9

I can report to what my observations were and I 10 A

can report to one other study, the Knych.  And 11

Knych says the horses turned around, they had 12

signs of toxicity, it increased their gut sounds, 13

basically a mild colic, that's in the paper.  Did 14

they drop to the ground, no.  And what I'm telling 15

you, that's probably a function of how they slowly 16

injected the preparation. 17

So they were looking around and that's a toxic 18 Q

effect? 19

That is.  Horses can't talk, they look around, 20 A

there's something going on here. 21

And you know particularly those results meant that 22 Q

they were toxic? 23

That's a toxic effect. 24 A

Okay.  25 Q
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Any veterinarian will tell you that.  1 A

Are you aware that these screening tests that were 2 Q

done to determine the normal level in Cartaire 3

that Mr. Foreman asked you about hypothetically, 4

that there was no confirmatory testing done to any 5

of those, are you aware of that?  6

   MR. FOREMAN:  Objection.  It's beyond the 7

scope of redirect.8

   MR. DANFORD:  I'll allow it.9

   MR. FOREMAN:  He could have asked that 10

question on direct, now he's going into a whole 11

other area.12

   MR. DANFORD:  Go ahead, you can answer.  13

I'm aware that confirmatory work was not done on 14 A

those samples, there was no reason to do 15

additional work.  The screening level was adequate 16

for detecting these levels.  That's what screening 17

technique is. 18

So if it's above the call for threshold, it's 19 Q

important to confirm.  But if it's below, you 20

don't need to.  Is that what you're saying? 21

What I'm saying is that GABA in this level of 30, 22 A

40, many horses have that level.  And to confirm 23

every level would be, I don't know how many 24

samples, thousands, okay, impossible to do. 25
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I agree, but we're not talking about every level, 1 Q

we're not talking about the thousands.  What we're 2

talking about is two tests that are now being used 3

to, allegedly, prove up that Cartaire's normal 4

level is something.  If we're going to present to 5

the panel that Cartaire's normal level of GABA is 6

something out of two tests, maybe those two tests 7

should be confirmed as well.  No, not necessary? 8

The screening test that was used is a fit for 9 A

purpose.  It's to screen samples that may have 10

high elevated level.  By analogy, if you're 11

driving down the highway, you're pulled over, you 12

have a breathalyzer test done, you get a DWI, they 13

don't do a confirmatory test on that.  That 14

breathalyzer test is specific enough, fit for 15

purpose to call the shot, you're drunk.  16

Are you actually aware that they do three tests, 17 Q

and two of them are confirmatory, on DUI, in every 18

state that I'm aware of, as I've prosecuted and 19

defended them; are you aware of that? 20

Do they do blood analysis as a result of that?  21 A

They do breath alcohol analysis and they 22 Q

blanket -- 23

   MR. DANFORD:  Gentlemen, I think we're 24

getting a little off target, can we --25
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   MR. ROMM:  He used an example.  1

   MR. DANFORD:  No, I understand that, I 2

understand why you say that.  We're just getting 3

well off target, we need to get back to it.  4

Okay.  Just to finalize, you said fit for purpose; 5 Q

right? 6

Yes. 7 A

The purpose of those two tests was to determine 8 Q

the normal physiological level in Cartaire 9

specifically.  For that particular purpose, for 10

that specific purpose, you're saying you don't 11

need confirmatory testing? 12

It wasn't the purpose to know that Cartaire was 13 A

even associated with those samples. 14

I understand at the time it was taken, but now 15 Q

it's being used for that purpose.  So now that 16

it's being used for that purpose, shouldn't it 17

have been confirmed?  Fit for purpose, just like 18

you said.  19

I would not agree with that.20 A

   MR. ROMM:  Okay.  21

   MR. DANFORD:  Anything further, Mr. Romm?  22

   MR. ROMM:  No.23

   MR. DANFORD:  All right.  Questions from 24

the panel?  25
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   MS. WERNER:  I have one.  If a horse is 1

given GABA above -- introduced to it, not 2

naturally, how long does it take for it to get out 3

of its system and go back to its normal level?4

   THE WITNESS:  It's going to be a function 5

of dose, but let's assume that's a dose that 6

doesn't cause an adverse reaction -- 7

   MS. WERNER:  Okay.8

   THE WITNESS: -- okay, other than a 9

quieting. 10

   MS. WERNER:  Yes.11

   THE WITNESS:  I would -- based on what 12

I've seen, within 12 hours.13

   MS. WERNER:  All right.14

   THE WITNESS:  And possibly, on the 15

outside, 24 hours, but it's a short period of 16

time.17

   MS. WERNER:  Okay.18

   THE WITNESS:  In my studies, it was back 19

to normal by, I think it was eight hours.20

   MS. WERNER:  And you indicated that orally 21

it doesn't affect a horse and that the gut really 22

rejects the extra.  23

   THE WITNESS:  True.24

   MS. WERNER:  Well, so if a horse is eating 25
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grass how -- how does that affect its normal and 1

how long would it last?  2

   THE WITNESS:  That I don't -- 3

   MS. WERNER:  That's probably a tough 4

question. 5

   THE WITNESS:  That I don't know.  But we 6

do know from the Knych study, where they 7

administered 1,650 milligrams of GABA orally, only 8

9 percent of that was absorbed -- 9

   MS. WERNER:  Oh, all right.10

   THE WITNESS: -- into the gut.11

   MS. WERNER:  Into the gut.12

   THE WITNESS:  After it gets in the gut -- 13

or into the bloodstream, it still has to cross the 14

blood brain barrier.15

   MS. WERNER:  Thank you.16

   MS. CRONAN:  One question.  You talked 17

about tall fescue and fitness versus retired as 18

two possible factors that could affect that GABA 19

naturally occurring in the horse in particular.  20

Are there other factors that -- such as size, such 21

as age, such as any of that, that would affect the 22

naturally occurring GABA in the horse?23

   THE WITNESS:  The best data would be that 24

of Knych, where they used horses from all over, so 25
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to speak, and different ages.  So the answer would 1

be there would be very little effect.  2

   THE WITNESS:  Okay.  3

   MR. DANFORD:  What I thought she was going 4

to ask you was the -- in the -- the disparity in 5

results between your studies and Dr. Lomangino's 6

-- or Mr. Lomangino's studies, was that due in any 7

part, in your mind, to the fact that you used LCMS 8

and he used GCMS?  9

   THE WITNESS:  Absolutely.10

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  There have been a lot 11

of questions today that have talked about the 12

difference between those two levels.  But without 13

specifically tying them to the technology that you 14

used to do the test, okay, so I want to kind of 15

back through that.  When RMTC recommended the one 16

to 110 level, they were using LCMS; correct?17

   THE WITNESS:  Correct.18

   MR. DANFORD:  In your mind, if you had 19

done -- if you had taken the same population of 20

horses that Mr. Lomangino had, but you had done 21

LCMS instead of GCMS, would you have expected to 22

get a higher -- the higher mean in those horses?23

   THE WITNESS:  I don't -- would you restate 24

your question?25
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   MR. DANFORD:  I lost you, I'm sorry.  So 1

if you had taken the same 85 horses Lomangino had 2

tested, or the samples, okay, and if you had taken 3

those samples and run them through LCMS instead of 4

GCMS, which he used, would you have expected the 5

mean that you generated to be higher than the mean 6

he generated?  7

   THE WITNESS:  Yes, it would have been 8

higher.  And one thing that I was not asked, why 9

the difference between LCMS and GCMS.10

   MR. DANFORD:  Uh-huh.11

   THE WITNESS:  There's a technique called 12

ion suppression.  And when you do these extracts, 13

you bring out just not GABA, there's 14

phospholipids, a whole bunch of compounds, and 15

they are notorious for suppressing a response.  So 16

I have not conducted the experiment, but knowledge 17

in literature would suggest that ion suppression 18

is probably the reason why there's the major 19

difference and occluding.  So it's an instrumental 20

detection method, I said that, and also a horse 21

difference. 22

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  So your -- not 23

strictly mathematical, but, essentially, roughly, 24

your results from your study were three times 25
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higher than the results from doctor -- from Mr. 1

Lomangino's study; correct?2

   THE WITNESS:  Correct.3

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  And how much of that 4

three times disparity do you attribute to the 5

difference between LCMS and GCMS?6

   THE WITNESS:  I can't give a straight 7

answer on that, because you need to -- you would 8

need to know the horse factor, as well as the 9

instrument factor.10

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.11

   THE WITNESS:  So I can't give you a 12

straight answer.  13

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  But I guess just in 14

terms of even ballpark, do you think that, you 15

know, with the same -- say it's the same horse 16

being tested with both methods; would you expect 17

the LCMS results to be twice as high, third as 18

high, a fourth as high?  19

   THE WITNESS:  I'd say at least twice as 20

high. 21

   MR. DANFORD:  At least twice as high, 22

okay.23

   MS. CRONAN:  What if it wasn't just the 24

same horse, what if it was a split sample taken 25
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from the horse at one time, but run differently?1

   THE WITNESS:  Using two different methods, 2

that hasn't been done to my knowledge.3

   MS. CRONAN:  No, I know, I just was 4

curious. 5

   THE WITNESS:  I'd say a factor of two.  6

   MR. DANFORD:  So the RMTC study, when they 7

make a -- when they come up with say a 110 8

nanogram level, LCMS, you would expect that to 9

actually translate to something lower if it were 10

GCMS that you were testing with?11

   THE WITNESS:  Yes.12

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  You were asked about 13

whether you had suggested 190 nanogram level, and 14

you said you had.  What was not asked was, was  15

that based upon LCMS testing?16

   THE WITNESS:  At the time it was -- that's 17

the only data out there. 18

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay, all right.  So if 19

someone had said to you, okay, Dr. Maylin, we're 20

not going to do LCMS testing, we're going to do 21

GCMS testing, would you have made the same 22

suggestion, with what you know now?23

   THE WITNESS:  Yes.  I would have gone with 24

-- knowing the difference between the two 25
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techniques, I would have gone with what was being 1

used on USEF laboratory.2

   MR. DANFORD:  Which is what?3

   THE WITNESS:  GCMS.4

   MR. DANFORD:  GCMS, okay.  So you would 5

have gone with the lower number?  6

   THE WITNESS:  Yes.7

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay, all right.  Which I 8

think is consistent with the testimony we've had 9

today that considered going with that lower 10

number, but then decided to go to a higher number, 11

the LCMS number, in order to be protective of the 12

horse or -- or trainers; correct?13

   THE WITNESS:  Correct.14

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay, all right.  So the 15

fact -- and I think our levels here, if I remember 16

correctly, they were -- there was a slight range 17

from 176 to 202, and then there's a 188 point 18

something in the middle.  I assume what you did is 19

took the middle value as being -- for your report; 20

is that correct?  21

   THE WITNESS:  I believe I averaged them.22

   MR. DANFORD:  You averaged them, okay, all 23

right.  So it came out to that 188.  With knowing 24

that that 188 average came from GCMS testing, do 25
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you believe that that result is in any way 1

comparable or close to your 190 level under LCMS?  2

   THE WITNESS:  I believe my LCMS would have 3

been above the 190.  4

   MR. DANFORD:  Any further questions for 5

this witness?  6

   MR. ROMM:  I have one more.7

   MR. DANFORD:  Sure.8

RE-CROSS EXAMINATION9

BY MR. ROMM:10

I want to be absolutely clear on this point.  11 Q

Everything you just testified to about the 12

difference in the result between your study and 13

the USEF study being caused by the difference in 14

the two methods of testing and the amount of 50 15

percent, you can't point to any scientific basis 16

to support that statement, that that is, in fact, 17

a guess on your part, in that you to a -- to a 18

reasonable degree of scientific certainty, you 19

cannot support that statement; is that not true? 20

I don't agree with you.  21 A

Okay.  22 Q

It's not a guess. 23 A

Then -- 24 Q

It's 40 years worth of analytical chemistry 25 A
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background.  I was the first to have LCMS, I was 1

the first to have GCMS, and applying it to 2

analysis of drugs, not GABA necessarily.  So 3

knowing the literature, knowing the analytical 4

laboratory that I work in, I would expect LCMS to 5

generate a higher concentration on the same sample 6

relative to GCMS.  You're right, I do not know of 7

any published data comparing the two, so -- but 8

what I'm telling you, I'm proffering a 9

professional opinion, not a guess.  10

Okay.  I apologize for calling it a guess, but let 11 Q

me ask you this.  There's no published data and 12

you personally did not do actual testing to 13

determine that? 14

That's correct. 15 A

You're doing it based on that?  16 Q

The answer's, yes, correct. 17 A

All right.  18 Q

I'm getting hungry.  19 A

Me too.  So, basically, at this point it's your 20 Q

opinion, but it's not scientifically supportable 21

at this time?  22

   MR. DANFORD:  I think he's already 23

answered that question.24

   MR. ROMM:  Okay, I got it.  Thank you.25
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   MR. DANFORD:  Any further questions?1

   MR. FOREMAN:  I'm sorry, just one 2

follow-up as a result of that question.3

RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION4

BY MR. FOREMAN:5

Dr. Maylin, your lab has been asked, at least on 6 Q

one occasion, to confirm the presence of GABA in a  7

sample that was reported in excess of the normal 8

concentration by the USEF laboratory, did you not? 9

Yes. 10 A

All right.  And that sample was tested at your 11 Q

laboratory by LCMS, was it not? 12

Yes.13 A

   MR. ROMM:  Objection.  I have no idea 14

where -- 15

        MR. FOREMAN:  You said, no, it's never 16

been done.17

   MR. ROMM:  He said -- I'm talking the 18

difference in the two.  He's asking a question 19

about --20

   MR. DANFORD:  Wait, wait, wait.  You just 21

asked the question, you just made the statement in 22

fact, you have no scientific basis to compare the 23

two.  I think Mr. Foreman -- that does open the 24

door for Mr. Foreman to say is that not true.  I'm 25
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interested in knowing. 1

There was at least one instance in one of the 2 Q

cases previously heard by this Hearing Committee 3

in which the B sample was tested by LCMS at the 4

Federation's laboratory, was it not? 5

Yes, and we had a higher level.  But one Swallow 6 A

does not a summer make.  And I was asked for a 7

scientific, well-documented study. 8

I understand that.  But you do have an example 9 Q

where you did test a sample that was tested by 10

GCMS, and your result was significantly higher in 11

that case, was it not? 12

Correct, yes.13 A

   MR. DANFORD:  And what do you mean by 14

significantly?  15

   MR. FOREMAN:  Well, I could refresh him on 16

the numbers, but -- 17

I believe maybe two or three times higher.  18 A

It was actually five times higher.19 Q

   MR. DANFORD:  Really?20

   MR. FOREMAN:  And I would refer the 21

Hearing Committee to the case of USEF vs. Farmer 22

Hill.  The GABA level, I believe, was reported by 23

the Federation's laboratory at approximately 2,000 24

nanograms.  The split sample, as tested by the New 25
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York Equine Drug Testing and Research Laboratory, 1

was in excess of 10,000 nanograms.  2

   MR. ROMM:  So the 62 to the 190 is not 3

five times.  So that doesn't explain anything.  4

   MR. FOREMAN:  You asked him and his answer 5

was he would expect two to three times, he just 6

testified two to three times.  He doesn't recall, 7

because he didn't do the B test.  But in that case 8

the difference was five times.  9

   MR. ROMM:  Exactly, thank you.  10

   MR. DANFORD:  All right.  Any further 11

questions for Dr. Maylin?  All right, sir, you may 12

step down.13

   MR. FOREMAN:  I need five minutes to 14

cancel my flight.15

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.16

   (A short recess was taken, whereupon the 17

hearing continued.)18

DR. STEPHEN SCHUMACHER19

The witness herein, having been first duly placed 20

under oath, was examined and testified as follows: 21

DIRECT EXAMINATION22

BY MR. FOREMAN:23

Dr. Schumacher, I'm going to briefly examine you, 24 Q

given the late hour and the fact we have been here 25
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for hours.  I think your testimony, in some 1

respects you've given it so many times that we 2

don't need to do it again.  3

   Anyway, just for the record identify 4

yourself.  5

Stephen Schumacher, I'm the Chief Administrator of 6 A

the USEF Equine Drugs and Medications Program. 7

And just very briefly, because we don't have your 8 Q

curriculum vitae or otherwise, just for the record 9

very quickly your background? 10

I have a BS in biology from the Citadel, South 11 A

Carolina.  I received my veterinarian degree at 12

Ohio State University.  I'm currently a graduate 13

student post-candidacy working on a PhD in 14

pharmacology, specifically equine. 15

All right.  And what practical experience have you 16 Q

had? 17

I've done research for a number of years, working 18 A

for the heart transplant program at Ohio State, 19

working on using canines as models for proximate 20

staplers.  I've done equine research at the 21

College of Veterinary Medicine at OSU for a number 22

of years before going to vet school, then during 23

vet school, and currently engaged in research now. 24

And how long have you been Administrator of the 25 Q
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Federation's Drugs and Medications Program? 1

This is my ninth year. 2 A

All right.  In the course of your -- what are your 3 Q

responsibilities as the Administrator of the 4

program? 5

Supervising the program, I assign the competitions 6 A

or select the competitions for testing.  Oversee 7

the process from collection to laboratory.  If 8

there's a finding, findings are referred to me in 9

the Columbus, Ohio, office by Tom Lomangino, our 10

laboratory director.  We do an investigation, 11

conduct an investigation, looking for medication 12

report forms that may document compliance with the 13

rule.  If we fail to find one or if we suspect 14

that a violation has occurred, we forward it to 15

the Federation's Regulations Department here in 16

Lexington, Kentucky. 17

All right.  You're also involved in rule making 18 Q

and development of policies and protocols involved 19

in drugs and medications in the performance horse 20

industry? 21

I'm a committee liaison for the Federation, for 22 A

both the Equine Drugs and Medications Committee 23

and the Veterinary Committee.  I also just 24

recently came off the FEI Veterinary Committee for 25

309

Federation Equestre International.  I was on there 1

for three years as the US representative.  I'm 2

currently -- I just received an appointment in 3

January for the FEI's equine substance or list 4

group for the next four years. 5

Now, I want to direct your attention to the 6 Q

subject of this case, which is gamma-aminobutyric 7

acid, or GABA.  You have been involved in the 8

Federation's work with GABA from the beginning, 9

have you not? 10

I have. 11 A

Would you briefly describe the work you've done, 12 Q

why the Federation became involved with GABA, and 13

just walk us through from the start to where we 14

are now, and what you've done and what we're 15

looking for.  16

It's been four years now, but, roughly, around 17 A

June of 2011, started getting phone calls from 18

veterinarians, competitors about a new substance 19

out there that was being used.  Occasionally the 20

calls have been due -- because the horses had 21

collapsed.  They initially thought it may have 22

been Mag Sulfate, but they are identifying this 23

new substance out there.  Once we became aware of 24

it we started looking into it a little bit more.  25
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We had one of our D and M committee members in 1

October also reemphasize that they had heard about 2

this.  3

   We continued to collect information, 4

acquired some product, inquired with our 5

consultant, Dr. Maylin, whether or not it was 6

something that we could test for.  Once he figured 7

a way that we could test for it or detect the 8

levels in a horse, we did an administration study.  9

Following the administration study, beginning of 10

it we were concerned about -- you know, frankly, 11

from the reports from the field, the industry, of 12

horses collapsing, horses having an issue with 13

this substance, we actually decided to make it 14

forbidden, regardless of the status of the test, 15

from a welfare standpoint, for people as well as 16

for horses.  And so that decision was made.  And 17

we went ahead and provided the notice to the 18

membership in February, I believe, that -- 19

February of? 20 Q

2012.  And so we made notification to the 21 A

membership, started continuing to collect samples 22

and started looking at samples.  Actually, had 23

reserved some of the samples that we'd started 24

collecting in March.  And then once we felt that 25
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the test was appropriate, we went ahead and went 1

back and tested those, and we did find positives.  2

We started -- because we still found positives 3

after our notification, we made a second 4

notification to the membership in July of 2012.  5

   And then I think we had our first hearings 6

in November of 2012, for GABA.  And I think the 7

first two hearings we had were admitted 8

administration, which kind of validated where we 9

were calling.  When we initially set up our level 10

for GABA we had done a couple different surveys, 11

like we really looked at trying to be as 12

conservative as possible.  And we could do that 13

because our administration work, when we gave the 14

GABA to horses the way it was reported in the 15

field, we were getting very, very high levels.  So 16

we were conservative in our -- the action point at 17

which we were starting to call positives 18

concerning the way it was being used.  Since then 19

we have -- 20

Could I just interrupt you there.  What was the 21 Q

action level? 22

It was 190. 23 A

All right.  Why was it set at 190? 24 Q

That was based on work by Dr. Maylin, a population 25 A
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study. 1

And at that time there had been two population 2 Q

studies, or I think at that time there were two.  3

One was Dr. Maylin's work, was there also a 4

population study done by Mr. Lomangino? 5

There was a population study done with 6 A

Thoroughbred, or retired racehorses here in 7

Lexington that was conducted through our 8

laboratory, with another population of horses 9

where -- and that work was done by GCMS, as 10

opposed to Dr. Maylin's work, which was done by 11

LCMS. 12

And the mean plus or minus four standard 13 Q

deviations using GCMS was significantly lower, was 14

it not, than that by Dr. Maylin using LCMS? 15

That's correct, it was.  And, again, we knew 60 -- 16 A

62 was the action level where it was determined, 17

based on the Kentucky population study using GCMS 18

technology.  But, again, we felt 190 was even more 19

conservative and would give our membership more of 20

a -- I don't know, be more considerate of that 21

level.  It was only after we heard mention from 22

the industry that people had altered the way they 23

were administering the drug, rather than giving 10 24

cc.s IV or IM of a GABA mixture, they were 25

313

starting to give 3 cc.s -- a cc and a half IM 1

closer to the time of competition, where they were 2

trying to titrate so it would not exceed that 3

number, but still gain an effect on the horse.  4

   We did multiple double-blind 5

administration.  What that is, we did a couple in 6

2013, a couple in 2014, to really try and document 7

that this route of administration was getting 8

these levels that were less than 190 and above our 9

62.  So what we did for double-blind 10

administration sample, if you're not familiar, we 11

actually have the drug administered to a horse, 12

collect samples.  We submit them to the 13

laboratory, but we actually send them to a testing 14

veterinarian, and they submit them as part of 15

their cooler.  They fill out a sample ID card, say 16

test, double blind, it goes to the laboratory.  So 17

the laboratory has no knowledge of what they're 18

receiving, it's up to them to call it.  19

   Specifically in 2013, we were using a 20

higher dose.  In 2014, we're using a lower dose.  21

And I want to say we did one in April, one in May 22

at a lower dose.  And I had to -- one of them I 23

had to -- or, actually, I'm sorry, 2013, we were 24

using the higher dose.  They were coming up 25
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positive in the 300 range or so.  We went to a 1

lower dose, and I had asked Tom, our lab director, 2

to start reporting or just to look at those levels 3

that were anything above a hundred.  And then 4

after we started having -- you know, we sent the 5

double-blinds through and they were hitting at 6

around 130, 140, 150.  That's when I directed Mr. 7

Lomangino to go ahead and report anything that was 8

above a hundred nanograms. 9

You -- and that's what currently is in place? 10 Q

(Witness nods head). 11 A

You referred to the toxic effects of the 12 Q

administration of GABA.  Well, why were 13

competitors using this drug? 14

To quiet a horse.  And not necessarily quiet, it's 15 A

more taking the edge off.  When you talk about 16

drugs, I don't mean to be verbose here, when you 17

talk about drugs and sedatives, that typically 18

when you measure that sedative effect, you're 19

looking for an effect that's going to allow a 20

horse to be amenable to a medical procedure, where 21

you can actually palpate them, you can do a 22

standing surgery, you know, block joints, block 23

limbs, inject joints.  So you're looking for a 24

different level of sedation.  25
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   What people were claiming to look for, 1

what they're looking for is just enough to take 2

the edge off.  These horses were still expected to 3

go out and jump, you know, three foot fences.  So 4

they didn't want the horse depressed with his head 5

down, but it just seemed to work for people.  6

Since the laboratory began reporting GABA levels 7 Q

in excess of 100 nanograms, how many positive 8

reports have you received from the laboratory? 9

Two. 10 A

All right.  And is this case one? 11 Q

This is the second one, yes. 12 A

All right.  And the Federation recently prosecuted 13 Q

the other one that was in excess of a hundred, did 14

it not? 15

Yes, we did. 16 A

There was also something different about these two 17 Q

cases that you did not have previously; am I 18

correct? 19

That's correct. 20 A

That is at some point the Federation laboratory 21 Q

began testing every blood sample that was being 22

sent to it from the shows for the presence of 23

gamma-aminobutyric acid, or GABA; am I correct? 24

That's correct. 25 A
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So everyone was being screened? 1 Q

(Witness nods head). 2 A

And the laboratory was generating that data and 3 Q

holding that data? 4

That is correct. 5 A

So when the early testing began you had no way to 6 Q

determine what a horse's normal GABA level was; is 7

that correct? 8

That is correct. 9 A

All right.  Now that you've had three years of 10 Q

experience, you have an opportunity with horses 11

whose levels test high, to look back to see if 12

that horse has been previously tested? 13

That is correct. 14 A

All right.  And, of course, there's nothing to 15 Q

prevent a B sample from being tested by the New 16

York laboratory? 17

There's nothing that's against the rules. 18 A

And there's, quite frankly, nothing to prevent a 19 Q

competitor from requesting that his or her horse 20

be quarantined to determine what their normal 21

level is? 22

We would -- we would definitely look into that I 23 A

think, knowing what we know now, yes. 24

And at the time that you established the action 25 Q
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level of 190, wasn't that number tied to the fact 1

that one in 10,000 horses could possibly test at 2

the highest level, which is at 190, using LCMS? 3

Statistically speaking, the -- and, frankly, it's 4 A

even higher than that, because one in 10,000 is 5

3.72 standard deviations.  When you go to four 6

standard deviations, you're actually higher than 7

that, so -- but, yeah, that was the determination.  8

That's been kind of the industry standard 9

internationally even for a variety of substances 10

when looking at trying to -- let's say a risk 11

factor of calling something that may have been 12

normal as positive.  But, you know, that's saying 13

that one in 10,000 may be around 190 or slightly 14

over 190. 15

But you were protecting, were you not, the 16 Q

possibility that a horse whose level might test at 17

190 might have a naturally occurring GABA level of 18

190? 19

Absolutely. 20 A

Okay.  But that changed when the laboratory began 21 Q

testing every sample for the presence of GABA; 22

correct? 23

That's correct. 24 A

Now, in this particular case, you received a 25 Q
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report from the laboratory of a blood sample 1

containing GABA in excess of normal physiologic 2

levels on -- the letter was dated September 16, 3

2014?  4

That's correct. 5 A

Is that correct? 6 Q

That's correct. 7 A

When you get that report from the laboratory what 8 Q

do you do? 9

What was the date of that, I'm sorry?  10 A

September 16th, 2014.  11 Q

We do conduct an investigation, look at the sample 12 A

identification card, match it up with the ID 13

number.  And then we research to find if there 14

have been any medication report forms filed for 15

that drug for that horse.  And if we believe 16

there's a violation we forward it on to 17

regulations. 18

All right.  In this case, the sample number that 19 Q

was reported was A-12218? 20

I believe so. 21 A

And that was from the Blenheim Summer Classic.  22 Q

Dr. Emily Sandler-Burtness is the testing 23

veterinarian? 24

Yes. 25 A
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All right.  So when you received the report, did 1 Q

you conduct an investigation to determine the name 2

of the horse, the owner, trainer, and the other 3

relevant information? 4

I did. 5 A

Does the laboratory have any of that information 6 Q

when it gets it? 7

They have no information regarding that.  They 8 A

have the competition, the date, the gender, and 9

the age of the horse, and then also which rules to 10

apply for testing. 11

Now, you in your career, prior to becoming the 12 Q

administrator of the program, you actually were a 13

testing veterinarian for the Federation and a 14

technician? 15

I collected urine for the AHSA at the time, well 16 A

before I went to veterinary school, and then 17

through veterinary school.  And then after 18

veterinary school I have been a testing 19

veterinarian for some time before I'm currently in 20

my role now. 21

All right.  You're familiar then with the sample 22 Q

cards that are used at the shows? 23

I am. 24 A

Do you actually provide these cards to the testing 25 Q
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veterinarian along with the sample kits? 1

We do. 2 A

All right.  And I'm showing you the sample card 3 Q

A-12218.  Is this the original card that you 4

retrieved when you received the report from Mr. 5

Lomangino? 6

That is.  Well, that's the original card we had in 7 A

our office, yes. 8

And that's furnished to you by who? 9 Q

The testing veterinarian. 10 A

In this case Dr. Sandler? 11 Q

Dr. Sandler. 12 A

All right.  Before this card is sent to you, it's 13 Q

got other portions of the card that are attached 14

before they test the horse, collect the blood and 15

urine? 16

That's correct.  So it has -- at the top it has 17 A

urine -- or, I'm sorry, blood at the top, an A and 18

a B tag.  As well as in between the A and B tags 19

it has a portion on there for receipt, that 20

documents the number on the card, the number on 21

the samples, as well as the testing veterinarian 22

and the date, and the competition.  Then you have 23

the body of the card with the information on one 24

side, signatures on -- space on the other.  At the 25
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bottom of the card, the last perforated area is 1

for the A and B urine samples. 2

All right.  With respect -- let's just take the 3 Q

collection of the blood sample.  How is the -- 4

when the blood is collected what happens to the 5

portion of the card that is the A and the B tags 6

for the blood? 7

They're removed and affixed to the samples.  The 8 A

samples are collected, three blood tubes are 9

collected; two comprise the A sample, one 10

comprises the B sample.  Caps are applied to 11

prevent any introduction of anything post 12

collection.  The tubes are taped up with security 13

tape, as well as an incorporation of the strings 14

of the attachment for the individual tags for the 15

A and B sample.  Then they're placed in their own 16

respective A and B evidence sample bags. 17

All right.  And then what's the testing 18 Q

veterinarian supposed to do with those samples 19

once they have been secured in the plastic bag? 20

They secure them on their person, then they take 21 A

them and secure them following the competition, 22

and then they ship them to the laboratory.  23

Now, there is a packing list that you have 24 Q

prepared by the testing veterinarian which 25
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indicates the number of samples that are 1

collected; are you familiar with that? 2

Yes. 3 A

All right.  In this case, Dr. Sandler indicated 4 Q

the number of urines that were collected and not 5

the number of bloods.  Do you find that on 6

occasion testing veterinarians don't properly put 7

the information on the packing list? 8

I'd love to say it never happens, but occasionally 9 A

it does happen.  I think what's unique in that 10

situation is there were no numbers entered, as 11

opposed to zeros placed.  So I think Dr. Sandler 12

does -- she's probably one of our top two or three 13

testing vets in the country as far as volume, also 14

being an FEI veterinarian.  So she's very, very 15

experienced, but I don't know why, but she failed 16

to put for the bloods the number of samples.  But, 17

again, there was no zero.  18

   So it's one of those things where it's 19

intended to tell the laboratory what to expect.  20

So when the laboratory receives the samples, they 21

make the notation to notify us, we inform them.  22

But following giving a notification we compare 23

what we have on the sample collection worksheet. 24

All right.  And there is a sample collection 25 Q
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worksheet that the testing veterinarian fills out? 1

That's correct. 2 A

All right.  And Dr. Sandler filled out a sample 3 Q

collection worksheet, did she not, for the 4

Blenheim show held from August 13th to August 5

17th? 6

She did. 7 A

All right.  And I'm going to show you --8 Q

   MR. ROMM:  Can I see it?9

   MR. FOREMAN:  Yes.  10

Did you, in fact, receive a sample collection 11 Q

worksheet from Dr. Sandler? 12

I did. 13 A

There's a Bates stamp on the worksheet.  14 Q

That's correct.  15 A

Is that stamped by your office when you receive 16 Q

it? 17

That is correct. 18 A

All right.  And the date that it was received by 19 Q

your office was August 22nd, 2014? 20

Yes. 21 A

And that was received from Dr. Sandler? 22 Q

That's correct. 23 A

All right.  Does the worksheet indicate the blood 24 Q

samples that were collected from the Blenheim 25
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show? 1

It does.  It indicates that Cartaire was selected 2 A

for testing, trainer's name, sample ID number, 3

entry number, class number, and then the samples 4

that were collected were both the blood and urine 5

sample. 6

All right.  And they are, according to her 7 Q

worksheet, A-12218? 8

A-12218. 9 A

Okay, all right.  So she sent you paperwork that 10 Q

indicated she collected a blood sample from 11

Cartaire.  And I assume you've seen the analytical 12

data which shows the collection and inspection 13

information from the laboratory, which indicates 14

they did receive sample A-12218 blood samples? 15

Correct, yes. 16 A

Okay.  And as a result of the report you received 17 Q

from Mr. Lomangino with respect to sample A-12218, 18

you then recommended that a charge be issued in 19

this case? 20

I did. 21 A

All right.  Now, as you indicated, there is a -- 22 Q

would you agree with me there's a new tool that 23

you now have available to you where you can look 24

back to see whether the horse has been tested 25
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previously for GABA? 1

It's not necessarily a new tool, it's a new 2 A

experience.  Just the fact that when testing for a 3

substance that is endogenously produced, and we're 4

testing for that substance, we can go back now, 5

since we have been testing for three years, we can 6

go back and look at what the horse tested before.  7

Specifically this popped up last year, last 8

August.  9

   And then you asked me about the previous 10

case that had below 190, in that situation we had 11

tested the horse on a Friday night.  The horse 12

tested above 100, if I can share -- 13

130.  14 Q

130.  And we were developing a new technique for 15 A

testing.  And what we were doing is the next 16

night, it was a two-part class, so the next night 17

they competed again.  So we assigned a technician 18

to each of the top three horses three hours before 19

they competed.  Because we'd heard they were 20

giving this injection a couple hours beforehand or 21

even on the way to the ring.  So we assigned the 22

technician to the horse three hours before and 23

stay with the horse, observe the horse and 24

everything.  25
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   We got another sample after the horse 1

finished that night.  The horse won Friday night, 2

was third the second night, and went from 130, I 3

think, down to 19 the next day.  And so it became 4

apparent -- you know, it wasn't intended at that 5

point that we were going to go out and get any 6

specific case, but it became apparent that this 7

was an additional tool to show that, you know, 8

this horse -- because that's the complaint we had, 9

people said, well, maybe my horse just has a high 10

level.  But now when we had it, it was obvious 11

that this horse had been administered GABA the 12

night before. 13

Then did I not request of you that you run a horse 14 Q

report to determine whether the horse, Cartaire, 15

had been previously tested? 16

Yes. 17 A

All right.  And did I ask you to search for any 18 Q

tests of the horse from January 1, 2014, until the 19

present time? 20

You did. 21 A

All right.  And a horse report was generated? 22 Q

Yes. 23 A

How do you generate that report? 24 Q

I'd like to say I know exactly how, but the way I 25 A
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do it is I ask Diana, in my office, to generate a 1

horse report, give her the dates and then it 2

appears on my desk.  The way she does it, I 3

believe, is you get into HSD and actually search 4

for the horse.  I'm embarrassed to say I'm not 5

really a strong user of HSD, which is a good 6

thing, but Diana is.  And so she presented me with 7

the horse report once I provided her with the 8

dates. 9

All right.  Now, when you receive the horse report 10 Q

how are you able to find out whether or not the 11

horse has been tested at a particular show? 12

Again, Diana is very helpful.  What we do is we 13 A

actually go back and look and see what was tested.  14

So we look at those competitions that the horse 15

attended, and then we just pull up a list and say, 16

okay, which ones did we test.  And the ones we did 17

test, we pull those files out, and we look at the 18

sample collection worksheet, look at the card, and 19

you look for the horse, and then we can tell if 20

the horse has been tested. 21

Now, the laboratory doesn't know anything about 22 Q

name, trainer, anything?  23

They have no idea. 24 A

They just know sample numbers? 25 Q
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Yes. 1 A

All right.  Now, with respect to Cartaire, the 2 Q

report showed that Cartaire had competed at the 3

Atlanta Winter Classic II on January 23rd, 2014; 4

correct? 5

That's correct. 6 A

All right.  And in doing your investigation, did 7 Q

you determine that Cartaire had been drug tested? 8

We did. 9 A

All right.  And what was the sample number that 10 Q

had been assigned to Cartaire?  I've got the 11

sample card here if that will help you.12

   MR. ROMM:  As to the line of questioning 13

regarding the other two tests, I make the same 14

objection I made before.  15

That's it.  That's correct.16 A

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.17

   MR. ROMM:  We weren't provided with backup 18

data, the testing wasn't confirmed.  And as far as 19

a determination as to whether or not it is, in 20

actuality, proof of Cartaire's normal 21

physiological level, that has not been determined.  22

   MR. DANFORD:  And you can certainly 23

cross-examine on those topics. 24

Dr. Schumacher, did you then request the 25 Q
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laboratory to determine whether or not it had 1

tested for GABA sample number A-09167? 2

I did. 3 A

All right.  And did you receive a report from the 4 Q

laboratory -- were you notified by the laboratory? 5

We were notified by the laboratory.  The request I 6 A

make is just the competition, the date of the 7

competition, the date of the sample collection, 8

and the sample ID number.  And all I did was ask 9

for the GABA levels that were determined in the 10

sample.  I think that was over a year prior. 11

Right.  And for -- I mean, I guess I could bring 12 Q

Mr. Lomangino's affidavit over to you, but to save 13

time, in his affidavit he states that blood sample 14

A-09167 was screened for gamma-aminobutyric acid 15

and found it contained 41.5 nanograms; do you 16

recall that? 17

That sounds right, yes. 18 A

In your opinion, based on all the work you've 19 Q

done, does that establish a normal GABA 20

concentration in Cartaire? 21

Yes. 22 A

All right.  There was a second show at which 23 Q

Cartaire was tested, on May the 6th, 2015, 24

according to the report, Show Park Ranch and Coast 25
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Classic Horse Show, sample number B-06753?  1

Yes. 2 A

Is that correct? 3 Q

Yes. 4 A

Just, curiously, I note on the bottom of the card 5 Q

that both urine sample A and B tags are not 6

affixed; is there a reason? 7

They're still affixed; in other words, we did not 8 A

collect a urine sample from that horse. 9

Okay.  Did you request of the laboratory that it 10 Q

look to see whether or not it tested for GABA --11

I did. 12 A

-- blood sample B-06753?  And I guess just to 13 Q

shorten things, do you recall receiving 14

information from the laboratory that the blood 15

sample number B-06753 was screened for 16

gamma-aminobutyric acid, found it contained 34 17

nanograms? 18

I do recall that. 19 A

Is that further indication to you that Cartaire's 20 Q

normal GABA level was somewhere around 41, 34? 21

Yes. 22 A

All right.  In your professional opinion, having 23 Q

done all of this work, is the level that was 24

reported from Cartaire in this case of 25
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approximately -- I think Dr. Maylin averaged it 1

out, there were three separate tests, in excess of 2

180 nanograms.  Would that be an indication to you 3

that GABA had been administered to Cartaire in 4

connection with the Blenheim show on August the 5

14th? 6

Yes, it would be.  7 A

One last question, Dr. Schumacher.  Is there any 8 Q

reason for anyone to give GABA to a horse? 9

There's no identified therapeutic purpose for GABA 10 A

to be administered to a horse, not that I'm aware 11

of.12

   MR. FOREMAN:  No further questions.  13

   MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Romm.14

CROSS EXAMINATION15

BY MR. ROMM:16

Good evening, Dr. Schumacher.  17 Q

Good evening.  18 A

You were asked to pull the screening tests from 19 Q

January 1, 2014, forward? 20

Actually, we started doing -- well, yes, that's 21 A

when -- when it started, we wanted a clean break, 22

January, 2014.  23

But you were testing for GABA before that? 24 Q

Yes. 25 A

332

www.ratemyhorsepro.com

Rate
MyH

orse
PRO.co

m



Page 333 to 336 of 420

www.sworntestimonyky.com | 859.533.8961

Sworn Testimony, PLLC  |  Lexington & Louisville

Did you go back and find and -- and actually look 1 Q

to see if there were screening tests done prior to 2

January 1, 2014, did you make -- 3

The reason we picked January 1st of 2014, was 4 A

because while I would love to do the work, I don't 5

do the work.  And to make it easier we picked a 6

date and said, hey, look for these competitions 7

and see if we can find a sample.  We ended up 8

finding a sample, a control sample.  At that time, 9

that's where we stopped.  Then we continued to do 10

it in the proceeding months now, leading up, just 11

to see if we got another sample.  And we did and 12

that's when we found the one from May.  13

But you didn't go back before January to test -- 14 Q

to look to see if there were any other tests done 15

on Cartaire? 16

That was what I was asked to do is January 1st. 17 A

Okay.  Are you aware that the Respondents have 18 Q

requested any testing data for screening tests 19

that occurred between 2012 and January 1 of 2014? 20

I get the requests from Mr. Foreman.  21 A

Did that request get transmitted to you? 22 Q

Not that I'm aware of.  But, again, once we found 23 A

a control sample, that was what we were interested 24

in.  25
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Okay.  The screening tests -- and you're aware 1 Q

that there was no confirmatory testing done on 2

those screening tests?  3

There's -- I'm a veterinarian and budding 4 A

pharmacologist, but not a chemist.  But we don't 5

confirm every sample that's negative. 6

I understand that.  7 Q

So I'm not surprised, I guess.  I don't know, I've 8 A

never run a sample for GABA, but I'm not 9

surprised.  I'm not sure why you would confirm 10

something that was determined not to be at a level 11

that you were concerned about. 12

Well, why would you confirm a sample that it was 13 Q

above, what's the purpose of confirming? 14

Because if we're going to be holding someone 15 A

accountable and alleging a violation, we would 16

want to confirm the sample, make sure it was 17

appropriate. 18

You want to be sure that the test was right.  If 19 Q

you're going to use the screening tests to 20

determine what the normal physiological level is, 21

and use that information to, therefore, imply that 22

180 is way above what his normal level is, 23

wouldn't you want to confirm those tests, too, if 24

you're going to use it for that purpose? 25
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No, I can't see the necessity to do that, I just 1 A

can't.  I mean, we have a limited amount of money.  2

To go back and confirm every negative test for 3

every drug seems a little senseless to me. 4

I didn't ask you about every negative test.  I 5 Q

asked you about the two tests that are being used 6

by USEF to find this man guilty of having 7

introduced exogenous GABA into the system of the 8

horse.  Just those two tests, all right, that are 9

being used for that purpose, why wouldn't you want 10

to do confirmatory testing on those? 11

Well, to do 40 some thousand confirmatory tests I 12 A

think would far exceed -- would probably increase 13

our budget by about a third.  14

Again, I didn't ask you about every test.  15 Q

No, no, not every test, I'm talking about every 16 A

horse that's been tested for GABA.  If we've 17

tested 30, 40, I don't know how many thousands of 18

horses we tested, when you confirm every negative 19

sample -- it's not inexpensive to test for GABA; 20

so I'm not sure why we would want to confirm a 21

negative.  If anything, we're being considerate of 22

the individual to say, you know, we're not 23

pursuing that and we shouldn't be because it's 24

below any sort of level we're concerned about. 25
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The results were 34 and 46 you said? 1 Q

I believe it was 41 and 34. 2 A

Or 34 and 41, I mean.3 Q

   MR. FOREMAN:  Yeah.  4

You were asked if the result of 41 indicated a 5 Q

normal GABA concentration, and you said yes.  I 6

want to be clear on what's being asked and what's 7

being answered.  You're stating that the result of 8

a 41 falls within what you consider to be a normal 9

endogenous GABA level in horses, or are you saying 10

that Cartaire's specific normal physiological 11

level is 41? 12

I'm saying that falls in the normal range, what we 13 A

would expect a horse to have.  14

Okay.  So these tests do not determine what 15 Q

Cartaire's normal physiological level is by any 16

means? 17

Well, I think it provides a great deal of insight, 18 A

absolutely, especially having two tests.  19

How many tests do you need to determine the normal 20 Q

physiological level of a horse? 21

I'm sorry, I didn't understand the question. 22 A

How many tests do you need to determine the normal 23 Q

physiological level of a horse? 24

Well, I think one is a good start.  I think the 25 A
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fact we had two is confirmation. 1

Okay.  So two? 2 Q

I didn't say that. 3 A

So all these tests that test a hundred horses, and 4 Q

325, and, you know, the Maylin study did a 5

hundred; USEF, 85; California study, 147; RMTC did 6

325; they only needed to do 2? 7

I don't think that's what I said at all. 8 A

What you're saying is that two was enough to 9 Q

determine Cartaire's normal physiological level, 10

but -- 11

I'm saying -- 12 A

-- but these four studies needed well over a 13 Q

hundred horses?  14

That's not what I'm saying.15 A

   MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Romm, I don't think 16

you're listening to reason.  Explain it one more 17

time. 18

The fact that this horse had two other tests 19 A

conducted on it, and those samples fell into the 20

normal -- considered normal range for Gaussian's 21

distribution of normality, then we would consider 22

that horse to be relatively normal.  It's the same 23

thing when you undertake research frequently, when 24

you do a study where you actually use the sample, 25
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the horse is its only control.  You may only have 1

one sample baseline, and then you administer 2

something to a horse, Mag Sulfate for example, and 3

you collect samples throughout the day.  You 4

compare this all against the one control from that 5

horse in the morning.  You know, so you have -- 6

sometimes that's all the control you have in 7

research, period.  8

   I'm not saying that that's necessary, that 9

there's any number necessary.  I'm saying that we 10

have two samples from the same horse that had 11

numbers that were consistent with the normal range 12

for GABA in a horse, that's what I'm saying. 13

Okay.  Did you say that you actually -- for that 14 Q

second test you targeted the next day of the -- 15

   MR. FOREMAN:  No.  16

-- of the competition where they had, you know, 17 Q

tested first day, and then you suspected that they 18

might have had an administration of GABA, the 19

testers were to follow them and take those top 20

three and test them again, were the same horses -- 21

I'm sorry, can I have the record read back.  Did I 22 A

say -- did I ever say that?  23

   MR. FOREMAN:  No. 24

You just said that I said I targeted these people. 25 A
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Well, I'm using the word targeted.  1 Q

You said I said that, and that's not correct.2 A

Let me rephrase it then.  You stated that the 3 Q

second day -- 4

I didn't say anything about second day, I said the 5 A

second sample that was collected in May.6

   MR. FOREMAN:  Can we clarify?  Your 7

testimony was regarding the first sample that was 8

recorded as in excess after the Federation had 9

gone to an action level of 100.  We're not talking 10

about Cartaire, we're talking about a different 11

situation. 12

   MR. ROMM:  I'm not talking about Cartaire 13

either.  14

   MR. FOREMAN:  All right.15

Okay, so I'm sorry.  What you -- then I will say 16 A

that we did not target, we changed our collection 17

practices.  We had done this throughout the year.  18

We had started in Devon where we assigned 19

technicians to horses in advance of the horse 20

competing.  I'm sorry, I thought you were saying 21

that I was addressing Cartaire in May. 22

No, no.  23 Q

So what we would do is we would assign 24 A

technicians, and we had done it throughout the 25
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summer at multiple competitions.  At this 1

competition in August last year, it was a major 2

event, so we just said, hey, what we're going to 3

do, since it's two nights, we're going to take the 4

top three horses, because it helps identify horses 5

that we may want to test, and we'll test them 6

Friday night, we'll test the top three, and we'll 7

assign the technicians to the top three the next 8

day.  So it was the top three places, there was no 9

horse that was ever targeted. 10

Okay, that's what I wanted to be clear about.  11 Q

When you tested the top three the first night, you 12

didn't request a test of those same top three the 13

second night, it was just whoever fell in the top 14

three? 15

Whoever fell in the top three Friday night was 16 A

assigned a technician and tested Saturday as well.  17

We also had additional technicians that collected 18

additional samples on Saturday.  It happened to be 19

that those top three horses on Friday all finished 20

in the top three on Saturday in just slightly 21

different order.  22

When you say you assigned a technician to test the 23 Q

second night, I want to be clear, did you assign 24

them to test the three horses specifically that 25
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fell in the top three the night before? 1

Yes. 2 A

You did? 3 Q

Yes, absolutely. 4 A

So those three horses that -- that were tested the 5 Q

first night were going to get tested the second 6

night? 7

Yes, they were. 8 A

So you targeted those three horses that second 9 Q

night, because they were found to have been tested 10

in the top three the first night; that was your 11

reason for specifically testing them the second 12

night? 13

Targeting is your word.  I think it's also 14 A

providing technician coverage and visual 15

confirmation of the horse prior to the horse 16

competing.  It also demonstrated that two other 17

horses, that the samples on the two nights were 18

consistent, and they weren't administered 19

something, it proved that they weren't doing 20

something. 21

Is it the policy of the USEF to make a decision 22 Q

ahead of time as to which specific horses are 23

going to be tested in any particular competition 24

or is that supposed to be --25
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   MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Romm, it's 7:00 at 1

night.  We have still got two witnesses to go, 2

this is way far afield, I mean.  3

You talked about the two studies, one -- Maylin's 4 Q

being 190 and then USEF being at 62.  The 5

difference in the numbers, what was the -- what's 6

the scientific basis for -- in your opinion, for 7

the difference in the numbers, what were the 8

factors that caused the differences in the -- in 9

the threshold levels? 10

I mean, I'm not an analytical chemist, I'm not a 11 A

toxicologist.  It could be testing methodology, it 12

could be a specific horse population of a sample.  13

Okay.  To your knowledge -- well, you don't know 14 Q

what the reason is; right? 15

Well, I think we can guess, but I don't know. 16 A

All right.  And, to your knowledge, nobody has 17 Q

done any testing to determine what, in fact, the 18

actual reason is for that discrepancy, to your 19

knowledge? 20

No, I don't think they have.  21 A

Okay.  Is the ingestion of tall fescue a possible 22 Q

reason for an increase in GABA in a horse's 23

system? 24

I don't know, that would be a question for Dr. 25 A
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Maylin.  I would think that if it was, I think we 1

would have a lot more positives.  2

Are you aware of a study? 3 Q

I'm aware of the study when you submitted it, yes. 4 A

Okay.  Is there any reason to believe the study to 5 Q

be -- do you think you're qualified to make that 6

determination? 7

To make what determination?  8 A

That the study is somehow faulty, that -- you 9 Q

know, their conclusion that tall fescue does have 10

an effect on the GABA level of a horse? 11

I'm looking at a recent paper of Dr. Knych, I 12 A

mean, and I think they administered quite a bit 13

more GABA, and they really didn't have any 14

significant changes.  15

Changes in what? 16 Q

In GABA levels.17 A

   MR. FOREMAN:  Would you clarify that, for 18

oral administration?  19

Oral administration of GABA, giving 10 cc.s 20 A

orally, that is, I think, 1,650 milligrams of 21

GABA.  And I think they found it was an 22

insignificant change in the plasma levels of GABA 23

following oral administration.  I think -- I read 24

a lot of papers.  The fescue, I think, was -- a  25
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substantially less dose was potentially 1

administered or consumed by a horse.  2

You said that -- you said Ida asked Tom to start 3 Q

calling the test positive at a different level at 4

some point.  Is that what I heard, was it Ida? 5

No.  I asked. 6 A

You asked? 7 Q

I directed Tom, our laboratory, to start referring 8 A

or sending any findings above a hundred nanograms.  9

Okay.  Your determination -- your decision to -- 10 Q

to instruct Tom to do that, does that change the 11

normal physiological levels of horses for GABA; in 12

other words, your decision that it go from 190 to 13

a hundred, or above 62 eventually is what was 14

being charged in some of the cases, the horse's 15

normal physiological level wasn't determined to 16

have changed, it was the same; it's always been 17

the same, whatever it is? 18

Yeah.  I don't think my changing the level which 19 A

to report them had an effect on the normal 20

physiologic level of horses. 21

Okay.  So, for whatever the normal physiological 22 Q

level is for a horse, USEF prosecuted different 23

people at different numbers.  And there were three 24

different times, there was 190, above a hundred, 25
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and then eventually above 62; that's correct? 1

We haven't -- we haven't -- I don't believe we've 2 A

had any case below 100.  I'm not sure what case 3

you're referring to.  4

There have been summary reports by Dr. Maylin 5 Q

where the allegation was that whatever the number 6

was, it was in violation because it was above the 7

threshold level of 62?8

I'm not sure.  You'd have to ask him, I'm not 9 A

familiar with that, no.  We have not, to my 10

knowledge, and I should know, we have not 11

prosecuted or forwarded any violation or any 12

potential violation for anything below a hundred 13

nanograms.14

In this, in this case, the Blenheim test -- 15 Q

For any GABA finding.  16 A

But the summary report in this case said it was in 17 Q

violation because it was above a threshold of 62; 18

right? 19

It may have said that, yes.  But I'm saying we 20 A

didn't have anything -- we have never prosecuted a 21

case between 62 and a hundred. 22

Okay.  You said that you as a testing veterinarian 23 Q

were responsible for testing blood and urine in 24

horses for a period of time? 25
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Collecting samples, yes. 1 A

Collecting samples.  And your job in this process, 2 Q

as if you're collecting the samples, is to -- is 3

to make sure that the blood or the urine that was 4

taken from the horse is the same blood or urine 5

that, in fact, is being presented to the lab for 6

testing? 7

That is my job. 8 A

And your responsibility to determine the chain of 9 Q

custody; right? 10

My job is to collect the sample from the horse, 11 A

positive identification, and get the samples to 12

the laboratory, yes. 13

And that packing slip, is there a purpose for it? 14 Q

The purpose for the packing slip is just to 15 A

identify what samples are supposed to be in there.  16

You know, it's supposed to be a failsafe.  If 17

let's say a testing veterinarian, I mean, 18

hypothetically, let's say they put in fewer 19

samples than they report, the laboratory can look 20

at it and notify the individual, you know, why 21

were we missing a sample.  It doesn't happen, but 22

it's a failsafe, it's an extra check.  23

   In this case, the fact that no number was 24

written down, after we followed up with the 25
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laboratory and saw that the laboratory did, in 1

fact, receive the same amount of samples that were 2

documented on the sample collection worksheet, 3

there's no need to go look for samples, they're 4

all accounted for, it was just a documentation 5

error. 6

I think when Tom was testifying about this, he 7 Q

said that sometimes when they get a discrepancy 8

they'll call the sample collector and sometimes 9

they don't.  What would be the purpose of calling? 10

Just to verify, you know, is this accurate, are 11 A

there other samples.  Or, you know, sometimes 12

they'll ship two days worth of samples in a 13

cooler, a variety, just, again, a failsafe to 14

double-check. 15

All right.  The cooler information and discrepancy 16 Q

list document discusses blood tubes expired, what 17

would that be? 18

Blood tubes were utilized or sent back that had 19 A

been expired. 20

When you say expired, you mean the tubes itself 21 Q

have expiration dates on them? 22

I'll tell you right now, tubes can have expiration 23 A

dates on them, but they're required to because 24

they're medical equipment.  And so, yes, there's 25
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an expiration date.  I can tell you in research 1

they're used routinely if they're expired.  That's 2

correct, they may have a tube coming back.3

   MR. ROMM:  Does that answer your question?4

   MR. COX:  Who provides -- if I may 5

address.6

   MR. DANFORD:  Yeah, that's fine.7

   MR. COX:  Who provides the drug testers 8

with the blood tubes?9

   THE WITNESS:  The laboratory.10

   MR. COX:  So your lab?11

   THE WITNESS:  Yes, the laboratory.12

   MR. COX:  Your lab sent Dr. Sandler 13

expired equipment?14

   THE WITNESS:  Not necessarily, no.15

   MR. COX:  Well, then -- I'm just asking, I 16

just see this and I just question, I'm sitting 17

here and it says blood tubes expired 10-20-13 and 18

11-20-13.  19

   MR. FOREMAN:  Can I interject?  This is 20

irrelevant to this case.  I think Mr. Cox wants an 21

answer to the question, which is fine, but it's 22

got absolutely nothing to do with this case.23

   THE WITNESS:  I can explain it.24

   MR. FOREMAN:  The tubes in question are 25
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not relevant to this case, but I understand he 1

wants an answer to the question.2

   THE WITNESS:  Dr. Sandler does a large 3

volume of testing, especially, obviously, on the 4

west coast.  So she may have multiple coolers 5

there, and she grabs a cooler to go testing.  6

Unfortunately, sometimes she may get to a point 7

where she's grabbed a cooler that it's in her 8

area, and she breaks the seals on it, and it may 9

have been received earlier in the year and have a 10

tube that could be expired.  Sometimes testing 11

technicians can grab equipment out of a cooler 12

from Dr. Sandler that may have been there from a 13

cooler from the fall and that may be why it's 14

expired.  That's why we don't have -- I don't 15

think -- I don't know in this case, but I don't 16

think all the sample tubes were expired.17

   MR. COX:  No, it's just one, it's from 18

October and November of 2013.19

   THE WITNESS:  And the laboratory is 20

instructed to notify us so we can --21

   MR. COX:  And do they still run them or 22

not?23

   THE WITNESS:  You know what, frankly, I 24

don't know.  In a research setting we would.  That 25
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would be a question for Mr. Lomangino.  1

   MR. COX:  Okay.2

   MR. ROMM:  Two quick questions.  3

You -- when did you -- do you remember what month 4 Q

you changed from call for positive at 190 to above 5

a hundred? 6

It was May or June of last year, May or June.  And 7 A

we had sent double-blinds. 8

May or June, all right.  So if Mr. Cox's horse had 9 Q

not been tested in August of last year, but had 10

been tested in January, his 188 would not have 11

been called a positive, because it would have been 12

under 190? 13

That would be true.14 A

   MR. ROMM:  Thank you, that's all I have.15

   MR. FOREMAN:  Can I just follow up?16

RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION17

BY MR. FOREMAN:18

If you had a control sample, though, as we had in 19 Q

this case in which it indicated the horse's normal 20

physiologic level was 41 or 40, you could 21

certainly determine otherwise, could you not? 22

Absolutely.  We had felt all along that the level 23 A

should be lower than 190, we tried to be 24

conservative.  Once we verified the fact people 25
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were changing the route of administration, the 1

amount they were giving, we had done the 2

double-blind samples on 130, 140, 150, we knew we 3

had to change to aggressive.  4

   People started treating it as a target.  5

Once it became -- out of the hearings, once it 6

became known that 190 was the level, we found 7

people were trying to titrate the dose and target 8

190, so they could get below 190, but still get 9

the effect.  And once we verified that with 10

double-blind administration samples, we should 11

have been -- we could have been at a hundred all 12

along.  We thought we were being nice. 13

You would have prosecuted, you would have 14 Q

recommended a prosecution in this case, would you 15

not, even if you did not have the control samples, 16

because you were identifying samples in excess of 17

a hundred? 18

188 -- I'm sorry.  Well, we weren't identifying.  19 A

But if I had been told of a 188, even in January, 20

I guess I would have said I probably would have 21

forwarded it on.  Whether or not we would 22

prosecute I can't say, I don't know.  But 23

something around 188, yeah, I would have forwarded 24

it on. 25
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   MR. ROMM:  That was three tests, two below 1

190 and one above?  2

   THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry?  3

   MR. FOREMAN:  Three different runs.4

   MR. ROMM:  Three different runs, two below 5

190, one above, you would have forwarded it?  6

   THE WITNESS:  I probably would have, yes.  7

Yeah, I don't know the specific runs on that, I 8

don't know.  But if there was one run above 200 9

I -- 10

   MR. FOREMAN:  There was.11

   THE WITNESS: -- I would have definitely 12

done it.  Then the opportunity always exists with 13

the B sample, that if we did bring the case 14

forward and they had an opportunity to evaluate 15

the B sample, you know, if that fell below, then I 16

think that would have potentially -- I can't 17

speak, you know, specifically what would have 18

happened, but I could see if we had called it 19

188 -- 20

   MR. ROMM:  Dr. Maylin called it 188, 21

because he averaged it out.22

   THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Well, then -- you 23

know, you used 188 as well.  So 188, we could have 24

called it.  The Respondent could have requested 25
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the B sample.  And if it came in substantially 1

lower, I don't think we would have prosecuted, I 2

don't know.  But if it came in above that or 3

around the same level, then we would have to make 4

a decision. 5

   MR. FOREMAN:  I think I'm still examining 6

here.  7

Without having the control samples in this case, 8 Q

what we're calling control samples, you would have 9

been vulnerable to the argument that the horse's 10

normal GABA level could have been 188? 11

Yes, we would have been.  But it was fortunate we 12 A

had, I mean, yes, control samples.13

RE-CROSS EXAMINATION14

BY MR. ROMM:  15

So the 190, what's the purpose of it, if not to 16 Q

make the threshold?  I mean, I don't understand, 17

why do you have a 190?  Why did you have a 190?  18

What's the purpose of a hundred?  19

We have to have an action level.  20 A

Is the hundred good or is --21 Q

   MR. DANFORD:  That's about four questions.22

   THE WITNESS:  Yeah.23

   MR. ROMM:  I'm just trying to -- 24

We have to have an action level, I mean, we have 25 A
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to have some point.  We can't just say that any 1

GABA found is a positive finding.  Obviously, it's 2

going to be there, it's endogenous.  So we have to 3

have an action level at one point where we are 4

confident that it's definitive for administration.  5

When we started regulating for GABA, 190, we were 6

definitely confident, because people were using 10 7

cc.s, they're getting in the 1,500 range, 2,000 8

range of GABA levels, huge GABA levels.  So we 9

thought, hey -- and that's the way we had done our 10

administration study.  11

   We thought 190, we were very comfortable 12

that we were discriminating between an exogenous 13

administration and a typical endogenous level by 14

ruling out all these horses that may be 15

potentially high, I mean, even looking at 16

statistics.  But after attempting to regulate and 17

seeing the change in routes of administration and 18

the amount, we weren't comfortable with that.  We 19

were not comfortable with that level being, you 20

know, an action level which above was 21

administration.  We were -- we were believing, and 22

had confirmed through our own work, that samples 23

below that 190 were also consistent with 24

administration. 25
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Well, let me help you then to answer my question a 1 Q

different way.  Not January, but at the beginning, 2

before you had any knowledge of the titrate, the 3

dosing at lower levels, when you established that 4

190, if it was below 190, 188, would you have sent 5

it on at that point, in the beginning? 6

At that point I probably would not have.  I could 7 A

have, but I probably would not have.  8

That's all I want to know.  9 Q

But, again, as I learned more and more about 10 A

people administering it different ways, it became 11

apparent that there could be an administration of 12

GABA that was less than 190.13

   MR. ROMM:  Thank you.  14

   MR. DANFORD:  All right.  Any questions 15

for this witness?  16

   I do have one, just to follow up on that 17

question you just got asked.  Of course, this is 18

all theoretical, but if back in June of 2012 or 19

so, when you first started testing, if you had 20

known that one of the runs was over 200, would 21

that have -- 22

   THE WITNESS:  Yes, I would have, we 23

probably would have called it. 24

   MR. DANFORD:  Even then?  25
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   THE WITNESS:  Yeah, I think so.  I think 1

what we would have done is at least -- and we have 2

done this with other drugs and medications, is 3

we'll at least call it, and get a response, and 4

try and figure out what happened, you know.  And 5

it's not been unusual to -- once you send out the 6

letter of finding, that they actually come back 7

and say I'm sorry, I did it.  So we probably would 8

have -- the difference between forwarding on to 9

regulation and going forth with a prosecution, 10

there is a difference.  You know, we may send out 11

a letter of finding to see what's happening at 12

200, yes.13

   MR. ROMM:  So you can't know whether or 14

not it would have been prosecuted, you only know 15

that you would have forwarded it.  16

   THE WITNESS:  I think it would have been 17

suspect enough I would have forwarded it, yes.18

   MR. ROMM:  Back in June of 2012, was Mr. 19

Danford's question.  Back then, when you had no 20

knowledge, if the average of the three, two below 21

and one above, was 188, you're telling me they 22

would have prosecuted, if it was below 190?  23

   THE WITNESS:  I said I don't know if they 24

would prosecute, but I probably would have 25
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forwarded it on. 1

   MR. ROMM:  That wasn't my question.  Would 2

they have prosecuted, in your opinion?  3

   THE WITNESS:  I don't know if they would 4

have prosecuted.5

   MR. FOREMAN:  He's already answered he 6

doesn't know.7

   THE WITNESS:  It's more than just the 8

number, too, I would have to know.9

   MR. ROMM:  Thank you.10

   MR. DANFORD:  So you said at some point 11

you started testing everyone for GABA, when was 12

that?  13

   THE WITNESS:  That was back in March.  14

Every USEF horse.15

   MR. DANFORD:  Yeah.  So that was March of?16

   THE WITNESS:  2012.17

   MR. DANFORD:  2012?18

   THE WITNESS:  Yes.19

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  20

   MR. FOREMAN:  There's a difference between 21

testing for it and screening.  22

   THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry, screening.23

   MR. DANFORD:  I shouldn't say testing, 24

screening.25
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   THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry, samples, yes, the 1

samples were collected in March of 2012.  We 2

really implemented the methodology and used it on 3

the samples starting in May, June of 2012.4

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  So you got -- so 5

every horse that gets tested at a USEF licensed 6

competition from March of 2012 to the present has 7

had a screening for GABA?8

   THE WITNESS:  I can't say absolutely every 9

horse.10

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  Or most?11

   THE WITNESS:  Yes, that's the intent.  12

   MR. DANFORD:  Have you -- I'm just 13

curious, you may not know, but has anyone from 14

your office gone back to sort of see whether the 15

levels that you've gotten in all of those various 16

screens have been consistent with the scientific 17

testing you've done?  18

   THE WITNESS:  From what standpoint?  As 19

far as a population study, if you will?  20

   MR. DANFORD:  Yeah, kind of.  In essence, 21

it's kind of like sort of an informal population 22

study in a sense, but -- 23

   THE WITNESS:  Well, and, fortunately, the 24

level of statistics I've had to have the last few 25
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years, I don't want to go talking about it gun 1

shy, but when you talk about such a large 2

population and so few administrations that we've 3

detected over that, it actually does work out to 4

be a decent population survey.  It's called 5

bootstrapping.  6

   So let's say you had a hundred samples.  7

To statistically boot sample, the way you can 8

magnify that and you have it be 10,000 samples, is 9

you take those hundred samples, you pull 50 out 10

randomly, a computer does it, they pull 50 out.  11

They average, they get a mean standard deviation.  12

They throw them back in the mix and then they take 13

another random sample of 50.  And they may do this 14

-- the computer may do this 10,000 times.  And 15

when you get done with that, that mean has been 16

bootstrapped to the point where it's a very good 17

indication of using a sample to infer a population 18

standard, so a population of 10,000.19

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  It just strikes me, I 20

mean, in the last, you know, three years of doing 21

this screening you've got a fair amount of data 22

there, to see what that --23

   THE WITNESS:  It's around 22, 24 I would 24

say.  I mean, I hesitate to, but --25
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   MR. ROMM:  Are you telling me that USEF 1

has the ability -- has had the ability for the 2

last three years to go back and test all of those 3

samples they had -- 4

   THE WITNESS:  No.5

   MR. ROMM:  Wait.  That they had tested 6

using GCMS with LCMS, to see if maybe the results 7

for the GABA would have been higher, but -- you 8

know, in order to get rid of this uncertainty that 9

we have about the difference in the GC versus the 10

LC, they could have gone back and applied an LCMS 11

test to see what the results would have been?12

   THE WITNESS:  Are you asking me?13

   MR. ROMM:  Yeah.  Did the USEF lab have 14

the ability to do that?  Does it now?15

   THE WITNESS:  No.  And I never said -- I 16

never even mentioned --17

   MR. DANFORD:  Nor was that my question.18

   THE WITNESS:  I never mentioned GCMS or 19

LCMS right now. 20

   MR. ROMM:  I'm asking, though, I'm asking 21

was -- 22

   THE WITNESS:  No, no.23

   MR. ROMM:  You can't go back and test that 24

with LCMS?  25
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   THE WITNESS:  If the samples are negative, 1

then they're discarded.  2

   MR. DANFORD:  Yes.  What you would have 3

right now would be screening results?4

   THE WITNESS:  Screening results.5

   MR. FOREMAN:  I think his question, 6

essentially, is why didn't you do LCMS instead of 7

GCMS.  And the answer is the lab, Tom answered 8

this morning, it wasn't equipped to do that.9

   MR. ROMM:  Actually, what I was referring 10

to was Tom mentioned that they are actually saving 11

samples for the eventuality that the FEI is going 12

to come up with a standard.  And they have the 13

samples, a whole bunch of them.14

   THE WITNESS:  That helps with the context.  15

There is the potential to freeze samples, if 16

that's what you're asking.  There is that in our 17

rules now, that it's possible to freeze samples if 18

there are -- or if there is a suspect new drug.19

   MR. ROMM:  And Tom actually said that they 20

are -- they have, in fact, saved a bunch of 21

samples in the eventuality that the FEI's going to 22

come up with what he calls a threshold level, as 23

defined by the FEI.  Those samples, they're there, 24

they're frozen, they're available?25
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   THE WITNESS:  I'm not sure what Tom, what 1

Mr. Lomangino stated. 2

   MR. ROMM:  So you're not aware of that?3

   THE WITNESS:  My office is in Ohio.4

   MR. ROMM:  That's fine.  I thought you 5

knew.  Thank you.6

   MR. DANFORD:  All right.  Any questions 7

from the panel for this witness?  Any further 8

questions?  9

   MS. WERNER:  I have one quick one.  This 10

is the same level that when you do FEI testing is 11

used?  12

   THE WITNESS:  No, not at this time.13

   MS. WERNER:  Not at this time.  They don't 14

test for this?  15

   THE WITNESS:  They really -- they say it's 16

a forbidden substance or prohibited substance.17

   MS. WERNER:  Okay. 18

   THE WITNESS:  But I think it's truly 19

suspect to the rest of the world whether they test 20

for it or not.  I don't know, but it's 21

questionable. 22

   MS. WERNER:  Okay.  23

   MR. DANFORD:  All right.  Any further 24

questions for this witness?  All right, you may 25
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step down.  1

   MR. FOREMAN:  I want to move that 2

worksheet into evidence, proponent's evidence, and 3

then I have no further.  I offer in the 4

Federation's evidence formally on the record.  I 5

think it's already in, but that completes the 6

Federation's case.  7

   MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Romm, you may call your 8

first witness.  9

   MR. ROMM:  I'd like to move to dismiss at 10

this time.11

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  Briefly state your 12

grounds.  13

   MR. ROMM:  The burden on USEF is to prove 14

by a preponderance of the evidence that the GABA 15

in the blood of Cartaire, in his system, was in 16

excess of normal physiological levels.  And there 17

has been evidence and testimony that what 18

constitutes the normal physiological level at one 19

point was 190, at another point was a hundred, and 20

has now been down to 62.  The experts have been 21

unable to explain the differences in the studies.  22

They have assumptions and guesses that it might be 23

the testing method, as Dr. Schumacher just 24

testified, it might be the population.  25
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   Dr. Maylin said it was certainly the 1

population in part.  And it was certainly the fact 2

they used a different testing method in part.  But 3

he can't tell you how much, or what part, or how 4

it was affected.  He cannot give you a definitive 5

answer.  He told you that it could have been the 6

ingestion of tall fescue, and he understands that 7

the horse was exposed to it, but he is assuming 8

that if the horse had been exposed to it, that the 9

horse would have -- his hooves would have been 10

falling off or what have you.  11

   The charge says that it was in excess of 12

normal physiological levels, but we can't say for 13

sure whether, in fact, it was above 190 or below 14

190.  We know that it may or may not have been 15

charged if it was back in June of 2012.  It would 16

have been referred, but we don't know if it would 17

have been charged, which means that it's possible.  18

It's just as possible that it wouldn't have been 19

as it is that it would have.  It's equal, it's 20

50/50.  There's a 50 percent chance it could have 21

been, a 50 percent chance it wouldn't have been, 22

he has no idea.  23

   The obligation of the USEF is to prove by 24

a preponderance of the evidence that, in fact, it 25
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was in violation.  And at this point I don't 1

believe the panel can go back and say I know that 2

when we're doing the preponderance of the evidence 3

test, I know it was going to fall this way as 4

opposed to the other way.  They don't know.  5

There's not enough that was presented for them to 6

know that.  There's too much uncertainty.  7

   And on that basis, especially on the fact 8

that if he had been tested, Cartaire had been 9

tested back in June, he may not even have been 10

prosecuted.  That, to me, is not a safeguard, 11

that's not fairness.  That is something that if I 12

was the person who was charged at 62 or a hundred, 13

I would be really upset if I found out that 14

somebody who -- who got below 190 was never 15

charged earlier on, and I got a different standard 16

applied to me.  That's just not fair.  Talk about 17

fairness, that's just not fair, and -- and I think 18

they haven't met their burden in that respect.19

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  Mr. Foreman, I don't 20

know if you want to respond to that.21

   MR. ROMM:  Well, I would be pretty upset 22

if I was driving back to Louisville tonight, and 23

the speed limit on 64 is 70 miles an hour, and all 24

the cars are zipping by me, and I'm trying to keep 25
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up with them, and a cop pulls me over and gives me 1

a ticket.  And I say to him wait a minute, all 2

those cars went past me, they were above 70, 3

that's the speed limit, what's the fairness that 4

you picked me out?  The cop's going to say, well, 5

too bad, you got picked.  6

   The fact of the matter is preponderance of 7

the evidence means is it more likely than not that 8

the evidence that's been presented to you is an 9

indication of a violation.  Counsel continues, as 10

he's done all day, to misrepresent the facts, 11

misrepresent the protocols.  The normal 12

physiologic concentration of GABA in the horse is 13

not 190, it's not a hundred.  They have been 14

testified to as action levels, those are levels at 15

which the Federation has prosecuted GABA cases.  16

The testimony is very clear, quite frankly, that 17

the levels that we're talking about, whether it's 18

190, or 62, or the mean, which is the average of 19

all the horses plus four standard deviations such 20

that the number such as 190, one in 10,000 horses, 21

and maybe even higher, would test at that level.  22

   But what knocks all of Respondents' 23

arguments out and what absolutely cannot be 24

controverted in this case is that we got two 25
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samples from the same horse at different times and 1

they establish a normal physiologic concentration 2

of somewhere between 34 and 41.  And, essentially, 3

they're the same and we would accept the higher 4

number.  This horse's normal physiologic 5

concentration of GABA is somewhere around 41, not 6

202, which was one of the three runs, or whether 7

you want to go with Maylin's average, this horse 8

was administered GABA.  9

   With respect to the Federation's burden, 10

our burden is to prove that we properly collected 11

a sample, that it was sent to the laboratory for 12

testing, that it was tested according to normal 13

analytical techniques, and that we detected a 14

substance that's either therapeutic or forbidden.  15

In this case we're dealing with an absolutely 16

forbidden substance that has no business being 17

administered to a horse under any circumstance.  18

   As Dr. Maylin testified, it wasn't grass 19

fescue.  Sure, it's a possibility, doesn't believe 20

that's the answer in this case.  And that the only 21

plausible scientific explanation for a level as 22

what was reported in Cartaire is the 23

administration of a substance containing GABA to 24

the horse.  25
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   MR. ROMM:  Brief reply?  1

   MR. DANFORD:  Briefly.2

   MR. ROMM:  The evidence did not reveal the 3

normal physiological level of this horse is 34 or 4

41.  The evidence from Dr. Schumacher, the 5

testimony was that that number fell within what 6

would be considered to be the normal physiological 7

level, not that his particular normal 8

physiological level was indeed those or any other 9

numbers.  And the -- the panel I do not believe 10

can go back and say for sure whether this was 11

above, or below, or why.  It's just as possible 12

that it was one way or the other.  If they believe 13

that -- if they're convinced that it was one way 14

or the other, then they rule against me, but I -- 15

I didn't hear that here today.  16

   MR. DANFORD:  All right.  Thank you very 17

much.  The panel will take that motion under 18

submission and we'll have the resolution of that 19

in the written findings in this case.  20

   All right.  You may call your first 21

witness.  22

   MR. ROMM:  If that was a -- that wouldn't 23

go back to -- I mean, if they decided that the 24

USEF didn't meet the burden, we wouldn't have to 25
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spend the next hour doing anything and -- 1

   MR. DANFORD:  That's true.  But we'll take 2

your motion under submission and we will decide 3

it.  And the answer to that will be included in 4

the rulings that will be issued after the 5

conclusion of this case.  So you may call your 6

first witness.  7

   MR. ROMM:  Well, we would like to call Ms. 8

Mateo.9

   MR. COX:  Can I ask a question?  10

   MR. DANFORD:  Sure.11

   MR. COX:  Why is Dr. Schumacher still in 12

the room?  13

   MR. FOREMAN:  That's all right, he can 14

leave.15

   MR. DANFORD:  That's a complete oversight.16

   MR. COX:  I know, no, I thought that was 17

part of the rules of the hearing.18

   MR. FOREMAN:  I don't think anybody's 19

paying attention, thank you.  20

   DR. SCHUMACHER:  I thought it passed after 21

we testified.22

   MR. DANFORD:  Quite frankly at this 23

point -- 24

   MR. FOREMAN:  I don't think it matters.25
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   MR. COX:  Okay.  No, I just, I was 1

listening to what took place this morning.2

   MR. DANFORD:  Yeah, I just simply didn't 3

even know you were, you were unnoticed.4

   MR. FOREMAN:  Is there any reason why the 5

other witnesses can't come back in?  They're not 6

going to be called back to testify.  7

   MR. DANFORD:  Oh, I mean, theoretically 8

they could be called back as rebuttal witnesses.  9

So let's just keep them out for now, make sure 10

that's not a possibility.11

LAURA MATEO12

The witness herein, having been first duly placed 13

under oath, was examined and testified as follows: 14

DIRECT EXAMINATION15

BY MR. ROMM:16

Can you introduce yourself to the panel and tell 17 Q

them about your experience in equestrian 18

activities, general introduction and description 19

of your experience with horses.  20

My name is Laura Mateo.  And I began being 21 A

interested in horses when I was just three, when 22

my mom had some Quarter Horses.  And then I 23

started showing as, I guess, a preteen, and 24

stopped when I went to college.  And then for a 25
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period while I was raising my three children 1

didn't have much involvement.  And my daughter 2

became interested and started showing when she was 3

about, I guess, nine, has become very interested. 4

How long has that been, recently, what, 15? 5 Q

I'm sorry, she's now 20, so that's probably 10 6 A

years with more involvement. 7

So you're a barn mom? 8 Q

Yes. 9 A

Okay.  When did you start utilizing Mr. Cox's 10 Q

services for training? 11

Last June we came and we were planning only to 12 A

stay for the summer.13

   MR. DANFORD:  Ma'am, can you try to keep 14

your voice up?  The court reporter has to hear 15

you.  16

Just for the summer and ended up staying because 17 A

she had a very good experience.  18

Do you have any knowledge about any of this issue 19 Q

of GABA and the introduction of exogenous GABA 20

into the horse, Cartaire?  Was the horse, 21

Cartaire, in your care, custody and control, or 22

was it all with Mr. Cox?  Did you rely on Mr. Cox 23

for all of that? 24

For a good part of his care, yes.  I do not think 25 A
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that he would do anything to injure my horse. 1

Did you ever -- to your knowledge did you ever, 2 Q

you know, call for the introduction or use of 3

GABA, or Wedgewood, or Carolina Gold, or any of 4

these products that contain GABA, to your 5

knowledge, did you ever do that personally? 6

No.7 A

   MR. ROMM:  No further questions.8

   MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Foreman, any cross 9

examination?  10

   MR. FOREMAN:  No questions.11

   MR. DANFORD:  Questions of the panel for 12

Ms. Mateo?  Thank you.13

ARCHIBALD COX, III 14

The witness herein, having been first duly placed 15

under oath, was examined and testified as follows: 16

DIRECT EXAMINATION17

BY MR. ROMM:18

The first thing I noticed about him when I met him 19 Q

for the first time is he's very tall.  20

   Can you just introduce yourself to the 21

panel and tell them about your experience with 22

horses, and training and all that.  23

My name is Archibald Cox, III.  I'm from Los 24 A

Angeles, California.  I'm a very active member in 25
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the horse community, a life member of the USEF, 1

the USHJA.  I hold a large R card in hunters and 2

hunter seat equitation.  And I have a small R as a 3

horse show steward.  I've had my own business for 4

15 years.  I primarily train hunters, equitation 5

and some jumpers.  6

   In that time period I've had probably 35 7

to 40 USEF Horse of the Year awards.  I have one 8

of the largest barns in California, if not the 9

country.  And we show a lot, we show almost every 10

week, from the middle of January through the end 11

of November, on both coasts, at a national level.  12

My students have gone on to the international 13

level.  In this time period I have been -- I'm 14

currently president of the Pacific Coast Horse 15

Show Association.  I've served on the Board of 16

Directors of the USEF.  I was a founding board 17

member of the USHJA.  And I have a spotless record 18

for judging, stewarding, being an exhibitor, 19

trainer.  I have no infractions, never -- never 20

had any.  21

And your horses over the course of these years, 22 Q

would you say your horses have been tested 23

hundreds, if not thousands of times? 24

My horses have been tested hundreds of times by 25 A
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Dr. Sandler, another vet in California, and up and 1

down the east coast, and in Oregon.  2

Have you ever had one, one test revealing any 3 Q

violation of any drug, medication rule anywhere 4

ever? 5

No, sir. 6 A

Do you use Carolina Gold or GABA for your horses? 7 Q

No, sir. 8 A

Did you introduce or administer GABA in Cartaire 9 Q

prior to Cartaire exhibiting at the Blenheim show? 10

No, sir. 11 A

Do you -- tell me about the -- how you maintain 12 Q

your facility as far as the fields, tall fescue, 13

and specifically what experience Cartaire had 14

before the summer Blenheim Classic and before the 15

test that occurred a few months later.  16

My facility is a large facility.  There are 17 A

approximately 200 stalls and it's actually located 18

on two sides of a road.  We have about 25 horses 19

on either side.  And in -- unique to California 20

there are large facilities with multiple trainers 21

on them.  And we each sort of have our own area.  22

I provide the grooming, the feed, and the care of 23

the horses.  24

   The facility itself charges board and they 25
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maintain the facility.  They maintain the 1

paddocks, the driveways, the arenas.  They're in 2

charge of all the watering and they feed hay to 3

the horses twice a day.  And as I -- there's a 4

picture from Middle Ranch of the paddocks.  5

They're in charge of paddocks.  They have a 6

watering system, and they get fertilized and 7

seeded throughout the year.  They get locked so we 8

can't use them when that's taking place.  9

And do your fields get seeded with tall fescue? 10 Q

Yes. 11 A

Tell us about that.  12 Q

I asked the facility manager, Debbie Cecil, what 13 A

the paddocks were seeded with, and she said tall 14

fescue.  Maybe rye seed, I can't remember what she 15

said.  I said all right, well, would you be 16

willing to write that down.  And she said 17

certainly, and she did.  18

   Regarding Cartaire's schedule last August, 19

we were showing the Menlo Charity Horse Show.  And 20

the horse showed on Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday.  21

He then went home, because Ms. Mateo's daughter 22

was not showing him.  He went home on Thursday.  23

Menlo is a small facility, there's no reason to 24

keep extra horses there.  Went home on Thursday, 25
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got turned out for Friday, Saturday, Sunday, most 1

likely Monday.  2

   Turned out Tuesday morning, and then went 3

back to the horse show in San Juan Capistrano 4

Tuesday afternoon and showed him on Wednesday.  5

And I think in the submission of evidence is his 6

training schedule, what I did with him at that 7

horse show.  And then -- 8

Go ahead.  9 Q

-- this year -- we go to San Diego usually for a 10 A

couple weeks at a time.  And the Del Mar Nationals 11

in the beginning of -- end of April, beginning of 12

May we went to Del Mar.  And from Del Mar the 13

horses go straight to Show Park.  So Del Mar 14

starts on a Tuesday, it's a six-day show.  The 15

horses go on Monday to the racetrack, they show 16

through Sunday.  Actually, I think the horse 17

didn't show on Sunday, but it was at the horse 18

show.  19

   And then Sunday afternoon the horses drive 20

about a mile down the street to Show Park of San 21

Diego, and then we show there for the week.  And 22

Ms. Mateo's daughter showed at both shows.  Those 23

are world hunter rider shows, so her daughter was 24

showing there.  So the horse was in San Diego then 25
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for two weeks, then on Sunday came back to my 1

barn.  2

So before the Blenheim Summer Show, Cartaire was 3 Q

put in the field with the tall fescue for five 4

days? 5

Every day he was turned out for most of the day. 6 A

Most of the day? 7 Q

Uh-huh. 8 A

And that was a field that had been seeded with and 9 Q

did have tall fescue grass? 10

Yeah, all the paddocks are seeded with the same 11 A

thing. 12

And during the days immediately preceding that 13 Q

second test was not turned out? 14

Correct, because he was at the racetrack. 15 A

Okay.  And the -- did the -- let me get to the -- 16 Q

   MR. ROMM:  I'm looking for the affidavit 17

of Cecil.  Did you put that in the book already, 18

the affidavit?  19

   MR. DANFORD:  No.20

   MR. ROMM:  That's not in the book.  21

   MR. FOREMAN:  I think you furnished it 22

yesterday and I think the book was already 23

printed.24

   MR. ROMM:  Do you have the --25

377

   MR. FOREMAN:  This is my copy.1

   MS. CRONAN:  It's on the second page, it 2

says Affidavit of Debbie Cecil.3

   MR. COX:  Yes.  4

   MR. ROMM:  Right.  I was just looking for 5

it.  I had it here, but now it seems to have 6

escaped me.  Thank you.7

   I know we all want to get out of here, I 8

apologize for the delay.  There we are.  9

Prior to the second -- the winter -- here it is.  10 Q

We'll get back to that.  11

   Did you engage the services of experts in 12

connection with your defense in this case? 13

Yes. 14 A

And who was that? 15 Q

Who were the experts?  16 A

Yes.  Dr. Schug? 17 Q

Schug. 18 A

And McKenzie? 19 Q

Correct. 20 A

Okay.  And you presented these affidavits on your 21 Q

behalf? 22

Uh-huh. 23 A

The affidavits are based on their review of 24 Q

documents that were provided to them by you? 25
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Uh-huh. 1 A

And you provided them with the documentation that 2 Q

was listed in McKenzie's affidavit in 5A through 3

J? 4

I believe so.  I don't know the 5A through J, but 5 A

I believe so. 6

All right.  And McKenzie told you that in order to 7 Q

give you a further opinion than what was in the 8

affidavit he needed the -- the raw data for the 9

study from Dr. Maylin? 10

Yes. 11 A

And you asked for that? 12 Q

Correct. 13 A

And you were not provided that? 14 Q

Correct. 15 A

And you were told by Mr. Foreman that the -- the 16 Q

-- at one point, in one of his letters, that the 17

level had changed from 190 to above a hundred.  18

And on that basis you had requested, also, the 19

documentation showing the decision making and 20

notes and -- 21

Yes.  I wanted to know why it went down or why it 22 A

changed.  23

And the drugs and -- Equine Drugs and Medications 24 Q

Committee minutes?  25

379

Correct. 1 A

The Executive Committee minutes? 2 Q

Correct. 3 A

Did you get that? 4 Q

No.  I wanted every opportunity to do all the 5 A

research I possibly could and understand every 6

study that was done as a responsible defendant.  7

Were you provided with the raw data or any data to 8 Q

back up the two screening samples that were 9

addressed in testimony? 10

The January, I believe it was January, Atlanta 11 A

show, and the Ranch and Coast May show of 2014 and 12

2015, I was not provided the raw data.  13

So you weren't able to determine whether or not 14 Q

those results -- those screening test results were 15

valid or not doing an independent examination of 16

that? 17

Correct. 18 A

You -- hold on one second.  The affidavit that was 19 Q

submitted by Emily Sandler-Burtness, which was 20

regarding the May 6, 2015, screening? 21

Yes. 22 A

On page 1, paragraph 1, it says on May 6, 2015, 23 Q

entry number 169, named Cartaire, who participated 24

as numbers 187 and 188 at 3'3" performance hunters 25
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was selected for drug testing.  I was going to 1

test the horse that competed prior to Cartaire, 2

but the rider fell off the horse, so I selected 3

Cartaire because it was the next horse.  Was Emily 4

Sandler-Burtness even there? 5

She was not at the arena, no.  Her technician was 6 A

there.  But I question the affidavit and the 7

language, because she was not at the arena.  8

She said she selected it? 9 Q

Uh-huh. 10 A

She -- it's all I? 11 Q

Correct. 12 A

She doesn't say that her technician did it for 13 Q

her, technician told me the horse had fallen off 14

-- the rider had fallen off the horse from the 15

prior -- prior horse that she was going to test, 16

it's just I made these decisions based on -- 17

Correct, she was -- the testing veterinarian was 18 A

not at the arena.  19

Okay.  20 Q

As -- as it states in the affidavit.  21 A

Okay.  22 Q

I feel she made a number of errors on multiple 23 A

tests -- not tests, but that affidavit is 24

incorrect.  The sheet was incorrect that was sent, 25

381

the packing list, using expired blood tubes.  I 1

have difficulty with that.  And she's meant to be, 2

as Dr. Schumacher testified, one of the best 3

testing veterinarians, I question -- I question 4

that.  If she's one of the best, why are there 5

multiple errors on three different submissions 6

from her.  7

What was the -- what was the reason that you 8 Q

decided to go to the time and expense of doing 9

what we're doing here today? 10

I believe I'm innocent.  11 A

And taking into account all of your costs and 12 Q

expense in defending this, would it be fair to say 13

that you've expended 20, 25 thousand dollars --14

Yes --15 A

-- in defending it? 16 Q

-- easily. 17 A

Easily? 18 Q

Easily.19 A

And -- 20 Q

I'm innocent, so -- I believe I'm innocent.21 A

   MR. ROMM:  Okay.  I need two minutes to 22

look at everything, see what else I have to ask 23

him; otherwise, I'm probably going to be done with 24

this witness.25
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   MR. DANFORD:  That's fine.  Why don't we 1

take a short break, go off the record.2

   (A short recess was taken, whereupon the 3

hearing continued.)4

DIRECT EXAMINATION5

BY MR. ROMM (Continuing):  6

I know to ask this question.  Whenever I've not 7 Q

asked it I always get in trouble with my clients.  8

Is there anything you would like to tell the 9

panel?  Anything you would like to tell the panel 10

that I haven't addressed yet?  Anything at all? 11

I don't think so.  I know most of the things have 12 A

been covered.  Some of it I find very confusing, 13

I'm not a scientist.  It seems like the numbers, 14

and the levels and things are a little bit in 15

question.  I appreciate you staying here all day 16

and into the evening.17

   MR. ROMM:  I've got no further questions.18

   MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Foreman, any cross  19

examination?20

   MR. FOREMAN:  Just very briefly.21

CROSS EXAMINATION22

BY MR. FOREMAN:23

Mr. Cox, who is Carlos Soriano? 24 Q

My barn manager. 25 A
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Got you.  And Mr. Soriano, I think you had some 1 Q

issue with Dr. Sandler and the collection or the 2

selection of your horse at the Show Park Horse 3

Show.  I think you took some issue with respect to 4

the affidavit that she had selected your horse 5

because the horse that competed prior to your 6

horse had fallen down? 7

My -- 8 A

You said Dr. Sandler wasn't there.  9 Q

Correct, at -- I said Dr. Sandler was not at the 10 A

show ring. 11

At the ring, okay.  12 Q

I said at the show arena. 13 A

I'm sorry.  14 Q

I said ring.  And the technician was there.  Her 15 A

affidavit clearly states I selected Cartaire 16

because the exhibitor before me, unfortunately, 17

fell off, so they didn't want to -- the technician 18

said to me, oh, do you mind if I test your horse?  19

It's really bad to test someone -- it's like 20

adding insult to injury, you just fell off, now 21

can I test your horse.  So, I mean, I had an 22

exchange with the drug tester.  I said, sure, I 23

don't care.  24

Okay.  You're not -- my point, you're not 25 Q
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contesting that Cartaire was drug tested at the 1

Show Park show? 2

Oh, no. 3 A

And, in fact, Dr. Sandler collected the blood 4 Q

sample, it's her signature on the card? 5

I -- I would believe so, yes. 6 A

And your barn manager was present? 7 Q

Correct. 8 A

All right.  And that's the same -- Mr. Soriano was 9 Q

the barn manager, he was the one who witnessed the 10

blood sample collection for the Blenheim show that 11

led to this case being instituted? 12

I believe so. 13 A

Okay.  I think you testified you have one of the 14 Q

largest show operations in California --15

Correct. 16 A

-- if not the country.  How many horses do you 17 Q

have under your care? 18

Anywhere between 50 and 60. 19 A

Okay.  How many people do you have working for 20 Q

you? 21

Approximately, 10. 22 A

All right.  And they work with all the horses that 23 Q

are, what are they, stabled on your grounds? 24

Correct. 25 A
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Is Cartaire one of the horses that's stabled on 1 Q

your grounds? 2

Yes. 3 A

Okay.  And of those 10 people, how many go to the 4 Q

horse shows? 5

That varies, anywhere between 3 and 8. 6 A

All right.  So let's just to try to short-circuit 7 Q

this.  I think you indicated that the week before 8

the Blenheim show, the horse was at the Menlo -- 9

in August, the horse was at Menlo Charity? 10

Correct. 11 A

All right.  And how many horses did you take to 12 Q

that show? 13

Approximately, 25, 20 to 25. 14 A

All right.  15 Q

I would need to check my records, I don't know, 20 16 A

to 25. 17

And how many of your personnel went with those 20 18 Q

to 25 horses? 19

Six to 7.  20 A

And they're responsible for the care of the horses 21 Q

that go to their shows? 22

Responsible for the care, and I have two 23 A

assistants that work for me -- included in that 24

number are two assistants and then groomsmen. 25
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Okay.  And Cartaire did not go to the Menlo 1 Q

Charity show? 2

Yes, he did. 3 A

Oh, Cartaire -- was Cartaire one of the 20 or 25 4 Q

horses that went to that show? 5

Yes.6 A

All right.  Were you at that show? 7 Q

Yes. 8 A

And what is your contact with the horses when you 9 Q

go to the show? 10

I'm responsible for their care, custody and 11 A

control. 12

All right.  But are you there all the time? 13 Q

From about 5:30 until the last horse is finished. 14 A

Okay.  15 Q

Which is usually, at Menlo, as Gina Miles will 16 A

tell you, it's around 6 or 7 every night. 17

Okay.  And I was trying to get the context of when 18 Q

you were there.  Menlo Charity, you were there 19

what days? 20

Monday through Sunday. 21 A

Okay.  And then the horses all came out of that 22 Q

show, did they come back too? 23

No, as I stated, Cartaire -- Menlo is a small 24 A

facility. 25
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Right.  1 Q

If we have horses that only show in the open, 2 A

which is Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday, we send 3

them home Thursday or -- Thursday or as soon as -- 4

as soon as there's enough of a group finished to 5

get a load home.  Menlo is about seven hours away 6

from the farm, it's in Northern California.  So we 7

have open hunters, as Cartaire was one of.  When 8

he was finished showing and some others were done, 9

back home, we can concentrate on the horses that 10

are still showing.  11

All right.  And so Cartaire comes home for a 12 Q

period of time? 13

Uh-huh. 14 A

When did Cartaire go to the Blenheim show? 15 Q

Tuesday, August 12th.  16 A

At approximately what time? 17 Q

10 in the morning.  18 A

Okay.  And the horse arrived at Blenheim at 10 19 Q

a.m., or you left Los Angeles? 20

No, usually we leave after traffic, so -- 21 A

Would have left 10 a.m.?  22 Q

Correct. 23 A

Not a very long drive, is it, I guess maybe two 24 Q

hours? 25
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With traffic it's anywhere from an hour and 45 1 A

minutes to whatever. 2

I mean, you don't keep any records, you don't know 3 Q

what time you arrived at -- 4

No, I have a shipping company and we don't.  5 A

Okay.  So the horse went by shipping company, you 6 Q

don't take the horses? 7

Correct. 8 A

All right.  How many of your personnel went to 9 Q

that show? 10

Again, I would need to look.  I approximate 11 A

between 20 to 25 horses, can be up by 5, can be 12

down by 5. 13

Right.  14 Q

That was last August.  I know what we did last 15 A

week, I don't know what we did in August.  16

But how many -- 17 Q

I could get records of it. 18 A

Yeah.  But, I mean, if you were taking 20 or 25 19 Q

horses to a show, how many of your personnel would 20

you send to accompany those horses? 21

Six to 8. 22 A

All right.  And of those 6 to 8 who you would 23 Q

send, what would their responsibilities be? 24

The groomsmen take care of the horses.  They 25 A
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unbraid the horses, clean the stalls, put up the 1

tack room, unload the trailer, drive the trailer, 2

utility trailer, with the equipment.  And the 3

girls help ride the horses.  They show some, I 4

show some.  5

When a horse like -- I'm sorry, a show like 6 Q

Blenheim, you're there; correct? 7

Yes. 8 A

Do you stay on the show grounds or do you stay 9 Q

somewhere else? 10

No, I usually stay at home. 11 A

Okay.  So you drive back and forth from Los 12 Q

Angeles to the show? 13

Uh-huh. 14 A

All right.  So, for example, this horse went to 15 Q

the show on August the 12th? 16

I believe so. 17 A

All right.  And this horse showed on August the 18 Q

14th? 19

Correct. 20 A

All right.  The horse was tested around 11 a.m.  21 Q

So we're talking about 48 hours from the time it 22

left Los Angeles till it was stabled at, or at 23

least left your facility and went to -- 24

Uh-huh. 25 A
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Okay.  And when the horse went to Blenheim, you 1 Q

were not there when the horses arrived or were you 2

there?  Do you ride separate from them? 3

I could have been.  We have a professional 4 A

shipping company.  Some horses, they sort of get 5

staggered as to when they go, as to how much they 6

get worked, when they show, what they're doing.  7

And so on the 13th of August, for example, did you 8 Q

drive from Los Angeles down to Blenheim --9

I believe so. 10 A

-- spend the day and then drive back to Los 11 Q

Angeles? 12

Right. 13 A

Okay.  And so you would arrive at what time and 14 Q

leave at what time? 15

I would arrive approximately 6:30, and leave, 16 A

again, when the horse show's finished. 17

All right.  And when you go to the show what do 18 Q

you do, you specifically?  Do you sit at the ring, 19

do you go into the barn, are you with the horses 20

all the time, what do you do? 21

What do I do, I get to the horse show between -- 22 A

anywhere between 5:30 and 6:30.  I park, get out, 23

take my riding clothes, hang them in the tack 24

room, I start riding at 6:30.  Usually one horse 25
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at 6:30, one horse at 7.  And then I typically 1

stay at the ring most of the day competing. 2

Okay.  3 Q

Or competing, training.  As you can tell by this, 4 A

I'm not one to sit around, I'm constantly moving.  5

So -- and I'm usually at the arena.  During the 6

day I do not -- as anyone at the horse show will 7

tell you, I don't spend much time in the barn. 8

That was really my question.  On August 14th, 9 Q

which is the day this horse competed and was 10

tested, were you at the arena? 11

Yes. 12 A

All right.  13 Q

I was riding the horse. 14 A

You were not at the barn? 15 Q

No. 16 A

All right.  So you have no idea, do you, what's 17 Q

going on with the horse in the barn, other than 18

you assume your help is doing what they're 19

supposed to do and otherwise? 20

I have some of the best horses in California, if 21 A

not the country, they're beautifully cared for. 22

I'm not suggesting otherwise.  23 Q

They look like movie stars when they walk in the 24 A

barn.  I have extremely competent help that I 25
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trust implicitly. 1

But you're not there? 2 Q

Correct. 3 A

Okay.  You heard Dr. Maylin's testimony, did you 4 Q

not, that GABA is a rapidly absorbed substance and 5

is -- I think it was Dr. Maylin's testimony, it 6

may linger for 24 hours, but it's pretty much 7

eliminated within 12 hours? 8

Yes. 9 A

Okay.  So when you suggest that Cartaire's GABA 10 Q

level might have been elevated because it was 11

ingesting fescue at your -- is it your farm? 12

Uh-huh. 13 A

Yeah, okay.  That horse left the facility 48 hours 14 Q

before it was tested.  So, unlikely that GABA 15

would have remained in the horse's system, if in 16

fact that was the cause of the GABA?17

   MR. ROMM:  You're not required to guess, 18

you can -- 19

If you say you don't know, you don't know.  20 Q

Well, I don't know, and there's been no testimony 21 A

about how long GABA stays in from eating versus 22

being injected.  23

Okay.  But that's not our responsibility to 24 Q

establish that.  25
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   With respect to the Blenheim show, 1

particularly August the 14th, you were not with 2

the horse at any time in the 12 hours prior to the 3

horse competing in class number 45; is that 4

correct?  5

   MR. ROMM:  Asked and answered.  He already 6

answered that he was.  7

Were you at the ring? 8 Q

Can you -- can you repeat the question with the 9 A

timeframe?  10

Let me ask it another way.  Was the horse brought 11 Q

to you at the ring for class number 45 on August 12

the 14th? 13

Yes.  And I had ridden the horse in the morning, 14 A

as it states in my -- 15

All right.  And what time did you ride the horse?  16 Q

What time did you ride the horse? 17

I'd like to say 6:30, but it was probably 7. 18 A

You got off the horse and you got on another 19 Q

horse, whatever? 20

Uh-huh. 21 A

Would it be fair -- just to cut through all this, 22 Q

you have no idea whatsoever about what may have 23

been done to the horse in the hours prior to this 24

horse competing on August the 14th, 2014, because 25
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you were not in the barn; is that a fair 1

statement? 2

I trust my help --3 A

Right.  4 Q

-- that they will do the -- continue to take great 5 A

care of the horse.  Was I there, no. 6

All right.  So if, I'm just saying if -- 7 Q

Uh-huh. 8 A

-- a substance containing GABA was administered to 9 Q

Cartaire, you wouldn't have any idea, would you? 10

Correct. 11 A

All right.  And you -- I hope you understand that 12 Q

when you sign the entry as the trainer, that you 13

are held responsible for the condition of the 14

horse regardless of the acts of third-parties.  I 15

assume you -- you have been doing this for a long 16

time.  17

Yes.  I do understand that.  My name is on the 18 A

entry blank.  I did not sign the entry blank, just 19

so that's -- 20

But you're not disputing that you are the trainer? 21 Q

Correct.  But I did not sign the entry blank. 22 A

And I trust you understand that the charge in this 23 Q

case is that the horse competed with an excess 24

level of GABA and not that you administered GABA 25
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to the horse.  1

Correct. 2 A

Okay.  Just a few last questions.  When did you 3 Q

hire your experts in this case?  4

   MR. ROMM:  Objection.5

   MR. FOREMAN:  You asked him the question.  6

You specifically asked him if he hired, I wrote it 7

down, you asked if he had engaged experts.8

   MR. DANFORD:  What's the objection?  9

   MR. ROMM:  As to when is -- I think it 10

goes to the work product and privilege as to when, 11

how and what was done in what order.12

   MR. DANFORD:  He's not an attorney.  13

Right?  I think you testified that you were the 14

one that actually contacted the experts; right?  15

   MR. ROMM:  No.16

   MR. DANFORD:  Is that right?  Did I get 17

that wrong? 18

   THE WITNESS:  No, he asked who -- someone 19

asked a question, I don't remember which person, 20

about the experts.  And I did not contact them 21

directly to begin with.  22

   MR. DANFORD:  Oh, okay, I see.  23

Who did?  If you engaged experts, how did you 24 Q

engage them? 25
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I asked lawyers. 1 A

All right.  And who were the lawyers that you 2 Q

asked to engage experts for you? 3

Well, I asked Mr. Romm. 4 A

And when did you ask Mr. Romm to engage experts? 5 Q

Well, I was at the Oaks.  Sometime -- sometime in 6 A

the past three weeks to -- I don't know. 7

Okay.  So -- 8 Q

And I did ask other customers of mine that are 9 A

lawyers about experts in this field. 10

Okay.  And so that was within the past few weeks? 11 Q

Uh-huh. 12 A

All right.  You engaged Mr. Romm in the past few 13 Q

weeks? 14

Correct. 15 A

All right.  So when you -- when the Federation 16 Q

scheduled this matter for hearing on May the 21st, 17

and you indicated that your experts needed more 18

time and your legal team, you didn't have any at 19

that time, did you? 20

At that -- I had legal advice, yes.  Did I have 21 A

legal experts, no.  I made an assumption, sir, 22

that going to the Devon Horse Show was something 23

that an extension would be granted.  I thought I 24

had -- and if I didn't have more time -- the 25
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notice was given early enough for the extension 1

that I could have then got things together.2

   MR. ROMM:  Let me object, because I think 3

the problem that Archie is having is that this 4

goes to communications that he's had with lawyers, 5

that he has been told, and is under the belief, 6

that he is not required to testify about 7

attorney-client privilege information.  And the 8

retention of the experts was officially made in 9

the last week, as he had said.  But there was 10

communication prior to that through attorneys.  11

And that's what he's concerned about, those 12

communications that are privileged and he doesn't 13

want to disclose that.  That's the problem we're 14

having. 15

Have you paid other attorneys in connection with 16 Q

this case --17

Yes. 18 A

-- in addition to Mr. Romm? 19 Q

Uh-huh.20 A

   MR. ROMM:  And that is attorney-client 21

privileged information.  If those attorneys are 22

not here as the -- as the representing attorneys 23

here, that's all privileged information.24

   MR. FOREMAN:  To ask whether or not you've 25
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either spoken with or retained other attorneys, 1

that's privileged?  2

   MR. ROMM:  Who and when, yes.3

   MR. FOREMAN:  I didn't ask for any 4

specifics.  I asked him whether he did.  You're 5

busy volunteering information here.  6

   I don't have any other questions.7

   MR. DANFORD:  Yeah, let's move on.8

   MR. FOREMAN:  I'm done.9

   MR. ROMM:  One question.10

RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION11

BY MR. ROMM:12

Did you watch the horse compete in the ring when 13 Q

it was -- when it was alleged to have had -- 14

Oh, I was riding. 15 A

You were riding? 16 Q

I was riding. 17 A

Okay.  Did the horse exhibit signs of being under 18 Q

the influence of any kind of tranquilizer? 19

At 6'6" I want that horse to have all of his 20 A

faculties; no.  21

From your experience in riding that horse and 22 Q

horses in general, did he exhibit any signs? 23

No.  I did the same -- 24 A

Head down, anything? 25 Q
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I did the same as I always do.  1 A

Gut sounds, all these things that you heard about? 2 Q

Huh-uh.3 A

Nothing?4 Q

I got middle-of-the-pack ribbons.  I won the under 5 A

saddle.  That's pretty much the horse that we 6

bought in Atlanta.  He's a nice horse, he's a 7

beautiful mover. 8

And he -- is this the same way he always was? 9 Q

Yes.10 A

   MR. ROMM:  Okay.  That's all I need to 11

know.  Thank you.12

   MR. DANFORD:  All right.  Questions for 13

this witness from the panel?  14

   MS. WERNER:  No.15

   MR. DANFORD:  All right.  Thank you, sir, 16

you may step down.  17

   All right.  At this point the panel 18

mentioned we do allow brief closing statements.  19

Certainly at this hour, having passed over these 20

issues, I will reemphasize brief.21

   MR. ROMM:  Prior to close I would like the 22

opportunity, at least, to point to and speak about 23

evidence that's in the packet.  I want to read 24

from portions of the affidavit.25
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   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.1

   MR. ROMM:  I'll be as short as I can.2

   MR. DANFORD:  Please do.  3

   MR. ROMM:  The affidavit of Robert 4

McKenzie.  Robert McKenzie states in paragraph 7, 5

Maylin population study in 2012 was based on a 6

hundred fit racehorses and was collected while 7

under detention with ancillary data from 12 8

pleasure horses -- 9

   MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Romm, I'm sorry, you're 10

flying past our court reporter here.  She's had a 11

long day.12

   MR. FOREMAN:  Can I ask what he's doing 13

here?  14

   MR. DANFORD:  I believe he's reading 15

sections of the affidavit into the record.16

   MR. FOREMAN:  Why?  They're in.17

   MR. ROMM:  Because I'm allowed to read and 18

emphasize any portions of the evidence that I 19

believe -- 20

   MR. FOREMAN:  It's up to the Hearing 21

Committee if they need to hear this.22

   MR. DANFORD:  I mean, the affidavits, you 23

know, with the exception of the portions that have 24

been excluded on the other one, are already in the 25
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record.  But if you -- we'll allow you to put some 1

on the record.  I really don't want you to read 2

the entire -- what's left of both.  3

   MR. ROMM:  I'm not going to try to read 4

the entire thing.5

   MR. DANFORD:  If you have some sections 6

you want to read in, it will take a short period 7

of time, then go right ahead and do it.  8

   MR. ROMM:  Okay.  In Schug's affidavit, he 9

states in paragraph 8 that Maylin and USEF's 10

population studies provided substantially 11

different test results.  However, the only 12

explanations offered were that they were, A, 13

different test populations.  That was Maylin's 14

explanation, the same as we heard here today.  Or, 15

B, different internal standards, the USEF 16

explanation.  Both explanations are flawed when 17

considering the case in question.  Either a test 18

population that is consistent with the horse and 19

the case in question must be tested for valid 20

comparison or full method validation details for 21

the Maylin and USEF studies.  A test must be 22

produced and compared in order to verify these 23

explanations.  Without the verification these 24

explanations are not justifiable.  For these 25
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reasons I request to be provided with the method 1

of validation for GABA and the USEF lab for 2012 2

through 2015, as well as the method of validation 3

for the Maylin study that I've devised, and I've 4

sent documentation requests.  5

   Method validation is most important to 6

determine if the results are appropriate given the 7

standards and testing procedures.  Without these 8

documents one must question how USEF and Maylin 9

reconciled the statistical differences of the 62 10

nanograms to the 190, now being considered 11

threshold at 100.  Those are the three portions of 12

the affidavit that I wanted to read.  13

   As far as the final orders -- 14

   MR. DANFORD:  What now, I'm sorry?15

   MR. ROMM:  I'm not going to read through 16

them, but I'll say that in the final orders there 17

are references to -- several different references 18

to this drug GABA is like this Fluphenazine, 19

Acepromazine and others.  For each one that was -- 20

it was compared to, I provided the panel with the 21

world rules for equine drug testing and 22

therapeutic medication regulation from the 23

National Horseman's Benevolent Protective 24

Association, from Tom Tobin and Ken Stirling.  And 25
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also the California rules covering the, you know, 1

administration of drugs and the penalties there.  2

   And I also provided the panel with the 3

penalties that were given for various types of 4

drug violations by the USEF over the past five 5

years in an effort to show that those drugs which 6

are comparable or have been compared to GABA have 7

been, in the past, given certain penalties of two 8

months or 2,000 let's say.  And a drug that is 9

supposed to have a pharmacokinetic effect that is 10

less than those other drugs is being penalized at 11

a greater level.  That's all in the documentation.  12

So you've got to look at it and you'll see that 13

the only justification that's ever been provided 14

is the -- is the testimony that this is a toxic 15

drug, and causes terrible harm to a horses, and 16

that testimony came only from an undocumented, 17

observed one time drop down of a horse by Dr. 18

Maylin.19

   MR. DANFORD:  Mr. Romm, I think you're 20

edging in your closing statement.  If you want to 21

switch to that now, that would be fine.22

   MR. ROMM:  And that documentation was 23

provided.  That's, by the way, at R21.23 and 24

R21.24, R21.22.  The very last page of R21.22 has 25
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the B penalties, so you can use that as the 1

comparison.  And let me see, is there anything 2

else that I wanted to emphasize.  I can do it in 3

closing, thank you.4

   MR. DANFORD:  Okay.  At this point, as we 5

mentioned, the panel does allow brief closings 6

statements.  I emphasize brief.  And we go in 7

reverse order, so, Mr. Romm, you have the first 8

opportunity.  9

   MR. ROMM:  Okay.  The premise of the 10

charge against the Respondent is that based on a 11

test that was performed on the blood of Cartaire, 12

that it had GABA in its system, that, quote, 13

unquote, exceeded normal physiological levels.  14

And that because it exceeded normal physiological 15

levels it was a violation of the rules.  It's the 16

obligation of the USEF to prove by preponderance 17

of the evidence that, in fact, it is in excess of 18

normal physiological levels.  What is a normal 19

physiological level for GABA in a horse.  The 20

answer to that question, based on studies that 21

were done for the USEF by its consultant and by 22

the USEF itself and subsequent studies, is in 23

question.  24

   The initial study that was done by Dr. 25
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Maylin suggested that it was -- 95 was the normal 1

physiological level for GABA in the system, 95 2

nanograms per milliliter.  And based on that they 3

established a threshold for prosecution of 190.  4

Lomangino's lab did a study and determined that 5

the normal physiological level was 25, and that 6

the threshold was 62.  The difference in those two 7

has always been questioned.  And the explanation 8

has been that maybe the population, the horses 9

they chose to test, because they were different, 10

that could have affected what is, in fact, 11

determined to be the normal physiological level.  12

Also, it might have been the testing, GC, gas 13

chromatography, versus liquid.  And you also heard 14

that it could have been by the introduction of 15

ingested tall fescue.  16

   What you did not hear is none of these 17

experts are able to tell you that they had any 18

scientific studies or evidence or -- that -- that 19

supported to a reasonable degree of medical 20

certainty that -- or scientific certainty that -- 21

that the reason for the difference was the 22

population study, the manner of the testing, the 23

standards that were used, Norvaline or the D3 24

Methionine.  And then later, you know, Maylin 25
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testified that the -- the change to GABA as the 1

standard, that might have had an effect as well on 2

the difference, that might have been partly 3

responsible for the difference in the numbers 4

between the two tests, but he didn't know.  5

   And he stated right there in that chair 6

that he was basing this on nothing more than 7

his -- his unscientifically tested, and 8

documented, and supported feeling about what he 9

thinks it should have been.  But he couldn't tell 10

you how much, or what, or why.  So there's nothing 11

before the panel that says that the one basis, 12

that the -- the 95, or the 25, or the 35 is what 13

should be considered to be the normal 14

physiological level.  15

   And then new tests come along which do 16

different populations, but this time with the same 17

type of test, it's now liquid chromatography, and 18

they come up with different numbers as well.  But 19

now the excuse of it being different, you know, 20

gas versus liquid isn't there any more.  So what's 21

the reason for the difference there.  Might have 22

been the populations.  Might have been the testing 23

procedures.  24

   Our experts say that because there was no 25
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scientific studies done to figure out why or how 1

those results were different, without the raw 2

data, and the backup, and looking at, you know, 3

the stability testing and the reliability testing, 4

you can't know.  He can't know, he can't determine 5

what the basis for those discrepancies are.  6

   The testimony from Maylin and Lomangino 7

was that even though they were changing the 8

numbers at which they called a positive, that the 9

normal physiological level of the horse never 10

changed.  Think about that for a second.  The 11

normal physiological level of a horse always 12

remained the same, but they were prosecuting at 13

different numbers.  And they claim that that was 14

for the benefit of Mr. Cox or the competitor, 15

because it was higher and they were being nice.  16

But they weren't able to explain why it is that 17

those differences meant that there was some 18

difference in the normal physiological level.  19

   So I guess what I'm trying to say is, I 20

went roundabout, that if the charge needs to prove 21

that it was above a normal physiological level, 22

and there's testimony that it may or may not have 23

been above a normal physiological, it may have 24

been above if, in fact, the proper test is 62.  It 25
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may have been above if the proper test is a 1

hundred.  But it may not have been above if the 2

proper test was 190.  And there have been all 3

three.  They couldn't tell you for sure which one 4

it was -- or the reason for the difference I 5

should say.  6

   The reason for the prosecution started 7

with this testimony about the horse falling down 8

when it was injected and that it was toxic.  But 9

all of that comes from completely undocumented, 10

unproven, outside-of-the-hearing commentary from 11

other members who were talking about it and from 12

his observations, which he did not video or make 13

notes of, why I don't know.  And all of the other 14

studies that observed these horses, none of them 15

observed this drastic toxic reaction.  16

   At one point he said that there was no 17

basis for it.  And then I corrected him, I said 18

didn't you inject 2 cc.s IV and get this result, 19

yes.  Didn't the University of California inject 20

10 and saw nothing and they did it on multiple 21

occasions, yes.  But, again, again, Dr. Maylin 22

said, but that doesn't tell us why.  It could have 23

been, could have been that the reason is that they 24

injected it more slowly.  But he doesn't know.  25
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This is all guesswork, again.  Everything that he 1

had testified to was unsupported assumptions.  2

   And on the basis of those unsupported 3

assumptions a drug that has been compared by 4

Maylin himself in testimony that was reported in 5

the -- in the study and in other orders 6

referencing his testimony, that the drug is like 7

these drugs that get a class III, penalty B, 8

$2,000 fine, or 2 month suspension, or something 9

in that range, or 30 to 60 day suspension.  But, 10

historically, GABA is receiving 5, 6, 7 month 11

suspensions, 5, 6, 7, 8 thousand dollar fines.  12

Why, because one, because one doctor, a 13

consultant, the consultant, Dr. Maylin, made one 14

observation that is completely unsupported by 15

anything that we can look at.  I can't read a 16

note, I can't see raw data, I can't look at a 17

video.  And nobody else can either.  18

   And here's the part that really, really, I 19

just, I don't know how to say it.  We requested 20

it, we were told they didn't have it.  But now 21

we're being told they had it, he was asked for it 22

and just didn't turn it over because he didn't 23

want to.  Why, why can't he look at the raw data 24

of that test.  We have been asking for that for a 25
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long time.  The experts we have say that's the 1

only way to tell.  But they just won't turn it 2

over to anybody to look at it with this critical 3

eye.  That should hold some weight.  4

   The Maylin test, the USEF test, the RMTC 5

test were all done without any of the required 6

stability or reliability testing that would 7

normally be done to make sure the data was 8

correct.  And I didn't ask him why or what that 9

meant so -- so that you would know, but in the 10

documentation that I had provided you I have 11

descriptions of what that -- the purpose of those 12

kinds of tests and why they're important.  And I 13

asked why, you know, there was no stability 14

testing done in Maylin's study, in the USEF study, 15

in the California study, in the RMTC study, but I 16

didn't ask about it.  And there's -- there's 17

documentation about why stability testing is 18

necessary.  19

   And the California study makes certain 20

observations that the disparities between the 21

different samples is beyond analysis variability, 22

that there appears to be a great deal of 23

variability in the GABA plasma concentrations 24

between horses.  What does that all mean.  That 25
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means that -- that they can't account either for 1

the -- for the difference in the variability in 2

the results in their own study.  And just like Dr. 3

Maylin couldn't tell you the -- the -- the exact 4

reason why there was a difference in the numbers 5

between his and theirs.  6

   The sum of all of that is that because 7

GABA is an endogenous substance that naturally 8

occurs in the horse's system, we need to be sure 9

that there wasn't either another reason for the 10

results as they were, and that, in fact, it is 11

above the normal physiological level.  And we 12

can't be sure, because the -- the -- the science 13

has not reached a level of certainty yet.  In 14

fact, Maylin said that the FEI is working on it 15

now and that they're pulling samples and saving 16

them for the day when, in fact, they do have, you 17

know, a threshold that's been, you know, decided 18

upon and a normal physiological level has been 19

confirmed for sure.  It just isn't there yet.  20

   And to -- to find one member responsible 21

for violating the rules when he tests at level X, 22

but not find another member responsible for the 23

same level for violating the rules, because that 24

member was tested in June of 2012, is just not a 25
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fair execution of the rules which he's accused of 1

having violated.  It's just not right that you 2

would give one person this result and the other 3

person that result for the same violation, for the 4

same level, because you decided to change what is 5

considered a violation, based on what?  Because we 6

decided that we weren't catching enough people, 7

that they were changing -- that doesn't change the 8

normal physiological level, that just changes who 9

they can catch and how they -- and how they can, 10

you know -- how the members, allegedly, were 11

trying to get away with it by giving less of an 12

amount.  That doesn't change what's considered the 13

normal physiological level in the horse itself.  14

But they changed what's called a positive.  How 15

can they do that?  It is what, in fact, is a 16

moving target.  17

   MR. COX:  That's it.18

   MR. ROMM:  We ask that you also consider 19

based on his history and his longstanding record 20

that's flawless, that that also be considered in 21

trying to decide the preponderance of the 22

evidence, 51 percent, which way should it go, you 23

know.  If you're not sure, then ask yourself have 24

they met -- have they met their burden.  If they 25
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haven't, then we ask that you dismiss it, as we 1

did in the motion before.  And if you feel they 2

met their burden, we ask that you reconsider the 3

penalties that are being charged.  That's the sum 4

of my -- 5

   MR. DANFORD:  Thank you, Mr. Romm.  Mr. 6

Foreman.  7

   MR. FOREMAN:  Well, here's what we learned 8

in this case after 13 hours.  Cartaire tested on 9

January 23rd, 2014.  The GABA level was somewhere 10

around 41.  Cartaire was tested at the Blenheim 11

horse show on August 14th, 2014.  His GABA level, 12

one was in excess of 200, but the average was 188.  13

When Cartaire was tested on May 6th, 2015, his 14

GABA level was 34.  Of all the cases that we've 15

had, GABA cases, there have been, I think this is 16

the eleventh, and there have been admitted 17

administrations.  But for the admitted 18

administrations I can't think of one that was more 19

of a slam dunk than this one, because we know what 20

the horse's normal physiologic concentration is 21

based upon established science.  22

   The other thing we learned is that the 23

trainer in this case, Mr. Cox, was never in the 24

barn.  Those were his words, "It's well known I'm 25
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not in the barn."  If you're a trainer of a horse 1

and you're not in the barn, how do you possibly 2

explain what can happen to your horse.  If you're 3

going to accept responsibility and you're not in 4

the barn -- it's one of the most astonishing 5

things in all the years I have been trying cases 6

with the Federation that I've heard, a trainer who 7

is known not to be in the barn.  8

   The Respondents make a big deal about the 9

possibility that the horse eating tall fescue 10

grass could have caused this excessive level in 11

the horse.  As Dr. Maylin testified, maybe you 12

could find GABA after 24 hours, but it's usually 13

within 12 hours.  And, in fact, in the work they 14

did it's 2 to 4 hours, not 48 hours.  This horse 15

had left the farm 48 hours before it was tested.  16

And this horse was administered GABA well within 17

24 hours.  And, at this level, probably well 18

within 12.  Dr. Maylin said he didn't think that 19

that was the explanation in this case.  And we now 20

know -- if he had known, if he had heard the 21

testimony of Mr. Cox, I think he would have been 22

able to give you a definitive answer.  23

   What we have here in this case, plain and 24

simple, is an attack on the science.  And I'll let 25
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you decide whether we're on the same planet as my 1

colleague over here in his description of the 2

testimony today.  But I find it absolutely 3

astonishing after all this testimony that he can 4

characterize the scientific testimony in the way 5

he did.  6

   They tried to produce two experts.  One 7

was, basically, disqualified as unqualified.  The 8

other certainly doesn't have the credentials of 9

Dr. Maylin, Dr. Schumacher, Mr. Lomangino, and his 10

opinions were discredited.  So to the extent that 11

the Respondents make any reference to, quote, 12

unquote, their experts, their experts weren't left 13

standing.  14

   Finally, with respect to the Respondents' 15

case, they offered up to you that our work 16

doesn't hold -- our scientific work doesn't hold 17

water.  It's their responsibility to prove that, 18

they didn't.  They said there was no explanation 19

as to why the Federation prosecutes at different 20

levels.  You got the explanation, it's a very 21

sound explanation.  22

   And, finally, they talk about the 23

comparison to Fluphenazine and the fact that our 24

penalties are out of order.  I would suggest to 25
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you that the Federation took a very strong stand 1

with respect to GABA three years ago.  They have 2

even taken a harder stand because the membership 3

has demanded that the Federation do something 4

about the illicit use of GABA.  And the most 5

important thing that you should remember in all of 6

this is there is absolutely no reason whatsoever, 7

medically or otherwise, for GABA to be 8

administered to a horse.  None.  9

   And there is no explanation that's been 10

offered for this high level.  Clearly, it is an 11

indication of an administration of GABA to a horse 12

and it should not be tolerated under any 13

circumstance.  Thank you.14

   MR. DANFORD:  Thank you, Mr. Foreman.15

   MS. WERNER:  Okay.  Since this hearing is 16

now concluded it's important that I explain the 17

process by which you will be notified of the 18

decision in this matter.  General Rule 614.1 19

provides that notification of the decision could 20

be 60 days or more following today.  However, 21

that's just an estimate and the time might be 22

longer.  Hopefully, it will be shorter.  Rulings 23

are never given out over the telephone.  When the 24

Hearing Committee meets it hears several matters 25
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each day, sits for several days, and, 1

consequently, the paperwork resulting from each 2

meeting means that there may be a delay between 3

the hearing date and issuance of the ruling.  4

Luckily, in your case, you were it for today.  5

   The findings are sent to the parties and 6

their counsel, but not to witnesses who may 7

appear.  Witnesses who would like to see the 8

findings would have to ask the permission of one 9

of the parties involved.  If there is a finding of 10

no violation of the rules, that's the end of the 11

matter.  If there is a finding that there has been 12

a violation of the rules, there will be a short 13

notification to the membership on the Federation's 14

website of the outcome and any penalty decided 15

upon.  Publication of the outcome on the 16

Federation's website would not occur until after 17

the parties have received their copy of the 18

rulings.  19

   Until such time you receive the findings 20

in this case you are free to participate in 21

licensed competition, without restrictions.  And 22

thank you for your attendance today.  It was a 23

long day, but we made it.  24

25
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   MR. DANFORD:  Thank you very much.1

   (The hearing concluded at 9:18 p.m.)2

* * * * *3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

419

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

420

STATE OF KENTUCKY     )

                      ) SS:

COUNTY OF JEFFERSON   )

            I, TAMARA DUVALL-McCLAIN, a Notary Public

within and for the State at Large, my commission as

such expiring on February 13, 2016, do hereby certify

that the foregoing hearing was taken before me at the

time and place and for the purpose in the caption

stated; that the witnesses were duly sworn to tell

the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the

truth; that the hearing was reduced by me to

shorthand writing in the presence of the witnesses

and transcribed by me with the aid of a computer;

that the foregoing is a full, true and correct

transcript of the said hearing so given; that the

appearances were as stated in the caption; and that I

am not associated with counsel nor interested in the

outcome of this litigation.

            WITNESS my hand this the 3rd day of July,

2015.

                 ______________________________
                 TAMARA DUVALL-McCLAIN, CCR, RPR
                 Kentucky CCR No. 20042A138
                 Notary Public, State at Large
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